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HEARE^G ON INTERNATIONAL AVIATION
POLICY

WEDNESDAY, MAY 24, 1995

U.S. Senate,
Subcommittee on Aviation of the Committee on

Commerce, Science, and Transportation,
Washington, DC.

The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:30 a.m., in room SR-
253, Russell Senate Office Building, Hon. John McCain (chairman
of the subcommittee) presiding.

Staff members assigned to this hearing: Michael E. Korens, staff

counsel, Michael W. Reynolds, counsel; and Samuel E. Whitehom,
minority senior counsel.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR MCCAIN
Senator McCain. I would like to note that we have votes, about

five or six of them, beginning in about 15 minutes or so. We will

try and get at least opening statements out of the way, and then
regrettably we will have to recess for about 45 minutes, until we
complete those votes.

So, therefore, I will make mv opening statement brief and then
refer to my colleagues. And perhaps we could get the opening state-

ment of the Secretary of Transportation, if he is here this morning.
I am sure he will be nere in a minute.

I would like to welcome my colleagues and the Secretary of

Transportation and all of our witnesses, including representatives
from the GAG and our distinguished panelists representing the
U.S. commercial aviation industry and the consumer interests of

various airports and communities desiring better international
aviation service.

I think we are all in agreement that U.S. interests are best
served by open and free trade in all sectors, including the inter-

national aviation industry. Our policies must vigorously pursue
that end.

I will make my complete statement a part of the record, except
to say that the reason for this hearing is to review the entire issue
of international aviation, but also there has been an enormous
amount of controversy generated by the proposed mini-deal involv-

ing British Air, United Airlines, and USi^r.
I do not know of a recent aviation issue that has generated more

controversy. And I believe that Congress does play a role in issues
of this impact and import. And I am pleased that the Secretary of
Transportation agreed—good morning, sir—to attend this hearing
and to provide very important testimony on this issue.

(1)



Mr. Secretary, while you were arriving, I mentioned that we
have votes beginning in about 15 minutes or so, and we are going
to have to take a break probably for about 45 minutes, since we
have about 5 or 6 votes.

I apologize for the inconvenience to you and to the other wit-
nesses. So, therefore, I will proceed as rapidly as possible.

I would like to ask Senator Ford if he has any opening comments
to make and any other of my colleagues.

[Prepared statement of Senator McCain follows:]

Prepared Statement of Senator McCain

I would like to welcome my colleagues, Secretary of Transportation Federico Peria,
Ken Mead from the GAO, and our very distinguished panelists representing the
U.S. commercial aviation industry and the consumer interests of various airports
and communities desiring better international aviation service.

It is a pleasure to be with you today. As I look around the room it is hard to imag-
ine a group of people more representative of the competitive and dynamic global
economy that is taking shape for the 21st century.

Moreover, it would be eaually hard to imagine any group of business leaders with
more at stake in seeing tnat the national interests in U.S. international aviation
are best served with the greatest opportunity for air carriers expansion and in-

creased consumer benefits.
Because of the great interest in today's hearing, I would respectfully request that

our panels and our Subcommittee Members adhere to the five minute rule as much
as possible. Your complete statements will be included filly in the record. As Chair-
man of the Subcommittee, I will try to lead by example.
My objective for this hearing is to examine all the issues surrounding the current

U.SAJ.K. aviation bilateral as a case study of our International Air Transportation
Policy. As most of you know, Secretary Pena released his International Air Trans-
portation Policy Statement last month, reaffirming the major goals and principles
of the previous Administration favoring an "open skies" policy. I was encouraged
that Secretary Pena had crafted U.S. international strategy to meet the following
important air transportation objectives:

(1) Increase competitive pricing and consumer choice;

(2) Enhance the access of U.S. cities to international air service;

(3) Provide passenger and cargo carriers with unrestricted international air serv-
ice;

(4) Recognize the importance of military and civil airlift resources being able to
meet defense mobilization;

(5) Ensure that competition is fair and the playing field is level by eliminating
government subsidies, restrictions on carriers' ability to conduct their own oper-
ations, and unequal access to airport facilities; and,

(6) Promote global aviation market place or "open skies" even through enforce-
ment of current bilateral rights through all means, including renunciation and sus-
pension of privileges and services when violations occur.
However in an amazing shift of winds which can only be likened to wind shear,

DoTs Policy Statement then describes a so-called "practical approach" to inter-

national aviation policy. This "practical approach" encompasses a difierent strategy
for dealing with countries that are not willing to move to an unrestricted air service
regime. Using this strategy, the U.S. would advance the liberalization of air service
regimes only as far as our partners are willing to go. Yet, in announcing the Admin-
istration's new air transportation policy on April 25, 1995, Secretary Peiia said "we
will do anything and everything we can to move forward—never backwards—toward
an open aviation world whose benefits, we believe, far outweigh the costs."

So, now we have an International Air Transportation Policy. But, it sounds quite
different from last year when the Administration was prepared to renounce the 17-

year-old U.S.-British bilateral. I submit, therefore, that this "practical approach" is

not really an international air transportation policy at all, and will not serve to ad-
vance our important transportation policy objectives.

In fact, it is nothing more than mercantilism. And we all know that such protec-
tionism reduces the flow of people, products and services. I do not believe that the
U.S. should implement a strategy that does not allow us to expand trade competi-
tively. If we do, our economy and others will greatly suffer. The expansion of the
global economy depends, to a great extent on having the most efficient transpor-
tation system. There should therefore be no question that broader aviation agree-



ments are preferred mini-deals narrowly defined by special interest groups. To say
this is not the purpose of the U.SyU.K. mini-deal currently on the table would be
disingenuous. In fact, when I recently asked U.S. and British officials, why we were
proceeding with the last U.SAJ.K. bilateral round, I was told that it was because
of pressure from one airline and one city. Yet, that response ignored the significant
bipartisan Congressional opposition to the mini-deal.

Kegrettably, it is my view that U.S. international aviation policy falls short of it's

intended objectives. I believe U.S. Policy should be designed to produce the maxi-
mum consumer and industry benefit. Whatever tools we employ to achieve that
end—including economic analysis of agreements—should be fully examined. The
U.SAJ.K bilateral is just one agreement. Negotiations of eaual or greater complexity
will soon be considered. For this reason, it is imperative that the U.S. has the best
possible policy in place to serve its citizens.

However, the U.S. still struggles with the implementation of a coherent Policy.

Although U.S. objectives are clearly stated, DoT has failed to back up its words with
actions. This situation is exacerbated by the iustifiable lack of faitn that U.S. air-

lines have in the current bilateral process, wnich has tended to pit airline against
airline, city against city and government against industry. Moreover, the archaic
system of aviation bilaterals only compounds the difficulties inherent in the Admin-
istration's struggle to implement a coherent policy.

Governor Baliles recently testified before this Subcommittee on the National Air-
line Commission findings. Governor Baliles stated that the National Airline Com-
mission heard from the Chief Executive Officers of every major domestic and inter-

national airline. They all felt strongly that the U.S. should move forward to expand
international air service, but not until a "level playing field" had been created. In
fact the Commission recommendations are clear. One such mandate: "Enforcement
of current bilateral rights through all means, including renunciation and suspension
of privileges and services when violations occur." The National Airline Commission
also recommended that the best strategy would be for the U.S. to lead the world
toward an open, comprehensive multi-national regime on as broad a geographic base
as possible.

However, our current international policy effectively ignores the Commission's
recommendations. Under the existing system, a single airline can use the govern-
ment to pursue its own special interest at the expense of many U.S. cities that need
international service. This practice results in many markets being served on a non-
competitive basis, while others are not served at all. This rigid system has produced
a class system for cities and airlines, which have been labeled the haves and have
nots. The end result is an international policy that jeopardizes the fixture growth
and profitability of the travel and tourism industry and compromises our position
in the global economy. Above all, the traveling public is not well-served by this pol-

icy.

We need to return to the Airline Commission's sensible recommendations which
came out two years ago today. Recognizing the importance of aviation in today's

global marketplace, the Commission recommended that U.S. international aviation
policy should facilitate the creation of a liberal, multilateral regime governing air

transportation services. This would be achieved on as broad a geographic base as
possible. The Commission also recommended that an extensive range of air service

issues, not just landing rights, should be addressed by the U.S. Tne Commission
hoped to get something started that could, in the end, bring about real change in

international aviation.

I submit that special interest mini-deals do not promote that purpose. Special in-

terest deals do not move our economy forward towards the goal of global economic
expansion. Instead, such deals maintain the restrictive—and antiquated—aviation
system and stunts economic growth. Sadly, the current system encourages our avia-

tion bilateral negotiators to move backwards in time to the 1944 Chicago Conven-
tion, rather than to move forward to greater economic growth that can only be
achieved under liberal aviation agreements that move the U.S. closer to "open
skies."

I urge the Administration to continue to work towards establishing free trade in

aviation services. I am encouraged that recent U.S. efforts to create an open, com-
petitive international aviation environment with Canada, culminated in the signing
in March of a major new aviation agreement. That agreement provides for substan-
tial increases in air services between the U.S. and Canada and full "open skies" at

the end of a transition period. We need to work for comparable liberalization of the
U.SAJ.K. agreement. To get such an agreement we must avoid using an incremen-
tal strategy, and instead work on fundamental change.
Mr. Secretary, the facts are the facts. I commend you for the number of aviation

bilateral negotiations that you have completed, which are indeed beneficial to our



aviation industry and to U.S. citizens. This is the track that I recommend that we
should continue to take—the results are indisputable.

I look forward to listening to the testimony of the distinguished witnesses that
we have here before us today. And again I welcome you and thank you for coming.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR FORD
Senator Ford. Mr. Chairman, I have a wonderful statement that

would just probably appeal to everybody in the room, but since we
have to go vote and will not be back for an hour, I ask unanimous
consent that it be included in the record as it is given.
Senator McCain. Without objection.

[The prepared statement of Senator Ford follows:]

Prepared Statement of Senator Ford

Good morning. Mr. Chairman, I will keep my remarits brief so that we will have
time to hear from all of our witnesses today. First, let me thank you for holding
this hearing. I know we share a desire to see that the United States gets the best
deal it can in its negotiations with the British.

As the Secretary is well aware, I have had a long-standing interest in the United
States—British negotiations. We corresponded regularly last year concerning the
Delta-Virgin deal, and I had an opportunity to renew our pen pal relationship re-

cently in oosigning a letter on the prospects of a mini-deal.
It is important that we achieve a more liberal, open regime for all of our cities

and carriers. Over the last several years, our share of the U.K. market has declined
from 45 percent in 1992 to 42 percent this year. We must change the equation, and
soon. We all know that access to Heathrow is critical, and we can not wait years
for additional access.

How do we get their? The Secretary's approach is through a mini-deal that ap-
pears to provide benefits to one carrier, and in phase 2 addresses other potential
needs.
The question really boils down to this: Will we be able to achieve a second phase

and when? If the Secretary has faith that the British mean business this time, then
the timeframe for the second phase should be relatively short. Why not, then, bun-
dle the issues and strike a deal on all of the issues in early June? The negotiators
have met 3 times recently to discuss a small package of rights. The group of rights
has been subject to discussion even before that, if the ^cretary l^lieves he can
scope out phase 2, and set a relatively short deadline, why not bundle the issues
now. Such an approach would provide many benefits, including demonstrating that
the British are serious about possible rights under phase 2.

It is clear that their are rights the British seek in the mini-deal. I have watched
the British dance for many years, and they do a good job of negotiating. Given the
market share statistics in their favor, what is it the British want?

• Fly America traffic—maybe. It could help address some concerns over BA's fu-

ture ownership in USAir, if the national security arguments are addressed here.
• Competition for BA and American at Chicago—doubtful.
• Starburst rights out of Heathrow for U.S. carriers—unlikely.
• Service to regional airports—probably. We do know that ultimately, if British

Airways decides to perfect its interest in USAir, the British will ask for a lot, includ-
ing a change in U.S. law to gain a controlling interest in USAir. Only then will we
be discussing an open arrangement. But that is not the only thing the British want.
A 1994 report by the Transport Committee of the House of Commons suggested,
among other things, that both sides consider abandoning the two U.S. carrier
Heathrow limitation, that regional airports in Britain receive the benefits of liberal-

ization, and that cargo liberalization proceed. The report makes clear that there are
needs on the other side of the Atlantic, other than the BA-USAir deal.

The British and U.S. negotiators should not look only to the USAir-BA deal as
the future linchpin to liberalization. There are still many paths left before BA
makes that decision. Both sides must recognize that there are a host of benefits to

be gained from a liberal agreement and should open up Bermuda II now, as best
they can. If there truly is to be liberalization, both sides need to assure me that
the steps that they appear to be pursuing are legitimate and real, and not a con-
tinuation of a long dance. There are too many cities that deserve service to

Heathrow, just as there are too many cities in the U.K., including Birmingham,
Britain's second largest city, that deserve service.



It is interesting that these international negotiations seem to have gotten caught
up, mistakenly, in other initiatives. I hope that is not the case. There is much at
stake here, and the Secretary must focus on the ultimate goal—a better and long
term deal for the United States.

I look forward to listening to the witnesses today.

Senator McCain. Senator Stevens.
Senator Stevens. In the interest of time, I would like to hear the

Secretary. I will just waive my opening statement.
Senator McCain. Senator Inouye and Mr. Chairman.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR PRESSLER
The Chairman. I will also waive my time, but I did want to men-

tion I wrote the Secretary saying that international aviation agree-
ments should be considered on cost-benefit basis.

I have been concerned that in both cargo and passenger negotia-
tions, our carriers fight among themselves and our negotiators
sometimes get undercut. This is why I am advocating a cost-benefit

approach to international aviation negotiations. That is what my
statement says at more length, and I will put it in the record.

[The prepared statement of Senator Pressler follows:]

Prepared Statement of Senator Pressler

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am pleased to join in today's hearing to consider cur-

rent bilateral aviation agreement negotiations between the United States and the
United Kingdom. I share the Subcommittee Chairman's interest in focusing the
Commerce Committee's attention on international aviation policy concerns. As the
Subcommittee Chairman knows, international aviation—in the broad context—has
been on my agenda for the Committee's consideration since the start of this Con-
gress. Therefore, I want to commend Senator McCain for chairing today's hearing.
The economics of international aviation opportunities are critical to U.S. pas-

senger and cargo carriers. For example, by 2(X)6, international traffic is expected to

account for nearly one-third of the total annual traffic of U.S. passenger carriers.

The signiflcance of this statistic speaks for itself, particularly for an industry strug-

gling to turn the flnancial comer.
Although today's hearing focuses on recent negotiations between the United

States and the United Kingdom, we must not lose sight of the importance of inter-

national aviation markets worldwide. In my judgment, no bilateral aviation negotia-
tions, including the United States/United Kingdom talks, should be about the paro-
chial interests of any single U.S. carrier. Instead, the focus of our international avia-

tion policy must be on the economic impact—^oth costs and benefits—bilateral

agreements have on our nation's economy as a whole, including the traveling con-
sumers and the communities served. I plan to focus on these issues today.
As Secretary Pena already knows, I made this very point regarding the impor-

tance of economic cost-benefit analysis in my letter to him dated May 5th. I look
forward to discussing this approach with the Secretary and the other witnesses. I

should clarify, however, that when I mention cost-benefit analysis, I am not speak-
ing in terms of counting how many Senators weigh in on behali of a particular mter-
ested carrier. Indeed, I recognize the difficulties many of us impose upon the Sec-
retary in carrying out his responsibilities in securing sound international aviation
agreements.
Mr. Chairman, I read the Department of Transportation's recently published

statement on International Aviation Policy with great interest. The Administration
must provide the leadership necessary to carry out this policy, ensuring these words
are turned into meaningful actions.

In that regard, last week I contacted President Clinton urging him to take what-
ever steps necessary and reasonable to ensure the government of Japan abides by
the terms of the United States/Japan bilateral aviation agreement. Let there be no
doubt, creating and maintaining equitable international aviation opportunities for

U.S. carriers, passengers and cargo, must be a national priority.

I will be very interested in hearing from today's witnesses, tnank you.

Senator McCain. Senator Hutchison.



STATEMENT OF SENATOR HUTCHISON
Senator Hutchison. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I do have an

opening statement, which I will be happy to submit for the record.

But I just want to say that I come from the second largest state
in America with three of the top ten cities, the second busiest air-

port in America, and we have no service to Heathrow.
And that is a very important issue for me, and I hope that we

will be able to discuss it and see what the equities are.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Senator Hutchison follows:]

Prepared Statement of Senator Hutchison

I am very pleased that Chairman McCain has called this hearing, and I am re-

lieved that it comes in advance of the Department of Transportation initialing an
agreement with the United Kingdom.
Accepting the agreement currently on the table would be a serious mistake and

a loss for the United States. It will be a lost opportunity to achieve the objective
of "open skies."

We need to pause for a review of what our goals are in the United States-United
Kingdom negotiations. I recall when the Department of Transpwrtation's goals re-

garding United States-United Kingdom negotiations was "open skies," then it was
15 additional United States access routes into London. Now, it appears that sights
are permanently lowered on a "mini-deal" that provides one additional U.S. route
to Heathrow—from a city that already has adequate Heathrow access. The DOT is

responding to the misguided imperative of making a deal at any cost.

This mini-deal does not occur in a vacuum, but in the context of an already imbal-
anced United States-United Kingdom bilateral aviation agreement, Bermuda H.
Under Bermuda II, the United States airline business has lost 25 percent of the
North Atlantic traffic between the United States and the United Kingdom. In a com-
petitive market, the split between the United States and British carriers would be
75 percent-25 percent. Under the artificial restrictions of Bermuda II, the
marketshare is 50 percent-50 percent. I understand this forfeiture has cost the U.S.
airline industry at least $2.5 billion per year in 1993 dollars.

Accepting the mini-deal, and then making a leap of faith toward "limited and bal-

anced" increased access to Heathrow makes a bad situation worse, and maybe per-

manent. Right now, Texas—the second largest State in America, with 3 of the 10
largest cities—has no access to Heathrow. If DOT considers U.S. leverage weak
now—as it has stated—our leverage will be non-existent once this deal is made. I

fear we will live with the consequences for a very long time.
I do not necessarily want to criticize the work that DOT and the Department of

State have done until now. What I want to do is help refocus their attention on a
broader picture of what is important. It is important that we obtain real and open
access to London for more cities and carriers, and that we create a competitive envi-

ronment in which consumers benefit and travel and tourism on both shores are
stimulated. If these goals are not achievable in the current negotiations, then the
time has come to re-evaluate our strategy.

Senator McCain. Senator Gorton.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR GORTON
Senator Gorton. Mr. Chairman, the attendance at this sub-

committee hearing indicates its importance. I too will put my open-
ing statement in the record.

But I simply want to encourage the Secretary to keep pushing
as hard as he can and to take whatever steps he possibly can.
Some progress is better than no progress, but his goal should be
completely open skies. With that, I will put the rest of it in the
record.

[The prepared statement of Senator Grorton follows:]



Prepared Statement of Senator Gorton

Mr. Chairman, I would like to take this opportunity to comment on the role of

this committee, and also the role of the Secretary, in the evaluating and executing
of international aviation policies. I believe that the U.S. Senate and the Secretary
of Transportation must continue working toward a public policy that promotes com-
petition, provides increased service and choice for consumers, and continues lower-

ing the barriers that currently block expanded aviation service between the United
States and the United Kingdom and other appropriate maricets.

Coming from a State that relies heavily on foreign trade, sound international rela-

tions are of the utmost imjwrtance in maintaining open markets. Solid relations,

however, can only be established by taking incremental steps toward a larger goal.

I would encourage the Secretary to continue shaping sound public policy in a
manner that promotes both international relations and competition, while also en-
hancing every consumer's ri^t to quality air service.

I welcome the opportunity to participate in a comprehensive and reasoned study
of international aviation policy in the future.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR ROLLINGS

Prepared Statement of Senator Hollings

The hearing today focuses on our relationship and limitations with one of our
strongest trading partners, the United Kingdom. Both sides must recognize that it

is time to change the existing agreement, Bermuda II, governing the relationship.

Bermuda II, signed in 1978, and amended in 1991, has been characterized as a
restrictive agreement because it limits the number of cities that can be served by
U.S. and British airlines, and the number of carriers that can serve London's
Heathrow Airport. With respect to the 1991 amendment, the United States and the
United Kingdom agreed to change the Bermuda II agreement to allow United Air-

lines and American Airlines to serve Heathrow. Each of the U.S. carriers had pur-
chased the rights held previously by Pan American Airways and TWA to serve
Heathrow. As part of the right to substitute carriers, we also agreed to allow the
British airlines to code-share with U.S. carriers.

I spent many months trying to convince the Department of Transportation that
the British Airways-USAir code sharing agreement should be approved. Many in the
industry have debated whether code sharing has had an impact on carriers other
than USAir, and we will later hear testimony on this issue. However, there is no
question that under the 1991 change to Bermuda II, the right of British carriers

to code-share clearly exists.

We are now faced with the prospect of a mini-deal, followed by a second phase
of negotiations, and possibly followed by liberalization of the market. In negotiating
with the British, the U.S. delegation must remember that while the British are our
allies in many respects, we are talking about dollars here. This is mercantilism,
pure and simple. If the British believe it will benefit their companies, they will

strike a deal. If not, we will sit here for years seeking liberalization. As a result,

we must be very cautious before we give away rights, without ensuring that we will

receive benefits. Tourism, which is driven in large part by the airline industry, is

an enormous generator of jobs in the United States and in the world. Our two gov-

ernments must not lose sight of the economic benefits of a better aviation deal.

The Secretary of Transportation has a tough job. He must not only convince the
British to strike a deal, but he also must convince the U.S. carriers and Congress
to support his efforts. The Secretary must be able to stand up and demonstrate that
what he and his British counterpart agree to is a good deal for the United States,

and not just for a small segment of the U.S. economy.

Senator McCain. Perhaps in the future we should schedule votes
during hearings. It certainly cuts down on opening statements.
[Laughter.]
Senator McCain. Mr. Secretary, welcome. Please proceed, and we

will try and get as far as we can here before we have to go vote.

And again I want to apologize for any inconvenience that it causes
you. Good morning.
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STATEMENT OF HON. FEDERICO PENA, SECRETARY, DEPART-
MENT OF TRANSPORTATION, ACCOMPANBED BY: STEPHEN
H. KAPLAN, GENERAL COUNSEL; PAT MURPHY, mTER-
NATIONAL AVMTION OFFICE, OF THE DEPARTMENT OF
TRANSPORTATION
Secretary Pena. Good morning, Mr. Chairman and members of

the subcommittee. Let me say I fully understand the time con-
straints, and I am willing to be as flexiole as possible.

Let me first introduce the two people who are here with me this

morning, Mr. Steve Kaplan, to my right, our general counsel; Mr.
Pat Murphy, from the International Aviation Office of the Depart-
ment of Transportation, to my left.

Mr. Chairman and members, I appreciate the opportunity to dis-

cuss one of the most important transportation and economic issues
for the United States, international commercial aviation, and re-

cent developments with respect to our efforts toward expanding
and liberalizing our aviation agreement with the United Kingdom.

I would like, with your permission, Mr. Chairman, to formally
submit my complete statement, which is far lengthier than my
opening statement, so I can proceed with the statement that I have
before me.
And I would like, with your permission, to refer to some charts

as I make my opening statement.
Senator McCain. Without objection your complete statement will

be made part of the record. And of course we would like you to pro-
ceed in whichever way you choose to do so.

Secretary Pena. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I welcome this opportunity because it enables us to examine

where we have been, where we are today and, most critically,

where we are going with respect to international aviation.
It is important tnat the discussion of any particular aspect of our

policies or any individual negotiation be considered in the broader
context of our overall goals and strategy for expanding services for

the traveling public, lor increasing opportunities for our aviation
industry and the cities they serve, and for creating the most effi-

cient and dynamic aviation system possible.

When I Decame Secretary of Transportation, the situation con-
fronting us in international aviation was daunting. Major problems
existed between foreign aviation partners and the United States,
and the situation was oecoming worse.
The French had renounced our bilateral aviation agreement, the

Germans were threatening, and Japan was indicating that it might
take steps to limit our carriers from exercising their rights.

No progress had been made despite countless rounds of talks

with Canada about liberalizing air service in this, our largest inter-

national aviation and trade market. Overall, no new significant

service opportunities were becoming available to our carriers.

Furthermore, the United States was operating under a 17-year-
old international aviation policy.

From the airlines' perspective, our aviation industry was experi-

encing disastrous financial results, particularly in the international
sector.

The United States had just lost two of our major airlines, includ-
ing our dominant international carrier. Pan American. Three more



major airlines were in bankruptcy at the beginning of this adminis-
tration.

In 1992, the U.S. aviation industry recorded its third straight
year of huge losses, with an operating loss of $2.4 billion.

The international sector, which accounted for approximately one-
fourth of our airline industry's business, was registering over half
of that loss, $1.3 billion. Something had to be done, and we imme-
diately went to work to address the problems.

In partnership with the members here today and with the Con-
gress, we established a Commission to Ensure a Strong Competi-
tive Airline Industry and have already acted on more than 80 per-

cent of those recommendations.
In February, we signed a breakthrough agreement with Canada

that is immediately expanding service and fare options between our
countries and will result in a fully open air service regime. Esti-

mates of the value of this agreement to our economy have been in

the range of $15 billion a year.

We have also made progress in reaching open-skies agreements
with nine European countries, which will also allow our carriers

unlimited access to either provide direct service on their own or
under a commercial arrangement with a foreign carrier or indirect

service under a code-share arrangement with carriers of third coun-
tries.

The economic recovery in the last 2 years has done more than
anything else to assist the economic recovery of the U.S. airline in-

dustry. In turn, our airline industry's financial recovery has
strengthened its ability to compete in the international aviation

market.
And we are seeing the results. Last year more than 555 million

passengers flew in the United States, up 8 percent from the year
before. Revenues, traffic, load factors are all up. None of our major
airlines are in bankruptcy today.

In the international sector our industry has turned the comer
and reported an operating profit of $500 million for 1994. And air-

line analysts project that 1995 will be a good year. Notably, the
U.S. share of the growing international market is now up to 53 per-

cent.

To anticipate the rapidly changing environment in aviation, we
conducted the first comprehensive review of our international avia-

tion policy since 1978. This culminated in the adoption of our Inter-

national Air Transportation Policy Statement last November.
In developing our policy statement, we placed considerable em-

phasis on evaluating the economic forces in the marketplace, how
those forces are shaping the evolution of the industry, and how our
policies should relate to those developments to enhance the oppor-
tunities and economic prospects for our industry, for communities
and for the traveling public.

In one area, code-sharing, we undertook the first comprehensive
study to understand the effects of this major marketing practice

and to quantify the impact on competition in the market.
Our policy contends that enhanced competition and greater serv-

ice opportunities will lead to significant benefits for travelers, ship-
pers and communities, greater general economic development and
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job creation, and greater financial rewards for carriers and their

employees.
Today, our airlines are doing well in terms of the share of the

international aviation market.
Mr. Chairman and members, let me illustrate that by referring

these charts.

To give you a sense of how our carriers are doing in the inter-

national arena, this is a map of North America. In Canada we have
67 percent of the market. In Mexico we have 58 percent of the mar-
ket.

In Central and South America we have close to 60 percent of the
market. In the Bahamas, 54 percent; Dominican Republic, 79 per-
cent; Jamaica, 50 percent; Venezuela, 55 percent; Brazil, 38 per-

cent.

We focus on those countries where we have over 1 million pas-
sengers per year. But on this continent we are doing quite well in

accessing the international aviation opportunities from north to

south.
Let me give you an example of what has happened in Canada

just with the agreement that we signed recently. This gives you a
sense of the new traffic we now have between the United States
and Canada. In the few months since we have signed that agree-
ment, our traffic has increased 25 percent. And the total economic
impact of this deal is $15 billion to our economy.

Let's turn to Europe. The three biggest markets in Europe are
Germany, France and the United Kingdom. They represent 60 per-

cent of the total international traffic between Europe and the Unit-
ed States.

If you look at Germany, we have 58 percent of the market.
France, 64 percent of the market; the United Kingdom, 45 percent
of the market. We want to do better there. But overall we are doing
very well in the European market.

Senator McCain. Let me just ask, Mr. Secretary, what are the
trends, especially in Germany and the United Kingdom, say as op-

posed to five to 10 years ago?
Secretary Pena. As opposed to five to 10 years ago our trends in

Germany have been going up, if you go back 10 years. In terms of

the United Kingdom, they have been coming down.
And I am going to talk about that in a second. In terms of

France, over the last 10 years the trend has been going up. So gen-
erally speaking, in Europe, our movement has been in an upward
direction with the exception of the United Kingdom.
Senator McCain. As far as a percentage of the marketplace?
Secretary Pena. In terms of percent, it has been going up.

Senator McCain. Thank you.
Secretary 'Pena. Let me switch now to Asia, a booming part of

the world's transportation economy. Clearly the most important
market for us in Asia is Japan. It is the most valuable. We have
61 percent of the market in Japan; 57 percent in Hong Kong. You
see Taiwan and Korea there.

Let me summarize
Senator McCaen. Why is the U.S. marketshare so low in Taiwan

and Korea?
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Secretary Pena. In Taiwan and Korea, it is the function to some
extent of the market and the extent to which our carriers want to

proceed there.

Also it is a function of how well we can get our carriers to go into

Japan, and then from Japan to go beyond Japan into other coun-
tries. And that is the discussion we are having with the Japanese
right now.
Senator McCain. So it has to do with market access.

Secretary Pena. Mr. Chairman, for those two countries we have
open agreements, so that is not the restriction for those two coun-
tries.

To summarize, Mr. Chairman, how our carriers are doing in our
six largest markets: Japan, 61 percent; Canada, 67 percent; the
United Kingdom, 45; Mexico, 58; Grermany, 58; France, 64.

And the last chart I want to show you is how we are doing in

terms of the total international traffic for the United States.

You will see that from 1992 to 1994, total international traffic is

going up from 75 to 79 to 84 million. Our percent of that is also

going up, from 52.4 percent to now 53 percent of that international

market.
So, Mr. Chairman, I guess the message here :s that if you look

at the results of our policies and the actions of our airlines, we are
doing well in the international market.
Now, let me specifically address the United States-United King-

dom bilateral relationship. Despite considerable efforts, and I

might add a great deal of frustration on my part, our attempts to

achieve greater liberalization have not yet met with any gp^eat suc-

cess.

It is widely known that ever since I became Secretary, I have not
been satisfied with the air service agreement with the United King-
dom that I inherited. I have repeatedly said that it is our most re-

strictive air service regime with all of its restrictions on service fre-

quencies, airports and carrier designations.

A brief review of our the history of our bilateral relationship with
the United Kingdom underscores the difficulties with this relation-

ship.

In the mid-19 70's, the British renounced our aviation agreement,
and the U.S. Government was confronted with reaching agreement
on a new regime or facing reductions in service between our two
countries.

In 1977, the U.S. Government reluctantly agn^eed to a restrictive

and structured air service regime known as Bermuda II, which is

fundamentally the regime that governs air service today.
During the 1980's, the United States was able to secure limited

opportunities for a new service on a reciprocal basis, but stringent

constraints remained.
This was particularly due to Annex II, which created a mechani-

cal formula for setting frequencies that carriers are allowed to op-

erate on each route.

Then in 1991, the United States was confronted with a need to

replace our two carriers at Heathrow given the precarious financial

condition of Pan American and TWA and their decision to sell their

operating rights to London.
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The British took this opportunity to require the United States to
negotiate and pay for succession rights, an unprecedented step in
bilateral history.

From these negotiations the British secured additional operating
rights, including their current extensive right to code-share.
While the United States was allowed to replace our carriers at

Heathrow with American and United Airlines, we did not obtain
significant additional opportunities to offset the new rights ob-
tained by the British.

In 1992, USAir and British Airways proposed a massive $750
million investment and ownership proposal. When this administra-
tion took office, we made it clear that the original, massive invest-
ment package would not be approved because it did not comport
with U.S. investment law.

British Airways and USAir broke the investment into three
pieces, or tranches, in order to fall within the legal constraints, and
current law gave them the right to tranche one, which we ap-
proved.

Obviously this package played a significant role in strengthening
of USAir and its 40,000 employees and all the cities they serve.
And it permitted British Airways to use the code-share rights they
had secured long ago.
When we approved that arrangement, I indicated that I wanted

to liberalize the bilateral agreement. I went to London to meet with
Mr. McGregor, my counterpart at that time. We issued a joint
statement committing to achieving a liberal aviation agreement
within 1 year.

In early 1994, it became clear that the British would not liberal-

ize the agreement because their desire to invest in USAir had
waned in light of USAir's financial condition.
At that point, when it was clear they would not move forward,

I considered renouncing our aviation agreement. But it was clear
that the issue was so divisive that we could not get sufficient sup-
port from either our airlines or the cities. It was then that we
began to consider incremental movements.

I continue to believe that step-by-step progress is achievable, and
let me tell you why. It is very clear from the United Kingdom's per-
spective that they are not prepared to move toward a full open-
skies agreement until the relationship between USAir and British
Airways becomes stabilized.

We have two choices. One is to do nothing. The other is to at-

tempt to make improvement incrementally, step by step, to get us
to a point where we will finally achieve full liberalization or an
open-skies regime.
With that background, let me review the current situation in the

U.K. negotiations.
Mr. Chairman and members, as you know, the items under con-

sideration in the package which is before the negotiators, are for-

malization of open rights for all U.S. and U.K. carriers between
U.K. regional airports and the United States, greatly expanded
code-sharing opportunities for all U.S. carriers, very limited access
to U.S. government-financed traffic for the USAir-British Airways
code-share alliance—and, by the way, our carriers have access to

British government traffic—additional frequency authorizations for
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British Airways in the Philadelphia-London market, and a Chi-
cago-London operation for United Airlines.

Chicago is the largest U.S. gateway without authority for two
U.S. carriers and is close to reaching the threshold of 600,000 an-
nual passengers that would allow us to designate a second carrier.

Clearly the elements of this deal have benefits for a number of U.S.
carriers.

In addition, we have also discussed with the United Kingdom an
agenda for the next round of talks and a timetable for beginning
those talks.

The agenda items for that round would include the very signifi-

cant items of cargo, pricing and charter liberalization, limited addi-
tional access to Heathrow and/or Gatwick for U.S. and U.K car-

riers and additional access for U.S.-U.K alliances to U.S. govern-
ment-financed traffic.

While we would have preferred, and I have sought, to include
some additional access to Heathrow and Gatwick in the first phase,
that would have significantly imbalanced the deal in our favor, and
the British could not agree.

Agreement of specific scope, limits or conditions on elements in

the immediate package have not been reached, and therefore I do
not want to discuss specific aspects of these elements at this time.

Rather I would like us to consider the nature of the package, how
it comports with our policy as I have outlined above, and how it

fits into our longer-term strategy.

First, the elements in this package are limited, particularly when
compared to the overall level of service between our two countries
and the revenue value of the U.S.-U.K market, which is more
than $5 billion.

Second, the additional service and marketing opportunities will

enhance competition in the marketplace and provide desired addi-

tional access to the international air transportation system for

travelers and shippers.
Third, I will insist that the specific final elements provide a fair

balance of benefits for the United States versus the United King-
dom.
The existing controversy surrounding the U.K. negotiations high-

lights a more generic problem that I want to address.

Ultimately every new agreement must be in the overall best in-

terest of the United States, irrespective of a particular carrier. Let
me repeat that. Every new agreement must be in the overall best
interest of the United States irrespective of a particular carrier.

The fact that we have numerous international carriers with dif-

ferent service needs and different objectives makes it tougher for

the U.S. Government to negotiate international air service agree-
ments.
But we cannot allow, we cannot afford to allow the individual in-

terests of particular carriers to obstruct meaningful progress for

the United States as a whole and the benefits of expanded services

for consumers and for our cities.

As long as the expansion of the marketplace represents a bal-

anced movement forward between the United States and our bilat-

eral partner and provides progress toward our ultimate goal of lib-

eralization or open skies, we must be willing to move forward.
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Our ultimate goal is complete liberalization of the international
aviation market. Our commitment should be to the expansion of op-
portunities for our carriers and consumers at every opportunity as
long as it is done fairly. That is the guiding principle for our nego-
tiations, including those with the United Kingdom.
Mr. Chairman, in my opening comments with that rather long

statement, I appreciate the time you have given me to present that
information. I would be happy to try to answer your questions.

Senator McCain. Thank you very much, Mr. Secretary.
[The prepared statement of Secretary Pena follows:]

Prepared Statement of Federico Pena Secretary of Transportation

Good morning Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee. I appreciate this
opportunity to discuss one of the most important transportation and economic issues
for the United States—international commercial aviation—and recent developments
with respect to our efforts toward expanding and liberalizing our aviation agreement
with the United Kingdom.

I welcome this opportunity because it enables us to examine where we have been,
where we are today, and, most critically, where we are going with respect to inter-

national aviation. It is important that the discussion of any particular aspect of our
policies or any individual negotiation be considered in the oroader context of our
overall goals and strategy for expanding services for the traveling public, for in-

creasing opportunities for our aviation industry and the cities they serve, and for

creating the most efficient and dynamic aviation system possible.

When I became Secretary of Transportation, the situation confronting us in inter-

national aviation was daunting. Major problems existed between foreign aviation
gartners and the United States, ana the situation was getting worse. The French
ad renounced our bilateral aviation agreement, with the possibility that they could

reduce services between our two countries at any time. The Germans had become
exceedingly unhappy with our relationship and were threatening renunciation.
Japan was indicating that it might take steps to limit our carriers irom exercising
their rights and to limit future growth in service.

No progress had been made despite countless rounds of talks with Canada about
liberalizing air service in this, our largest international aviation and trade market.
Overall, no new significant service opportunities were becoming available to our car-

riers. Furthermore, the United States was operating under a 17-year-old inter-

national aviation policy. We merely reacted to events out of our control.

Coupled with those problems, our aviation industry was experiencing disastrous
financial results, particularly in the international sector. The IJnited States had just
lost two major airlines, including our dominant international airline—Pan Amer-
ican. Three more major airlines were in bankruptcy at the beginning of this admin-
istration. In 1992, the U.S. aviation industry recorded its third straight year of huge
losses. In 1992, we saw an operating loss of $2.4 billion. The international sector,

which accounted for approximately one-fourth of our airline industry's business, was
registering over half oi this loss, $1.3 billion. These financial results were weaken-
ing our industry and diminishing its competitive advantage in the international
marketplace.
These circumstances did not bode well either in the short term or long term for

U.S. international aviation interests. Something had to be done, and we imme-
diately set to work on the problems.
Right from the beginning, this Administration worked to assist the recovery of the

U.S. aviation industry. With the support of Congress, we established the Commis-
sion to Ensure a Strong and Competitive Airline Industry—almost immediately on
taking office—and we nave already acted on more than 80 percent of its rec-

ommendations-.
The Administration took major steps to address the national deficit problem. The

resulting economic recovery and period of expansion have done more than anything
else to assist the economic recovery of the U.S. airline industry. In turn, our airline

industry's financial recovery has strengthened its ability to compete in the inter-

national aviation market.
And we are seeing results: Last year more than 555 million passengers flew in

the United States, up 8 percent from the year before. Revenues, traffic and load fac-

tors are all up. None oi our major airlines is in bankruptcy. Most importantly, in

the international sector, our industry has turned the comer and reported an operat-

ing profit of $500 million for 1994, and the profit picture is improving further. Air-
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line analysts project that 1995 will be a good year. Also, the U.S. share of the grow-
ing international market is up to 53 percent.

To anticipate the rapidly changing environment in aviation, we conducted the first

comprehensive review of our international aviation policy since 1978. This cul-

minated in the adoption of our International Air Transportation Policy Statement
last November. In developing our policv statement, we placed considerable emphasis
on evaluating the economic forces in the marketplace, now those forces are shaping
the evolution of the industry, and how our policies should relate to those develop-
ments to enhance the opportunities and economic prospects for our industry, com-
munities and the traveling public.

In one area—code-sharing—we undertook the first comprehensive study to under-
stfmd the effects of this major marketing practice and to quantify the impact on
competition in the market.

In our policy statement, we laid out our broad and fundamental policy goals and
objectives. We announced initiatives that we would pursue to achieve those goals.

And we indicated how we would respond to countries with differing levels of interest

in liberalization and opening up market opportunities.

Our goal is to encourage the expansion of service in light of market demand and
the development of the most efficient and competitive international airline oper-
ations. Enhanced competition and greater service opportunities will lead to signifi-

cant benefits for travelers, shippers and communities, greater general economic de-

velopment, and greater financial rewards for carriers and their employees.
We outlined more specific objectives designed to meet this goal and to serve as

the basis for developing our positions for international negotiations. They include
the following:

• Increase the variety of price and service options available to consumers;
• Enhance access of U.S. cities to the international air transportation system;
• Provide carriers with unrestricted opportunities to develop types of service

and systems based on their assessment of marketplace demand;
• Ensure that competition is fair and playing field is level by eliminating mar-
ketplace distortions such as state subsidies;
• Encourage the development of the most cost-efficient and productive air

transportation system that will be best equipped to compete in tne global mar-
ket at all levels and with all types of service.

Our stated commitment to these goals and objectives has provided the basis for

us to pursue a number of initiatives that are already demonstrating the validity of
our policy and bringing enormous benefits to the United States.

Today, our airlines are doing well in terms of share of the international aviation

market. Regional maps showing our carriers market share in the largest country
markets demonstrate this point. In the Western Hemisphere, our carriers have a
strong position, particularly in the two largest markets—Canada and Mexico

—

which together account for half of the total traffic in this region. Our carriers have
67 percent of the Canadian market and 58 percent of the Mexican market. To
Central and South America, our carriers have 60 percent of the traffic. In Europe,
in the three largest markets—the United Kingdom, Germany and France—which ac-

count for two-thirds of all traffic between the United States and Europe, our carriers

have almost 52 percent of the total traffic, with 45 percent of the British market,
58 percent of the German market and 64 percent of the French market. In Asia and
the South Pacific, U.S. carriers have 61 percent of U.S.-Japan traffic, and this single

market accounts for over half of the traffic from the Far East and South Pacific.

In February, we signed a breakthrough agreement with Canada that is imme-
diately expanding service and fare options between our countries and will result in

a fully open air service regime. Scores of new services have already begun. Every
one of our major carriers nas new services between the two countries. In short,

there will be more service, greater efiiciency and better fares. Consumers, cities, air-

lines and both nations all gain. Estimates of the value of this agreement to our
economy have been in the range of $15 billion per year.
We have also made progress in reaching open-skies agreements with nine Euro-

pean countries which will also allow our carriers unlimited access to provide direct

service, either on their own or under a commercial arrangement with the foreign

carrier, or indirect service under a code-sharing arrangement with carriers of third

countries.

These steps have r^esulted in new opportunities for our airline industry. They will

bring greater operating efficiencies for our carriers and enable them to maintain
their competitive edge in the international marketplace.

Building on this progress, we have indicated our willingness and determination
to pursue open skies and liberalization with other countries. As part of our 1994
agreement with Germany, we are committed to working toward an open skies agree-
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ment with that major trading partner. We recently held talks with Poland. While
no agreement was reached, significant progress was made and I remain optimistic

about the liberalization of that market in the near future. And we continue to seek
expanded service opportunities and reliance on market forces in developing regimes
with the new governments in eastern Europe.

In Latin America our position has improved dramatically as that maricet has
grown rapidly and our carriers have strengthened their position. We have just con-
cluded an agreement with Peru which will allow for a substantial expansion of serv-

ice between the two countries.

At the same time, despite enormous efforts, and I might add a great deal of frus-

tration for me, some of our attempts to achieve greater liberalization of our inter-

national aviation markets have not yet met with any success. At the top of this list

is the United Kingdom.
I believe that it is widely known that ever since I became Secretary I have not

been satisfied with the existing air service agreement with the United Kingdom that
this administration inherited. I have repeatedly said that it is our most restrictive

air service regime, with all of its restrictions on service frequencies, airports and
carrier designations.

A brief review of the history of our bilateral relationship with the U.K. under-
scores the difficulties with this relationship. In the mid-1970's the British re-

nounced our aviation agreement and the U.S. Government was confronted with
reaching agreement on a new regime or facing reductions in service between the two
countries. In 1977, the U.S. Government reluctantly agreed to a restrictive and
structured air service regime known as Bermuda II, which is fundamentally the re-

gime that governs air service today. During the 1980's, the United States was able

to secure limited opportunities for new service on a reciprocal basis, but the strin-

gent structural constraints of the agreement continued to hamper the development
of market-oriented service. This is particularly due to Annex II, which created a me-
chanical formula for setting frequencies that carriers are allowed to operate on each
route. Then in 1991, the United States was confronted with the need to replace our
two carriers at Heathrow given the precarious financial condition of Pan American
and TWA and their decision to sell their operating rights to London. The British

took this opportunity to require us to negotiate and pay for succession rights, an
unprecedented step in bilateral history. From these negotiations, the British secured
additional operating rights, including their current extensive right to code share.

While the United States was allowed to replace our carriers at Heathrow with
American and United, we did not obtain significant additional opportunities to offset

the new rights obtained by the British.

In 1992, USAir and British Airways proposed a massive $750 million investment
and ownership proposal. When this administration took office, we made it clear that

the original, massive investment package would not be approved because it did not
comport with U.S. investment law. British Airways and USAir broke the investment
into three tranches in order to fall within the legal constraints and we had no choice

but to approve it. Obviously, this package played a significant role in the strength-

ening of USAir and its 40,000 employees and permitted British Airways to use code-

share rights. When we approved the arrangement, I indicated that I wanted to liber-

alize the bilateral agreement and I went to London to meet with Mr. McGregor. We
issued a joint statement committing to achieving a liberal aviation agreement with-

in 1 year. In early 1994, it became clear the British would not liberalize the agree-

ment because their desire to invest in USAir had waned in light of USAir's financial

condition. At that point, when it was clear they would not move forward, I consid-

ered renouncing our aviation agreement. But it was clear that the issue was so divi-

sive that I could not get sufiicient support from our airlines and cities. It was then
that we began to consider incremental deals.

The recent negotiations reflect our policy statement's recognition that there are

countries like the United Kingdom that are unwilling to take major steps to open
up our air se.rvice maricet. Our policy statement indicated that we would consider

transitional agreements with a phased removal of restrictions and liberalization of

the air service market or sectoral agreements, such as cargo or charter services.

Both of these approaches are attempts to achieve some progress rather than allow-

ing a service regime to stall and remain static.

We also recognized that we would have to address limited, ad hoc proposals for

specific new services. These could be in the form of extra-bilateral autnority or, as
we are having to deal with pertaining to the United Kingdom, in the form of amend-
ments to the existing bilateral agreement. In either case, our willingness to agree
to such a proposal should be determined on the basis of the standards outlined in

our Policy Statement. The applicable standards are:
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• Whether approval will increase the variety of pricing and service options
available to consumers;
• Whether approval will improve the access of cities, shippers and travelers to
the international air transportation system;
• The effect of the proposed transaction on the U.S. airline industry and its

employees; and
• Whether the transaction will advance our goals of eliminating operating and
market restrictions and achieving liberalization.

With this background, I would like to review the situation with the U.K. negotia-
tions. There are two aspects of this I would like to address. First is the appropriate-
ness of the elements under consideration in the immediate package. Second is the
effect of reaching agreement regarding a limited package of rights on the feasibility
and timing of achieving our long-term objective of complete liberalization of the
mariiet.
The items under consideration in the immediate package are formalization of

open rights for all U.S. and U.K. carriers between U?K. regional airports and the
United States, greatly expanded code-sharing opportunities for all U.S. carriers,
very limited access to U.S. government-financed traffic for the USAir-British Air-
ways code-share alliance (U.S. carriers already enjoy access to British government
traffic), additional frequency authorizations for British Airways in the Philadelphia-
London market, and a Chicago-London operation for a second U.S. airline. Chicago
is the largest U.S. gateway without authority for two U.S. carriers and is close to

reaching the threshold of 600,000 annual passengers that would allow us to des-
ignate a second carrier. Thus, the elements of the deal have benefits for a number
of U.S. carriers.

In addition, we have also discussed with the United Kingdom an agenda for the
next round of talks and a timetable for beginning such talks. The agenda items for
that round would include the very significant items of cargo, pricing and charter lib-

eralization, limited additional access to Heathrow and/or Gatwick lor U.S. and U.K.
carriers and additional access for U.S.-U.K. alliances to U.S. government-financed
traffic. While we would have preferred to include some additional access to
Heathrow and Gatwick in the first phase, that would have significantly imbalanced
the deal in our favor and the British would not agree.
Agreement on specific scope, limits or conditions on elements in the immediate

package have not been reached, and therefore I do not want to discuss specific as-
pects of these elements at this time. Rather I would like to consider the nature of
the package, how it comports with our policy as I outlined above, and how it fits

into our longer-term strategy.

First, the elements in this package are limited, particularly when compared to the
overall level of service between the two countries and the revenue value of the U.S.-
U.K. market, which is more than $5 billion. Second, the additional service and mar-
keting opportunities will enhance competition in the marketplace and provide de-
sired additional access to the international air transportation system for travelers
and shippers. Third, I will insist that the specific final elements provide a fair bal-
ance of Denefits for the United States versus the United Kingdom.
That leaves the issue of how agreeing to a short-term package affects our ability

to achieve our longer term liberalization objectives. The British position is that they
are unwilling to move forward to talks on other areas until the short-term package
is agfreed. Our position has been that, even if agreement on the immediate package
elernents is reached, we will not accept the deal unless there is commitment by the
British on the agenda and dates for the next round of talks. The British have gen-
erally agreed to the agenda items and indicated a willingness to agree to dates for
starting second-round talks.

The existing controversy surrounding the U.K. negotiations highlights a more ge-
neric problem that I would like to address.

Ultimately, every new agreement must be in the overall best interest of the Unit-
ed States, irrespective of a particular carrier. The fact that we have numerous inter-
national carriers with different service needs and objectives makes it tougher for the
U.S. government to negotiate international air service agreements. The process nat-
urally is more contentious. But we cannot afford to allow the individual interests
of one particular carrier to obstruct meaningful progress for the United States as
a whole and the benefits of expanded services for consumers and cities. As long as
the expansion of the marketplace represents a balanced movement forward between
the United States and our bilateral partner and it provides progress toward our ulti-

mate goal of liberalization or open skies, we must be willing to move forward.
Our ultimate goal is complete liberalization of the international aviation market.

As we stated in our International Air Transportation Policy Statement attempts to
slow down or resist the movement toward the development of aviation systems and
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maiiiets driven by economic factors in order to enhance or protect the competitive
position of individual carriers will not succeed. Countries that are not willing to

move forward and expand opportunities for their carriers are going to be left in the
dust. In the long run, those countries that do not seize opportunities to expand oper-

ations for their carriers will weaken the competitive position of their carriers. Our
commitment should be to the expansion of opportunities for our carriers and con-
sumers at every opportunity as long as it is done fairly. That is the guiding prin-

ciple for our negotiations, including those with the United Kingdom.

Senator McCain. Senator Ford.

Senator Ford. Are you going to let me go first?

Senator McCain. In deference to your age and experience and
knowledge. [Laughter.]

Senator Ford. Well, you left out one thing, money, and you have
all that. [Laughter.]
Senator Ford. Mr. Secretary, after your discussions with the

British that have now gone on for a number of years—^they are
pretty good dancers, otherwise negotiators. We have had a long
dance.
And there has been a little movement forward. What really do

you expect to achieve in phase two? How much additional access
to Heathrow and service to others can we anticipate?

Secretary Pena. Senator, what has been discussed is some more
access to Heathrow and/or Gatwick. We have not yet determined,
because we have not had the negotiation, how much access.

It will not be the full liberal access that we would ultimately like

to achieve with the United Kingdom. But it will be some access.

Senator Ford. By concluding the so-called open-skies arrange-
ment with one of our largest aviation partners, Canada, you were
able to succeed where others before you had failed.

And in concluding that agreement the United States established
a specific, clearly defined timeframe for moving to a total liberaliza-

tion of air service.

Yet with the United Kingdom the United States seems to be pre-

pared to agree to incremental deals without a specific well-defined
plan to move toward open skies.

Now, why has the United States allowed this to happen and
when do you plan to establish a timetable with United Kingdom
similar to the one concluded with Canada?
Secretary Pena. Well, Senator, it has been one of my most vexing

problems. As you will recall, very early in our discussions with the
United Kingdom we did set a timetable. We said publicly that we
would attempt to reach an open-skies agreement, or a liberal agree-

ment, within a year.
Unfortunately, what happened in those discussions was the de-

velopment of a somewhat difficult financial situation for USAir,
and that then discouraged the British, and very specifically British

Airways, from having any continued interest in making additional

investments in USAir.
That had been the impetus, frankly, for the United Kingdom for

moving forward somewhat aggressively on the bilateral.

As I said in my opening statement, because British Airways is

now taking a wait-and-see attitude for the financial condition of

USAir to become more stable, the British Government has cor-

respondingly backed off a very aggressive timetable for full liberal-

ization.
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Obviously we want to continue to press them to agree to a very
specific timetable on full liberalization, but it is clear that they are
going to continue to observe the situation between USAir and Brit-

ish Airways.
So in the meantime we are going to continue to press these addi-

tional steps, but obviously get there as quickly as possible.

Senator Ford. Are you telling this committee then that the prob-
lems with British Airways and USAir—what are they pressing for,

more than the 25 percent? Do they want to go beyond the law and
take over USAir? Why is it they are so adamant about everything
else based on this one investment?

Secretary Pena. Senator, they have made a $300 million, and
that was leveraged up to a $400 million investment in USAir. This
is British Airways. You may have read very recently where British
Airways had to write off that investment because of that relation-

ship.

Obviously they are being very thoughtful about making any more
investments in USAir until that stabilized. But that has been the
major motivation for the United Kingdom in agreeing to movement.

Ultimately, British Air would like to move forward with tranches
two and three, which we denied over a year ago, which would allow
them to make additional investment in USAir. And, yes, they
would want the law on ownership changed to allow for up to a 49-

percent ownership of a U.S. carrier.

That cannot happen until the Congress amends the current law
which limits ownership to 25 percent.
Senator Ford. Let me try to get around to a point here. Recent

studies conducted by your department and GAO indicate that the
major reason for the success of the KLM-Northwest alliance lies in

the ability of four carriers to coordinate their efforts without the
threat of prosecution under U.S. antitrust laws.

Is it the department prepared to grant other pro-competitive
international airline alliances the same antitrust immunity cur-

rently enjoyed by KLM and Northwest?
Secretary Pena. Senator, the provision of antitrust immunity is

obviously a very complicated and controversial aspect of U.S. law.
However, we are thoroughly evaluating that provision with the
Justice Department.
We hope to complete our analysis in the near future. We have

not yet formally received an application by any of our U.S. carriers

to grant antitrust immunity as was the case with Northwest and
KLM.
So at this point we do not have a position one way or another,

but we are evaluating that provision and trying to determine how
best we can use it as a strategic hook in encouraging countries to

open up their markets to an open-skies agreement.
Senator Ford. Mr. Secretary, as the chairman has said. Senator

McCain, that in this area our passenger load has declined and con-
tinues to decline. Where the passengers are increasing our percent-
age is declining. And I think the share of the U.K market has de-

clined from 49 percent to 46 percent last year, dropped 3 percent.
We all know that access to Heathrow is critical, and we cannot

wait years, in my opinion, for additional access. And what disturbs
this senator is that access for other countries to Heathrow appears
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obtainable. Twenty-two countries have gained access to Heathrow
since 1992.
Why not grant the U.S. rights to Heathrow? Why not? Twenty-

two other countries can do it. We sit here and it seems to be that

we want to have the long dance instead of putting it all together.

I am concerned about these mini-steps, however you want to

—

the short steps and the long dance. Why can we not put all the

package together and say here it is and lay it out on the table

—

they are coming back in June—and see why we cannot get after

them.
It seems to me that we just keep nibbling, and it is clear there

are rights that the British seek in the mini-deal.

I have watched the British for a good many years, and I have
been trying to keep up with this. You and I carried on a long cor-

respondence last year. I see your legal counsel shaking his head.

And we have already signed letters and I have returned to my
pen-pal relationship with you, Mr. Secretary. I hope you read the

letters, and sometimes between the lines.

Given the market share statistics in the favor of the British,

what is it the British want? I could ask a lot of questions, fly Amer-
ican traffic, maybe.
Competition for British Airways in America to Chicago, doubtful.

Philadelphia-London, oh, yes. Starburst rights out of Heathrow for

U.S. carriers, unlikely.

What is it they really want? Is it just their financial interest in

USAir that seems to be clogging up the whole operation?

It bothers me considerably that an investment by the British in

an airline in our country stymies the negotiation between two
countries. They made a bad deal. So what. That should not regu-

late all of the negotiations you have.

I do not have any more questions, Mr. Chairman. I want to listen

to the airline executives that are coming in here after that, and I

have some questions for them that might relate to it.

Mr. Secretary, you meet June 1 and 2?

Secretary Pena. That is the tentative schedule.

Senator Ford. What are your prospects then, just to continue

where you are and not
Secretary Pena. No-
Senator Ford. To mini-deal and-
Secretary Pena. Let me answer the last question, Senator and

then I would like to come back to the first point that you made.
Senator Ford. You can do anything you want to.

Secretary Pena. I would like to respond to both points. Our gen-

eral understanding in our discussions is that we would agree on

completion of the first phase of these negotiations. But before they

would become final we would have to agree on the agenda for the

second phase of the discussion.

Senator Ford. And a timetable.

Secretary Pena. And a timetable for those. So that is part of the

discussion. We have not yet gotten to that point yet.

But let me answer your first question. Senator, because I think

you have really asked the most important question. And it is the

same question that I have been asking myself now for 2 years.
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What is it that the British want. Frankly, they do not need any-
thing.

Let me emphasize that. If you take the current aviation agree-
ment that was signed years ago and we do nothing, I predict they
will continue to gain a larger and larger percent of our inter-

national aviation traffic.

So there is not any impetus. There is not any pressure on the

British to do much. They are in a wonderful position right now be-

cause of an agreement that was signed years ago.

So we have tried to find a way to work with them in a construc-

tive fashion to try to at least rebalance the agreement step by step.

That is what we have attempted to do.

It is interesting that a year ago when we took the position that
we should try to nave a much broader agreement as you have sug-

gested, combine the first agn*eement and the second, the first nego-
tiation and the second negotiation into a very large agreement, we
encountered a problem.
A number of our airlines, and I have a letter here which I will

not read, I will give you copies, from six of our airlines saying:

don't do that. Don't try to do the entire deal. Do it step by step.

Now, after having spent some time with the British, understand-
ing their motivation, and I talked about the problem with USAir,
I have become convinced that the only way we are going to make
any progress is a methodical step-by-step process, to continue to

move us forward and to begin to generally rebalance the agreement
which now is in imbalance.
That is my judgment after having spent a lot of time on this.

And at this point, after all the other approaches we have taken, we
think this is the one that has the most promise.

Senator Ford. Is it true that 40 percent of the tourists that fly

to Europe or Great Britain and so forth return on another airline,

a foreign airline?

Secretary Pena. Senator, we would be happy to answer that
question specifically

Senator Ford. Well, I think I am approximately right. And one
of the reasons is the similarity in safety—that word "similar"—and
the foreign carriers do not go through all the things that we re-

quire our American airlines to do.

And I think something has to be done for safety if nothing else,

because it is costing our carriers tens of millions of dollars annually
to put in the same safety functions we require here, we do not re-

quire of the foreign air carriers.

And where their time is short, our time is long. There are a lot

of things that bring 40 percent of those that fly to Europe or Great
Britain or wherever, that 40 percent of those fly back on a foreign
air carrier and not with the American carrier.

And just little things that you do. And if you need to change the
word, I will be more than happy to try to work with folks up here
to change the word.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator McCain. Thank you. Mr. Secretary, I just want to ask

one question before turning to Senator Stevens.
The real question here is, and it will be raised by the other wit-

nesses, you are about to make a "mini-deal," which in the view of
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most observers is an advantage to British Air and Virgin Atlantic,

since they are achieving most of the goals that they seek by this

first mini-deal.

What will be the incentive, therefore, for the British to make fu-

ture concessions and enable us to achieve the goals that we seek

if you, in the description of some, basically give away to the British

what they seek in the first round?
What assurance and what confidence do you have that if you

make this agreement that the British might say, "Yes, we will be
glad to talk to you," but because there is no incentive for the Brit-

ish to make further concessions to us to open their skies to Amer-
ican airlines?

Secretary Pena. Senator, let me respectfully disagree with the

characterizations that others have made about the phase one nego-
tiations. We do economic analysis of these agreements, and we very

strongly believe
Senator McCain. Can you provide those economic analyses to the

committee, please?
Secretary Pena. Mr. Chairman, we would be pleased to provide

the analysis in confidence. I know the chairman will assure that.

Obviously we are in the middle of negotiations, we would not want
those analyses to be made public.

But our economic analysis indicates that the agreement that we
have on the table with the British would be in our interest. It is

balanced, but it is in our interest. I would never agree to any pro-

posal that is not in our best interest.

We think that movement on the second agreement, at least as it

is currently described, would also be in our best interest.

And that is what I have said in my statement and in our inter-

national aviation policy, that the decisions we will make must be
in the overall best interests of the country and move the effort to

fully liberalize the agreement forward.

Senator McCain. Thank you, Mr. Secretary, but that is going to

be the crux of the argument that a number of witnesses are going

to make today.

Senator Stevens.
Senator Stevens. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. You are

very kind to move on fast, and we are lucky that this vote has been
delayed.

Mr. Secretary, if you had those charts up here 10 years ago Alas-

ka would have had a spot on your chart. Because of the change in

the traffic over the Soviet Union we have sort of dropped off the

charts, and that bothers us considerably.

Our Alaska airports have wanted to encourage foreign carriers to

hub cargo in Alaska. And, as a matter of fact, in 1990, your depart-

ment wrote our former Governor and indicated a willingness to

support that concept of cargo hubbing. It really was a specific au-

thority to have inbound in-transit cargo transfers at Anchorage and
Fairbanks.

Since we have been very hard hit in this situation because of the

opening of Russian air space and also the 747—400's fly from Chi-

cago directly into the Orient now, we are very interested in wheth-
er your department would support a concept of allowing the devel-
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opment of that kind of hubbing in a cargo area. Have you looked
at that?

Secretary Pena. Senator, we have. And let me have Mr. Murphy
go into more detail. But let me first address the concern about
Alaska.
We have been very concerned about Alaska, and as you know we

recently reestablished the agreement with the Russians, that they
will land in Alaska and not forego Alaska as they had been sug-
gesting otherwise.
As respects cargo, let me have Mr. Murphy address that ques-

tion.

Mr. Murphy. Well, I would also like to point out. Senator that
several years ago the department began a policy of offering to our
foreign partners, whenever we meet them, the opportunity to land
or operate to Alaska.
So we are making that offer available to any foreign government

who would like to operate there.

With regard to cargo hubs, we would be happy to work with the
Alaskan authorities. We are working with some other authorities

around the country to see whether we can develop inter-modal or

air cargo hubs.
Senator Stevens. I think it would be very important to us if that

could happen. Because of our geographic location the cargo oper-
ation seems to be our future, because passenger operation is en-
tirely different economics.

Let me switch to another thing, Mr. Secretary. I know of my own
knowledge of a group of my friends who were going to go to London
and then to Paris, and they have had a rather sweetheart deal of-

fered to them by the Concorde group, the British, to fly into Paris,

and they threw in a round trip over to London and back.
I want to mention that in connection with these statistics that

we have received. The Civil Aviation Authority in London showed
that for the full calendar year in 1993, the Chicago-London non-
stop passengers exceeded the 600,000 mark that is in the agree-
ment. But as soon as that happened for a year, it has been totally

down now for a year.
Does that drop-off not give you pause to believe that there is sort

of a manipulation of the traffic in and out of London so in fact the
agreement that we have had under Bermuda II is not triggered to

give us the extra airline access into that route from Chicago to

London?
Secretary Pena. Well, Senator, I want to be very thoughtful in

answering your question because certainly I do not want to make
any allegations about the conduct of others. But let me say that
generally speaking I think those of us in the U.S. Government and
those in the United Kingdom Government have observed that trend
that you describe.

And I think it is because of that concern that the United King-
dom has been willing to, in a sense, accelerate that provision in the
agreement that says that if you reach 600,000 2 years in a row an-
other airline can fly out of Chicago.
The United Kingdom is basically saying: let's deem it having

reached the 600,000 mark. And that is why they have offered to

include it in the first round of these discussions.
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So there is a sense that perhaps it is now time for Chicago to

have two airiines.

Senator Stevens. My point is that if we had had the statistics

any 1 month, as I understand it, in 1994, over 600,000, we would
have had another free access and you would be negotiating for a
second one now.
Now you are negotiating for the first one which we would have

had if any 1 month had continued the trend of 1993.

Then we would have had two consecutive calendar years in

which we had exceeded the 600,000 and, therefore, there would
have been an additional route into this market.
Now, I join you, I am not going to make allegations about a con-

spiracy or anything, but it does seem sort of strange that the
Chicagoans reduced their enthusiasm to travel to London, but they
increased their enthusiasm to travel to France during 1994.

And I believe we have lost the concept of having an additional

route because of that change in the traffic pattern.

But I do not know whether you have studied what happened to

the Chicago-France, Chicago-other portions of Europe traffic dur-

ing the period that it dropped off on the London route. Did you do
that?

Secretary Pena. Senator, we are very much aware of the traffic

because we obviously were hopeful the 600,000 figure could be
reached.
And there is a discussion here between Pat Murphy and me

about whether it is for 24 months or 12 months and a month.
And you are going to have a panel which will be discussing this

in a while, and I would be curious to see what their interpretation

is of that traffic change.
Senator Stevens. The vote is on, so I better just quit.

But let me just read—I am just reading that portion of the Ber-

muda II agreement "Provided the total on-board passenger traffic

carried by the designated airlines of both contracting parties in

scheduled air service on a gateway route segment exceeds 600,000
one-way revenue passengers in each of two consecutive 12-month
periods."

It did not have to be total for two 12-month periods, having ex-

ceeded it for 1 year, all it took was 1 month and we would have
had a second route, as I understand it. That sort of disturbs me
as I looked at this. I just hope you will continue to deal with open
skies.

Open skies has left our state sort of a by-way with two massive
international airports that were there because the air space across

the Soviet Union. Then for a while, Russia was closed.

Now that it is open, the Asian traffic is going obviously on the

shortest route, and we are back now searching for a future as far

as aviation is concerned.
I appreciate your cooperation, and we do appreciate the fact that

the Russian landing agreement has been renewed. I think that is

very important for our relationships with Eastern Russia and Alas-

ka, and we are grateful to you for that.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Senator McCain. Thank you.
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Dan, could I ask your indulgence? Senator Hutchison has a burn-
ing comment that she would like to make.

Please, go ahead just before we have to take a recess.

Senator Hutchison. I did not mean that I wanted to go out of

order.

Well, I am concerned about your statement. Secretary Pena, and
I want to thank you for the access that you have given the senators
on this issue and for delaying your meeting last week so that we
could have some input. I really do appreciate that.

But I was concerned about your statement that the British do
not really want anything and if we just do nothing that they have
an advantage. It seems to me that at one point Fly America was
on the table with increased access to Heathrow,
And now we seem to have a two-phase step and Fly America is

really the biggest thing that the British want. I am told that it is

worth about $134 million.

And while they do allow access of our government employees on
British Air, nevertheless, that is not half what they would get by
having Fly America.
So it seems to me that there is something that they want, but

if we do not have parity of issues, increased access to Heathrow
with Fly America, we really will lose our leverage. Could you com-
ment on that?

Secretary Pena. Senator, I will. Let me restate what I said ear-

lier. Remember the significant increase in the market that the
British, in particular British Airways, have achieved without any
difference or amendment in the agreement. They now are up to 55
percent of the market, and over time they will even get more of

that market.
That is what I mean about the lack of real pressure or motiva-

tion for the United Kingdom to change its relationship. They are
doing very well under this old agreement.
Now, would they like to have additional things? Yes. Our view

is, to the extent they would like to have additional things, we need
to rebalance this agreement in the process by putting on the table

things that we think are very important from an economic impact
analysis, and that is what we do.

Originally, they had suggested a Fly America provision where
British Airways alone would be able to bid for the Fly America
traffic. We have denied that.

We have said they must use the same relationship that United-
Lufthansa, KLM-Northwest uses, that any other U.S. carrier that
has a code-sharing relationship must use.

So USAir must be the bidder, and the ticket must be on a USAir
ticket. In that very limited Fly America provision they can bid, and
not necessarily win, just simply have a right to bid for the Fly
America traffic as do those other code-sharing companies that are
now bidding for that traffic.

Senator Hutchison. Well, I would just say that I think that
USAir ticket is a distinction without a difference. We are talking
about giving them the one thing that will really enhance their abil-

ity to have access in America.
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They are going to fly American government employees, which is

worth about $134 million by our calculation, and it is the one thing

that we have as leverage.

On the other hand, I think everyone by any standard believes

that we are being docked of access to Heathrow from many cities

in America.
As I said earlier, there are three of the top ten cities in America

in my State, one of whom hwas the second busiest airport in Amer-
ica, that does not have—we have no access for my constituents to

Heathrow and, therefore a gateway into other places.

So I do believe that there is one point of leverage, and if we give

it away without demanding that we have sort of parity into

Heathrow, we really will be at a severe disadvantage.

Secretary Pena. Senator, I agree, if that were the case. But that

is not the case. First of all, let me say that we have a much dif-

ferent analysis of the value of the limited Fly America provision

that we have put on the table for the first phase of the negotiation.

We have, as you know, said that in the second phase of the nego-

tiations we would be willing to consider some expanded Fly Amer-
ica provisions, again within the context of the code-share relation-

ship.

But at that time the access to Heathrow and Gatwick has to be
on the table. So we think that we are approaching this in a me-
thodical fashion, again making sure that the economic equivalency
is positive in our favor every step of the way.

Senator McCad^. Mr. Secretary, can I ask if you would come
back in 45 minutes?

Secretary Pena. I can do that, I think, Senator. Let me just check
my schedule, but I will do my very best.

Senator Rockefeller. Mr. Chairman, we are having a welfare

reform markup in finance. I am unable to come back, but I have
questions for three of the witnesses.

Can I submit those for the record?

Senator McCain. Without objection.

Secretary Pena. Mr. Chairman, if for some reason I cannot come
back, because I have not checked my schedule, obviously Mr.
Kaplan and Mr. Murphy will be here. They know all about this

issue and would be happy to answer any questions.

Senator McCain. Dan, did you have questions for the Secretary?

Senator Inouye. If I may, may I summarize what I think you
have said. That the issue before us is do we proceed with the

phased mini-deal approach or a maxi-deal approach.
Your conclusion is that, from your background and experience

and history, with the mini-deal there is a potential for success,

with a maxi-deal it is a stalemate.

That being the case, there are some who support the mini-deal,

others do not, because the ones who do not support the mini-deal

may benefit from a stalemate. Is that a proper conclusion?

Secretary Pena. Senator, you have been very perceptive. [Laugh-

ter.]

Senator Inouye. Second, I believe there is an issue involved here

that no one has mentioned. There are some who are suggesting

that the negotiations should be taken out of DOD and the State
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Department and placed in the U.S. Trade Representative What are
your thoughts on that?

Secretary Pena. The administration is opposed to that, Senator
and I have given you a presentation this morning that dem-
onstrates what we have been able to accomplish just in 2 years.

I think it is a remarkable record. The best evidence of that is our
market share of North America, Europe, and Asia. We have some
problem areas we have to work on, one is the United Kingdom, and
we are doing our very best to advance our interests in that market.
Senator Inouye. And finally, if I may make an observation, I be-

lieve the sudden rise in the French traffic was Normandy.
Senator McCain. Mr. Secretary, I would like to exercise the pre-

rogatives of the chair and say that you do not have to come back.
I do not want to put this kind of imposition on your time. The tax-
payers, I think, make too bi^ an investment in you.

I have a number of additional questions. I am deeply concerned,
obviously, as are other members of this committee, but I think that
what you provided the committee is sufficient testimony. And I ap-
preciate your being here.

When we come back we will proceed with the next panel of wit-

nesses.
Thank you very much, Mr. Secretary.
Secretary Pena. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
[Recess.]
Senator McCain. Mr. Mead.

STATEMENT OF KENNETH M. MEAD, DIRECTOR, TRANSPOR-
TATION ISSUES, RESOURCES, COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT DIVISION, U.S. GENERAL ACCOUNTING OF-
FICE

Mr. Mead, Our code-sharing report illustrates how the United
States in 1991 granted British carriers extensive access to the
United States via code-sharing.
At the time, there was little economic analysis of the value of

code-sharing. British Air has greatly increased its access to the
U.S. market and improved its competitive position as a result.

Mr. Chairman, I think you have a chart in front of you.
Senator McCaesi. Yes.
Mr. Mead. Page one of the chart shows the '^before" the code-

share alliance, and page two shows the "after". And as they say,

a picture is worth a thousand words. And this is a case in point.

I think you will recall, Mr. Chairman, that we cited a similar
lack of analysis in DOT's approach to approving domestic mergers
in the mid-80's. To its credit, over the last several months, DOT
has heightened the emphasis that it places on economic analysis.

But several problems persist that will handicap that new office. By
placing a proper emphasis on economic valuation, DOT will be on
a better footing with its foreign counterparts than it was in 1991.

I was going to spend some time on illustrating the importance of
international operations to U.S. carriers, but the attendance today
explains why that will not be necessary. But it is within a frame-
work of increasing dependence on international revenues that the
so-called mini-deal with the United Kingdom is being negotiated.
This occurred subsequent to our study. We have been briefed on
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this deal by the DOT, but we have not seen the underlying analysis

of the agreement or the data on which it relies. So we are not in

a position to comment on whether the overall package produces a
net benefit for U.S. airlines and consumers.
But our code-sharing and other work does bear on most elements

of that deal. And if I might, I will quickly overview each of the five

principal elements of it.

The first element is the extension of the British Airways-USAir
code-share agreement. We found in 1994 that the USAir-British
Airways code-share produced over $100 million in revenue for Brit-

ish Airways and $20 million for USAIR. The gains accruing to the

British came largely at the expense of other U.S. airlines. Those
gains, we believe, are likely to grow.

British Air currently has authority to code-share in 68 U.S.

cities. The deal would add 72 cities to that list. The U.S. market
share on U.S.-U.K. routes has fallen from 50 percent in 1992 to

about 45 percent in early 1995 in part due to the success of this

alliance.

It ought to be emphasized that the right to unlimited code-shar-

ing within the U.S. was given to the British in 1991. Thus, rejec-

tion of the code-sharing arrangement that is now being proposed as

part of this mini-deal would almost certainly be viewed by the Brit-

ish as inconsistent with the bilateral.

The second element of the mini-deal is the Chicago-Heathrow au-
thority for United. The last chart in this package illustrates the im-

portance of Heathrow Airport. I believe what is interesting about
this particular graphic is that it shows that Heathrow handles
more international traffic than any other airport in the world.

Forty-four million of the 51 million passengers at Heathrow are

international. Roughly 6 million of Chicago O'Hare's 66 million are

international.

Moreover, most lucrative customers for airlines, the business

travelers, prefer Heathrow over London's other airport, Gatwick, by
a factor of seven.

The benefits accruing to United from this provision of the pro-

posal will largely be diverted from two airlines, and they are Amer-
ican and British Air. But the introduction of a third carrier in that

market would in fact increase competition and thereby benefit con-

sumers through lower fares and increased service.

A key question remains though—I think this was raised by Sen-

ator Stevens earlier, and that is, is the United States trading for

a right that it is going to get eventually anyway? The bilateral calls

for new entry when traffic in a specific city-pair market exceeds a
certain threshold—that is the 600,000 passenger number you heard
earlier. In the Chicago—London market, we have been close to that

threshold, for some time now. And if exceeded, United would be al-

lowed to enter that market without the proposed mini-deal.

Element three is added Philadelphia-Heathrow authority for

British Airways. This is important because most USAir-British Air

code-share traffic connects through Philadelphia. That provision

can be expected to take traffic away from U.S. carriers that serve

London from the New York-Philadelphia area, particularly Con-
tinental. Continental is, in some ways, out in the cold here; that

is because Continental is the only carrier that serves London from
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the New York-Philadelphia region that cannot serve Heathrow.
Continental must go to Gatwick.
The fourth element is unlimited code-sharing rights beyond each

country. The correct valuation of this provision, commonly referred
to as the "starburst" provision, is the crux of the current debate.
Although it is potentially the most valuable provision for the U.S.

airlines, the benefits are not nearly as immediate nor as certain as
those for British Air at Philly or the negative impact on American
at O'Hare.
That so-called starburst provision essentially gives U.S. airlines

unlimited rights to code-share beyond Heathrow. Our analysis of

the current code-share alliances indicates that the potential com-
petitive impact of this could be substantial. That is because nearly
one-third of the traffic at Heathrow is destined for some other
place.

The ability to utilize these new rights, though, will depend on
whether third countries will say OK, and whether additional code-
sharing alliances between United States and other carriers will be
created.

I am sure the airline panel will be much more eloquent than I

can be on this, as there may not be too many other code-share part-

ners left.

And finally, the fifth element, the Fly America rights. This is

probably the most uncertain part of the deal, as we understand it.

But in terms of traffic diversion to foreign airlines, the economic
impacts of that provision would likely be small in relation to other
elements of the package. British Airways will basically be allowed
to bid on the right to carry U.S. workers between two U.S. gate-
ways and London.

I would like to say a few words about the data limitations we
found. First, code-share traffic on U.S. airlines are not identified in

dot's data base. Second, traffic is not always reported accurately
with respect to the carrier that even operated the flight. And third,

no data are collected on code-share traffic traveling to and from the
United States exclusively on foreign carriers.

These limitations, Mr. Chairman, also prevent DOT from deter-

mining the impact of code-sharing on fares.

Three of the five provisions in this package involve code-sharing:

(1) Automatic extension and expansion of the code-share alliance;

(2) increasing British Airways' presence at its main code-share con-

nect point; and (3) the starburst provision.

I should also point out, as we noted in our report, that antitrust

immunity has become a most important ingredient of the success

of the KLM-Northwest arrangement. Such immunity is now being
requested by other Nations. Perhaps the Secretary does not have
formal applications for immunity yet, but they may be on their

way. And the value of antitrust immunity will need to be carefully

and accurately assessed before we agree to extend it to other na-

tions or renew it, in the case of Northwest-KLM.
And a final and most important issue when considering this cur-

rent proposal is to ascertain what incentives the British will be left

with to provide opportunities for other U.S. airlines to serve

Heathrow. That concludes my summation, Mr. Chairman.
Senator McCain. Thank you very much, Mr. Mead.

91-134 0-95-2



30

United States General Accounting Office

GAO Testimony
Before the Subcommittee on Aviation,

Conunittee on Commerce, Science,

and Transportation

United States Senate

For Release on Deliver>'

Expected ai

9:30 a.m.. EOT
Wednesday.

May 24. 1995

INTERNATIONAL
AVIATION

Better Data on Code-Sharing

Needed by DOT for

Monitoring and
Decisionmaking

Statement of Kenneth M. Mead,

Director, Transportation Issues,

Resources, Community, and Economic

Development Division

GAO/T-RCED-95-I70



31

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:

We appreciate the opportunity to testify on international

aviation issues. International operations are increasingly

important to U.S. airlines, representing 27 percent of their

traffic today compared with 21 percent in 1980. Over the last few

years, we have reported on a range of issues affecting

international aviation, including our recent report on code-sharing

alliances between U.S. and foreign airlines, restrictions on

foreign investment in U.S. airlines, problems that U.S. airlines

encounter in doing business at airports overseas, and efforts by

the European Union (EU) to deregulate air travel between member

nations.' Many of these issues coalesce in the United States'

relationships with its major aviation trading partners,

particularly the United Kingdom, and have contributed to the

difficultly in achieving more liberal agreements with those

countries. Our testimony is drawn from our body of work in this

area, in particular our findings concerning code-sharing'

s

competitive impacts.'' In summary.

Bilateral agreements between the United States and 72 nations

often greatly restrict an airline's ability to serve foreign

markets. In large part, airlines of one nation investing in

other countries' airlines during the late 1980s and early

' international Aviation: Airline Alliances Produce Benefits, but
Effect on Competition is Uncertain (GAO/RCED-95-99 , Apr. 6,

1995) , Airline Competition: Impact of Changing Foreign
Investment and Control Limits on U.S. Airlines (GAO/RCED-93-7

,

Dec. 9, 1992), International Aviation: DOT Needs More
Information to Address U.S. Airlines' Problems in Doing-Business
Abroad (GAO/RCED-95-24, Nov. 29, 1994), and International
Aviation: Measures by European Community Could Limit U.S.
Airlines' Ability to Compete Abroad (GAO/RCED-93-64, Apr. 26,
1993) .

^Code-sharing is the practice whereby one airline lists another
airline's flights as its own in computer reservation systems,
which are used by travel agents to book flights.
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1990s and the tripling of code-sharing alliances since 1992

are efforts to secure indirectly what airlines are having

difficulty getting directly--greater access to international

markets. The U.S. accord with the United Kingdom, for

example, allows only American and United to serve London's

Heathrow Airport --the largest gateway to Europe, Africa, and

the Middle East. As a result. Delta pursued the next best

alternative and recently began code-sharing on Virgin Atlantic

flights to and from Heathrow.

We found that code-sharing is an effective strategy for

airlines to access traffic to and from cities that they did

not previously serve because of (1) bilateral restrictions or

(2) the economics of serving those cities with their own

aircraft. The alliance between Northwest and KLM, for

example, has increased their combined annual traffic by about

350,000 passengers and produced about one-third and one-fifth

of their transatlantic passenger revenues respectively in

1994--gains largely achieved at the expense of other U.S. and

foreign airlines. However, code-sharing has potential

downsides. The increasing success of several alliances may

allow them to preclude other airlines from entering markets--

even though those airlines have the bilateral right to serve

those routes. Likewise, code-sharing may frustrate DOT'S

efforts to achieve "open skies" if airlines increasingly use

it as a substitute for direct access to cities to which they

would like to fly. This would reduce the pressure on foreign

nations to increase direct access for U.S. flights.

Given its effectiveness, code-sharing will play a prominent

role in bilateral negotiations for the foreseeable future and

any increased rights of direct access or relaxation of foreign

investment limits will likely be linked to the value that

governments and airlines place on code-sharing. We found,

however, that DOT'S capabilities to quantify and assess such
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issues as code-sharing were often greatly limited compared to

its foreign counterparts. To address this, DOT created a new

economic unit in November 1994. However, the new unit will be

hindered by data limitations, such as a lack of detailed data

on foreign carriers' code-share traffic traveling to and from

the United States. As we reported, DOT could remedy this by,

among other things, requiring that (1) U.S. airlines, as part

of their regular reporting of traffic data to DOT, identify

which passengers traveled on code-share flights and (2)

foreign airlines involved in such alliances with U.S. airlines

report data on their code-share traffic to DOT.

Data problems handicap DOT'S efforts to place a value upon the

access rights to the U.S. market that it relinquishes to

foreign governments in exchange for improved access or code-

sharing rights in foreign markets. Thus, the agency is

limited in its ability to ensure the (1) protection of

consumers' interests, (2) equitable treatment of competing

U.S. airlines in negotiating for and awarding limited access

rights, and (3) most effective use of its negotiating

leverage--accommodating foreign airlines' desire to serve the

U.S. market. Likewise, it is hindered in its ability to place

a value on other factors that may be negotiated during

bilateral talks. For example, DOT granted Northwest and KLM

immunity from U.S. antitrust laws in conjunction with the 1992

"open skies" accord with the Netherlands.' Immunity allows

Northwest and KLM to jointly develop fares and integrate

operations without fear of legal challenge. However, DOT has

not assessed the value of immunity to foreign carriers or

determined whether it should be available to other alliances

^The antitrust laws prohibit contracts and agreements that
restrain trade. This would include agreements between
competitors to set prices.
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when the other nation allows for significantly increased

access to its aviation markets.

In the past few months, DOT has made some progress in opening

foreign markets, such as reaching an agreement with the Canada that

greatly increases U.S. airlines' access to the Canadian market.

Nevertheless, DOT continues to face several fundamental challenges,

such as negotiating for increased access to restricted markets with

nations that are often protecting one or two national carriers. By

improving its ability to quantify the value of direct access and

code-sharing rights and to analyze emerging trends, DOT will be

better positioned to negotiate with its foreign counterparts, such

as the British, and reach agreements that yield maximum benefits

for consumers.

BACKGROUND

In contrast with the relatively mature domestic market,

international service has been a key growth area for U.S. airlines.

Between 1987 and 1994, the number of passengers flying on U.S.

airlines internationally increased by 53 percent while domestic

traffic increased by only 15 percent. The airlines' ability to

further tap this potential is restricted by most of the 72

bilateral agreements between the United States and other countries-

-a situation unlike the domestic market where airlines' decisions

concerning routes, flight frequencies, and fares are deregulated.

DOT has attempted to "export" our deregulated environment by

working with foreign nations to eliminate bilateral restrictions.

It has achieved mixed results, concluding agreements with Canada

and several smaller countries that substantially reduce or

eliminate restrictions. However, most major U.S. aviation trading

partners, including the United Kingdom and Japan, have maintained--

and in some cases added--extensive limitations on U.S. airlines'

access to and beyond their markets. Others, such as France and
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Thailand, have renounced their accords with the United States

because their flag carriers were continuing to lose market share to

U.S. airlines. DOT has also had mixed results in eliminating U.S.

airlines' problems in doing business at overseas airports.

In its efforts to open foreign markets, DOT faces several

challenges. It generally must negotiate with nations that are

often protecting national flag carriers that usually have much

higher costs than U.S. airlines. A study by the EU, for example,

found that the operating costs of major European airlines were

about 50 percent higher than the costs of major U.S. airlines in

1992. DOT must also balance the competing and often conflicting

interests of U.S. airlines--nearly all of which want to serve

Heathrow from various points in the United States--while protecting

consumers' interests.

CODE-SHARING ALLIANCES ARE THE LATEST EFFORT OF AIRLINES
TO OVERCOME A RESTRICTIVE GLOBAL AIR TRANSPORT ENVIRONMENT

While DOT has tried to negotiate with other nations to

eliminate bilateral restrictions, U.S. and foreign airlines have

pursued various strategies in their attempts to overcome bilateral

restrictions and economic constraints that limit their

international growth. In the late 1980s and early 1990s, some

airlines invested in airlines from other nations to gain increased

access to foreign markets. For example, British Airways acquired

24.6 percent of USAir and pushed for relaxing the 25 percent limit

on foreign investment in U.S. airlines. Current legislative

proposals would raise the limit to 49 percent. In 1992, we

reported that raising the limit could give U.S. airlines,

particularly those in financial difficulty, greater access to

needed capital, thus enhancing their domestic competitive position.

However, we noted that if it chose to relax the limit, the Congress

might consider limiting eligibility for greater investment to
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investors from nations willing to exchange improved access to their

markets for greater opportunities to invest in U.S. airlines.

Recently, airlines have pursued code-sharing alliances, which

require DOT'S approval and reapproval on a periodic basis, as the

preferred vehicle for gaining access to another nation's market.

From January 1992 through December 1994, the number of alliances

between U.S. and foreign airlines increased from 19 to 61. Code-

sharing occurs when an airline, by agreement, uses its two-character

designator code (e.g., "NW" for Northwest) to market flights operated I

another airline as its own in computer reservation systems (CRS) . Cod«

sharing is most often used to show connecting flights as occurring on

one airline, allowing airlines to "feed" their flights to and from

gateway cities with passengers traveling to and from nongateway foreigi

cities that they do not serve with their own aircraft. (See figs. 1 anc

2.) The airlines do not fly to these cities because of bilateral

restrictions or the cost of providing direct service is too high

relative to passenger demand. In general, foreign governments have be«

more willing to grant U.S. airlines authority for code-sharing than to

remove limits on U.S. airlines' ability to directly serve their markets
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Figure 1: British Airways' Access to the U.S. Market Prior to Code-
Sharing Alliance With USAir
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Figure 2: British Airways ' Access to the U.S. Market After
Implementing Code-Sharing Alliance With USAir
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We found that code-sharing often produces substantial added

traffic and revenues for partners. Most importantly, strategic

alliances, those that involve code-sharing on a large number of

routes and thereby link airlines' route networks, are producing

substantial traffic gains for partners. Three of the alliances



39

entered into to date can be considered strategic--Northwest/KLM,

USAir/British Airways, and United/Lufthansa. These have generated

large increases in passenger traffic for the partners because their

alliances involve (1) code-sharing on numerous routes covering a

wide geographical area and (2) a great degree of operating and

marketing integration. Northwest and KLM data show, for example,

that their annual traffic has increased by about 350,000 as a

result of their alliance, producing an increase in their combined

transatlantic market share from 7 percent in 1991 to 11.5 percent

in 1994 and yielding between $125 million and $175 million for

Northwest (about one-third of its transatlantic passenger revenues)

and $100 million for KLM (18 percent of its transatlantic passenger

revenues) in 1994. Alliances that involve code-sharing on a more

limited number of routes have also resulted in increased traffic

for partners, though at much lower levels than strategic alliances.

Although most gains come at the expense of other airlines, some

come from new traffic stimulated by competition among alliances and

between alliances and other airlines.

Code-sharing, however, has several potential downsides.

First, we found that CRSs often list the same code-share flight

option multiple times. Three listings of the same code-share

flight can push a competing flight option--which often has the same

fare and a similar elapsed time from departure to arrival--to the

second CRS display screen. (See attachment I.) We found such

crowding out in nearly 20 percent of the cases we reviewed. This

limits competition because travel agents--who book 80 percent of

all f lights--book options that are listed on the first CRS screen

90 percent of the time. To address this, the EU in 1993 limited to

two the number of times a code-share flight can be listed in

European CRSs. We have recommended that DOT follow the EU's lead.

Second, in its November 1994 policy statement on international

issues--in which it supported code-sharing--DOT cautioned that the

increasing success of several broad alliances may give those
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alliances sufficient competitive muscle to preclude other U.S.

airlines from entering markets where a successful code-share

arrangement is in place. As a result, code-sharing' s long-run

inpact on competition, and thus fares, is uncertain. Third, it is

unclear whether foreign governments whose airlines are already

benefiting from a strategic alliance will allow nonaligned U.S.

airlines increased access to their market in the future.

Similarly, code-sharing may work to frustrate DOT'S efforts to

achieve "open skies" if airlines increasingly use it as a

substitute for direct access to cities to which they would like to

fly, thereby reducing the pressure on foreign governments to remove

bilateral restrictions. The U.S. accord with the United Kingdom,

for example, allows for only American and United to serve London's

Heathrow Airport. DOT'S negotiators have been unsuccessful at

opening up access to Heathrow for other U.S. airlines. As a

result. Delta pursued the next best alternative and now code-shares

on Virgin Atlantic flights to and from Heathrow. According to many

airline representatives, DOT'S recent approval of the Delta/Virgin

alliance reduced the pressure on the United Kingdom to increase

U.S. access to Heathrow and has made it more difficult to negotiate

a deal that accommodates the desires of several U.S. airlines to

serve Heathrow.

DESPITE EFFECTIVENESS OF CODE-SHARING. SIGNIFICANT BARRIERS
REMAIN THAT INHIBIT U.S. AIRLINES' INTERNATIONAL GROWTH

Although all seven of the major U.S. airlines that fly

internationally have entered code-sharing alliances, significant

barriers remain that limit their ability to serve key foreign

destinations with their own aircraft. In Europe, U.S. airlines'

routes and number of flights to, from, and beyond such major

aviation trading partners as Germany and the United Kingdom are

limited by accords. Besides limiting the number of U.S. airlines

that can serve Heathrow, for example, the U.S. -U.K. accord does not

allow American and United to serve Heathrow from their main hubs

10
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(Dallas and Chicago, respectively). In 1993, we reported that

liberalization efforts by the EU could limit U.S. airlines' ability

to compete in the EU. The EU's measures, for example, prohibit

non-EU airlines from introducing fares lower than existing ones on

routes within the EU. U.S. airlines also face restrictions in the

Pacific Rim. Delta, for example, must rope-off sections of seats

on flights to and from Thailand and fly them empty to avoid

exceeding capacity limits.

Furthermore, we reported in 1994 that U.S. airlines serving

key overseas airports also face problems in doing business that

foreign airlines operating in the United States do not experience

or experience to a much lesser extent. In general, we found that

these problems affect all airlines--U. S . and non-U. S. alike--except

the national flag carrier, creating a home-country advantage for

that carrier. Many European airports, for example, prohibit U.S.

and other airlines from conducting their own ground handling

services, such as checking in passengers and baggage handling.

Instead, only the airport authority and/or the national carrier can

provide these services, at a cost greater than if U.S. airlines

performed these services for themselves.

LIMITED DATA ON CODE-SHARING UNDERCUTS DOT'S
ABILITY TO BUILD UPON RECENT BREAKTHROUGHS

In the past 6 months, DOT has been successful in liberalizing

accords with several nations and taken several other positive steps

to improve U.S. airlines' ability to compete abroad. In November

1994, for example, DOT initiated negotiations with Canada and nine

smaller European nations. These efforts resulted in the February

1995 accord with Canada that expanded opportunities for U.S.

airlines to Canada and increased competition and lowered fares in

such markets as Washington, D.C . -Montreal . Likewise, they yielded

agreements with the nine nations that all bilateral restrictions

11
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will be removed." In November 1994, DOT also issued the first U.S.

policy statement on international aviation since 1978 and has moved

out quickly to act on our recommendation that it collect and

analyze information on U.S. airlines' doing-business problems to

better monitor and address them.

Despite the positive trends, DOT is not well positioned to

deal with the more difficult and complex aviation negotiations with

Germany, Japan, and the United Kingdom. This is because DOT'S

capabilities to analyze such trends as code-sharing are often

limited compared with those of its foreign counterparts, who have

access to their own carriers' data as well as much of DOT'S data.'"

In 1991, for example, DOT gave British carriers extensive access to

the U.S. market through code-sharing in exchange for substituting

American and United for TWA and Pan Am as the two U.S. carriers

allowed to serve Heathrow. Many U.S. airline representatives have

criticized the deal because they believe the value of extensive

code-sharing rights granted to British carriers (1) outweighs the

value of allowing two U.S. airlines to serve Heathrow in place of

two other U.S. airlines and (2) contrasts greatly with the severe

restrictions on U.S. airlines' access to Heathrow. DOT conducted

little analysis of the value of code-sharing prior to concluding

this deal, while we found that the British were analyzing the

potential benefit of code-sharing as early as March 1989.

Acknowledging that it needed to greatly improve its analytical

capabilities and better prepare U.S. negotiators, DOT created the

Office of Aviation and International Economics in November 1994.

However, the new office's ability to carry out its mission will be

greatly hindered because of data limitations. For example, the

"The nine smaller European nations are Austria, Belgium, Denmark,
Finland, Iceland, Luxembourg, Norway, Sweden, and Switzerland.

'"Some data collected by DOT are confidential and not publicly
available for 3 years.

12



43

data reported by U.S. airlines to DOT from a sample of their

tickets do not identify passengers who traveled on code-share

flights and, in some cases, which airline actually operated a code-

share flight. Likewise, the office will be handicapped because DOT

does not collect detailed data from foreign airlines' tickets on

flights between the United States and foreign countries. In its

review of the Northwest /KLM and USAir/British Airways alliances for

DOT, a consultant noted that such shortcomings in DOT'S data

greatly limited its ability to analyze code-sharing and stated that

"if DOT wants to monitor the effects of international code-sharing

on airlines and consumers, it should consider expanding the

reporting requirements for code-sharing operations, particularly

those of foreign carriers."^

As a result of these weaknesses, DOT'S new office will be

limited in the extent to which it can accurately value access

rights that DOT relinquishes to foreign governments in exchange for

improved access or code-sharing rights in foreign markets and fully

analyze emerging trends in this increasingly global industry. In

light of these limitations and the potential downsides to code-

sharing, we recommended in the report being released today that DOT

(1) require that U.S. airlines, as part of their regular reporting

of traffic data to DOT, identify which passengers traveled on code-

share flights and that they take steps to ensure that they report

which airlines actually operated those flights, (2) require foreign

airlines involved in such alliances with U.S. airlines to report

data on their code-share traffic to DOT, and (3) direct the new

office to analyze DOT'S existing data and the detailed data

mentioned above to determine if the U.S. airline industry or

consumers have been negatively affected before reapproving the

broader alliances and any other alliance that the agency deems

significant

.

"A Study of International Airline Code-Sharing , Gellman Research
Associates, Inc., Dec. 1994.

13
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These data problems also hinder DOT'S ability to place a value

on other considerations involving access to markets. For example,

the agency has yet to determine, in light of the Northwest/KLM

experience, the value of antitrust immunity or whether immunity

should be potentially available for other alliances in markets that

allow for significantly increased access for U.S. airlines.

Immunity allows Northwest and KLM to jointly develop fares. As a

result, they can quickly enact fare reductions to attract traffic.

DOT granted Northwest and KLM immunity in 1992 in conjunction with

the "open skies" accord with the Netherlands and in the hopes that

the major European aviation trading partners would follow suit in

seeking open skies. They did not. Many representatives of U.S.

and foreign airlines and foreign government officials have

expressed concern about the competitive impacts of allowing only

one alliance to have antitrust immunity, which allows partners to,

among other things, jointly set fares without fear of legal

reprisal. They also expressed interest in obtaining immunity for

their alliance. Noting these sentiments, several U.S. airline

representatives maintained that the success of the Northwest/KLM

alliance presented DOT with a new "carrot" in its efforts to obtain

open skies. Nevertheless, others objected to such an approach,

stating that U.S. antitrust laws protect consumers and prevent

anticompetitive behavior; therefore, they continued, it does not

make sense to remove these protections in the hopes of increasing

competition.

CONCLUSIONS

DOT'S recent successes have created momentum and spawned

renewed hope that U.S. airlines' will have improved access to key

foreign markets in the future. However, the challenges facing DOT

are stiff as foreign governments are often unwilling to permit

increased competition between their national airlines and lower

cost U.S. airlines, while U.S. airlines often disagree as to what

DOT'S strategy should be. The international environment has also

14
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become increasingly dynamic with airlines forming a growing number

of alliances to create global and regional route networks. Given

the success of such alliances, it is likely that code-sharing will

continue to play a prominent role in bilateral negotiations and any

increased rights of direct access or relaxation of foreign

investment limits will be linked to the value that governments and

airlines place on code-sharing. As a result, it is important that

DOT be on an equal footing with its foreign counterparts and build

on the lessons learned from the 1991 negotiations with the British.

Without addressing its data problems, however, DOT will be limited

in its ability to effectively negotiate for increased U.S. access

to foreign markets and in its ability to keep abreast of the

increasingly global industry, monitor code-sharing' s impact on

competition and fares, and equitably accommodate the competing

desires of U.S. airlines.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes our prepared statement. We would

be glad to respond to any questions that you or any member of the

Subcommittee may have.

(341451)

15
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ATTACHMENT I ATTACHMENT I

CROWDING OUT OF FLIGHT OPTION FROM THE FIRST CRS SCREEN
AS A RESULT OF SEVERAL LISTINGS OF THE SAME FLIGHT OPTION
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Senator McCain. Senator Inouye?
Senator Inouye. Mr. Chairman, I was not here earHer, but in

looking over the approach taken by the Department of Transpor-
tation, would you say that it has potential for success?
Mr. Mead. We have not seen the underlying analysis for their

proposal and thus are not in a position to conclude that it would
have net benefits. I can say, Senator, that in our discussions with
most of the airlines that overall the United States probably would
end up with more benefits from this deal than they currently have.
But the key question is whether the door will then be closed for

future access to Heathrow.
An example would be Atlanta. Delta probably would like to fly

to Heathrow direct from Atlanta. American would probably like to

fly to Heathrow direct from DFW. Neither of those contingencies
are in the mini-deal, as we understand that package.
Senator Inouye. What percentage of British Airways is owned by

the British government?
Mr. MULVEY. I do not have that right now. We can get that for

the record. Senator.

Senator Inouye. It is certainly more than a majority.

Mr. MuLVEY. They are in the process of privatizing it.

Senator HUTCHISON. I think it was privatized.

Mr. MuLVEY. It was privatized.

Mr. Veal. It was privatized in 1987 and a small percentage of

the shares may still be held by the British government. I believe

it is completely privately owned.
Senator Inouye. What do you think would be the outcome if the

DOTs proposed phased type of negotiation was changed to one
mega negotiation?

Mr. Mead. I think it is a judgment call. I do not have the back-
ground and experience of the Secretary in these negotiations. I am
not sure I could make that call.

I would say that once this arrangement is concluded, that the

things left on the table, what is left that the British might want,
would be, (1) further investment in USAir and a relaxation of the
foreign investment limits; (2) antitrust immunity; and (3) possible

cabotage, although if British Air owned USAir that almost cer-

tainly would not be necessary.
Beyond these items, I have some difficulty understanding what

additional rights in the United States the British would want.
Senator Inouye. Thank you very much, sir.

Thank you.
Senator McCain. Senator Pressler.

The Chairman. Let me ask you a general question about our
international goals here. Could you suggest alternative negotiating

procedures or structures with regard to the U.S.-U.K. negotiations

or as to international aviation bilaterals generally?

It occurs to me that both in cargo and passenger negotiations we
have our Secretary of Transportation or the State Department who
are responsible for negotiating international aviation agn^eements,

but that domestically we tend to quarrel among ourselves and that
this sometimes undercuts our negotiators. Would that be a fair as-

sessment?
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Mr. Mead. Yes, it would be. In our work on code-sharing, Mr.
Chairman, we found that some of the carriers (as you will hear
later) will say, **Well, here is one set of numbers. This is how much
something is worth or not worth." And two other carriers will say,

"Well, we see it much differently." So it is important for the U.S.
Government to be in a position to properly perform a cost and ben-
efit valuation of these packages.
The Chairman. Now, does the GAO have an opinion as to wheth-

er renunciation of Bermuda II would be an effective strategy in

dealing with the British? What might be the consequences of re-

nunciation?
Mr. Mead. We do not have an opinion on that.

The Chairman. OK, Now what type of data and analysis does the
DOT need in order to properly assess the value of items over which
it is bargaining in international aviation negotiations? And does
DOT have the capability for generating that tvpe of information?
Mr. Mead. A general answer, and then I will have Mr. Hannegan

amplify, because he did the work on this.

Implicit in our recommendations to the Department would be a
requirement that additional reporting be required of the airlines,

particularly foreign airlines, presumably as a condition of code-

sharing. If you want to continue code-sharing, you would have to

meet these reporting requirements.
But Mr. Hannegan can outline a couple of the data shortfalls

that we felt were significant.

Mr. Hannegan. Yes, Senator. I think the primary weakness that
DOT has is the lack of foreign carrier data, especially on several

of these blocked-space arrangements where the foreign airline ex-

clusively does the flying.

Currently, we get no data on that. That is a big weakness as far

as many of these deals because code-sharing is often the central

element in the bilateral talks, as far as the rights that are ex-

changed.
Several other elements deal with accuracy, as far as who is actu-

ally operating the flight. It is very difficult to gauge how much a
foreign carrier will benefit if you are not exactly sure which carrier

is actually operating the flight.

Another problem is the lack of identification in the data base as

far as code-sharing is concerned. It is very difficult to analyze what
you cannot identify.

So those are fundamental problems that pertain to code-sharing.

But code-sharing in all of these, even in this deal, becomes the

central element. And if you have those limitations, it undercuts
your ability to put an accurate value as to the benefits that will

accrue to the foreign side.

The Chairman. Mr. Chairman, I will put the rest of my ques-

tions into the record.

Senator McCain. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Senator McCain. Senator Hutchison.
Senator Hutchison. Mr. Chairman, I iust have one question that

I wanted to clarify on the point that I brought up with Secretary

Peri a.

It was estimated by GSA that the government passengers on the

potential routes in Fly America could number up to 18,250 per
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month at an average fare of $615. The amount of revenue at stake
in London was estimated to be as high $134 million per year.
Now obviously, that depends on what the arrangement is and

how much access there. Do you, Mr. Mulvey, have a view on the
value that should be put on Fly America or what cities? Obviously,
if it is the biggest gateways, the four biggest, San FVancisco, Dul-
les, BWI and New York, we have offered two of those.

Do you have any further information that would clarify?

Mr. Mulvey. We spoke about this and other elements of DOTs
economic analysis with DOT analysts, and they shared with us
what they thought these things might be worth. They have agreed
to supply their estimates to trie committee, and you will see those
numbers. It is substantially less than $134 million.

We have not had an opportunity to review the GSA numbers. It

is our assumption that that probably deals with all of the traffic

over the Atlantic that is under Fly America, not just what is at
stake here.
But I do know that the numbers that we have seen, the esti-

mates that we have seen, show that the Fly America provisions of

this deal to be much, much less than $134 million.

Mr. Mead. Yes. Vastly less. So perhaps over the next couple of

days we could have some discussions with your office to clear that

up.
Also, the information we were given at a debriefing, if I am not

mistaken, was that there were only two gateways involved. And
that is why in my summation I was sajdng that this seems to be
the fuzziest or the most unsettled part of the entire arrangement.

Senator Hutchison. Would you just say, though, that Fly Amer-
ica is an important part from the British side of the negotiation,

and if we have any important point for them, it would be that?

Mr. Mead. I would say that it is one among several. From a fi-

nancial point of view, we were advised by one airline, for example,
that the Chicago—actually, I believe this was United—that the

Chicago-London frequency, in comparison to the value of Fly

America, that Fly America was worth one-fift;ieth of the value of

flying from Chicago to London.
Mr. Hannegan. Senator, I would like to just add one thing. That

we are negotiating Fly America rights shows just what little lever-

age we have left. Regardless of the value we place on Fly America,

the British got almost everything they wanted through the deal

that was structured in 1991.

That is why we are now talking about Fly America and the lever-

age that gives us. That just shows you where we stand in these ne-

gotiations as far as leverage.

Senator HuTCfflSON. Well, I would just say that I do think it is

important that as we are looking at whether we put everything on
the table together or whether we do a phase one and a pnase two,

that we look at the important points that we do have as leverage,

and perhaps we would be better off" having one phase with the im-

portant things on both sides at issue.

Thank you.
Senator McCain. Thank you. Senator Hutchison.

Mr. Mead, I received today a report from a Professor Jenkins at

George Washington University, and he alleges that the United
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Kingdom's flag carriers would only have 25 percent of the traffic

to and from the United States instead of the current 50 percent in

a fully competitive environment, without the artificial divisions
that exist.

Would you have any comment as to the accuracy of such a study?
Would that make sense?
Mr. MULVEY. Given the relative competitive position of U.S. car-

riers and the fact that our carriers are amongst the world's most
efficient, one would assume that in a fully competitive market, they
would do better than they would in a restricted market.
So I think that without having seen Professor Jenkins's paper,

it makes economic sense.

Senator McCain. Thank you. From your written and your verbal
testimony, I get out of this that you are concerned that there is no
real economic analysis associated with this decision, at least that
you have been able to see.

Mr. Mead. We have not seen their economic analysis Mr. Chair-
man. We understand they have made an effort at it.

They did brief us. That is certainly different from in the past.
But I cannot comment on the quality of that analysis.
Senator McCain. But your overall message is that the Depart-

ment of Transportation has not been well positioned to value rights
that are on the negotiating table, according to your testimony.
Mr. Mead, In the past, Uiat is correct.

Senator McCain. You also state that as a result of code-sharing,
there has been for British Airways approximately $100 million in-

crease in revenue—$100 million revenues for British Air and $20
million for USAir.
Mr. Mead. That is correct.

Senator McCain. You also state, perhaps most importantly, the
final question, when considering this deal, is whether the British
will be left with any incentive to conclude broader agreements in

the future that contain opportunities for other U.S. airlines to

serve Heathrow. That is exactly the same question I asked the Sec-
retary of Transportation this morning.
Do you see any incentive if this mini-deal is made? Do you see

any incentives for the British to conclude further agreements that
might contain additional opportunities for U.S. airlines to serve
Heathrow?
Mr. Mead. I am concerned that what is left is a relaxation of the

foreign investment rules, Fly America, antitrust immunity and cab-
otage. Those are all very serious items. But I do not see what addi-
tional traffic rights the British could possibly want to the United
States in contrast to the access rights or traffic rights U.S. carriers
want to Heathrow and Great Britain. The latter do not involve
antitrust, immunity, or cabotage.
Senator McCain. Thank you very much. I want to thank you and

your colleagues for providing this very important testimony, as al-

ways. Thank you very much.
Mr. Mead. Thank you, sir.

Senator McCain. Our next panel would be Mr. Ronald Allen,

who is the Chairman, President and CEO of Delta Air Lines; Mr.
Gerald Greenwald, who is the Chairman and CEO of United Air-

lines; Mr. Jeffrey Erickson, who is the President and CEO of Trans
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World Airlines; and Mr. Robert Crandall, who is Chairman, Presi-

dent and CEO ofAMR Corporation.

Senator Hutchison. Mr. Chairman, as we are switching, could

I ask unanimous consent to submit for the record a letter from the

Houston mayor, a letter from the Dallas mayor, testimony from the

Executive Director of the DFW Airport, and testimony from the Di-

rector of the city of Houston Department of Aviation?

Senator McCain. Without objection, we would be more than
happy to hear those totally objective reviews of the situation.

[The information referred to follows:]
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CITY OF HOUSTON
Post Office Box 1562 Houston, Texas 77251 713/247-2200

OFFICE OF THE MAYOR

Bob Lanier. Mayor

March 21. 1995

The Honorable Federico F. Pella

Secretary
U.S. Department of Transportation
400 Seventh Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20590

Reference: March 22-2'i U.S. - U.K. Bilateral Negotiations

Dear Mr. Secretary:

As you know, talks have been scheduled this week in London with the U.K. Government to

discuss the so-called "mini-deal". I'm writing this letter to urge that the U.S.

proposal currently on the table not be signed unless it is amended to include a

comprehensive plan for allowing access to Heathrow for cities such as Houston which
currently are denied such access.

In essence, the agreement proposed would expedite access for a second carrier to a

Heathrow market that is already competitive (Chicago-Heathrow), while impairing the

valid claims of other U.S. cities for their first Heathrow service. Under the existing

U.S. -U.K. agreement the U.S. will shortly be able to designate a second carrier in that

market even without the ''minimum." Thus if the proposed agreement is finalized, it

will further imbalance existing U.S. service to Heathrow by providing redundant rights

for a carrier and city already well endowed with such rights, while continuing to

deprive cities such as Houston of service they desperately need, and seriously

handicapping the ability of carriers such as Continental, which have no Heathrow access

at all, to compete with United and American.

As a former Mayor, I know that you are acutely aware of the importance to a major city

of ensuring the community's access to critical air transportation markets. For

Houston. London is the largest and most important European gateway, and service to

Heathrow is the top priority f c r the city's international business community. Yet for

many years Houston has been denied access to this market. Indeed, Houston is the third

largest U.S. city without Heathrow service, based on both population and London

traffic. Yet other, much smaller U.S. cities, such as Charlotte and Pittsburgh,

already have the ability to market and develop their international business by means

of their Heathrow access, while Houston cannot. Vhis lack of access to Heathrow is

damaging to the City's international business development efforts.

@.,.,
110-223]. LET
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The Honorable Federico F. Pefla -2- March 21. 1995
U.S. Department of Transportation

I realize that in any new international agreement :here are many competing
considerations, and that the desires of every U.S. city and carrier cannot be taken
care of instantly. However, access to Heathrow continues to be the major obstacle to
U.S. -U.K. liberalization, and it is only fair and reasonable to insist that any new
agreement with the U.K. include a comprehensive plan and timetable for Heathrow access
for those who do not already enjoy it.

I respectfully urge your assistance in ensuring that the Department's top priority in
these negotiations be to address the inequities of Heathrow access before providing
expanded, and in effect, redundant rights for Heathrow incumbent carriers and markets.

Thank you very much for your consideration. I very much appreciate your service to our
country.

Sincerely,

l^(f[xdr>-<^'^
Bob Lanier
Mayor

BL:g:cw

cc: The Honorable Patrick V. Murphy

U0-2253.LiT
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)| Dallas/Fosrt Woirtlb inieriaa.tioti&l Airport Board
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AiltU. K CUUSa

a^fy I Cnffww-ri. Mareh 14, 1995

B««tC ^itaSamt

VIA FAX a02) 3^6-7200

AND KEGlJLAJftl MAIL

Honorable Federico F. Pefia

Secrctaiy of ihe Department

of Transportarion

400 Seventh Street, S.W.

Washington, D.C. 20590

Dear Secretaiy Pena:

As the Mayor of the City of Dallas, the Mayor of the Cky of Fort Worth, and as fiie

Chairman of DFW International Airport Board, we warn to urge yon to mdude routes fipom

Dallas/Fort Worth Inlemational Airport to Heathrow Airport in aiiy bilateral distaissioiis wifli

ths U.K. government. As I am sare yon are well aware, business and cconznumties leadsrs in

tha Dallas/Fort Wotdi area have Ictog-xcsa^ aafadixty to fly dir&cily fifom DFW h> Headaow
Airport. Snch service would ensure that passengers firom the area, the State of Texas, and diose

simply iiavelliog through DFW could gain access to signi^cant mart-pTg through Heathrow.

Under the existing bilateral agreeffleor, DFW Airport can only safve GaiwacJ: Airport.

This leaves the DFW arw « a severe disadvantage to oilver regions of flie country, such as New
York and Chicago, which already have access imo Heathrow Airpon. As tise secoad busiest

aiipoit in the world serving over 52 miUJon passengers annually, we urge you to tocbde in aiQr

dississiODS with the U.K. govananwot, DEW'S access imto HesJitfow Aispott We thads yoa
in advance for your C(Misideration of ibis matter.

Sincerely,

Mayor Kay Granger

City of Fort Worth

David KTBtsden
Chairman of the Board

DFW lutetsational Airport

Ed Fabesiuaa
Zerzy Parent
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Senator McCain. We appreciate very much their writing to the
committee and their input. I thank you, Senator Hutchison. Grentle-

men, before we begin, and I do not want to take any more time,
I do want to apologize to you profusely. Mr, Bismarck's adage about
laws and sausages was affirmed today, and I apologize for the
delay.

The members of this committee and I are keenly aware of the
value of your time and of your being here, and I am deeply apolo-
getic for the delay.

I also know that you appreciate, as much as I do, how important
this issue is to the future of aviation in America and the world, and
I thank you very much for your patience.

STATEMENT OF RONALD ALLEN, CHAIRMAN, PRESmENT, AND
CEO, DELTA AIR LINES

Mr. Allen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the commit-
tee, on behalf of Delta Air Lines, I appreciate this opportunity to

appear before you today to provide our perspective on the U.S.-
U.K relationship and related international aviation policy issues.

We have submitted a more detailed statement to the subcommit-
tee, and I will summarize the positions contained in that state-

ment. We ask that it be made a part of this subcommittee's record.

Senator McCaen. Without objection, so ordered.
Mr. Allen. Thank you, sir. Mr. Chairman, the U.S.-U.K market

is the No. 1 transatlantic air travel market, almost twice the size

of the next closest market. Any airline that wishes to be a major
competitor on the North Atlantic must have a significant presence
in the U.S.-U.K. market.

It is also imperative that a carrier have access to London's pre-

miere airport, Heathrow. Heathrow is the No. 1 international air-

port in the world, and its preference by travelers, especially busi-

ness travelers, requires that a carrier must have rights to

Heathrow in order to effectively compete in the U.S.-U.K market-
place.

Unfortunately, as you know, access to London and Heathrow are

severely restricted under the Bermuda H agreement. As a monu-
ment to managed trade, it prescribes limits for the number of car-

riers and cities that receive service. It governs access to Heathrow,
and it allows the British government to regulate both capacity and
pricing.

Our primary concern with the U.S. Grovernment approach to the

liberalization of this agreement is its failure to address the fun-

damental and most egregious restrictions contained in Bermuda II,

specifically government regulation of capacity and market access.

The current controversy about the U.S. Government approach to

liberalization is directly traceable to actions taken by this adminis-
tration in 1993 and 1994. During this time period, the administra-
tion approved the British Airways-USAir investment and code
share partnership, thereby solidifying and enhancing British Air-

ways' dominant position in the marketplace.
Despite five rounds of negotiations, the two governments simply

could not agree on the terms or timing for liberalization of Ber-

muda II.

91-114 0-95-3
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It then became clear to Delta that true liberalization would not
occur in the near future. We responded by signing a blocked-space/
code share agreement with Virgin Atlantic in April 1994.
This arrangement enables Delta to purchase Virgin seats be-

tween London and seven cities in the United States, and it gives
us rights to sell these Virgin seats to Heathrow from four U.S.
cities.

I can assure you Delta prefers to operate its own aircraft, but the
Virgin Atlantic alliance at least helps us fill a major void in our
transatlantic operations.
We feel strongly that the U.S. should adopt a broader com-

prehensive strategy for liberalization. The current negotiations
with U.K. on a new limited exchange of benefits, or mini-deal, do
not provide any real benefits to Delta.

We are told that this package is a first step in a broader process
to liberalize the U.S.-U.K. agreement, and that a subsequent
round to liberalize cargo, pricing, and charter provisions, and some
as yet undefined new access for U.S. carriers, to serve Heathrow
and Gatwick will be forthcoming.
Our objection to the current process approach is its failure to

provide any assurances or guarantees that a successful conclusion
of either round will lead to broader liberalization.

This administration's promise sounds much like the promise
made in 1993 and 1994, and these were not kept.
Rather than an incremental approach, we encourage the admin-

istration to challenge the British to sit down and devise a real

framework to liberalize all aspects of Bermuda II.

If the British are truly interested in open skies, then we should
be willing to respond to their requests for changes in U.S. law rel-

ative to investment, ownership. Fly America rights, and even cabo-
tage.

If not, the administration should seriously consider termination
of Bermuda II as an option for eliminating excessive government
regulation of the market.
One of the elements of the proposed mini-deal that has been dis-

cussed to compensate the British is a limited grant of access for

British Airways to carry U.S. Government traffic, so-called Fly
America rights.

Delta strongly opposes this grant. We believe that statutory
changes to the Fly America Act are needed to protect and strength-
en this program.
Even though Delta has more code sharing relationships than any

other U.S. airline, we strongly object to the current GAO policy

that allows U.S. Government traffic to be carried by a foreign flag

carrier using U.S. airline codes.

We believe the intent of Congress was grossly circumvented
when Lufthansa, for example, by virtue of its code share relation-

ship with United, can become the GSA contract carrier between our
headquarters, Atlanta, and Frankfurt, Germany.

Foreign airline use of the Fly America Act is also inconsistent
with the objectives of the U.S. Civil Reserve Air Fleet program.

In order for us to qualify as a bidder for carriage of official gov-
ernment traffic, we must participate in the CRAF program. U.S.
tax dollars should not be spent on transporting government pas-
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sengers on foreign airlines, when U.S. airlines serve the same
route.

We feel it is time for Congress to make clear to GAO that its cur-
rent ruling on code share operations is contrary to the purpose of
the Fly America Act.

Now, despite our opposition to foreign carrier excess to U.S. Gov-
ernment travel on code sharing operations, Delta is a strong pro-
ponent of code sharing.
We agree with the conclusions reached by the Department of

Transportation and the GAO in their recent analysis of the benefits
associated with code sharing for both U.S. carriers and consumers.
Delta has derived significant benefit from our code share relation-

ships.

However, we cannot take full advantage of the efficiencies with-
out an ability to operate under a grant of antitrust immunity.

Delta strongly supports a grant of antitrust immunity for any
pro-competitive airline alliance involving countries that have con-

cluded open skies agreements with the U.S.
GAO's recently released report confirmed that the Northwest-

KLM alliance has gained enormous efficiencies through the inte-

gration of their pricing, scheduling, marketing, and advertising ac-

tivities.

The administration's Open Skies initiatives with nine European
countries provides an opportunity to inject new competition into

the relevant markets and to facilitate the formation of stronger al-

liances that will put pressure on those protectionist countries, for

example, France and the United Kingdom, that refuse to open their

markets.
We strongly endorse this initiative, and believe it is a bold stra-

tegic approacn that will serve as a catalyst for broader liberaliza-

tion throughout Europe.
However, the success of this initiative, in bringing greater

consumer benefits and opening up competition, depend on the for-

mation of alliances that operate with the same degree of efficiency

as Northwest and KI^M.
In concluding, we say that recent successes with Canada and the

European Open Skies initiative reflect the benefits of a sound
strategy that concentrates on eliminating government regulations,

and replacing them with the disciplines of the market.
We do not believe we should continue our incremental approach

with the British, unless a well-defined and unmistakable commit-
ment to both the substance and timing of liberalization is clear.

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, I appreciate

the opportunity to appear before you today and would be happy to

answer any questions.
Senator McCadsi. Thank you, Mr. Allen.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Allen follows:]

Prepared Statement of Ronald W. Allen, Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer

introduction

Thank you Mr. Chairman. I appreciate this opportunity to appear before the Sub-
committee to provide Delta's views on the U.S.-U.K. relationship and related inter-

national issues. Our access to international markets remains wholly dependent upon
government agreements and regulators. Nowhere is this more evident than in seek-
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ing access to the U.K. market. We therefore welcome this timely review of this rela-

tionship.

THE U.S.-U.K. MARKET IS THE LARGEST AND MOST IMPORTANT TRANSATLANTIC MARKET

Mr. Chairman, the U.S.-U.K. market is the No. 1 transatlantic air travel mar-
ket—almost twice the size of the next closest transatlantic market (Germany). De-
mand for U.S.-U.K. air travel remains strong and vibrant. The United Kingdom is

the linchpin to transatlantic business. As we have learned, any U.S. airline that
wants to be a major competitor on the North Atlantic must have a signiflcant pres-

ence in the U.S.-U.K. market. Our customers demand that presence. Just as impor-
tant, travel agency networks and corporate accounts througn which our services are
sold, will demand such a presence in this market. In short, the United Kingdom is

a pivotal market for U.S. international aviation interests.

The real benefits of this vast market are eryoyed by a chosen few. A carrier's com-
petitive position is based upon one threshold criterion: its ability to serve London's
premiere airport, Heathrow. Heathrow is the No. 1 international airport in the
world. Its proximity to London and its size and service options make it the airport
of choice for travelers—especially business passengers—to and from London anci for

passengers connecting to points beyond London. Market research shows that travel-

ers will pay a premium to use Heathrow.
Unfortunately, the U.S.-U.K. Aviation agreement, Bermuda II, only allows two

U.S. carriers—American and United—to operate their aircraft to Heathrow. This an-
tiquated bilateral also regulates the specific U.S. cities that can receive service to

Heathrow. While Delta's experience in serving London's other major airport,

Gatwick, has been positive, we will never be a major player in the United States-
London market until we can compete with the favored Heathrow operators.
Not surprisingly, the Heathrow carriers—British Airways, Virgin Atlantic, Amer-

ican and United—also have exclusive rights that enable them to serve more gate-
ways with more capacity than other competitors in the market. By far, the most
dominant carrier and the biggest "have" in the U.S.-U.K. market is British Airways.
According to schedules filed with the U.S. Government representing services for the
1995 summer season, British Airways will operate 7, 050 frequencies between five

U.K. gateways and 19 U.S. cities. Almost 4,900 of those frequencies will operate to

the United States from London Heathrow. American Airlines will operate 5,310 fre-

quencies between three U.K. gateways and nine U.S. cities. 3, 436 of these flights

will operate to Heathrow. United Airlines will operate 2,812 frequencies between
London and five U.S. cities, all of which will operate to and from London Heathrow.
In sharp contrast. Delta, the next largest U.S. carrier in the market, will operate
1,070 of its own flights to two U.K. cities from three U.S. gateways. Again, none
of these services will operate to Heathrow.
Holding this lower rank in the market and lacking our own presence at Heathrow

does not come from a lack of commercial determination on Delta's part or an inabil-

ity to sell our transatlantic services effectively. Rather, our status is exclusively a
function of government imposed restrictions on competition.
The Bermuda II agreement is a monument to managed trade. The concepts con-

tained in Bermuda 11 are antiquated and invalid in today's market-oriented aviation
world. It contains outdated provisions that limit the number of carriers and cities

that receive service. It also allows the British Government to regulate capacity and
pricing. Quite simply, it is an agreement designed to restrict and regulate trade and
protect competitors from meaningful market competition. The restrictions within the
agreement facilitates mercantilist behavior by the British Government and perpet-
uates the dominant position of its leading carrier.

Mr. Chairman, let me share with you one example of how Bermuda II regulates
supply and demand. Delta sought last winter to increase from 10 to 14 weekly
flints between Atlanta and London. The British Grovemment challenged this in-

crease as not consistent with the capacity principles contained in Bermuda II. The
market could clearly bear such an increase. Delta experienced a load factor above
70 percent <5n its Atlanta-London service the previous winter. Also, Atlanta is the
home of Delta and is the second largest airport in the United States. Our request
was denied for one simple reason—the British Government used the Bermuda
agreement to protect the interest of British Airways which chose to operate only 7
weekly flights during the same period. This is not an isolated occurrence. It takes
place each season and aflects most U.S. competitors in the market.
This illustration dramatizes the reason for our complaint about the recent U.S.

approach to liberalization of this agreement. The U.S. Government concentrates on
solving immediate commercial needs of individual carriers rather than addressing
the fundamental infirmities of our most restrictive, anti-comp)etitive and anti-
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consumer bilateral agreement. Instead of arguing whether a market should get a
certain number of frequencies we should be devising and pursuing a strategy that

prohibits government regulation of capacity and market access.

RECENT EFFORTS AT LIBERALIZATION HAVE RUN INTO BRITISH INTRANSIGENCE

To its credit, the Clinton Administration has attempted to open the skies between
the United States and the United Kingdom but its efforts have met a series of for-

midable obstacles. Also, the situation it inherited from the previous administration
was less than ideal. As you know, in 1991 in order to simply allow American and
United airlines to replace TWA and Pan Am as the two U.S. flag carriers allowed
to serve Heathrow, the United States paid, and please excuse the metaphor, "a

Queen's ransom" allowing British Airways virtuallv unfettered access to the United
States through the use ofcode sharing. Similar rights were not granted for U.S. car-

riers to serve points into and beyond tne United Kingdom.
Delta, American, United, Fe<ieral Express, and other U.S. interests subsequently

challenged British Airways attempt to gain an enormous advantage through its in-

vestment and code share relationship with USAir. We urged President Clinton and
Secretary Pena to defer a grant of such extraordinary rights until a new agreement
could be reached that balanced the competitive landscape.

Secretary Pena approved the sweeping British Airwavs/USAir partnership in

March 1993, promising at the time that unless the United Kingdom liberalized it's

relationship within 1 year, the Department would deny further approval of its code
sharing authority. Five rounds of negotiations during the next 8 months failed to

produce any progress toward meaningful liberalization.

Despite our willingness to support U.S. steps to terminate the agreement to pre-

vent British Airways from gaining a permanent advantage in the market, the Ad-
ministration renewed approval of the British Airways-USAir code sharing in March
1994. At that point, it oecame clear to us that any prospect for true liberalization

would not occur.

In response to the regulatory situation at the time. Delta signed an agreement
to enter into a blocked space code share arrangement with Virgin Atlantic in April

1994. This agreement enabled Delta to purchase seats between London and seven
cities in the United States. It also gave us first time access, albeit through a code-

share partner, to London's Heathrow airport. Delta's decision was a commercial re-

sponse to an untenable regulatory situation. Despite our position as the largest

transatlantic operator, our inability to serve London Heathrow from major U.S.
gateways was an enormous competitive void that weakened our overall position on
the North Atlantic.

Delta applied for code sharing authority with Virgin Atlantic to DOT in April

1994 and asked for approval outside the negotiating process. We sought this ap-

proval on a "stand alone" basis because the British made it clear that lf.K. approval
would be immediate and without "payment" or negotiated concessions. It is impor-
tant to differentiate this deal from the British Airwavs/USAir code share alliance

and the current discussions on a so called "mini deal" package. Virgin gained no
new access to the United States and does not use its code on Delta's extensive do-

mestic network to feed its U.K. services. Delta immediately gained the ability to buy
seats on Virgin Atlantic on seven U.S.-U.K. city pair markets and then offer them
for sale to the public as Delta seats.

The Delta-Virgin Atlantic blocked space code share application was finally ap-
proved by DOT on February 2, 1995—nearly 10 months after it was submitted. The
delay was attributable to DOTs mistaken belief that this arrangement provided le-

verage that could be packaged with other changes to the U.S.-U.K. agreement. We
were finally successful in convincing Secretary Pena that the benefits to consumers
and competition necessitated approval on a stand alone basis and that a negotiated
approach was unnecessary. Again, unlike the current mini deal proposal. Delta ob-

tained valuable new U.K. access without any U.S. Government payment to the Brit-

ish.

THE U.S. SHOULD ADOPT A BROADER, COMPREHENSIVE
STRATEGY FOR LIBERALIZATION

The cuirent negotiations with the United Kingdom on a new limited exchange of
benefits or mini deal do not provide any real commercial benefits to Delta. As cur-

rently agreed to by Secretary Pena and U.K. Secretary Mawhinney, the two govern-
ments are expected to conclude next week an agreement involving the followmg ele-

ments:
1. Authority for the United States to designate a second carrier on the Chicago-

London route.
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2. Authority for British Airways to offer twice daily flights in the London-Philadel-
phia market.

3. Unlimited access for all carriers between the United States and non-London
airports.

4. Authority for all carriers to conduct extensive code sharing operations into and
beyond gateway cities in both countries.

5. "Fly America" ri^ts for British Airways from a yet underdetermined number
of U.S. gateway cities to London.
We are told that this package is the first step in a broader process to liberalize

the U.S.-U.K. agreement. A subsequent round of talks will be convened to discuss
another agreed upon agenda that includes cargo, pricing and charter liberalization

and some, as yet undefined, new access for U.S. carriers to serve London's Heathrow
and Gatwick airports.

Our objections to the current mini deal relate to its failure to provide any assur-
ances or guarantees that real liberalization will occur. We are not aware of any
agreement that links rights and benefits in the mini package to the successful con-
clusion of arrangements that will liberalize the designation, gateway and capacity
restrictions in Bermuda IL Additionally, the U.S. proposal for new access to

Heathrow and Gatwick in phase two does not address the underlying designation
and gateway limitation but merely allows some flexibility in using rights already
contained in the agreement.

History has shown that an incremental approach with the British will not accom-
plish our overall goals. Our past experience makes us very skeptical and very sus-

riicious whenever our government starts talking about "a process" for liberalization,

n our view, the conclusion of any so called mini deal must be linked to a well-de-

fined and specific agreement that establishes both the terms and the timetable for

liberalization of all aspects of Bermuda H. For the United States to do otherwise
would be—as we say down south

—"buying a pig in a poke."
It is time to abandon incremental approaches and instead challenge the British

to sit down and devise a short term framework for real liberalization. Secretary
Pena was successful with this type approach with Canada. If the British truly do
favor liberalization then we should insist that they commit to total elimination of
the antiquated, hyper-regulatory arrangement that has governed our relationship
since Bermuda 11 was concluded in 1978. Delta is willing to support changes in U.S.
laws regarding investment, ownership, "Fly America" and cabotage to meet British
objectives if they will commit to open skies between our two countries.

If an agreement cannot be reached on these terms, the United States must once
again consider termination of Bermuda II.

"FLY AMERICA" RIGHTS SHOULD BE PRESERVED

One of the options being considered to compensate the British in the current ex-
change is a limited grant of access for British Airways to carry U.S. Government
traffic—so called "Fly America" traffic. This traffic is funded by U.S. taxpayers and
the Federal Aviation Act requires that U.S. Government employees travel on U.S.
airlines for official business. As one of the largest providers of government financed
transportation on the North Atlantic, Delta supports this law and believes that stat-

utory changes are needed to protect and strengthen this program. There must also

be new, clear guidelines for the Secretary of Transportation in exercising authority
to negotiate rights for foreign flag carriers to carry tnis traffic.

Consistent with the position expressed previously, U.S. Government travel should
be available, when appropriate, to open skies partners. However, the United States
should never grant such rights to countries that insist on maintaining restrictive

agreements. We should use this valuable authority as leverage to liberalize agree-
ments. Section 1117 (c) of the Federal Aviation Act stipulates that foreign carriers

can only receive "Fly America" rights if their governments conclude agreements con-
sistent with the policy goals contained in the Act. The British do not now qualify
because the- Bermuda II Agreement is totally contrary to the goals and policies set

forth in the Act and as established in the Secretary's new International Air Trans-
port Policy Statement. We urge the Committee to reexamine its intent under the
Fly America Act and to provide new guidelines for restricting DOT's discretion to

trade away "Fly America" rights.

In addition to new statutory guidelines, the Subcommittee should recognize that
code sharing operations have totally circumvented the original intent of the Fly
America Act. With the proliferation of code sharing alliances, there has been a cor-

responding increase in U.S. Government traffic carried by foreign flag operators
using U.S. airline codes. Even though Delta has more code share relationships than
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any other U.S. airline, we strongly object to the current GAO policy that allows this
situation to occur.

Do you realize that Lufthansa—by virtue of its code share relationship with Unit-
ed—is the GSA contract carrier between Atlanta and Frankfurt, Germany? This
means that the bulk of U.S. military traffic and Federal employees traveling be-
tween Georgia and Frankfurt are traveling on Lufthansa when there are two daily

flints offered by Delta in the same market. Delta loses over $2 million in this mar-
ket and nearly $10 million annually in other markets where U.S. carriers operate
but foreign operators are allowed to carry U.S. Government traffic through a code
share relationship. In addition, international mail carriage is also affected by the
new Fly America Act interpretation. For example. Delta traditionally carried 100
percent of the U.S. mail carriage from Atlanta to Frankfurt. As a result of the cur-
rent interpretation, Delta now must share with Lufthansa the U.S. mail delivery to

and from Frankfurt—^Atlanta.

A primary reason for our current frustration on this issue is the obligations that
are imposed on U.S. carriers seeking to carry government travelers on official busi-
ness. In order to qualify as a bidder for carriage of official government travel, U.S.
carriers must be participants in the Civil Reserve Air Fleet (GRAF) program. Par-
ticipation in the GRAF program requires carriers to commit a minimum of 30 per-
cent of their long haul passenger aircraft to the Department of Defense for use in

time of military emergency in order to facilitate large scale troop and equipment
movement.
The relevant issue involved is whether the carrier actually transporting the pas-

senger on the long haul segment is a GRAF participant. If the carrier transporting
the^ly America" passenger is not a GRAF participant, it should be prohibited from
carrying that passenger ii there is an alternative service by a U.S. long-haul opera-
tor. Fairness dictates adoption of this policy. Carriers involved with the GRAF pro-
gram have an obligation to maintain a fleet of aircraft that can be used in time of
emergency by the U.S. Government. In return, the U.S. Government should support
the commercial operations of that fleet.

U.S. tax dollars should not be spent on transporting government passengers on
foreign carriers when U.S. airlines serve the same route. According to the General
Accounting Office, the purpose of the Fly America Act is to "Tielp improve the eco-

nomic and competitive position of the U.S. flag carriers against foreign carriers." It

is time for Congress to make it clear to GAO that its current ruling on code share
operations is damaging U.S. airlines.

CODE sharing/antitrust IMMUNITY

Despite our opposition to foreign carrier access to U.S. Government travel on code
sharing operations. Delta is a strong proponent of code sharing. We agree with
many of the conclusions reached by Department of Transportation and the GAO in

their recent analyses of the code sharing phenomenon. Botn GAO and DOT asserted
that code sharing alliance can provide significant benefits to consumers and partici-

pating carriers. I can speak firsthand of some of these benefits as Delta has an ex-

tensive global code sharing network with carriers like Swissair, Singapore, Virgin
Atlantic, Sabena, Austrian, Malev, TAP, Aeromexico, Varig and Aerofiot.

While we have realized a number of benefits from these relationships, the ability

of Delta and other carriers to gain fiill advantage of its alliances can only occur
under a grant of antitrust immunity. GAO pointed out in its recently released re-

port, that the alliance formed by >forthwest and KLM has benefited greatly from
its ability to effectively operate as a single airline. These two airlines have gained
enormous efficiencies through the integration of their pricing, scheduling, mareeting
and common branding activities. Notably, DOT reached the same conclusion in its

recent study of code sharing practices. Without question, the ability of Northwest
and KLM to operate as a merged airline has made this alliance highly successful

and Delta seeks to achieve the same efficiencies with its code sharing partners.

The Administration's open skies initiative with nine European countries provides

an opportunity to inject new competition in the relevant markets and to facilitate

the formation of stronger alliances that will put pressure on those protectionist

countries that refuse to open their markets. While Delta has been a critic of the Ad-
ministration's policies in dealing with Europe, we strongly support and endorse this

initiative. Secretary Pena has advanced a bold strategic approach that will serve as
a catalyst for broader liberalization throughout Europe.
The success of this initiative in bringing greater consumer benefits and opening

up European marketplace to more competition will depend upon formation of strong
alliances that can operate with the same efficiency as KLM/Northwest. If the nine
countries are willing to open their skies to the United States, then their carriers
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should enjoy the same opportunities as the Dutch. Secretary Pena must permit car-

riers to operate under a grant of antitrust immunity in these circumstances in order
to prevent competitive disadvantage.
The recent successes with Canada and the European nine country initiative re-

flect the benefits of a sound policy and strategy that concentrated on eliminating
government regulation and replacing it with the disciplines of the market. Rather
than accepting incremental changes, these efforts sought to reward countries that
shared our goal of liberali2ation. Until the British embrace these principles, we
should not conclude any agreement with the United Kingdom that merely perpet-
uates restrictions and protects incumbency status. We recognize that an incremental
or a transitional approach is often necessary to achieve open skies. But, there must
be a clear, well denned and unmistakable commitment to both the substance and
the timing of liberalization in order tojustify continued managed trade.
The current U.S.-U.K. negotiation does not offer any such long term guarantees.

It is time for a new, bolder, more dramatic strategy. We hope that the Subcommit-
tee's oversight will lead to such a result.

Mr. Chairman, Members of the Subcommittee, I appreciate you taking the time
to hear my concerns and I look forward to answering any questions you might have.

Senator McCain. Mr. Greenwald.

STATEMENT OF GERALD GREENWALD, CHAIRMAN AND CEO,
UNITED AIRLINES, INC.

Mr. Greenwald. Thank you.
Chairman Pressler and Chairman McCain, I am finding more

and more that the U.S. airHnes are finding common ground to work
on matters in the interest of the industry and our nation as a
whole. I should start my comments by saying this is not one of
those days.
Thank you for providing me this opportunity to appear here

today. The U.S. Government is negotiating with the U.K for the
right to designate a second U.S. carrier between its busiest hub air-

port, Chicago O'Hare, and Heathrow, London,
England.
That right is guaranteed by the U.S.-U.K bilateral, but only

after the market passes a 600,000 passenger threshold for two con-
secutive 12-month periods.

Eighteen years ago, both the Congress and the Civil Aeronautics
Board recognized that the flaw in Bermuda II was that it actually
encouraged an incumbent carrier to keep service low and prices
high. It was an incentive to maintain traffic just below the level

that would trigger new competition.
That is precisely what has been occurring in the Chicago-London

market. The incumbent carrier, American, has manipulated sched-
ules and capacity to force London traffic that would naturally use
Chicago to move via another gateway. When traffic growth reached
levels that began to exceed the 600,000 annual figure, capacity was
suddenly removed from the market.
As you can see in the chart nearest to me, while overall U.S.-

U.K. traffic continues to grow substantially, somehow Chicago-
London traffic has been stagnant. Eighteen years after this issue
was first aired, the U.S. and the U.K. are trying to negotiate a sec-
ond designation to meet demand in this under-served market.
That Drings us to the central question in this hearing. What is

the appropriate negotiating objective in the U.S.-U.K talks, a com-
plete agreement, an omnibus agreement, resolving all issues at
once, or an incremental approach that nails down agreements as
the opportunities arise?
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I do not want to sound obtuse or academic, but the way we an-
swer this question has immediate practical impact on the service
United can provide. And the next chart illustrates how badly under
served the Chicago-London market is.

More importantly, how we answer this question also has a prac-
tical impact on the pocketbooks of U.S. passengers and shippers we
serve. As the last chart illustrates, passengers traveling between
Chicago and London pay substantially more then at virtually every
other city of destination, for destination to London.

In my view, the direction of U.S. policy is already clear. The in-

cremental approach builds confidence, delivers benefits, and moves
us closer to our overall objective. The question today is whether we
will heed the counsel of certain companies who suddenly want to

abandon this approach, but only after taking advantage of its bene-
fits.

Just last week, British Foreign Secretary Douglas Hurd praised
the agreement opening new services for American Airlines to Bir-

mingham, from Chicago. Bob, I think you were there.

Now, the reason American Airlines was able to add that flight,

its sixth daily frequency between O'Hare and points in the U.K.,
was because the U.S. was willing to take an incremental step early

this year to liberalize access when the opportunity presented itself.

That progress, those public benefits were not put on hold until

we could conclude an Open Skies agreement, nor, in my opinion,

should they have been. Again, earlier this year, the U.S. and U.K
agreed to allow Delta to ally with Virgin Atlantic.

Ron, as I recall, your company was quite enthusiastic about the
benefits to the public and to Delta that would flow from that ap-
proval. No one, let me underline this point, no one said that the
Delta Virgin deal should be postponed until the governments nego-
tiated a comprehensive agreement.

In both cases, in my opinion, the U.S. made the right decision.

Measured steps toward liberalized air access does have public bene-
fits on both sides of the Atlantic.

Now, the current negotiations have produced a general accord on
the shape of the next step forward. For the U.S., that includes

long-awaited U.S. carrier competition on the Chicago-London
route, formalization of open access by U.S. carriers to U.K. regional

airports, and enhanced code share rights beyond London for U.S.

carriers, in my view, a major potential.

In return, British Airways will be allowed to add flights into

Philadelphia, a market to London that was recently abandoned by
American Airlines.

British Airways will also be allowed a limited ability to partici-

pate, and I underscore the word limited, in Fly America contracts

from several specified gateway cities, specific cities, by virtue of

their code share agreements with USAir, a participation more lim-

ited and of lesser value than any other code share alliance the U.S.

has approved.
The key is, in our view, competition. Allowing United, one of

America's premier air carriers, to fly from the world's busiest air-

port, to the world's largest international hub, will provide U.S. con-

sumers better service, more choices, and lower fares.
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In addition to those clear benefits, there is something more, an
opportunity to advance the overall U.S.-U.K talks.

We have a commitment, I am told, from the U.K. Secretary of

Transportation, that provided we finalize this package bv June
2nd, the U.K. government will move directly to the next phase of

liberalization.

With all of that to be gained, why then has this agreement be-

come so politicized? We all know U.S. negotiators can expect hard
bargaining from their foreign counterparts, but what they do not
need is a chorus of critics back here at home, dissatisfied U.S. air-

lines, who have suddenly developed an allergy to the kind of incre-

mental advances they have favored when the deal was their own.
Let me add, in asking for fairness, we. United, are quite willing

to live by that standard ourselves. I will publicly and persistently

applaud agreements that produce U.S.-national public benefits,

even if it is other airlines and not United that share in those bene-
fits.

My position is and will remain, all of us in this industry ought
to support the principle of access, open new markets, and we will

all have plenty of opportunities to compete for the new business.

And the U.S. consumer will benefit.

I believe there are two actions that this government can do to

further the success of this industry and the benefits it brings to our
nation. First, we need to do something about the tax burden on this

industry and the risk of an even heavier burden this fall with the
potential imposition of a fuel tax.

Second, we need to stop making the perfect the enemy of the
good. If our approach on GATT as nation had been solely free trade
or no trade, we would still be negotiating for the next 15 years.

Similarly, in aviation, we cannot proceed on the basis that we
must have it all or we will take nothing. We have already tried

that approach with the British, and it has failed. We cannot expect
to dictate to a trading partner, a friendly one, at that.

Mr. Chairman, I am here today, because U.S. and U.K. nego-
tiators are on the verge, at long last, of providing relief for consum-
ers who have paid too much for too long, because there was too lit-

tle competition on the London route.

We still have time, but the clock is ticking. We would like to

start flying in the peak summer season, and the summer is coming
on quick.

I urge the members of this committee to stand behind the ap-
proach that has served our industry and the U.S. consumer so well,

and to conclude this deal as quickly as possible.
Thank you for allowing me to comment this morning. When the

time comes, I would be happy to answer any questions you have.
Senator McCAESf, Thank you, Mr. Greenwald.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Greenwald follows:]

Prepared Statement of Gerald Greenwald

Mr. Chairman, Senator Ford, Members of the Subcommittee, thank you for the
opportunity to appear before you today.

United's interest in the U.S.-U.K. aviation negotiations is well known. For us it

represents a long-awaited opportunity to secure a non-stop route from our home city
and principal hub—Chicago—to London, England, the primary overseas destination
for American passengers. For the citizens oi the Chicago area and for the hundreds
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of thousands of U.S.-U.K. passengers for whom Chicago would be the most conven-
ient and logical gateway to London, it represents an opportunity to end years of
being underserved and overcharged. On the other hand, for those who profit from
constrained service and inflated prices, these negotiations pose an economic threat.

The recent history of the Chicago-London market has been one of activities that
frustrated the right of the U.S. to designate a second carrier on the route. The so-

called Bermuda 2 agreement permits a second U.S. competitor to enter the market
automatically once there are 600,000 one-way passengers traveling on the route dur-
ingeach of two consecutive twelve-month periods.

The ink was hardly dry on that Agreement before Congress and the CAB pointed
out the fundamental problem with relying upon that provision to ensure needed
competition.

"There may be markets in which traffic would stagnate at a level below 600,000
passengers a year because of poor service and marketing." (Congressman Glenn
Anderson, Chairman, House Subcommittee on Aviation, Hearings on U.S. Inter-

national Aviation, September 29, 1977.)

"Until you introduce low fares, you may always be at 599,999." (Alfred Kahn,
Chairman, Civil Aeronautics Board, House Subcommittee on Aviation, Hearings
on International Aviation, September 29, 1977.)

The situation that Chairman Anderson and Chairman Kahn foresaw in 1977, has
existed in the Chicago-London market for several years. While the 600,000 bilateral

threshold has been surpassed on other gateway route segments from far less impor-
tant transportation hubs than Chicago, the incumbent on this route has taken direct

actions to prevent the threshold from being crossed on the Chicago-London route for

the required 2-year period. (See Chart A.) It has manipulated scnedules and capac-
ity to force both local Chicago and behind gateway connecting passengers to travel

via other less convenient gateways.
In defending his negotiating of Bermuda 2 at the 1977 hearings. Ambassador

Boyd implied that in the case of deliberate stagnation, the 600,000 passenger
threshold would not be required before a second carrier could be added. Both sides

could simply recognize that a new carrier was needed and could agree to its designa-
tion. It is just such an agreement that the United States and Great Britain have
been pursuing and that American has been seeking to prevent. Its efforts here are
yet another aspect of its strategy to hold onto the tj.S.-flag monopoly it enjoys over
this key route.

Apart from American, a number of U.S. carriers are seeking to strengthen their

competitive presence in the U.S.-U.K. market. Each offers earnest and compelling
arguments as to why its proposal would be beneficial from the public's standpoint.

As in many other negotiations, these parties ardently oppose the finalization of any
agreement that does not address their interests.

Short of "open skies," where a free market determines how the public interest is

best served, the (jovemment still negotiates in an environment in which it must
first pick and choose from among the opportunities demanded by its carriers and
then must bargain to secure those opportunities.

In making its choices, the United States should be guided by one overriding prin-

ciple: what alternative offers the greatest benefits to the largest number of consum-
ers—passengers and shippers. Where it is apparent that an existing situation has
been seriously disadvantaging a major segment of transportation users, priority

should be given to correcting the situation.

Both the identification oT negotiating objectives and the question of what con-

stitutes a fair bargain to secure those objectives requires the type of economic analy-

sis to which Secretary Pena referred in DOT's recent Statement of U.S. Inter-

national Aviation Policy. Factual review, more than anything else, allows the Gov-
ernment to navigate through the fog of rhetoric and conflicting demands on a course

that is truly responsive to the public interest.

That process can be and has been followed in the current discussions with the

United Kingdom.
Objectively, it is difficult to dispute that, from the users' standpoint, the most

pressing need in the U.S.-U.K. aviation structure is for competitive U.S.-flag carrier

service Trom Chicago to London. This is evident from separate studies commissioned
by the city of Chicago and by United Airlines. Those studies have graphically dem-
onstrated:

• Passengers between Chicago and London are disadvantaged in terms of price.

The average Chicago-London fare is higher than the average fare to London
from other gateway cities. For example, if the Chicago-London average fare

were constructed at the same rate per mile as the Los Angeles-London fare, the
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price charged to the Chicago passenger would be a third less than it is. (See
Charts 1, 2, 3 of the attached study.)

• Relative to its population, Chicago has the poorest level of service of any U.S.
city with two or more non-stop carriers to London.

Chic£igo has less non-stop conopetition to London than do other cities much
smaller in size. For example, Chicago has one non-stop carrier for every 3.84

million people; Newark has one for every 481,000. (See Charts 4, 5, 6 of the at-

tadied stu(fy.)

• Althou^ virtually every other international market from Chicago is growing
substantially, the Chicago-London market has been declining.

This was during a period when the total U.S.-London market was increasing at

a 5.6 percent annual rate, and traffic between C!hicago and major international
markets was growing at 5.8 percent annual rate. See attached study and Chart
7 thereof.)

• The percentage of passengers from Chicago's "catchment area" that use O'Hare
as a gateway to London is significantly less than the percentage using it as a gate-
way to other European points.

Chart B lists the states and major cities for which Chicago serves as a logical

gateway to London and Europe. As can be seen, in every instance, the percent-
age of travellers to and from those U.S. points using (jhicago as the gateway
for their journey to England is substantially lower than passengers from those
same points traveling to Europe. From points in Arizona and New Mexico, for

example, the percentage using O'Hare as a gateway to London is slightly more
than naif of the percentage using O'Hare as a gateway to Europe. This dif-

ference reflects the limited price and service options available to these pas-
sengers on he Chicago-London route.

As I mentioned, there are many other international aviation issues of significant
concern to the United States, but in terms of economic and competitive importance
to the U.S. traveling public, no single route opportunity comes close to matching in

value a second Chicago-London/Heathrow designation. This Administration recog-
nizes the penalty that this situation imposes on Hundreds of thousands of consumers
each year and is actively seeking to rectify it.

We agree that it would be advantageous if all of the outstanding issues between
the United States and United Kingdom could be immediately resolved in favor of
the United States. Unfortunately, we have learned from experience with the British
that they are not willing, either from a political or economic standpoint, to make
these changes in a single agreement. U.S. attempts to secure such an all-encompass-
ing agreement with them have produced only stalemate.

In this regard it should be kept in mind that while the United States is running
an international trade deficit in the range of $9 billion per month, trade in air

transportation services and in aircraft and engines has represented a major plus.

In these areas, we compete effectively and extensively around the world. A key to

maintaining that position lies in continuing to expand access to foreign mareets
whenever expansion is possible. We simply cannot afford to politicize the process in

efforts to meet the demands of one producer or another. This course will only lead
to paralysis.

The current U.S.-U.K. negotiations are an example of how the process now de-
feats progress. We have haafour rounds of talks on a strai^t forward mini-deal.
A fifth round is scheduled for June 2.

We are approaching gridlock on this relatively simple agreement because one or
another carrier does not believe the progress toward liberalization sufficiently bene-
fits its particular interests. If we haa followed this "all or nothing" approach in ne-
gotiating the GATT, we'd be negotiating still.

We cannot dictate to our negotiating partners. We cannot force them to accept
open skies any more than we could compel them to accept free trade. What we can
do, and what we should be doing with the British, is to take advantage immediately
of opportunities to expand U.S. carrier access; to move the relationship in the right
direction.

The British are prepared to make meaningful and steady incremental progress to-

ward liberalization. They signaled this last fall, when their Secretary or Transport,
without bargaining for anything in return, offered to grant the U.S. open access to

U.K. regional airports, to approve the alliance between Delta and Virgin Atlantic
under which Delta can now sells seats to London/Heathrow, and to expand U.S. Op-
portunities to code share in the U.K. market.
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Once the United States accepted this break-throu^ ofler, immediate positive re-

sults occurred. American Airlines seized the opportunity to increase its already dom-
inant position in the United Kingdom by expanding in regional markets, and Delta
finalized its extensive commercial alliance with Virgin Atlantic, allowing it to put
Heathrow on its route map.
The most important result, however, was that the United States and United King-

dom agreed to resume formal negotiations. Those formal negotiations have produced
an initial package which will expand long-deferred opportunities for Chicago and the
region it serves, will rectify the imbalance in code-share opportunities which now
favors British Airways, and will formalize a de facto open skies arrangement to

most of the United Kingdom through its regional airports.

The opportunities that the U.K. is seeking in return are modest. British Airways
would be allowed to add capacity to its existing gateway at Philadelphia, compensat-
ing the consumers in that city for seats that were lost when American abandoned
the market. In addition, British Airways, through its code-share relationship with
USAir, would gain limited rights to transport "Fly America" trafTic. Although this

access would be similar to that now granted to other foreign carriers as a result of
their alliances with U.S. carriers, it would be substantially more limited in scope.

The carriage of U.S. Government traffic on foreign carriers through code-share al-

liances is entirely consistent with U.S. policy as articulated by the DOT, the Depart-
ment of State and the GAO, and is supported by the Department of Defense as an
important adjunct to the Civil Reserve Airfleet (GRAF) program. Numerous U.S.
carriers currently are eligible to benefit from this program: Delta with its codeshare
partner Virgin Atlantic; American with South Africa Airways and QANTAS; Con-
tinental with SAS and Alitalia; and United with its partner Lufthansa. In BA's case,
however, those opportunities would be limited to oniy a few of its gateways. To put
the value of the Fly America opportunity at issue here in perspective. United cal-

culates that the annual revenues British Airways would gain from "Fly America"
traffic would be approximately equal to one week's revenue from the new U.S.-flag
carrier operation over the Chicago-London/Heathrow route.

In short, the negotiating package now under consideration is a fair one for the
U.S.; fair in terms of the potential revenue balance, fair in terms of the competition
it will provide for bids for contracts to carry U.S. Government traffic, and fair be-
cause the British are opening up rights for U.S. carriers to carry British Govern-
ment traffic, even its military passengers.
The deal, like most, does not have something for every carrier. Those not included

in this initial package are, of course, dissatisfied. But most of those not benefited
here will receive new opportunities in the second round of talks, for which dates and
a negotiating agenda have been set.

Nonetheless, it is understandable for those carriers that are not benefited from
the initial phase to urge its deferral and argue for a merging of phases 1 and 2 of
the negotiations. But there are several reasons why that should not be done. First,

our negotiating partner has previously rejected this type of approach. The United
Kingdom is prepared to deal, in seriatim, with a number of important issues. Trying
to compel the British to fold all of the issues into one set of negotiations, however,
is a prescription for delay and probable failure. Second, further delay, even a mini-

mal one, will mean that no new U.S. carrier services could be added to the market
during the critical summer season. This would benefit incumbent carriers, but
would be demonstrably unfair to passengers in markets such as Chicago-London
who have been poorly served and overcharged on that route for years. Finally, defer-

ral portends a process without end. If stages 1 and 2 of the negotiations should be
merged, then why not stages 1, 2 and 3? The process will end where it began, in

stalemate.
There are, of course, those for whom status quo is the actual objective. With a

flourish of rhetoric, they will urge a course they know full well cannot succeed. They
have achieved significant benefits from recent mini-deals with the U.K. Now, it ap-

pears, they want to shut the door behind them. They see these hearings as a chance
to protect themselves from competition by politicizing the negotiating process to the

point that it becomes wholly ineffective. I hope that you will recognize their claims,

assertions and protestations for precisely what they are.

Earlier in this testimony I spoke of the benefits that the U.S. international air

transportation industry provides to our citizens, our communities, and our economy.
It can be accomplish much, much more if the U.S. Government seizes negotiating

opportunities and quickly capitalizes on them and, as I have said often in recent

months, the United States does not continue taxing our industry to the point that

its efficiency is lost. Over the next few weeks the Administration can finally secure

important new access to London from Chicago; it should do so. Over the next few
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weeks Congress can extend air carriers' exemption from the transportation fiiel ttix;

it should do so as well.

Again, thank you for the opportunity to present our views.

CHART A

CHICAGO-LONDON NONSTOP PASSENGERS
(January 1991 - December 1994)
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ANALYSIS OF PRICE AND SERVICE COMPETITION IN THE CHICAGO-
LONDON AIR TRANSPORTATION MARKET

OVERVIEW

The Campbell Aviation Group, Inc. has been asked by United Airlines to conduct

an analysis of the price and quality of nonstop air transportation between Chicago
and London, England. Our research shows that the lack of a third or fourth carrier

in the Chicago-London market has resulted in a significantly higher level of price

and an inferior level of service options than the levels which prevail at the more
competitive gateways, including cities smaller in population than Chicago. These re-

sults are discussed below.

FARE STRUCTURE

When we examined fares, we found that passengers in the Chicago-London mar-
ket are disadvantaged in terms of price when compared to other gateways at which
there is multiple U.S. carrier competition. The Chicago-London average fare, con-

structed at the same rate per mile as the average paid in the Los Angeles London
market, would be 33.0 percent lower than it is. There are five non-stop competitors

in the Los Angeles-London market, but only two between Chicago and London.
This discrepancy is illustrated in Chart 1 which shows that the Chicago-London

average fare on a per mile basis is higher than seven other major U.S.-London mar-
kets. When the Los Angeles-London market is indexed at 100, as shown on our
Charts 2 and 3, the relative differentials become quite vivid.

SERVICE OPTIONS

In examining the London service levels available at Chicago we found that in

terms of its local population, Chicago had the poorest levels of service of any U.S.

city with two or more nonstop air carriers in the market. It has, by a significant

margin, fewer non-stop carriers in relation to local metropolitan population than
any of the ten other gateways examined. As illustrated in Chart 4, the comparison
is dramatic. Chicago nas one non-stop carrier per 3.84 million people; Newark has
one nonstop carrier for every 481,00 residents. A similar ratio is found in the num-
ber of weekly seats offered per million residents. The comparisons made in Chart

5 show that Chicago has only 687 weekly non-stop seats to London per million popu-

lation; San Francisco has 4,499 per million, or roughly 6.5 times as many seats as

Chicago in terms of relative local metropolitan population. That same chart illus-

trates that in terms of total non-stop seats, Boston and Miami, with local popu-

lations that are less than half of those of Chicago, have substantially more weekly

non-stop seats available to their passengers.

We also established that demand for international travel from Chicago is suffi-

cient to sustain at least three non-stop competitors in the market. Our analysis

showed that comparable foreign maricets from Chicago, with significantly less total

traffic demand, today support three carrier competition. Chart 6 shows that Chi-

cago-Tokyo, -Frankfurt, -Mexico City and -Paris all sustain vigorous three carrier

competition with substantially less total trafiic than the Chicago-London market.

Not surprisingly in these circumstances, we found that while Chicago's inter-

national traffic has been growing at a healthy pace, the lack of adequate competition

in the Chicago-London maricet has produced a traffic decline. Those figures are pre-

sented in Chart 7. They show a 2.7 percent annual decline in Chicago-London traffic

at a time when virtually all other international markets from Chicago were growing

substantially, and when the U.S.-London market itself \yas increasing by a 5.6 per-

cent annual rate according to the United States INS statistics.

Finally, we examined the effects of Chicago's London service disparity on the flow

of merchandise exports from the Illinois, Indiana and Wisconsin areas. We found

that well over a third of bound air-cargo from this region was moving over other

gateways (Chart 8). Given the levels of service and lack of U.S. carrier competition

from Chicago to London, this "leakage?' of traffic to other gateways reflects insuffi-

cient cargo lift or non-competitive cargo rates at Chicago.

CONCLUSION

After examining these data, we conclude the multiple carrier competition in the

Chicago-London market would result in lower fares, commensurate with other mul-

tiple designation markets, as well as provide increased service options to passengers

and shippers between these two important international commercial centers. Rel-

ative to other major U.S. cities, Chicago is significantly underserved to London.
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THE AVERAGE CHICAGO-LONDON FARE IS UNREASONABLY HIGH
IN RELATION TO MARKETS WITH GREATER COMPETITION

Year-Ended March 31. 1994

Constructed

Chicago-London
Fare

Percent

Chicago Fare

Higher Than Others

Number of

Non-Stop
Carriers

I
Chicago - London Actual

Reference Market

Washington, DC - London

New York / Newark - London

Dallas - London

Boston - London

Miami - London

San Franasco - London

Los Angeles - London

92.3

89.8

83.9

81.3

75.8

74.8

67.0

8.4%

11.4%

19.2%

23.0%

32.0%

33.7%

49.4%

Note

1/ Chicago - London fare derived usiru| the fare per mile paid by passengers in the U S - London reference markets

Due to confidentiality restrictions, actual fares were ir>dexed with Chicago = 100

Includes data from fared passengers only

Source U S Department ol Transportation Qriqin-Desttnation Survey accessed via Database Products
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PASSENGERS BETWEEN CHICAGO AND LONDON PAY MORE
THAN PASSENGERS FROM MOST OTHER MAJOR GATEWAYS

Year-Ended March 31. 1994

Average

London Market Fare Per Mile v

I
Chicago 149

Washington, DC 138

New York / Newark 1 34

Dallas 125

Boston 121

Miami 113

San Francisco 112

Los Angeles 100

1 / Due to confidentiality fesJnctions. actual fares were indexed at Los Angeles = 100

Includes data from fared passengers only

Source US Department ol Transportation Origin Destination Survey accessed via Database Products
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CHICAGO HAS LESS NON-STOP COMPETITION TO LONDON THAN CITIES

THAT ARE MUCH SMALLER IN POPULATION
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CHICAGO HAS FAR FEWER WEEKLY NON-STOP SEATS TO LONDON
PER MILLION RESIDENTS THAN MOST OTHER MAJOR GATEWAYS

Week Ending November 7, 1994

Number of Non-Stop

Non-stop Seats

Carriers (Each Direction)
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OF THE PRINCIPAL FOREIGN DESTINATIONS SERVED NON-STOP
FROM CHICAGO, THE LONDON MARKET HAS THE MOST DEMAND

AND THE FEWEST COMPETITORS
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CHICAGO INTERNATIONAL MARKET GROWTH
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Senator McCain. Mr. Erickson.

STATEMENT OF JEFFREY ERICKSON, PRESIDENT AND CEO,
TRANSWORLD AIRLINES

Mr. Erickson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the sub-
committee.

I appreciate very much the invitation, and I am honored to ap-
pear here before you on behalf of our 23,000 employee owners at
Trans World Airlines.

I would like to summarize my remarks, but would ask that my
full statement be included in the record of this proceeding.

Senator McCain. Without objection.

Mr. Erickson. Thank you.
Mr. Chairman, these are exciting times at TWA. Over the past

year, we have embarked upon an ambitious attempt to cut costs,

restructure, and become more competitive.
The fruits of our labor are beginning to show, and just 9 days

ago, we announced the last phase of our recapitalization, a final

agreement with our creditors to restructure TWA's finances.

This will enable TWA to write off its books approximately $500
million in debt. Our restructuring will be completed by the end of
this summer, either out of court or through a prepackaged bank-
ruptcy filing, which would enjoy the full support of our creditors.
This is the first time that this will have been accomplished by

any major carrier.

Mr. Chairman, we are embarking on a new era at TWA. A new
management team is in place. New labor contracts, without wage
snap-backs are in force. Our service is second to none.
TWA is hungry to compete, and our cost structure makes us com-

petitive. But Mr. Chairman, we are an international carrier that
cannot access London, the gateway to Europe, from our New York-
JFK hub.
We can fly to Paris. We can fly to Frankfurt. We can fly to Rome.

But we cannot fly to London. It is very difficult to develop the alle-

giance of the international business travel when British Airways,
Virgin-Delta, American, and United can fly from New York-JFK
to London Heathrow, but TWA cannot.
The U.S.-U.K. bilateral was negotiated in 1977. It is widely ac-

knowledged to be the most restrictive and anti-competitive aviation
bilateral to which the United States is still a party.

The United States government has vowed repeatedly to take a
tough stance with the British, to engage them in general negotia-
tions, aimed at broad liberalization. But to date, it has not hap-
pened.
Eighteen vears ago only two U.S. carriers were given access to

Heathrow. Only two U.S. carriers can access Heathrow today with
their own aircraft. The U.S. government's failure to achieve any
meaningful new access to London's Heathrow Airport is, in my
view, appalling.

After all, U.S. negotiators sit in a position of strength. The U.S.
domestic aviation market is the largest, most lucrative aviation
market in the world. Access to our market, which alone comprises
about 30 percent of the world's aviation market, is critical to Brit-
ish carriers.
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But recent U.S. negotiations with the British have been charac-
terized by Hmited gains for U.S. carriers and broad new authority
for U.K carriers.

Two years have passed since U.S.-DOT approved broad new ac-

cess for British Airways to the U.S. domestic market, through a
temporarily authorized code share arrangement with U.S. Air.

There still has been no liberalization. And on February 10, of
this year, the competitive landscape fundamentally changed when
the Department approved the extra bilateral request of Virgin At-

lantic and Delta to engage in a blocked-space/code share arrange-
ment over seven U.S. points, including between London Heathrow,
and New York's JFK
TWA has consistently sought access to London Heathrow.
Given the Virgin/Delta code sharing arrangement, that access

has now become critical to the competitive balance in international

aviation.

We have been working with Senator Ashcroft, Senator Bond,
Senate Majority Leader Dole, House Minority Leader Grephardt,

and the rest of the Missouri Congressional delegation, the Gov-
ernor of our State, and the mayor of St. Louis to impress upon the
Department the importance of our being able to access London
from New York.
Mr. Chairman, I regret to tell you that we, in my view, are about

to be had, the United States is about to be had, as we are again
about to be out-maneuvered by the British. The Department of

Transportation lumped our request into the so-called second phase
of the negotiations, the agreement to negotiate in the future.

In its most recent proposal to the British, the United States did

not insist on any new access to any London airport for TWA. To
say we were disappointed would be an understatement.
Senator Ashcroft and Senator Bond expressed their views as out-

raged.
In a letter to the President of the United States they said that

'The failure of the administration to even so much as ask for Lon-
don authority for TWA suggests a callous indifference for the sac-

rifices made by TWA's employee owners, and indicates a disregard

for the economic interests of the State of Missouri."

Mr. Chairman, we agree.

TWA's message today is simply this: There should be no more
U.S. capitulation. The time has come to draw the line.

The current round of negotiations with the British should not be
concluded until the United States has obtained meaningful new ac-

cess to London/Heathrow.
TWA's hub operation in New York-JFK is larger than that of

any other carrier. It is in the best interest of the United States and
the flying public that it be allowed to compete with British Air-

ways, Virgin Delta, United, and American in the JFK-Heathrow
market.
We have come to the conclusion that we must seek access to

Heathrow, and we must seek it now. No more talk of first phase
and second phase.
Two years ago, when the original British Airways/U.S. Air code

share agreement was approved, there was a commitment on the
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part of both the U.S. and U.K governments to HberaHze the cur-

rent bilateral.

The two governments set a 1-year deadline for themselves. The
time has come for the U.S. to stand firm, to negotiate with resolve.

Earlier this month, Secretary Pena introduced a new statement
of the United States International Air Transportation Policy, the
first new policy in 17 years. It says that the goal of the United
States is achievement of an unrestricted international air service

regime.
The policy affirmatively states that the consequences for coun-

tries unwilling to work toward liberalization will involve the with-
holding of benefits fi-om those countries. The current round of nego-
tiations with the British is the first test of the Department's new
policy.

Mr. Chairman, thank you again for inviting me to appear before
the subcommittee today. I would be happy to answer questions at
the appropriate time.

Senator McCain. Thank you, Mr. Erickson.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Erickson follows:]

Testimony of Jeffrey H. Erickson

Chairman McCain, Members of the Senate Aviation Subcommittee, I am honored
to appear before you today on behalf of the 23,000 employee owners of Trans World
Airlines.

Mr. Chairman, these are exciting times at TWA. Over the past year, we have em-
barked upon an ambitious attempt to cut costs, restructure, and become more com-
petitive. The fruits of our labor are beginning to show. Just 9 days ago, we an-
nounced a final recapitalization agreement with our creditors to restructure TWA's
finances. This will enable TWA to write off its books approximately half a billion

dollars of debt. Our restructuring will be completed by the end of this summer, ei-

ther out-of-court, or through a prepackaged bankruptcy filing, which would enjoy
the full support of our creditors.

TWA is Dullish on the future. To quote from our advertising campaign, "We are
up to something good." Consider the following:

• TWA has introduced a new premier service for international business travelers:

Trans World One. Trans World One offers luxury First Class appointments and
gourmet meals at business class prices. It is meeting with praise from our cus-
tomers, and is sure to set a new industry standard.

• TWA's employee-owners demonstrate an enthusiasm for their jobs, a commit-
ment to service, and a sense of "team" that is unique in commercial aviation. The
service provided by our flight attendants, and the customer-focused approach of our
reservations staff have received industry recognition for excellence in the past year.

• The U.S. Department of Defense recently awarded a multi-year heavy mainte-
nance contract for Navy and Air Force Aircraft, to TWA. This work, worth at least

$38.4 million per year, will be performed by skilled TWA mechanics at our Kansas
City overhaul base.

Mr. Chairman, we are embarking on a new era at TWA. A new management team
is in place. New labor contracts without wage snapback provisions are in place. Our
service is second to none. TWA's cost structure makes us competitive. But, Mr.
Chairman, we are an international carrier that cannot access London—the gateway
to Europe—from our New York/JFK hub. We can fly to Paris. We can fly to Frank-
furt. We can fly to Rome. But we cannot fly to London. It is very difficult to develop
the allegiance of the international business traveler when British Airways, Virgin
AtlanticJT)elta, American, and United Airlines can fly from New York/JFK to Lon-
don/Heathrow, but TWA cannot.
The U.S.-U.K. bilateral was negotiated in 1977. It is widely acknowledged to be

the most restrictive and anti-competitive aviation bilateral to which the United
States is still a party. The United States government has vowed repeatedly to take
a tough stance with the British, to engage them in general negotiations aimed at
broad liberalization. But, to date, it has not happenecL Eighteen years ago only two
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U.S. carriers were given access to Heathrow. Only two U.S. carriers can access

Heathrow today with their own aircraft.

The U.S. government's failure to achieve any meaningful new access to London's
Heathrow Airport is, in my view, appalling. After all, UTS. negotiators sit in a posi-

tion of strength. The U.S. domestic aviation maricet is the largest, most lucrative

aviation market in the world. Access to our market, which alone comprises about
30 percent of the world's aviation market, is critical to British carriers. But recent

U.S^ negotiations with the British have been characterized by limited gains for U.S.
carriers and broad new authority for U.K. carriers. The following summary illus-

trates this point.

Two years ago, on March 10, 1993, the U.S. Department of Transportation ap-

proved broad new access for British Airways to the U.S. domestic market through
a code-share arrangement with USAir. The arrangement provided for service to 38
U.S. cities beyond Baltimore, Philadelphia and Pittsburgh. At the time. Transpor-
tation Secretary Federico Pena said, let me emphasize to all that the approvals
granted to BA and USAir are faced at 1 year," during which "the Administration

will pursue a new agreement . . . that incorporates 'open skies' provisions." In ref-

erence to Bermuda fl, the Secretary said, "the current agreement is unacceptable."

Eight months later, on November 12, 1993, the Department approved a British

Airways/USAir request to serve an additional 66 U.S. cities on a code-share basis

for 60 days. This new approval expressly stated that DOT would monitor the

progress toward a liberalized aviation regime. When this new application was filed.

Secretary Pena said that "^his new code-share request strains our relationship as

we enter the most sensitive phase of our renegotiation."

A month later, on Deceniber 22, 1993, DOT extended the November codeshare

until March 17, 1994—the date for expiration of the original code-share request.

Three months later, on March 17, 1994, the Department extended the code-share

arrangement for an additional year, even though it noted that it was "extremely dis-

satisfied with our existing relationship" with the United Kingdom.
Now another year has passed. There still has been no liberalization, although an-

other British carrier has obtained expanded access to the U.S. domestic aviation

market through code sharing. On Feoruary 10 of this year, the Department ap-

proved the extra-bilateral request of Virgin Atlantic and Delta to engage in a
blocked-space/code share arrangement over seven U.S. points, including between
London/Heathrow and New York/JFK. DOT said that securing "the benefits of this

new service outweigh any contrary bilateral considerations."

Mr. Chairman, that takes us to today. British Airways/USAir now seek the reau-

thorization of their code sharing arrangement. But this year, the Department of

Transportation does not even pretend to be seeking broad liberalization in return

for continued code sharing authorization. Instead, the most recent proposal for-

warded by the United States offers the United Kingdom reauthorization of the Brit-

ish Airways code sharing arrangement, a new fli^t for British Airways from Lon-

don/Heathrow to Philadelphia, and an opportunity to carry U.S. Government "Fly

America" traffic on certain code sharing flights. In return, the United States seeks

only to obtain early authorization for United Airlines to fly from Chicago to Lon-

don—authority that United will automatically obtain soon anyway, an opportunity

for U.S. carriers to fly to United Kingdom destinations other than London, and a

commitment from the British to talk later about cargo, pricing, charters, and access

to London Heathrow and/or Gatwick. In other words, Mr. Chairman, all of the real

U.S. negotiating objectives are, once again, to be put off for another day.

TWA has consistently sought access to London Heathrow. We have, however,

learned that we should not expect too much from our negotiators. Thus, when it be-

came clear that the United States would not be seeking authority for any new car-

riers to serve Heathrow in the current round of negotiations, TWA asked that the

Department simply seek authority for us to serve London/Gatwick. It is, and always

has been, our intention to serve this route on an interim basis until new Heathrow
authority becomes available. For us, seeking access to Gatwick is a fall-back posi-

tion. It is a significant concession. We thought we were making a reasonable request

of the Department, that we were one earner that was being realistic, that the De-

partment would be pleased that TWA was scaling back its expectations for the cur-

rent round to what would be "achievable. " Working with Senator Asherofl, Senator

Bond, Senate Majority Leader Dole, House Minority Leader Gephardt, the rest of

the Missouri Congressional delegation, the Governor of Missouri and the Mayor of

St. Louis, TWA impressed upon the Department the critical importance of our being

able to access London from New York, even if that access were limited to Gatwick

until Heathrow opened up. Some access is better than no access.

Mr. Chairman, I regret to tell you that the United States is about "to be had"

and out-maneuvered by the British. The Department of Transportation lumped our



90

request into the so-called "second phase" of the negotiations—the agreement to ne-
gotiate in the fiiture. In its most recent proposal to the British the United States
did not insist on any new access to any London airport for TWA. To say we were
disappointed would be an understatement. Senator Ashorofl and Senator Bond ex-

pressed their view as "outraged." In a letter to the F*resident of the United States,

they said that the failure of the Administration "to even so much as ask" for London
authority for TWA "suggests a callous indifference for the sacrifices made by TWA's
employee owners, and indicates a disregard for the economic interests of Missouri.
" Mr. Chairman, we agree.

Mr. Chairman, TWA's message today is simply this: There should be no more U.S.
capitulation. The time has come to draw the bne. The current round of negotiations
with the British should not be concluded until the United States has obtained mean-
ingfial new access to London/Heathrow. TWA's hub operation is larger than that of
any other carrier at JFK. It is in the best interests of the United States and the
flying public that it be allowed to compete with British Airways, Virgin Atlantic/
Delta, United and American in the JFK Heathrow market. We have come to the
conclusion that we must seek access to Heathrow and we must seek it now. When
we fell back to Gatwick, Gatwick fell back to the second phase. It displaced access
to Heathrow as a negotiating objective for the second phase. No more talk of first

phase and second phase.
Two years ago, when the original British Airways/USAir code share agreement

was approved there was a commitment on the part of both the U.S. and U.K. gov-
ernments to liberalize the current bilateral. The two governments set a 1-year dead-
line for themselves. Two years have gone by. The time has come for the United
States to stand firm, to negotiate with resolve.

Earlier this month, Secretary Pena issued a new Statement of United States
International Air Transportation Policy—the first new policy in 17 years. It says
that the goal of the United States is achievement of an unrestricted international
air service regime. The Policy affirmatively states that the conseauences for coun-
tries unwilling to work toward liberalization will involve the withnolding of "bene-
fits from those countries." The current round of negotiations with the British is the
first "test" of the Department's new policy. The world is watching.
Mr. Chairman, again, thank you for inviting me to appear before the Subcommit-

tee today. I would be happy to answer any questions tnat you or the Members of
the Subcommittee might have.

Senator McCain. Mr. Crandall.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT L. CRANDALL, CHAIRMAN AND CEO,
AMERICAN AIRLINES, INC.

Mr. Crandall. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
As with my colleagues, I shall summarize my remarks, and ask

that my full statement be entered in the committee's proceedings.
Senator McCain. Without objection.

Mr. Crandall. Thank you. With regard to the United Kingdom,
Mr. Chairman, American s objective is very clear. We seek an op-

portunity to compete on an equal footing with the airlines of the
United Kingdom.

Unfortunately, the opportunities we have today, in markets be-

tween the United States and United Kingdom, are anything but
equal to those of our U.K. competitors.
Senator Ford observed earlier that the British are quite excellent

dancers. And back in 1991, they did quite an outstanding dance,
after American and United paid hundreds of millions of dollars to

replace TWA and Pan American as operators at London's Heathrow
airport.

The British, at that time, would not permit American and United
to replace TWA and Pan American until the United States agreed
to a modification of the U.S.-U.K bilateral, which, as you know,
is generally referred to as Bermuda II, which took the form of
granting the U.K.'s airlines, mainly British Airways, tremendously
increased access to the United States, and imposing new restric-
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tions on both United and American. And as a result, the already
bad bilateral became even worse.
Today, American and other U.S. airlines are very seriously dis-

advantaged by the many anti-competitive restrictions in Bermuda
II, which limits airport access, and routes, and capacity, and pric-

ing, and particularly, by the fact that British Airways has far

broader access to U.S.-U.K. passengers than any U.S. carrier.

Today, by virtue of its code sharing with USAir in the United
States, and its own domination of Heathrow, British Airways effec-

tively has hubs on both sides of the Atlantic, a tremendous advan-
tage, and it is that fact, Mr. Chairman, that addresses the question
you raised earlier, as to whether British Airways, in an unre-
stricted environment, would have a smaller share—they would
have a dramatically smaller share, without the advantage of hubs
on both sides of the Atlantic.

Senator McCain. Do you agree that it would be in the area of

25 percent
Mr. Crandall. Or less.

Senator McCain [continuing]. As opposed to 50 percent?
Mr. Crandall. The aviation relationship between the United

States and the United Kingdom is shaped by a number of factors

which, together with Bermuda II, favor the United Kingdom's air-

lines.

First, it is very important to understand that the U.S. aviation

market is eight times larger than the U.K market, thus access to

the internal markets of the two countries offer nothing like com-
parable opportunities.

Second, and much more important, a very large percentage of the
passengers flying between the United States and the United King-
dom are going to or coming from third countries that are not par-
ties to Bermuda II.

That traffic is reserved for British Airways, since U.S. airlines

have very limited rights to serve routes beyond the United King-
dom.
The chart that my colleague is now displaying shows that by

combining its access to the United States, which it gets by means
of code sharing with U.S. Air, and its unique rights beyond the
United Kingdom, British Airways can now offer customers nearly
six times as many on-line city pairs as can American.
Very simply put, British Airlines has six times as many products

for sale on each of its transatlantic flights as we have on ours. And
the result, of course, is that British Airways carries more pas-

sengers at higher prices.

Now, it is our view that the United States must rebalance the
competitive playing field with all of its aviation trading partners,

and specifically must do so with the United Kingdom.
Recently, as we have heard today, the U.S. and the U.K. re-

sumed aviation consultations, but rather than seeking a com-
prehensive revision of the bilateral, the U.S. agreed to negotiate an
entirely inappropriate mini-deal, which, if consummated, will in-

crease British Airways' advantage even further in exchange for

special treatment of one U.S. airline—United.
The United Kingdom has included in its mini-deal proposal a

provision that would permit its airlines to carry U.S. Federal em-
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ployees, as we have heard, under the provisions of Fly America leg-

islation.

U.S. and U.K. negotiators have agreed to relegate, for no appar-
ent reason, additional rights for U.S. airlines, other than United,
to a second phase of mini-deal negotiations. And if our experience
with the U.K holds true, we think it unlikely that that second
phase will ever come to fniition.

Senator as you heard various testimony about whether this deal
is or is not balanced, let me paraphrase it for you in simple terms.

British Airways gets the right to carry Fly America traffic on its

existing flights, and every dollar of Fly America revenue amounts,
as a practical matter, to something like 85 cents worth of operating
profit, since it moves on existing airplanes.

Second, the U.S. Government has conferred on British Airways
a perpetual monopoly between Philadelphia and London.
By permitting British Airways to have a code shared hub in

Philadelphia, and a dominant hub in Heathrow, it has created a
circumstance where no U.S. airline can or will operate between
Philadelphia and London, despite the fact that the Bermuda II

agreement gives a U.S. airline that right.

I am not surprised to hear that Mr. Greenwald would applaud
this deal, but I am delighted to hear, Gerry, that you will hence-
forth favor incremental gains in every market. I hope we can count
on that in Japan.
Rather than negotiating a mini-deal that will only worsen a

badly flawed agreement, the United States ought to be seeking to

level the playing field, something it simply must do, if it wants
U.S. carriers to be competitively successful in markets to, from,
and beyond the United Kingdom.
At a minimum, the following changes should be included in any

revision to the agreement. First, U.S. carriers need more opportuni-
ties to fly to and from Heathrow, which would thus save a good
deal of money by those who must split their operations between
Gatwick and Heathrow, and allow U.S. carriers to compete for the
vast percentage of London-bound passengers, who prefer Heathrow.

Second, we need an opportunity to serve, either with our own air-

crafl, or by code sharing the many destinations that British Air-

ways now serves beyond Heathrow. As my full testimony explains,
recent actions by LJ.S. negotiators have aramatically reduced the
value of such beyond rights.

Nonetheless, if we had them, we would have some chance to offer

our customers at least some of the many city-pairs in which British

Airways now has an advantage.
Third, the United States should insist on eliminating Annex Two

of Bermuda II, a provision which allows the United Kingdom to ex-

ercise unilateral capacity control. And finally, the United States
should insist on eliminating the pricing restrictions in Bermuda II.

Today, those rules allow Britisn Airways and other U.K. airlines

to offer low fares through private distributors, but prevent Amer-
ican from offering the same fares directly to U.K travelers.
Mr. Chairman, time constraints and the focus of your interests

today have caused me to confine these remarks veiy largely to the
subject of the U.S.-U.K. bilateral agreement. Nonetheless, I should
like to make one closing comment.
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With respect to the generally pernicious effects which U.S.-Euro-
pean code sharing agreements have had on the ability of U.S. car-

riers to succeed in Transatlantic markets, the charts that my col-

league is now putting up illustrate that the transatlantic code shar-
ing agreements done to date have served to increase the proportion
of transatlantic flying done by foreign airlines, which benefits pri-

marily those foreign carriers, and which creates few, if any, U.S.
jobs.

In my judgment, the long-term effect of this policy position will

be to continuously reduce the U.S. carrier share of transatlantic

fljring by way of validation of that rather pessimistic forecast.

In April 1995, the capacity of Northwest, United, TWA, and
Delta are all down year over year on the transatlantic. Only Amer-
ican seeks to compete on its own and has added additional capac-
ity.

I think it is time for Congress to tell the administration that it

should support the interest of both U.S. consumers and U.S. air-

lines.

Since domestic airline deregulation occurred 17 years ago, Amer-
ican has been a successful competitor. But we cannot compete effec-

tively in markets where our competitors are granted unique advan-
tages.

In our view, many U.S. international aviation relationships, and
specifically our agreement with the United Kingdom, are sharply
skewed in favor of our fine competitors.
While we seek no special favors, we do think that U.S. carriers

generally, and American Airlines in particular, are entitled to an
opportunity to compete for each and every passenger, and each and
every pound of cargo destined to or originating within the United
States of America.
Thank you very much.
Senator McCain. Thank you, Mr. Crandall.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Crandall follows:]

Testimony of Robert L. Crandall

Mr. Chairman, Senator Ford, Senator Hutchison, distinguished members of the
subcommittee, ladies and gentlemen: good morning and thank you for the oppor-
tunity to present the views of American Airlines on aviation relations between the
United States and the United Kingdom.
No issue is more important for American Airlines, and for our employees, than

being able to compete successfully in the international aviation marketplace. Given
opportunities equal to those of our competitors, we and other U.S. airlines can and
will compete successfully, and by doing so, will benefit U.S. manufacturers and sup-
pliers, the cities we serve, and the many U.S. citizens who are our shareholders.

Let me clearly state our objective with regard to the U.K.: we seek an opportunity
to compete on an equal footing with U.K. airlines. Unfortunately, our opportunities
in the U.S.-U.K. market are anything but equal to those of our U.K. competitors.

One of our predecessor companies, American Overseas Airlines, operated the first

land-to-land commercial airline service between the United States and the United
Kingdom, 50 years ago this October. However, American's recent history in the U.K.
market dates from 1982, when we began service between Dallas/Fort Worth and
London's Gatwick Airport. For 9 years between 1982 and 1991, we did our best to

secure rights to London from other U.S. cities, but were thwarted by Bermuda 2,

the very restrictive air transport agreement that governs air services between our
two countries.

In 1991, we gave up on gaining more access to London on our own, and paid TWA
$360 million for the right to operate to London's Heathrow Airport from four U.S.
cities—New York, Boston, Chicago, and Los Angeles. Also in 1991, United pur-
chased Pan Am's authority to serve London/Heathrow.

91-114 0-95-4
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Despite the huge sums we and United paid, British oflicials would not permit
American and United to replace TWA and Pan Am until the United States agreed
to an additional payment, which took the form of granting U.K. airlines—mainly
British Airways—increased access to the United States, and imposing new restric-

tions on the United States airlines serving the United Kingdom. Our government
agreed to these additional conditions, and as a result, a bad agreement was made
even worse. American and other U.S. airlines are seriously disadvantaged by the
burdensome, anticompetitive restrictions in Bermuda 2 that affect airport access,

routes, capacity, and pricing, and by the fact that British Airways has far broader
access to U.S.-U.K. passengers than any U.S. carrier. /
Notwithstanding these limitations, our transatlantic routes to and from London

have become an important part of the American Airlines system. However, they
would be far more rewarding if the United States and the United Kingdom would
liberalize Bermuda 2. Given the fact that the transatlantic routes between the Unit-
ed States and United Kingdom are, collectively, the largest long-distance aviation

market in the world, and in light of the very close economic, political, and cultural

relationships between the two countries, the rigidities and limitations of Bermuda
2 are particularly inappropriate.

In-our view, the United States must re-balance the competitive playing field with
all of our major aviation trading partners, but particularly with the United King-
dom. In the remainder of my testimony, I would like to elaborate on these views.

"MINI-DEALS" CANNOT RECTIFY THE IMBALANCE

Recently, the United States and the United Kingdom resumed aviation consulta-
tions. However, rather than turning their attention to the task of overhauling the
entire aviation relationship, the two sides agreed to negotiate an entirely inappro-
priate "mini-deal", which—if consummated—would increase British Airways' advan-
tage and provide special treatment for one U.S. airline. Neither State nor DOT has
performed any analysis of the economic impact of the deal on U.S. airlines, and they
have proceeded without any substantive consultation with U.S. airlines other than
United—the putative beneficiary!

The United Kingdom has included in the mini-deal proposal a provision that
would permit its airlines to carry U.S. Federal employees traveling on government
business, in essence suspending application of the "Fly America" legislation.

Even worse, it has apparently been agreed that this mini-deal will be negotiated
in two phases. Phase one is to comprise most of what British Airways wants and
specific route rights for one U.S. airline. Additional Heathrow access—an element
originally linked to the U.K. desire for access to Fly America traffic—has now been
deferred to phase two, which may never be concluded. American has urged that the
United States either marry the two phases, or make implementation of phase one
conditional upon agreement on all of the specific issues to be included in phase two.
U.S. negotiators have declined to insist upon either type of linkage.
Without the intervention of this Committee, the two governments would already

have reached agreement on phase one, and we thank you for your active role. We
do not place much stock in the vague commitment to negotiate phase two at a later

date. On several occasions in the past. United Kingdom promises for subsequent ne-

gotiation have evaporated once it has secured what it seeks. For example, in 1993,
after DOT approved the initial round of the British Airways/USAir combination, the
United Kingdom promised to begin negotiation on a wholesale liberalization of Ber-
muda 2—a promise subsequently proved totally empty.
The Administration seems to want the mini-deal, so that it can trumpet another

alleged accomplishment. In our view, such deals only worsen an already flawed rela-

tionship. In our view, the recently concluded United States-Canada aviation agree-
ment is an example of the right way to proceed. The United States refused to nego-
tiate mini-deals, and eventually persuaded Canada that a broad, open arrangement
was best for consumers, airlines, communities, and employees. It took several years,
but the result was worth it.

THE STRUCTURAL IMBALANCE OF BERMUDA 2 FAVORS U.K. AIRLINES

The foundation of this structural imbalance—and of many disparities in U.S. bi-

lateral aviation relationships—are two basic geographical facts. First, the United
States is much larger in area, population, and discretionary income than the United
Kingdom or any other single aviation market. In fact, the U.S. market is eight times
lai^er than the U.K. market; thus, the internal markets of the two countries offer

nothing like comparable opportunities.
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Second, a substantial amount of traffic that flows across the Atlantic on the air-

lines of the two countries also travels beyond the United Kingdom to third countries
that are not parties to the U.S.-U.K. agreement.
By combining its broad rights to serve points beyond the United Kingdom with

the U.S. codesharing rights it obtained in 1991 and has exercised by its combination
with USAir, British Airways has created a powerful route system with hubs on both
sides of the Atlantic. Effectively, British Airways has the ability to provide single-
network service between any U.S. point served by either it or USAir and any point
in the United States or countries beyond the United Kingdom served by British Air-
ways. As a consequence, British Airways is now able to offer transatlantic customers
nearly six times as many city-pair maricets (often called "O&D" or "Origin and Des-
tination" markets) as can be sold by any U.S. carrier—including American—which
elects to operate its own aircraft between the United States and the United King-
dom. Exhibit 1, which is attached to this testimony and is being displayed now, u-
lustrates the British Airways advantage. In fact, when fully developed throu^out
the United States, the British Airways/USAir combination could sell over 12 times
as many city pair markets as American.
By contrast, Bermuda 2 limits American to just 17 codeshared flights per day be-

yond London. We are permitted to operate only one codeshared flight beyond the
U.K. for each transatlantic flight into that country and are forbidden to carry local

passengers on those flights; British Airways offers nearly 10 times as many flights

beyond Heathrow as it operates to the United States and has full local traffic rights

on all of them.
The impact of these disadvantages is substantial. In December 1994, the DOT re-

leased a study of international airline codesharing which estimates that the British
Airways/USAir combination will reduce the revenues of American and other U.S.
airlines by $41.7 million per year. Earlier last year, British Airways forecast its cur-

rent-year benefits from the USAir alliance to be approximately $110 million in 1994
alone, more than twice the DOT estimate. The erosion of traffic we have noticed
suggests that even the British Airways estimate is too low.

BERMUDA 2 CONTAINS RESTRICTIONS THAT SEVERELY DISADVANTAGE U.S. AIRLINES

The most pernicious of these restrictions are those that limit U.S. carrier access
to Heathrow.
Heathrow is so important that in 1991, American paid TWA $360 million to ac-

quire ri^ts to operate between that airport and Chicago, Boston, New York, and
Los Angeles. Access to Heathrow is absolutely essential—I emphasize essential—for

any carrier that wishes to compete on transatlantic routes to London. London-bound
passengers prefer Heathrow because it is closer to Central London, while passengers
traveling beyond London prefer it because it is the only London airport with signifi-

cant connections to cities beyond London.
The magnitude of the Heathrow advantage is statistically overwhelming. In 1994,

London Heathrow was the world's fourth busiest airport, with 51.7 million pas-

sengers, more than twice as large as London Gatwick, which ranked 28th, with 21.2

million passengers. And the gap is widening: In 1994, Heathrow grew by 8 percent
while Gatwick grew by just 5 percent.

Despite the huge amount we paid for the ri^t to serve Heathrow, we must still

operate some of our U.S. flights at Gatwick. These services include our flights from
Dallas/Fort Worth—our largest hub—as well as those from Nashville and Raleigh/
Durham. This inefficient split operation penalizes those U.S. cities we must serve

via Gatwick, and costs American several million dollars annually in incremental ex-

penses for duplicate staff and facilities. Even more important, American loses large

amounts of revenue because passengers in many U.S. cities choose to fly with Brit-

ish Airways in order to arrive and depart at Heathrow.
Bermuda 2 also imposes restrictions on our right to carry passengers between

London and cities in Continental Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Asia, and the Far
East. Such rights, which are known in aviation parlance as "fifth freedom" traffic

rights, enable an airline to carry passengers between two non-homeland countries

as, for example, between London and Paris. An airline can exercise such ri^ts ei-

ther by operating its own aircraft or by codesharing, and if American or any other

U.S. carrier hopes to compete effectively with British Airways, we must have such
rights. If we do not get them, people wishing to go from the United States to a point

beyond London, or to travel from a point beyond London to a point in the United
States, and who prefer to travel for the entire distance on a single actual or simu-
lated network, will inevitably choose British Airways for their flight across the At-

lantic!
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Our need for rights beyond Heathrow has grown much more acute since the U.S.
government's decision to permit British Airways to codeshare with USAir in the
United States. Prior to that agreement, U.S. carriers had the unique ability to offer

beyond-gateway U.S. consumers on-network services that could not be offered by
British Airways. Now that British Airways has broad codesharing rights within the
United States, the United States simplv must secure for its own carriers equiva-
lently valuable ri^ts beyond London, if it hopes to have any U.S. carriers compet-
ing on transatlantic services between the United Kingdom and the United States.

in addition to beyond-gateway codesharing ridits within the United States, the
U.K.'s airlines have broad fifth freedom rignts beyond the United States to Latin
America, the Caribbean, and the Far East. This means that British Airways can fly

or codeshare to all those places with unrestricted rights to carry local traffic be-

tween the United States and countries beyond. Bermuda 2 also gives the U.K.'s air-

lines intermediate rights to the United States by way of points in Canada, France,
Germany, and other countries, as well as rights which allow the U.K.'s airlines to

operate non-stop flights between non-United Kingdom points in Europe and the
United States. -^

It is important for the Committee to know, Mr. Chairman, that even if the United
States were to secure the unrestricted "beyond Heathrow" fifth freedom rights we
seek, we would not automatically be able to compete against British Airways' exten-
sive route system to Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Asia, and the Far East. To
make such rights usable, the United States must also secure approvals from the
third countries involved. The DOT noted this problem in its recent International Air
Transportation Policy document, which reads:

"(Substantial international) access is not readily available in today's bilateral

system of negotiating air rights, since governments can only exchange access
rights to their own countries and cannot, between themselves, deliver access to

third countries, thus reauiring piecemeal negotiating efforts to build the nec-
essary package of rights.

Moreover, the value of rights beyond the United Kingdom has diminished signifi-

cantly in recent years, because of (1) bilateral and other restrictions on codesharing
into these countries, (2) French renunciation of its aviation agreement with the
U.S., and (3) the fact that most European carriers have already entered into com-
binations that prevent them from an alliance with American or any other carrier.

Exhibit 2 attached to this testimony shows that there are few markets of significant

economic value that would permit a codesharing arrangement beyond the United
Kingdom. Furthermore, in the most recent round of negotiations, the United King-
dom sought to pull back their earlier offer of unlimited codesharing beyond the
United Kingdom, by including only countries in Western Europe.
A third restrictive element of Bermuda 2 imposes artificial capacity restraints

that have allowed the United Kingdom to exercise unilateral, a priori control of how
many flights can be offered between any two points. An instrument known as Annex
2 of the Agreement limits U.S. airline flights on each route segment between the
two countries to no more than 150 percent of U.K. carrier flights. Since the United
States almost never seeks to limit U.K. airline capacity, the U.K. government—not
the free market—determines how much capacity will be offered to consumers.

Fourth, the pricing provisions of Bermuda 2 permit U.K. regulators to disapprove
low fares that American would like to offer to British consumers. At the same time,

the U.K.'s air transport regulations permit BA to offer the same tares by means of
"wholesalers, " or more colloquially, nbucket shops." Since U.K. wholesalers are very
much captive of British Airways, American's inability to offer low prices directly to

consumers is a competitive problem for us and a deprivation for U.K. consumers.

RECOMMENDATIONS

We do not believe that the mini-deal currently being negotiated is a substitute
for wholesale liberalization of a massively imbalanced U.S.-U.K. aviation relation-

ship. As I noted earlier, the U.S. has not analyzed the possible economic impact of
the deal on U.S. airlines. Certainly the mini-deal will not reduce British Airways'
huge advantage, and may very well increase it.

Rather than a mini-deal that will only worsen a flawed agreement, the United
States must level the overall playing field with the United Kingdom if it wants its

carriers to be competitively successful. The United States should insist that the
United Kingdom agree to the following:

First, U.S. carriers need more opportunities to fly to and from Heathrow. Having
the ability to operate all our U.S. services to Heatnrow will eliminate the substan-
tial cost of splitting our U.K. operations between Gatwick and Heathrow, will allow
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American to compete for the large percentage of London passengers who prefer
Heathrow, and, not at all incidentally, give London services from cities such as Ra-
leigh/Durham and Nashville at least a fighting chance to succeed.

Second, give American the opportunity to sell the same city-pairs BA now offers

to transatlantic passengers, by allowing unlimited fifth freedom traffic rights beyond
U.K. gateways, excerciseable by either codesharing or actually flying one's own air-

craft. Although the value of these rights beyond the U.K. has diminished in recent
years because of United States and foreign government decisions, we still must have
these rights if we are to be able to compete with British Airways.

Third, eliminate Annex 2 of Bermuda 2, which has allowed the United Kingdom
to exercise unilateral, a priori capacity controls.

Fourth, eliminate the pricing restrictions in Bermuda 2 that prevent American
from offering U.K. travelers competitive fares to and from U.S. cities.

CODESHARING IS NOT A SOLUTION

Mr. Chairman, time constraints and the focus of your interest today have caused
me to confine these remarks largely to the subject of U.S.-U.K. civil aviation rela-

tions. Nonetheless, I should like to end my testimony with comments on the per-
nicious effects of international codesharing. It is no secret that American believes
that most international codesharing agreements have benefited primarily our for-

eign competitors and that we have vigorously opposed such arrangements. Exhibit
3 attached to this testimony, which is being displayed now, demonstrates how the
benefits of codesharing on the North Atlantic have had the practical efiiect of encour-
aging the operation of aircraft by foreign flag rather than U.S. carriers.

As you know, for over a decade, American s emphasis has been on vigorous expan-
sion with our own aircraft, which creates U.S. jobs and economic opportunity.
Codesharing creates artificial, virtual networks that require no capital investment,
and which are, as a practical matter, nothing but ofilcially approved collusion. We
are profoundly disappointed that our government has been indifferent to this argu-
ment, and has made decisions that disadvantage firms like American that are will-

ing to invest in the growth of America.
Despite our opposition, the DOT has approved most of the codesharing proposals

presented to it. Thus, our efforts to overcome the huge advantages that Bermuda
2 confers on British Airways have been compounded by the competitive disadvan-
tages imposed by the British Airways/USAir codesharing combination, and, more re-

cently, by the Virgin/Delta arrangement. Despite assurances from Administration
officials that we would be given offsetting opportunities to be iully competitive in

the U.K. market, no new, comparably rewarding service rights have been obtained.
In effect—and let me emphasize this point—our government has told us to stop buy-
ing airplanes and make a deal to partner with a Toreign airline.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Chairman, it is time for the U.S. Congress to make clear to the Administra-
tion that you expect it to support both U.S. consumers and U.S. airlines. American
has done quite nicely in the 17 years since airline deregulation within the United
States, and we believe we can give a good accounting of ourselves in any competitive
maricetplace. However, we cannot and will not do well in any market where com-
petitors are permitted advantages of frequency or destination, and we do not believe

it is sound policy to grant foreign airlines unique advantages solely for the purpose
of creating additional competition.
We do not fear competition, but we believe that our shareholders and our employ-

ees deserve an opportunity to compete in a marketplace which is not deliberately

skewed in favor of our competitors. Today's U.K-U.S. aviation market is severely

tilted in favor of the U.K.'s airlines, an advantage which accrues primarily to the

benefit of British Airways. While BA is a stalwart competitor, and a first-rate com-
pany, we do not believe there is any reason why it should be permitted to offer cus-

tomers in the U.S., the U.K., or other countries services which American Airlines

is forbidden to provide. We seek no special quarter, but we do seek equal oppor-
tunity—and I hope the Committee will see fit to support our quest.
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Exhibit 3

Foreign Airlines Perform Most Transatlantic Codesharing Operations

Bold type Indicates airline operating tl^e service.

Italics indicate airline placing its code on the operating flight

Route

Foreign Airline Operates;

U.S. Airline Codeshares

Competing U.S. Airline

Without Foreign Support

Charlotte - London

New York - London

Philadelphia - London

Pittsburgh - London

British Airways 1/

British Airways 1/

British Airways 1/

British Airways 1/

American, Continental, United

Detroit - Amsterdam
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Exhibit 3

Route

U.S. Airline Operates;

Foreign Airline Codeshares

Competing U.S. Airline

Without Foreign Support

Cincinnati - Zurich
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Senator McCain. Senator Pressler.

The Chairman. Thank you very much.
Mr. Erickson, I am sympathetic to what you are saying. There

is a question, however, as I understand it, did not TWA have ac-

cess to London Heathrow and sell those authorities? Was a sub-
stantial gain realized from that sale?

Why should the U.S. Government now be asked to help TWA
remedy what might have been a regretable business decision?
Mr. Erickson. Senator, let me make three observations with re-

gard to that. Now, first, when Carl Icahn sought to purchase TWA
in 1985, this committee was so concerned about the possibility that
he would sell TWA's international routes, that it held hearings and
reported legislation that provided that under certain cir-

cumstances, these international route authorities would revert to

the Federal Government in the event of an attempted sale.

This legislation was never enacted, but the committee was very
aware of the potential.

Second, at that time, TWA employees fought very hard against
that sale, and, in fact, the former chairman of this committee. Sen-
ator Danforth, really led that effort.

And third, as I mentioned in my testimony, the competitive land-

scape has fundamentally changed in recent months with the ap-
proval of the code share arrangement between Virgin and Delta.

It is essential that we be able to compete. If the mini-deal is ap-
proved, we will be the only carrier with a major hub on the eastern
half of the United States that does not have service to London.
The Chairman. I am very sympathetic and I certainly think that

should be worked out.

Mr. Greenwald, you stated that the Chicago market is substan-
tially under served. If that is true, why is it that the 600,000
threshold has not been reached?
Mr. Greenwald. Mr. Chairman, the view that we have, having

gathered statistical data, is that simply stated when bad incentives
are put in front of red-blooded American businessmen, they will fol-

low them.
There is, unfortunately, an incentive for American Airlines to do

what they need to do to keep flying out of O'Hare to Heathrow
below the threshold.

I do not think it is coincidence that British Air flies 747s from
O'Hare to Heathrow, substantially more capacity than the 767s or
MD-lls that American flies.

When we talk about wanting to be competitive with the British,

we do have existing capacity that we are not using. Certainly, one
of those examples is O'Hare-Heathrow. I want to give you another
example, Dulles.

This threshold system does not apply uniquely to O'Hare-
Heathrow. It also applies to Dulles-Heathrow. There are two au-
thorized, or there were two authorized carriers, British Air and
United, flying Dulles-Heathrow.
That threshold has been exceeded. That market is available for

another U.S. carrier to go in. And we welcome them.
The Chairman. Now, Mr. Allen, as I understand it, Delta is op-

posed to the proposed deal because it is a mini-deal, and you be-
lieve an incremental negotiating strategy is unwise.
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However, was not approval of the Delta Air linesA^irgin Atlantic
code-sharing agpreement in February of this year essentially a mini-
deal that, in terms of U.S. carriers, benefited only your airline?

Mr. Allen. Senator Pressler, I appreciate the opportunity to dis-

cuss that, particularly since it has been mentioned two or three
times, and clarify the difference. While this could be classified as
a mini-deal, it was a stand-alone deal, in that the British received,

in effect, nothing in return.

This is a case where Delta, afler the USAir-British Airways ap-
proval of the second year of that agreement in March 1994, recog-

nized that the only way we could get into the market was in some
relationship such as we struck with Virgin.

This relationship, as I said, stands alone. The British did not
achieve new route authority as a result of the fact that Delta is

now buying seats on Virgin Atlantic.

That is what this amounts to, the blocked-seat agreement, where
Delta Air Lines goes in and buys seats from the seven gateways,
into London, and those seats are on Virgin.

We did that in a competitive response, as a result of our govern-
ment's approval of the British Airways-USAir deal, but the British

received nothing else in return.

The Chairman. Mr. Crandall, according to a recent Business
Week article dated May 15, 1995, an American Airlines official is

quoted as saying American Airlines is "counting more on scotching
United's plans than getting their own new route."

This statement suggests American's opposition to the current
round of U.S.-U.K negotiations is based on parochial interests

rather than the concerns you have expressed today.

Is this statement by your official accurate, as reported?
Mr. Crandall. Mr. Pressler, I am certainly not going to deny pa-

rochial concerns. It is my duty to manage the company for the wel-

fare of our shareholders, and I do the best I can to do that.

The fact is we are operating three flights a day from Chicago
O'Hare. That is the maximum number of flights we are permitted
to operate. We are also flying, as Mr. Greenwald was kind enough
to point out, between Chicago and Birmingham, a route United
elected not to apply for.

The fact of the matter is that United, Northwest, and others

have successfully prevented us from serving Chicago—^Tokyo, and
I am not anxious to have another U.S. competitor between Chicago
and Heathrow.

Nonetheless, we are operating all the flights that the bilateral

permits us to operate, and we will continue to do our best to com-
pete to out carry British Airways.

I might make the point, British Airways—again, I made the

point that the agreement should be altered to prevent the British

from unilaterally controlling capacity. Our ability to operate to Chi-

cago is measured as a percentage of the frequencies operated by
British Airways.
So the gauging item is really how much British Airways flies,

and not how much we fly. The gauge or the size of the particular

airplanes that we use are those that we use typically in inter-

national markets.
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The Chairman. My final question, and if I may submit the rest

of my questions for the record, for anyone, do you have an opinion
as to whether renunciation of Bermuda II would be an effective

strategy in dealing with the British? What might be the full con-

sequences of renunciation?
Mr. Greenwald. I would like to try to answer that. I think that

some of this discussion strikes me as what I call warming up in

the locker room. The real game is out there.

It is between the DOT, on our side, and their counterparts in the
U.K. They are two teams, and they negotiate positions from where
they both stand.

I have heard others say, well, darn it, we do not have a balance,
and it we cannot get a balance, let us renunciate the bilaterals.

Well, let us look at what happens when there is a renunciation.
At very best, it simply confirms the status quo. That is what has

gone when France did this to the United States. The status quo ex-

ists between France and the U.S., and there are no talks going on.

Now, a more drastic version of renunciation is that we refuse to

allow the foreign carrier of country "X" to fly into the United
States. Now, of course, what do they do?
They refuse to allow our carriers to fly across to their country.

I do not think there are enough fax machines in Washington that
could take the outcry that would occur if an event like that oc-

curred.
Mr. Crandall. I, too, have an opinion. It is my judgment that

renunciation would be an effective strategy because access to the
United States is vastly more important to British Airways than is

access to the United Kingdom to any single United States carrier

or United States carriers collectively.

Mr. Greenwald outlines various unpleasant possibilities. The re-

sult of renunciation would be unpleasant; nonetheless, the existing
situation is equally so, and in my judgment, unacceptable.

British Airways, as you have seen from the Secretary's statistics,

carries a disproportionate share of the traffic between our two
countries. I think it is wonderful that British Airways has set up
a business transiting people to and from the United States across
the United Kingdom.

I do not believe that they should have as large a piece of that
action as they have, and I think U.S. carriers can get it back only
with the aggressive support of the U.S. Government.
Mr. Allen. I would like to respond to that, also, and say that,

obviously, we have been out negotiated by the British. We are to

a point where we do not really have much leverage left.

You have been asking that question before, and we are down to

a point of very little leverage. We lost most of this when our gov-
ernment approved the USAir-British Airways deal for the second
time.
Our government had stood pretty firm. We stood behind our gov-

ernment, including saying we should renounce if the British gov-
ernment is not willing to open its skies to get this deal, and unfor-
tunately, our government, we made the wrong decision, extending
this without getting anything in return for that.
We lost our leverage. And without renunciation, we really do not

have any leverage. So I would also favor renunciation.
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Mr. Erickson. Senator, I do as well concur with that view.
The Chairman. May I submit the rest of my questions for the

record, Mr. Chairman/
Senator McCain. Without objection.

Mr. Allen, I think you answered the question that Mr.
Greenwald raised about Delta having a deal.

Mr. Crandall, Mr. Greenwald also mentioned that you also had
a deal
Mr. Crandall. Not—Mr. Greenwald, I think-
Senator McCain, Would you like to respond to that?
Mr. Crandall. I think Mr. Greenwald misspoke. The opening of

the regional airports was not a by-product of negotiations between
the United States and the United Kingdom. It was a unilateral
offer by the British Transport secretary, simply making the offer

that if*^ U.S. carriers wished to serve the regional airports, they
could do so.

And I think he made it in response to very strong pressures that
were brought on the Secretary, on the Minister, by representatives
of the city of Birmingham.
We subsequently applied. United could have applied, had it

wished to apply. In that case, the U.S. Grovernment would have had
a route proceeding to decide which of us might be permitted to fly,

and, in fact, might have permitted both of us to do so. But it was
not part of the negotiations, and it was not part of any mini-deal.

Senator McCain. Mr. Crandall, Mr. Greenwald also said that
British Air flies 747s out of Chicago, you fly 767s, and you are, at
least, in effect, keeping the number of passengers down. Is that so?

Mr, Crandall. Well, I guess I would simply have to take—

I

would simply have to disagree. As Mr, Greenwald perfectly well
knows, we do not have 747s in our fleet. We do not have 747s, be-

cause we do not have a large route structure to that part of the
world, where very large airplanes, very long-range airplanes are
needed.
That is the Pacific. United Airlines and Northwest and others

have actively sought to prevent us from participating in that part
of the world. So I will make an offer.

Whenever we get Chicago-Tokyo access, we will buy larger air-

planes, either 777s or 747s, and we will be happy to use some on
London, but in the meantime, the aircraft we use are those best
suited to our system.
Mr. Greenwald. I would like to add a comment. I believe that

American is using approximately 65 to 70 percent of the available

seat capacity from Chicago to Heathrow today.
The remedies are: (a) I will introduce you to Mr. Schrontz, you

can buy some airplanes from Boeing, they are laying off 12,000 peo-
ple today, or (b) put a competitor in, and we will fly 777s out of

O'Hare to Heathrow,
Senator McCain. Thank you, Mr. Greenwald. Mr. Greenwald,

there is a copy of Aviation Daily, Wednesday, May 24, and it is en-

titled, "United Says Chicago-Heathrow Service Is Constrained To
Keep Out Competition." It says, "According to Chairman and CEO
Gerald Greenwald, Bermuda II specifies that when the authorized
carriers, American and British Airways, exceed in carrying thresh-
olds of 600,000"—it goes on.
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At the end it says, "Greenwald said the airline has been able to

put together a 'strong political base' that he noted was 'unfortu-

nately necessary' to make its case."

What is your strong political base, Mr. Greenwald?
Mr. Greenwald. I did make that statement. I made it primarily,

because I wanted to highlight the unfortunate politicizing of what
should be primarily an economic matter, a negotiated matter be-
tween the DOT and their counterparts in the U.K
Now, I am not going to embarrass anybody, but it is now only

about five or 6 weeks ago when I received a call from someone who
ought to know, and who said your case on the threshold is sound,
the economic analysis that justifies that this is good for the United
States proves the whole point, but the other guys have 20 Con-
gressmen who are writing letters, and you need 25.

And I think that says a lot of bad things about the process. We
created 25 letters.

Senator McCain. So you put together a strong political base.
That does not mean that you put together a strong political base
within the administration.
Mr. Greenwald. That does not mean that we—^you are abso-

lutely right. I do not remember the count, but it was, if anything,
more balanced on the other side of the floor.

Senator McCain. There are allegations that you were intimately
involved in these negotiations with the British on this proposed
agreement, mini-agreement.
Mr. Greenwald. I am sorry, but do you have a question, sir.

Senator McCain. Is that true?
Mr. Greenwald. That we were involved in the negotiations?
Senator McCain. Yes.
Mr. Greenwald. No. That is against the law.
Senator McCain. Pardon me?
Mr. Greenwald. No. That is not true, and that is against the

United States law.
Senator McCain. You stated—I did not read it in your state-

ment, but vou stated you believe in open markets, equal access for

everyone, foir competition, et cetera.

How does that coincide with your total and complete opposition
and assembling of a strong political base in opposition to lifting the
perimeter rule that prevents anybody flying more than 1,250 miles
from National Airport, Mr. Greenwald?
Mr. Greenwald. I believe no economic analysis was done to

measure that proposal by anyone in Washington. We have
done
Senator McCain. Economic analysis on lifting the perimeter

rule?

Mr. Greenwald. Yes. I think the outcome of such an analysis
would dernonstrate that there would be relatively little flying from
National, short-haul flying, because it would be more profitable for

the airlines, with limited slots, to fly long range. And that second,
it would undermine the Dulles Airport.
Senator McCain. Well, that flies in the face of the facts. What

you have decided is that you are going to support an artificial bar-
rier to people flying long distances from National Airport, because
you got a better deal at Dulles Airport.
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That contradicts many of your statements, Mr. Greenwald, that
you are somehow for free, open markets and competition.
And congratulations on your assembHng of a strong poHtical

base, as you said, so that the perimeter rule will probably be kept
in effect, thereby maintaining an artificial barrier to competition,
and an artificial barrier to American citizens from being able to fly

from one place to another.
Mr. Greenwald. Mr. Chairman, if an economic analysis were

done by a third party of the U.S. Government that demonstrated
that lifting the periphery rule would be beneficial to the United
States, we would stand aside.

Senator McCain. Mr. Greenwald, no artificial barrier to markets
make economic sense. If you believe in deregulation in inter-

national routes, sir, you should believe in deregulation and removal
of artificial barriers to markets domestically.

Senator Hutchison.
Senator Hutchison. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
There has been a proposal put on the table that would allow the

four dormant authorities that now exist for access to Heathrow to

be switched to cities that would like to use them. Philadelphia, St.

Paul, Detroit, and Seattle are the dormant ones, and I would like

to ask any of you who would like to comment on whether you think
that would be a fair proposal, and one that should be pursued by
the United States?
Mr. Crandall. I think, Senator, that if, in fact, the United

States has a right that it cannot now use, and it can put that right

in a different place and use it, it would be better off. It ought not
to be, however, something that we have to buy incrementally.

If the United States is authorized to have "X" cities and we only
have "Y" cities serving Heathrow, it seems to me that the United
States ought to be free to move those around. I do not think we
ought to have to pay extra for that, but it is a way to get at the
question of Heathrow access.

Senator Hutchison. Mr. Greenwald.
Mr. Greenwald. I believe a practical answer is that it is un-

likely the U.K. will simply say do what you want.
Senator Hutchison. Well, I think it is unlikely that the U.K is

going to deal with us as long as everyone considers that we have
no leverage, and we do not oo the things that would create lever-

age.

So in trying to fashion something that would open some competi-
tion, it seems to me that this would be a potential for United also

to have the access to O'Hare, and also allow other carriers to use
these dormant routes from other cities.

It would seem to me that that might be something on which we
could have a united front, and ask the Department of Transpor-
tation to take up. Is that a fair statement?
Mr. Greenwald. Senator, I fully agree with you. I do not know

that they are here. My understanding is that that is a subject they
intend to take up in the next phase.
Senator Hutchison. Phase two?
Mr. Greenwald. Yes.

Senator Hutchison. Well, let me just ask you this. Do you feel

that it is—well, I heard all of your opinions on renouncing Ber-
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muda II as one of our ways to create leverage. I think that cer-

tainly is a way to create leverage.

If the Department of Transportation chose not to do that, would
a fallback position be that these issues, which we have discussed,
all occur in phase one, so that there is not a future for the few
things that are on the table that everyone seems to want, which
is Fly America and increased access to Heathrow, and with per-

haps the use of the dormant routes? Could we all agree that put-
ting that into phase one might create whatever bit of leverage we
might have?
Mr. Erickson. Senator, that is certainly my view, that we ought

to get all of the options, many of which you have mentioned, on the
table, get a comprehensive deal right now, and that we get away
from this phase one, phase two business, and be stuck with a phase
two that is unlikely to achieve any success.

Mr. Crandall. Senator, I want to come back to a point that I

think the Chairman raised, and that perhaps you have commented
on.

I sincerely hope that this committee and the Congress will make
a serious demand on the Department of Transportation for a seri-

ous analysis of the economic implications of these transactions, and
of all international aviation transactions.

In my judgment, even a combined phase one and phase two will

be dramatically favorable for the British.

I mean I do not think we have to argue a whole lot about this.

The data shows that British Airways has a vastly disproportionate

share of traffic. They have that traffic, because they have a whole
plethora of rights and authorities that U.S. carriers do not have.
Now, rolling phases one and two of this so-called mini-deal to-

gether would be better than splitting phase one and phase two, but
even phase one and phase two together will, in my judgment, fur-

ther worsen the relationship, the balance of trade, if you will, in

aviation, between the United States and the United Kingdom.
Senator Hutchison. Mr. Greenwald.
Mr. Greenwald. I would like to make clear that we at United

are quite prepared to stand behind an economic analysis of phase
one. And if the answer states that it is net good for the United
States, not United, go forward. And if it says it is not, stop.

Now, I am told, and I have never seen this, that the DOT has
conducted such an analysis. We alone have tried to do our own,
and we think that there is a very strong answer.
But I think they are now going to provide that information to the

committee, and you-all will have a chance to judge it for yourself.

I think all future bilateral negotiations should be judged on the
economic analysis of each deal, and that the airlines ought to get
out of the way. And if it is right for the United States, we ought
to do it. And if it is not, we should not.

And finally, it is unfortunate that there is an unbalanced rela-

tionship that goes to history between the U.S. and the U.K., but
I submit to you that if it were on the other—if it were turned up-
side down, would the United States volunteer to redress the bal-

ance9
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I doubt it very much, and I know of some other markets where
it is reversed, and we are not volunteering, and I would say—and
we should not.

Mr. Crandall. I wonder if I could comment. In fact, the United
States probably would. [Laughter.]
Mr. Crandall. If you look at the history of international aviation

since World War II, and if you look explicitly at the U.S.-U.K bi-

lateral, the United Kingdom renounced the agreement.
Secretary Pena said this morning that the United States reluc-

tantly agreed to a new restrictive agreement. It did not need to.

The United States prior to that revision of the first Bermuda
agreement had a very favorable balance, a very favorable agree-
ment with the United Kingdom. The fact is we simply have not
used our leverage, Senators, and we should.

Mr. Allen. May I add that we feel we have done the same thing.

Senator, in the agreement between the United States and Grer-

many. We had an open sky agreement.
That agreement is now closed for the next few years, with a hope

and a promise that the German government will come forward and
talk about open skies at the end of the 4-year deal. There is no
guarantee of that.

We did that, because, as I understand it, the Grerman govern-
ment came to us and said Lufthansa needs some help. They struck

a commercial relationship with United, which is fine, but in doing
so, we feel that our government should not have closed the skies,

in effect, in what was a liberal agreement.
May I add one thing to what you said? I think certainly combin-

ing phase one and phase two is helpful, but I would agree it is a
very small step, in light of the lack of balance we have in the U.S.-
U.K. bilateral today.

As you can see from the discussion on this panel, I think British

Airways and the British government has done a very good job of

dividing and conquering the United States aviation interests, and
it is time that our government stood back from a reactionary mode,
and studied what is in our best long-term interest in dealings with
the British government, and go to the British government with
those kinds of demands, including renunciation, if necessary.

Senator McCain. Including using other leverage in other mar-
kets and other industries, if necessary, I would suggest, since there

is such enormous imbalance at this time, as far as strictly aviation

is concerned.
Senator HuTCfflSON. Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask, and I

will submit this for the record, but I think it is important, when
we hear from the Department of Transportation about the benefit

to the United States, the economic analysis, that we also look for

the alternative cities, as if we took, say, the four dormant routes,

and gave those to the cities that want access, and would use

routes.

I think we need an alternative economic analysis of the benefit

of that approach, as well as the economic benefit analysis of just

increasing the share of cities that already are served between
America and Heathrow on American carriers.

Senator McCaen. I agree.



110

Senator Hutchison. So I would submit that and would like to

have that done by the Department of Transportation.

Senator McCain. I also wonder, in the context of what we were
just saying, if the U.S. Trade Representative should perhaps be the
person or office conducting these negotiations, giving that office a
broader scope of responsibility. I think that is something that we
ought to look at in the long term.
Thank you, Senator Hutchison.
Just finally, I would like to ask all four panelists that if this

deal, the so-called mini-deal, is agreed to by the administration,

what remaining leverage does the United States have, within the
airline industry and within airline issues, to try to achieve the
goals that we seek to balance the playing field?

Mr. Allen.
Mr. Allen. Mr. Chairman, I really think we have very little left.

I would say the No. 1 interest on the part of British Airways would
be further ownership rights under U.S. Air, but beyond that, I do
not see much.
Senator McCain. Mr. Greenwald.
Mr. Greenwald. I believe there are four, three of which were

mentioned by the panel before us, which I will repeat and add one.

There is going to come a time, my guess is it will be longer than
sooner, when BA and U.S. Air are ready to propose a further in-

volvement by BA in U.S. Air.

I say longer, only because I have lived through the time it takes,

it took 8 years in our case to arrive at employee ownership, and
that is part of what U.S. Air is doing in the meantime.

Second, certainly, they would like the opportunity to waive anti-

trust rules, so their new relationship could be tighter and more ad-

vantageous. Third, cabotage is something that is out there.

I mean the clearest way I can say it is, the U.S. market is no
longer regulated, this goes back to the seventies, but the inter-

national markets, and flying in and out of other countries certainly

is still regulated. Cabotage is an issue.

And fourth, I would submit that Fly America is one other one
that is of interest to British Airways, because I believe what is

going on here is the potential for them to bid is a great big bucket.
I do not know if it is $134 million a year. What is in phase one

is a couple of drops out of that bucket, and there is a lot more
there. And I think, therefore, there are these four issues.

Senator McCain. Thank you.
Mr. Erickson.
Mr. Erickson. Well, Senator, I would just say that none of those

issues is of sufficient magnitude, I think, to have any meaningful
liberalization of Heathrow access in phase two, and I am very con-

cerned about that, which is why I am pushing for a comprehensive
approach.
Senator McCain. Mr. Crandall.
Mr. Crandall. I think we have little, if anything, left, Mr.

Chairman. I do not believe British Airways wants any further own-
ership of USAir. They certainly do not need it to get the traffic ben-
efits, which flow from the code share, not from ownership.
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Waiving antitrust rules would be valuable for any combination,
but we have had some very clear indications that the government
is not prepared to do that beyond Northwest^KLM.
We hope the Northwest/KLM grant will be carefully examined.

Cabotage is less valuable than code sharing, so I cannot imagine
why anybody would want to substitute cabotage for code sharing.
And finally, I agree with Mr. Greenwald, in a sense, that the Fly

America pot is a big pot, and any revenue that BA manages to get
will be very profitable revenue, because they will put it on existing

airplanes, and simply raise their yield.

But even the $135 million magnitude of it does not approach the
value of preserving fortress Heathrow.

If I could just offer a very brief comment with respect to some-
thing Senator Pressler said, you had asked about process. Senator.
One of the important points, and I think this is one area where

my colleagues and I agree, when two teams of negotiators go to the
table for an international aviation negotiation, they are not equal.
The British side brings British Airways with them. Our side leaves
us home.
We have lon^ felt, and this is one of the great difficulties of the

United States, is that we have a huge economy and competitive air-

lines, so we do not always agree. Nonetheless, we are excluded
from those negotiations.

As you can tell from the intensity of our testimony this morning,
we are intimately and very deeply involved in them. We would like

to be on the team, and we think it is time and past time that was
done.
Senator Hutchison. Has that always been the case?
Mr. Crandall. Senator, I am not enough of a historian to say,

but I believe the answer is yes.

Senator Hutchison. Since your time
Mr. Crandall. In my time, in my years in the airline, the U.S.

airlines have been excluded from the negotiating teams.
Mr. Greenwald. I would just like to—I fi-ankly think that send-

ing all of us to join a U.S. delegation negotiating with another
country, it would be a mistake, unless tne process changes. I mean
to me it is the equivalent of why parents do not bring their kids

on vacation, if they are too unruly.
We have to find a means by which the government can fi-eely

make its decisions in the best interests of the Nation. And I, again,

submit that the answer to that is an economic analysis each and
every time.

And each of us potentially, if there is way to share it confiden-

tially, should have a chance to critique that analysis, and then it

gets done, and we get out of the way.
Senator McCain. Thank you.
Are there any closing comments, Mr. Allen or Mr. Erickson?
Mr. Allen. If I may just address that last point, our experience

has been one of concern, based on what I feel is a lack of expertise

and experience on the part of some of our U.S. negotiators.

They are good people, but they do not have the same level of ex-

pertise and understanding as the British or the Germans, and we
have lost ground in every one of these negotiations probably be-

cause of that fact.



112

Senator McCain. Let me just comment, I think the record is

clear that the recent negotiations that were just concluded were not
in the interest of the country, so I think certainly the historical

record will bolster your argument.
Mr. Erickson, do you have any final comments?
Mr. Erickson. Well, I agree. Certainly, we would like the oppor-

tunity to participate in some stage of the negotiations.
Economic analysis is very important, and certainly our situation

is different from the United Kingdom, where you have a dominant
carrier. I kind of like our system better.

Senator McCain. Well, I do not want to waste time either, but
also the reality is, especially when you are dealing with countries
like Japan and other European countries, they have career bureau-
crats and career professionals who engage in these negotiations,
and we have this turnover that does not give us perhaps the same
kind of benefits at the negotiating table that others have.

I thank you all very much, and I appreciate your being here, and
most of all, I want to apologize again for the delay in your testi-

mony. Thank you.
Senator McCain. My apologies to you that I extended to the pre-

vious panel. It is just one of those days when we are besieged with
a large number of votes.

I am not expecting sympathy, but I was just informed we are
going to have about 20 votes beginning around 1:45 to 2:00. So I

am looking forward to that.

Perhaps, Mr. Weidemeyer, you would begin with your testimony.

STATEMENT OF THOMAS H. WEmEMEYER, PRESffiENT AND
CEO, UNITED PARCEL SERVICE CO.

Mr. Weidemeyer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and distinguished
members of this subcommittee. My name is Tom Weidemeyer, and
I am the President and Chief Operating Officer of UPS Airlines,

which is the airline subsidiary of United Parcel Service of America
Inc., the largest package transportation company not only in the
United States but throughout the world.

I am grateful for the opportunity on behalf of UPS to appear be-
fore you today. I would also like to take the opportunity to thank
Senator Ford, even though he is absent at this point, fi-om the
great State of Kentucky, the home state of the UPS Airline—we
are headquartered in Louisville—and thank him for his ongoing
support of U.S. aviation interests throughout the years.
And as prior folks have done, I would request that my previously

submitted full statement be made part of the record.

Senator McCain. Without objection, Mr. Weidemeyer.
Mr. Weidemeyer. Thank you.
I have an interesting comment to make to open my remarks, and

perhaps it will set the tone for what I am about to say as I para-
phrase my written statement. As I look around me, I recognize that
going last has benefits and detriments.

Certainly, going last, you get to have the opportunity to have the
last word. And when we have distinguished panelists like we had
on the prior panel, it is tough to get the last word if you are with
them.
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On the downside, however, is the audience disappears. And what
you have to say does not necessarily get the attention it should.
And my concern with that is that I think that this, unfortu-

nately, is a significant event that shows that the secondary status
that express and cargo interests have been afforded, not only today
in the typical, bilateral negotiation process that takes place.
The world is rapidly changing. Orders, both political and eco-

nomic, are coming down. The rate of global change is increasing at
a blistering pace. Individuals and businesses involved in this

change know it and live it every day.
Information and financial resources already flow freely around

the world, while the movement of people and goods that support
them are too often restricted by archaic and protectionistic rules

and regulations.

Globalization is inevitable, and nationalistic constraints will not
be able to stop it. We must accept this fact and seek new ways to

benefit from this new environment. Agreements, such at GATT and
NAFTA, recognize this change.
My statement amplifies our concerns and recommendations, but

I would like to digress to tell a story, one that is relevant to discus-

sions you have had here today. It is a story of change, rather than
status quo. It is also a story of success and growth, rather than
protectionism.

The air express/air cargo industry as it has evolved is one of the
real success stories in the annals of American business. Cargo de-

regulation a mere short 17 years ago in the United States led to

the development of a new and vibrant industry.

In our business, we consider each package a guest of honor. That
being understand, we impact more individuals and businesses on
a daily basis than anybody realizes. For, you see, a wide body cargo
aircraft may contain as many as 1,500 packages, substantially

more guests than on any passenger aircraft.

What impact has this deregulation had on the U.S. economy? On
a daily basis, approaching four million letters, documents, packages
and air freight shipments move in the systems of the major express

carriers each and every day, traffic that is both domestic and inter-

national.

In regards to UPS, we are an airline that came into existence

just a short 7 years ago. And in that time, because of the ability

to compete unfettered but in a fair way, we have been able to de-

velop into an airline that operates 176 jet aircraft and now employs
in excess of 13,000 people in Louisville, Kentucky, the head-

quarters of our airline.

Similar stories exist with the other express carriers. Our experi-

ence with the expanded opportunities to Germany have reinforced

our belief that open skies with regard to all cargo rights should be
our ultimate goal.

We know we can flourish in an environment of fair and unfet-

tered competition. Our ability to obtain rights to fly to Asia has led

to the development of a substantial UPS cargo hub in Anchorage,
Alaska.

In a new world where information exchange is virtually seam-
less, a worldwide bilateral aviation system comprised of 1,200 sepa-



114

rate agreements cannot possibly cope with the economic realities of

today.
For years, UPS has supported, and continues to support, the con-

cept of open skies and the attempted liberalization of cargo rights
through expanded bilateral or multilateral agreements with mem-
bers of the European Union, including the United Kingdom. In ad-
dition, the President's National Airline Commission supported this

position.

Last year, the U.K. House of Commons Transport Committee
made the following recommendation for the resumption of talks
with the United States, and I quote, "Our principal recommenda-
tion is that the United Kingdom government should offer an imme-
diate, deal with no strings attached, involving total liberalization

of access to United Kingdom regional airports and, in respect to

freight-only services, the removal of all restrictions on fifth freedom
rights."

This seemed to be a common sense approach. Do not let the easi-

er issues bog down the discussion of the difficult ones.

What a surprise to us when we were informed that cargo was not
part of the mini-deal that we have talked about today. One won-
ders the relative importance that cargo plays in our negotiating
strategy, despite the impact it has on our economy, as I stated ear-
lier, even in the situation where a U.K. Parliament panel had rec-

ommended that cargo be liberalized completely before talks began
on the rest of the issues.

I think that I can safely predict that if your subcommittee were
to make significant recommendation that supported a U.K. priority,

the U.K negotiators would have it on their short list. Clearly, the
voice of cargo has not been heard.
So what would we at UPS like to see? First, since liberalization

of all cargo rights appears to be common ground for agreement
with the United Kingdom, we would recommend that a prompt clo-

sure of this issue be pursued.
With that accomplished, the negotiations can focus on the real is-

sues where agreement, even in principle, has apparently not been
reached.

Second, UPS will continue to firmly support our government's ef-

fort to negotiate a liberal, open skies agreement with our like-

minded international aviation partners.
Given the experience of cargo deregulation here in the United

States and recent agreements with countries such as Germany, it

is being shown that all cargo industry can effectively deal with the
challenges of fair and unfettered competition.

Indeed, I would not be sitting here before you today representing
a UPS airline but for the deregulation that took place in all cargo
17 years- ago.

In closing, it is important to recognize what we in the private in-

dustry have come to realize over the past decade, the world is

shrinking. A global economy is replacing local and regional econo-
mies as a driving force. And with these changes, the customer
reigns supreme.
So in this arena, what does the customer ultimately want? A

question that we have not asked today. The customer, whether a
passenger or a shipper of goods, wants and expects unrestricted op-
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tions with the quality service and cost benefits inherent in any
competitive environment.
To give them less stifles the ability of the economies of both par-

ties to a bilateral agreement, to grow and prosper globally. More
importantly, to give them less clearly does not serve the public ben-
efit.

Thank you, and I am available for questions at the appropriate
time.
Senator McCain. Thank you, Mr. Weidemeyer. Your testimony is

that your business has been given second tier priority throughout
your experience.
Mr. Weidemeyer. Yes, sir.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Weidemeyer follows:]

Testimony of Thomas H. Weidemeyer

Good morning, Mr. Chairman and distii^ished members of this Subcommittee.
My name is Thomas H. Weidemeyer and lam the President and Chief Operating
Officer of United Parcel Service Co., the airline subsidiary of UPS. I am grateful
for this opportunity to appear before you to talk about our government's inter-

national aviation policy, how it is developed and whether it sufficiently prepares us
for the future.

The world is rapidly changing. Borders—both political and economic—are coming
down. The rate oi glolbal change is increasing at a blistering pace. The individuals
and businesses involved in this change know it and live it every day.

It is time for governments to recognize this and react in a way that helps, rather
than hinders, global development. Information and financial resources already flow
freely around the world, while the movement of people and goods that support them
are too often restricted by archaic and protectionist rules and regulations.

Globalization is inevitable and nationalistic constraints will not be able to stop it.

We must accept this fact and seek new ways to benefit from this new environment.
Once you understand these changes, there seems to be a disconnect between the

nations of this world wanting free trade on the one hand, as evidenced by GATT
and NAFTA, and, on the other hand, wanting to continue to restrict perhaps the
most important means of facilitating free trade—namely, air transportation. In less

than 10 years, UPS has gone from a domestic U.S. carrier to one that now serves

more than 200 countries and territories for the delivery of documents, small pack-
ages and traditional air cargo.

International air transportation is the primary reason for this because it allows

businesses around the world to participate in the global economy faster and more
efficiently through carriers such as UPS. From a startup airline in 1987, UPS now
operates 176 jet aircraft to 11 different countries. In addition, other carriers operate
our aircraft to three countries where we do not have the necessary bilateral rights

to operate. UPS is now one of the largest airlines in the world. Tnis rapid growth
is all the more amazing considering the amount of regulatory hurdles that are in

the way.
Although our current operations are running smoothly in the U.K., it has not al-

ways been that way, due in large part to the bilateral relationship between the

United States and the United Kingdom. You may notice that I did not refer to the

bilateral agreement, but rather the bilateral relationship. I did this to point out the

fact that it is the bilateral system, not necessarily the aviation agreements them-
selves, that are the problem. Let me give you an example to illustrate. Two years

ago, UPS decided to move its United Kingdom operations from the Stansted airport

north of London (where very few airlines want to operate) to the East Midlands air-

port about 150 miles northwest of London (which very few people have ever heard
oO.
Under the U.S-U.K. aviation agreement, known as Bermuda II, UPS is one of

only three U.S. carriers designated to serve the United Kingdom with fifth freedom
beyond rights. This is very important to UPS because our U.K. flight moves beyond
to our primary European air hub in Cologne, (jermany. In 1980, Bermuda II was
liberalized by what is known as Annex 5, which basically allowed more than three

carriers to be designated for service to the U.K. (although only the first three could

utilize fifth freedom rights) and did away with the specific point for services require-

ments under Bermuda II. In essence, a U.S. or U.K. cargo operator was not limited

to the four or five cities specified under Bermuda II.
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This designation was integral to our decision to move to East Midlands. However,
when we approached the U.K. DOT, they informed us that we would have to be re-

designated by the United States under provisions of the agreement and that would
cause us to lose our fifth freedom rights to Germany. They said that East Midlands
was not one of the points designated for those services under Bermuda 11, although
Annex 5 did away with that requirement.
We approached our own U.S. DOT to help us solve this misinterpretation of the

agreement and were told the United Kingdom was right. This was how the agree-
ment was interpreted and they would be happy to redesignate us as directed by the
U.K. DOT. Imagine our surprise to have two English speaking government agencies
unable* to read what was, in our opinion, very plain English. As it turned out, using
the East Midlands airport director and some back-home Member of Parliament con-
tacts, we were able to convince the U.K. DOT that our interpretation was correct
and we were finally allowed to move our operations with no restrictions.

This example underscores the fact that it is often the relationship, not just the
agreement, that causes the problems. The U.S.-U.K. relationship is an old one, with
a well-defined choreography. The parties to this bilateral dance seem to be very
comfortable with the music being played and very familiar with the steps being
taken by the other partner. And that's the problem. We would not have a NAFTA
or GATT if we were following the same old dance steps. Why, then, do we allow
this to continue for international air transportation? In order to make a significant

change, it will take higher level policy changes than those outlined by the DOT in

the recently released International Policy Statement. In a new world where informa-
tion exchange is virtually seamless, a worldwide bilateral aviation system comprised
of 1200 separate agreements cannot possibly cope with the economic realities of
today.
For years, UPS has supported and continues to support the concept of open skies

and the attempted liberalization of cargo rights throu^ expanded bilateral or multi-
lateral agreements with members of the European Union, including the United
Kingdom. In addition, the President's National Airline Commission supported this

position.

In the current rounds of bilateral negotiations with the United Kingdom, the
United States government has developed a strategy that separates a potential
agreement into short-term priorities and medium and long-term issues to take up
once the short-term priorities are resolved. Last year, the U.K. House of Commons
Transport Committee made the following recommendation for resumption of talks
with the United States:

"Our principal recommendation is that the U.K. Government should offer an im-
mediate deal, with no strings attached, involving total liberalization of access
to U.K. regional airports and, in respect of freight-only services, the removal of
all restrictions on fifth freedom rights, so that both sides can reap the benefits
these measures would produce; these proposals would be decoupled from the
main negotiations and should be considered on their own merits, irrespective of
the prospects for agreement on the remaining issues."

This seemed to be a common-sense approach: don't let the easier issues get bogged
down in the discussion of the difficult ones.
What a surprise to us when we were informed that cargo was not on the short-

term list of priorities for the U.S.-U.K. talks, although regional airport liberaliza-

tion was. We were reassured at a February meeting where this strategy was first

unveiled that a final decision had not been made. However, with regards to cargo,
it apparently had been made because we are still on the second list. Now, one might
say, "at least you are on the second list, so you should not complain." When you
are consistently on the second list negotiation after negotiation, one wonders the rel-

ative importance that cargo plays in our negotiating strategy—even in a situation
where a U.K. Parliament panel had recommended that cargo be liberalized com-
pletely before talks begin on the rest of the issues.

I think that I can safely predict that if your Subcommittee were to make a signifi-

cant recommendation that sijpported a U.K. priority, the U.K. negotiators would
have that on their short list. There clearly needs to be better coordination and con-
sultation with the all-cai^o industry before strategies are developed. Despite several
attempts in the past, the scheduled all-cargo industry's major voice, the Air Freight
Association, has never been allowed to participate as part of the U.S. delegation to
negotiations, even after repeated attempts by its President to become involved. Indi-
vidual carriers may now participate as part of the delegation and this is a positive
step and is welcomed. On the other hand, having the input fi-om an industry voice
as well would be beneficial to our negotiators.
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With respect to some of the other issues involved in these talks, let me briefly
summarize our thoughts. First, with regards to the Fly America Act, UPS believes
that.as a general rule, the customer should be allowed to decide who they use. Arti-
ficial constraints in the form of protectionist laws hurt the customer, and in the end,
hurt the carrier because a foreign country is more apt to institute similar or more
stringent protections for its carriers. The marketplace should decide. There are
many ways to incent a CRAF program or give CRAF participants priority. With re-

gards to beyond rights for cargo, we are currently limited to just four points (Bel-
gium, Netherlands, Germany, and Turkey). This does not give us the flexibility we
need to meet customer demand and make changes in our current operating pattern.

All of this is not to say that the recent DOT policy initiatives will not get us closer

to where we need to be. As exemplified by the recent open skies initiatives with the
nine target countries in Europe, headway can be made with Uke-minded trading
partners. But what the policy cannot do is guarantee that we can change the way
we are doing business with those who are not like-minded. That is what has to hap-
pen for us to be successful in a competitive global economy. If we continue to speak
about the future in today's vocabulary—or continue to negotiate in the same old
fashion with certain trading partners, we will never reach a truly free trade envi-
ronment.

So, what would we at UPS like to see? First, since liberalization of all-cargo rights
appears to be common ground for agreement with the United Kingdom, we would
recommend that a prompt closure of this issue be pursued. With that accomplished,
the negotiations can focus on the real issues where agreement, even in principle,

has not been reached. Second, we at UPS will continue to firmly support our govern-
ment's effort to negotiate a liberal open skies agreements with our like-minded
international aviation partners.
However, other creative attempts to deal with a changing world, such as the pur-

suit of multilateral agreements, must be vigorously pushed forward. Initial efforts

should still focus on an agreement with the EU on all-cargo. The majority of agree-
ments with EU Member States have liberal cargo provisions so the finish line on
such a deal is much closer and attainable.

Given the experience of cargo deregulation here in the United States and recent

agreements with countries such as Germany, it is being shown that the all-cargo

industry can effectively deal with the challenges of fair and unfettered competition.
Indeed, I would not be here before you today representing the UPS Airline but for

the deregulation of the all-cargo industry 17 years ago.

In closing, it is important to recognize what we in the private industry have come
to realize over the past decade. The world is shrinking. A global economy is replac-

ing local and regional economies as a driving force. And with these changes, the cus-

tomer reigns supreme. So, in this arena, what does the customer ultimately want?
The customer, whether a passenger or a shipper of goods, wants and expects unre-
stricted options with the quality, service and cost benefits inherent in any competi-
tive environment. To give them less stifles the ability of the economies of both par-

ties to a bilateral agreement to grow and prosper globally. More importantly, to give

them less clearly does not serve the public benefit.

Thank you.

Senator McCain. Mr. Doughty, welcome.

STATEMENT OF GEORGE F. DOUGHTY, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
LEfflGH-NORTHHAMPTON AIRPORT AUTHORITY

Mr. Doughty. Mr. Chairman, members of the committee, my
name is George Doughty, Executive Director of the Lehigh-
Northhampton Airport Authority. And I appreciate the opportunity

to be here today to provide the views of airports and communities.
You have received our written comments, which I hope will be

provided for the record.

Senator McCain. Without objection.

Mr. Doughty. I want to point out that those comments are en-

dorsed by the following airports and communities: Houston, Mem-
phis, Phoenix, Kansas City, Las Vegas, Portland, Dallas-Fort

Worth, and Minneapolis-St. Paul.
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They likely are supported by others, but in the time of getting
them, two people for comment and endorsement, not all are in-

cluded.
I do, however, want to point out that neither the written com-

ments or my remarks this morning are the policy of USA-BIAS or
ACI-North America or any other organization.

In the written testimony, we have made the following key points,
and I will be very brief.

One, we favor liberalized open skies re^mes in all international
markets. We believe this brings competition and service advan-
tages to the greatest number of U.S. cities and regions and their
citizens.

Second, we believe that the government in the last 2 years has
made ^eat strides toward this goal with the Canadian agreement
and with the nine-country European initiative. Clearly, these are
remarkable achievements.

Third, we believe the economic benefits of improved international
air service to communities should be given priority over short-term
benefits for particular airline companies.
While incremental negotiations may be necessary and appro-

priate at times, we raise two questions with regard to the proposed
mini-deal with the United Kingdom. First, are there significant
benefits to U.S. consumers and communities? And second, does this

agreement lead us toward our goal of open skies with the United
Kingdom?

If the answer to each of these questions is no, and we suggest
it might be, then in the proposed agreements we would urge
changes to assure that these criteria are met.

In the interest of time, Mr. Chairman, I will conclude my re-

marks at this point and be happy to respond to any questions.
Senator McCain. Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Doughty follows:]

Prepared Statement of George F. Doughty

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, my name is George Doughty,
Executive Director, Lehigh-Northampton Airport Authority, and I appreciate the op-
portunity to appear here today before the Senate Commerce Committee, Subcommit-
tee on Aviation.

As an airport director, I have been involved in the international aviation bilateral
negotiations process for many years, including as part of my current duties. I have
also participated in the process in previously held positions as Director of Aviation
for the Cities of Denver and Cleveland. I am also a past Chairman of Airports Coun-
cil International-North America and an active participant in its U.S. International
Air Service Program. In addition, I was a founding member of the United States
Airports for Better International Air Services, more commonly referred to as USA-
BIAS. This loosely knit and somewhat informal group of-approximately 30 cities has
been at the forefront of initiatives supporting liberalization of air services between
the United States and its trading partners.

I am here- today again representing community interests, and while I do not rep-
resent the views of either organization, my testimony is supported by many of the
members of both ACI-NA and USA-BIAS. I can assure you that the bilateral air
service agreement negotiating process and our participation in it is very important
to us.

Today, I want to express our views on very specific areas of your investigation.
First, the policy and process issues, and the importance of broad liberal air service

agreements.
Second, mini-deals in general, and the inherent dangers of such deals, particularly

with large and sophisticated trading partners such as the British; and
Third, the current U.S.-U.K. mini-deal.
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1. The Policy and Process Issue

International aviation is a critical engine in the economies of U.S. communities.
It has been estimated by the GATT and the World Tourism Organization that trade
in services now amounts to in excess of 10 trillion annually, while travel and tour-

ism generates 3.5 trillion dollars, or 10 percent of the annual world output of goods
and services. Additionally, travel and tourism now accounts for 1 in 9 jobs world-

wide.
From a travel and tourism perspective, it should be noted that the United States

accounts for 40 percent of world travel. Consequently, we are dealing with very
large economic impacts. In terms of the typical community, it has been estimated
that, depending on the size of aircraft serving a city pair market, a new inter-

national transatlantic service can have a first year economic impact on a U.S. city

of between $270 and $400 million (direct and indirect). Therefore, airports, as eco-

nomic engines for the communities of our countries, are fiercely interested in bring-

ing new international airline services into our cities.

Historically, however, this substantial economic impact has gone largely ignored
and the government has focused on assuring that no new service is provided unless
U.S. carriers provide most of it. New service to a new U.S. gateway will have the
economic impact in the hundreds of millions of dollars, regardless of the nationality

of the carrier. The additional direct economic benefit, however, to the U.S. economy
should it be flown by a U.S. rather than a foreign carrier is arguably less than ten
million dollars (primarily the value of flight crew labor).

It is for that very reason that USA-BIAS was founded, and has worked hard to

focus attention on the real benefits of the liberalization of air services between the
United States and various of its trading partners. We feel we have been somewhat
successful in our efforts, and the Department of Transportation should be com-
mended for their continuing long-term strategies that have resulted in the new Ca-
nadian Bilateral and U.S.-Group of 9 European Countries "of)en skies" agreements.
These agreements, I believe, provide primary benefits to the users of air service and
will substantially stimulate the economies of all of the nations involved. In the case
of Canada, this was done despite the fact that U.S. carriers will not—the full benefit

of the agreement until later. Correctly, the balance of benefits concept was set aside
in favor of broader public goals.

2. Mini-deals in General

Because of the importance of true liberalization, airports and their communities
have tended to shy away from mini-deals, notwithstanding our recognition that,

under certain circumstances, they are "the only game in town."
But, having said that, I believe that the U.S. must be extremely cautious when

considering these deals, particularly in Europe now that there are "open skies"

agreements with the Netherlands, and similar agreements soon to be signed with
the G-9. We should not want to reduce the pressure on other European countries
such as Germany, France, and the United Kingdom. They are the largest and
among the most restrictive European traffic markets.

In general, when mini-deals are to be negotiated, that negotiation should be char-
acterized by the following principles if possible:

a. They should be negotiated in public, and under the direction of the U.S.
Government.

b. The negotiation should be for rights for cities and carriers, with the stipu-

lation that the city(s) and carrier(s) will be selected at a later date, based on
the best community/carrier service proposals. Again, a good example of this was
the recent U.S.-Canada transition agreement wherein the U.S. gained limited

rights, and allowed carriers and cities to bid on those rights.

c. Mini-deals should not be undertaken with major trading partners at the ex-

pense of negotiating leverage that the U.S. will need later in order to satisfy

a broader public interest. In other words, mini-deals should enhance our ability

to achieve liberalized agreements not inhibit it.

3. The U.S.-U.K. Mini-deal

Let me start by stating that obviously the current U.S.-U.K. mini-deal does not
meet the above criteria. The Question then is, is it in the public interest and will

it help or hurt our efforts to acnieve a liberal regime? Frankly, except for the unlim-
ited access to the regional U.K. airports, the benefits are minimal, but I should ac-

knowledge that if I were representing Chicago, Washington or Philadelphia I would
suggest to you that they were just fine.
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The North Atlantic aviation market is comprised of 34 million passengers per
annum, and fully a third of North Atlantic passengers, 12 million travel between
the United States and the United Kingdom. Thus, it is the single most important
North Atlantic market for U.S. aviation, tourism, and community interests.

However, for many years, the aviation relationship between the United States and
the United Kingdom has been fraught with conflict and controversy. That situation

has not inured to the benefit of U.S. cities, in general. Rather, it has allowed the
maricetplace to be limited in terms of both access and pricing, and thus the travel-

ing public has paid dearly while the carriers have generated significant, and for the
most sustained profits. Parenthetically, we want our carriers to be profitable, but
we would prefer that such profitability take place in an expanding, efficient, and
competitive marketplace.
The United States has not, over the years, been the beneficiary of what most of

us would characterize as balanced or favorable agreements with the United King-
dom. Rather, we have, more often than not, been outmaneuvered by the British. Let
me cite some examples, since they are relevant in the context of this mini-deal. If

we characterize the modem day relationship as that extant during the years since

Bermuda U was signed in 1978, we begin with a situation wherein the United
States carriers had significant interests on the table, including broader liberaliza-

tion with fifth freedom rights beyond the United Kingdom. Ultimately, the U.S. ac-

ceded to most U.K. demands, including that which virtually eliminated fifth freedom
ridits for U.S. carriers beyond the United Kingdom to Europe.
During the 1980's there were numerous additional mini-deals, but in no sense has

real liberalization been advanced. The U.S., to its credit, did secure added services

for a number of U.S. cities that previously had none. Then, in 1991, the United
States government was put in the position where it had to replace Pan American
and TWA at Heathrow. Since the U.S. needed something badly, the British secured
virtually everything they could ever want, plus more, at no cost. This, of course, has
been a trademark of U.S.-U.K. aviation relations. That is, the British wait until the
U.S. has to have something, and then it extracts a large bounty.

It is now time for the U.S. to reverse this pattern of history. We know from expe-
rience that the U.S. only gains when the British have to have something and at the
present moment, they appear to have some important items on their agenda. Thus,
if a mini-deal is to be done it should be modified to the extent possible to include
the following:

1. The public benefit needs to be expanded. For example, we should get
more route authorities for the U.S. side, particularly with respect to

Heathrow even if such access is in specified future years. Without broader
liberalization we should not relinquish "Fly America." While "Fly America"
may be an anachronism in the 1990's world of free trade, it has value to

the other side.

2. We would prefer to see an agreement accomplished in one single pack-
age. However, if that is not possible, then a firm commitment to a timetable
and conclusion of a Phase II would be acceptable.

If this mini-deal is completed as structured I am concerned as to whether we can
expect to see the British at the negotiating table again for a considerable time. One
only need ask the question, "What would they really need?"

In summary, the United States aviation negotiation policy has evolved in a very
positive fashion during the past five to 10 years in no small part because of the
growing role of communities in the negotiating process. A year and a half ago, in

a speech before the International Air Transport Association Annual General Meet-
ing in Dallas, Texas, Secretary Pena established a framework for what would be-

come U.S. international aviation policy when he stated,

"We must re-affirm who our constituents are: the traveling public; shippers of

goods and- services; the airlines and aircraft manufacturers and also those cities that
desire air service to revitalize their economies.

Weighing the interests of all of these parties may be challenging. But I believe
that we must try, not by using precise mathematical formulae, but by applying good
judgment and fairness in advancing the national interest."
We should continue to adhere to that policy. There is a real question as to wheth-

er this deal is consistent with that policy and whether it will aid us in achieving
the eventual goal of an "open skies" agreement with the U.K.

I thank you for your time and attention, and I am prepared to answer any ques-
tions you may have.
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Senator McCain. Mr. Doughty, one of the problems that has
been raised, one of the issues, is why Chicago should get additional
air service and not one of those airports that you listed that are
in support of your testimony? Do you have any comment on that?
Mr. Doughty. Not particularly, other than to say that obviously,

if any of those were there in place of Chicago or in addition to Chi-
cago, I am sure they would flip in their position on this matter.
But I really cannot comment as to why it is Chicago, other than

maybe greater effort on their part to be considered.
Senator McCain. One of your recommendations is that, if a mini-

deal II has to take place, there be a date certain for completion.
Do you think that is doable?
Mr. Doughty. Again, I think that is a judgment call, and it

would be difficult to say. Obviously, when you are in a situation

where you have an agreement and then you have another agree-
ment to agree without any deadlines, it makes that second agree-
ment pretty tentative.

Senator McCain. Mr. Weidemeyer, in your written testimony,
you state that you need significantly more access in Europe in

order to get the kind of market penetration and service that you
need. What are we talking about?
Mr. Weidemeyer. Sir, we are now not only a U.S. company, but

we serve virtually every point in the world. And one of the emerg-
ing markets for us, because of our customer base in the U.S., are
the many countries in Europe, both the established western coun-
tries, as well as the eastern bloc countries.

We currently fly large jet aircraft into East Midlands and the

U.K, as well as two more into Cologne. From there, we have small-

er aircraft that fly routes between points in Europe.
Because of the limited access we have to some of those markets,

those aircraft are flown by European companies that have operat-

ing rights that we do not possess. And that is service that we think
we could provide more effectively, more efficiently and more re-

sponsibly for our customers, if we were able to do it ourselves.

Senator McCain. What percentage of your business now is in Eu-
rope?
Mr. Weidemeyer. The percentage of business as a total of UPS

business is still not large, but it is one of our fastest growing mar-
kets. And indeed, it continues to grow in excess of 30 percent a

year.

Senator McCain. And you expect that to continue, or do you ex-

pect that to bump into a ceiling because of your lack of access to

certain areas?
Mr. Weidemeyer. I believe that at this point in time, our lack

of access is capping our growth. I think we have unlimited poten-

tial.

As I said in my remarks, we are becoming a global economy, and
governments are about the only people that have not realized that.

Information moves instantaneously. What does not move are the

people and the goods to support the information. So I think immi-
nently that is going to happen, yes.

Senator McCAlNf. Mr. Doughty, if this mini-deal goes through,

who gets hurt?
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Mr. Doughty. Well, I think that depends upon what happens
afterward. If there is a
Senator McCain. Let's suppose that the United States has very

little, if any, leverage, and it is an extended period of time before
further agreements are made.
Mr. Doughty. Well, obviously, if you assume that you have more

leverage now than you will have later and that there is more that
can be extracted at this time or with continued negotiations, then
obviously a number of communities who very definitely need addi-
tional service to London and a few communities, and not very
many, that can support additional service via Heathrow and are
very interested in the Heathrow service because of the connections
beyond definitely would get hurt.

The question, of course—and it is a judgment call again—^is that
achievable anyway and is it risked if you do the mini-deal.

Senator McCain. Would you like to add anything,
Mr. Weidemeyer?
Mr. Weidemeyer. Yes sir. I would just like to make a couple

brief comments on the issue of the mini-deal. As I said previously,

the issue of air cargo really is not in dispute other than that it has
been relegated to the second roimd of negotiations.

I would heartily recommend, since it is an area where there
seems to be agreement not only from the consumer and the car-

riers, as well as both governments, that we take the opportunity
to show a success and get that out of the way right up front.

In addition to that, the mini-agreement, although it involves is-

sues that are not totally involved with the UPS, since we are a
cargo carrier, I would recommend that to the extent we have a con-
cern of the future prospects of completing negotiations, that some
sort of temporary or contingent grants of the authorities under the
bilateral agreement be made contingent on a successful completion
of the next phase, whenever that may be.

Senator McCain. That is a good point. Do you have a comment
on my observations that perhaps these negotiations should be put
in the hands of the U.S. Trade Representative?
Mr. Weidemeyer. No comment on that issue.

Senator McCain. Well, my point is that if they have these almost
in-concrete advantages, and if we are going to deal with them, then
maybe we should include a wider range of issues to regain some
of that leverage.

There must be some aspects of our relationships that would give
us some better way of influencing the process. Because right now,
I am afraid, because of past history, we are in a situation of serious

disadvantage.
Any closing comments, Mr. Doughty?
Mr. Doughty. Only, Mr. Chairman, that I would—there was a

lot of discussion earlier about the economic analysis that everyone,
I think, agrees needs to be done, or maybe not everyone, but most
agree needs to be done and needs to be done well.

I think in the past there has been, and there continues to be, a
very strong emphasis on the revenue that accrues to a U.S. airline

company. I hope the economic analysis will be done in a manner
that shows where that revenue needs to be spent in order to sup-
port the flight.
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And the vast majority of that revenue is locationally dictated.
You CEinnot have a TWA worker at Kennedy Airport doing ground
handling on the other end of the London flight. That has to be ex-
pended in London.
So the real benefit of the route accrues to the users and the com-

munities that receive the service and not to as great an extent as
has been characterized to the airline companies.

Senator McCain. Thank you.
Mr. Weidemeyer, I apologize again for the delay to both of you.

I would point out that my wife is a frequent user of your services,

so I am grateful. And I would like some of my money back when
you have
Mr. Weidemeyer. And, Senator, I would like to express our ap-

preciation to her for the business.
Senator McCain. Thank you. There are several items that have

been submitted for the record, including statements by Senator
Brown; Senator Mosely-Braun; Paul Gaines, Director of Aviation,
city of Houston; David Mosena, Commissioner, city of Chicago De-
partment of Aviation; Patricia Friend, National President, Associa-
tion of Flight Attendants; Vicki Frankovich, who is the President,
Independent Federation of Flight Attendants.

[The information referred to follows:]

Statement of Senator Hank Brown

Mr. Chairman, members of the Committee. I appreciate your courtesy in extend-
ing me the opportunity to appear before you today to speak on aviation relations

with the United Kingdom.
Colorado is the home of the first new international airport to be built in this na-

tion in more than as years. DIA has had many well puolicized problems. That is

why I asked the General Accounting Office to study the Denver Airport to detail

the concerns raised by the dozens of Federal and state investigations and press re-

ports.

Despite its problems, this is a spectacular facility. The airport's five runways can
handle as many as 1,750 take-offs and landings every day. It is the first airport in

the world that can regularly land "triples"—three aircraft at one time on parallel

runways. Planes can taxi from the runway to their gates without crossing another
runway, saving the expense and time of waiting as planes taxi in from the runway
to the gate. The airport's $20 million traffic management system will keep the air-

port open during all kinds of weather. The FAA predicts that this will reduce na-
tional delay by at least 5 percent. With all of these advancements and improve-
ments, Denver International can be the safest airport in the world.

The new airport makes Denver and-the Rocky Mountain region an ideal gateway
for a major expansion of international air service. That is why I support Phase I

of the arrangement with the United Kingdom which is the subject of this hearing.

I am a strong supporter of bilateral agreements which expand U.S. carrier oppor-

tunities. We have on the table an arrangement which provides the U.S. significant

immediate benefits, phased opportunities for new expansion of U.S. services over
time, and the reality of incremental progress in a relationship that has too long

been stalemated. To fail to move ahead would be a mistake. To compete fairly, we
must have equal access.
Denver would benefit immediately from Phase I through improved services to

London and Europe via United's new services between Chicago and London. Denver
also has an opportunity to benefit even more directly from Phase II, when service

to London Heathrow from Denver International becomes a possibility.

Secretary Pena's new International Aviation Policy Statement recognizes the bene-

fits to a city like Denver that come from expansion of international services. DIA
is the major air transport hub in the Rocky Mountains. The Policy Statement recog-

nizes the benefits that come from linking a U.S. hub like Denver with a foreign hulb

like London Heathrow. Yet, without improvements in the aviation agreement with
the United Kingdom, like the one that we hope to obtain in Phase II, Denver will

continue to lack the nonstop linkage to London Heathrow that it needs.
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Some other airlines who also seek access to Heathrow from other airports are de-

manding that the Phase I deal be rejected. This all-or-nothing position, urged by
carriers like American, will assure that there will be no progress. That may suit

American just fine but will cheat communities like Denver and even Dallas/Ft.

Worth out of the benefits that can come from incremental improvements in our rela-

tionship with the British. American has been cited in Business Week magazine as

being more interested in "scotching United's plans than getting their own new
route." The U.S. negotiators should not be influenced by a carrier with this type of
self-serving attitude.

I recall that shortly afler Secretary Pena took over at the Department of Trans-
portation, DOT laid down a marker for the British when it approved the British Air-

ways/USAir alliance. That arrangement was approved for only 1 year during which
the Secretary told the British that they must enter into a deal that would "eliminate
restrictions that undermine competition and which limit U.S. carrier access to the
British markets." (Pena Statement dated March 15, 1993) This "open skies" deal had
to be achieved within 1 year or the British were threatened with dire consequences.
That all-or-nothing approach did not work then and it won't work now.
The British are now prepared to enter into a deal that represents real progress

toward improving the U.S. carriers' position in the U.K. market. They are also will-

ing to accept an agenda and schedule toward Phase II which will include still more
benefits. The United States should accept the deal that has been negotiated and go
back to the table to discuss Phase II. Cities like Denver have invested in the future

with the new DIA facility. The future will never come, however, if we continue to

take an all-or-nothing approach in seeking expanded opportunities with our trading
partners like the British.

I encourage the committee to give a favorable report on the incremental deal
being discussed before you today. We must be able to continue to make progress in

this type of trade relationship, for the benefit of all of our constituents.

I would also like to submit statements for the record of my colleagues listed below
who share my support for the incremental access to the United Kingdom that Sec-
retary Pena is achieving for our U.S. passengers: Senators Boxer, Robb, Simon, and
Moseley-Braun and Congressman Phil Crane, Chairman of the Subcommittee on
Trade of the House Ways and Means Committee.

I thank you for your time and attention and I will be happy to answer any ques-
tions you may have for me.

May 23, 1995.

The Hon. Hank Brown,
United States Senator,
SH-716 Hart Senate Office Building,
Washington, DC.

Dear Senator Brown: On April 5, 1995 I wrote to Transportation Secretary
Federico Pena urging that the United States move forward "as quickly as possible

to conclude" an air service agreement with the United Kingdom I. In that letter I

urged that the United States move forward "by taking stall steps." The city of Den-
ver is clearly on record as supporting the incremental negotiating approach. I am
writing now to alsO indicate my support for the substance of the mini-deal which
is on the table.

From Colorado's perspective the primary benefit of the mini-deal should lead to

additional agreements providing improved access Heathrow Airport from other Unit-
ed States cities. It must be stated tnat currently Denver and tne metropolitan area
represent the largest community in the United States without non-stop service to

either of London's airports. Therefore, Denver and United Airlines will be aggres-
sively pursuing authority into Heathrow Airport during the next phase of bilateral

negotiations.

I understand that the mini-deal does not serve every city's total interest imme-
diately but I believe that the best way to achieve everyone's interest is to conclude
the mini-deal as an indication of our good faith and resolve to work with the UK
towards greater liberalization.

Yours truly,

Wellington E. Webb,
Mayor.
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Statement of Senator Carol Moseley-Braun

Chairman McCain, Senator Ford, Members of the Subcommittee, I would like to
thank you for the opportunity to offer this testimony in support of an immediate
agreement between tne United States and the United Kingdom that will allow com-
retitive service from Chicago to London this summer As the Senator from Illinois,

believe that additional Chicago-London service is the single most important inter-
national air transjwrtation opportunity for the economy of my state and my region.
Expanded Chicago-London air service, however, is not just an Illinois issue, and

it is not just a Midwest issue. Because of Chicago's central location and the role of
CHare mtemational Airport as the largest airport in the United States and the
most important connecting point for air passengers throughout the United States,
the addition of another U.S. carrier on the Chicago-London route is probably the
most significant single international air transportation opportunity before our coun-
try today Given its importance, it makes no sense to leave this crucial opportunity
on the bargaining table—and at risk—when it can be secured now, at the start of
the peak summer traffic season for travel between the United States and Europe.
Mr. Chairman, OUare International Airport is truly the aviation crossroads of the

United States, providing superb connections and comprehensive services not only for

domestic travelers, but also for those making transatlantic trips from points in
Central and Western United States. Unfortunately, our ability to increase competi-
tion in the Chicago-London market has been limited by the restrictions contained
in the current bilateral aviation agreement between the United States and the Unit-
ed Kingdom.
Mr. Chairman, the existing constraints on the Chicago-London market not only

affect Chicago residents; they also distort the entire structure of the market for traf-

fic between much of the United States and Europe's most important destination,
Heathrow Airport. This impact can only be expected to grow unless we seize the
unique opportunity before us to increase competition in the Chicago-London market.

In conclusion, therefore, I do not believe that we should sacrifice this opportunity
to achieve additional service and additional competition in the Chicago-London mar-
ket. On the contrary, I believe that a failure to seize this opportunity, would con-
stitute a serious strategic error in our aviation relationship with the United King-
dom.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Statement of Senator Robb

Mr. Chairman, Senator Ford, and Members of the Committee, I want to thank
you for the opportunity to be on record in support of the Administration's efforts

to negotiate a more expansive and liberalized aviation agreement with the United
Kingdom.
A less rigid agreement between the United States and the United Kingdom would

enhance IXS. competitiveness, increase the economic viability of our U.S. carriers,

and maximize U.S. carrier resources as the demand for international air travel in-

creases. For example, U.S. airline services from Virginia to London have operated
at full capacity for several years, often making it difficult for local passengers to ob-

tain seats on these nonstop flights. A more liberalized bilateral aCTeement would
allow United Airlines, which services the route from this area to London, to add
flints from Chicago to London, thereby increasing U.S. competitiveness and in-

creasing available seats for passengers from this area to London.
The Administration has negotiated an agreement which would allow some addi-

tional international flights from the United States to London. Some groups, how-
ever, oppose this incremental agreement in favor of instantaneous approval of wide-

spread increases in flights for U.S. carriers to London. The British, nowever, have
been resistant to such substantial increases in flight frequencies from the United
States to London. While this "open skies" scenario is the goal for which we should
strive, we should not ignore the benefits achieved through an incremental approach.
Therefore, I would strongly urge the Committee to support the Administration's ef-

forts to achieve substantive gains through the current proposal scheduled to be ne-

fotiated in June and thereby pave the way to create more liberal air agreements
etween the United States and United Kingdom.

Statement of Senator Paul Simon

Chairman McCain, Senator Ford, and Members of the Committee, I appreciate
this opportunity to share my concerns about the important relationship between the

91-114 0-95-5
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United States and our friends in the United Kingdom. Both countries' aviation in-

terests are at a critical juncture. Do we settle tor the status quo or do we urge
progress toward a more open and competitive aviation environment for both na-
tions?
The State of Illinois, and in particular the city of Chicago, have much at stake

in efforts to reach a limited agreement with the United Kingdom in this matter.
CHare Airport, the nation's busiest, has only one U.S. carrier flying directly to

Heathrow. As a result, fares charged to passengers traveling to the United Kingdom
from or through Chicago are needlessly higher than in comparable markets with
more competitive service. The city of Chicago is a logical gateway to London, and
the entire Midwest region will reap the economic benefits if international traffic is

allowed to grow out of CHare.
We now have an opportunity to fix this long-standing problem. Secretary PeiiaSs

decision to proceed with incremental moves toward liberalizing air traffic restric-

tions between the U.S. and the U.K. are commendable, and they are needed.
I can understand the arguments of those who say we should hold out for an "open

skies? agreement between the U.S. and the U.K. of course, that would be optimal.
But, can the U.S. aviation industry afford to wait for "open skies'7 to become a re-

ality? The clear answer is that it cannot. U.S. aviation would immediately benefit

from this bilateral agreement. Let's not wait for a perfect solution that may be years
away.
Acceptance of an incremental step allowing a second U.S. carrier direct access

from Chicago CHare to London Heathrow will afford substantial economic and
trade benefits to the U.S. traveling public, to our business community, and to the
U.S. economy.

In return, the British would be allowed a limited opportunity for USAir to bid on
government traffic that would be transported on British Airways through their code-
sharing agreement with the U.S. carrier .

These tradeoffs provide both countries balanced economic gains, as well as estab-
lishing a phased approach to continued negotiations to benefit U.S. interests.

If we choose to reject this package, we step back into the unacceptable status quo,
in which most U.S. carriers lose opportunities in the global marketplace.

I realize the pressure this committee is receiving from both sides on this issue,

and the intensely competitive nature of the aviation industry. This Administration
is obliged to ensure that what is left of the U.S. aviation industry be allowed to

prosper. We cannot allow the narrow concerns of the few to determine this decision.

I encourage this Committee to report favorably on the "mini-deal" presented by
our negotiating team during the last round of tallcs. We must act affirmatively and
decisively to take advantage of this economic opportunity.

I thank you for convening this hearing, and for giving me this opportunity to con-
tribute my observations and suggestions.
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[Ltr to Sen. McCain from Senator Paul Sarbanes.]

Bnitd States Senate
WASHINGTON. DC 20510-2002

June 1, 1995

Honorable John McCain

Chanman

Subcomittee on Aviation

Committee on Commerce, Science and Transportation

U.S. Senate

Washington, D.C. 20510

Dear Mr. Chairman:

I regret that I was not able to participate in your May 24, 1995 hearing on the conduct of

the bilateral civil aviation negotiations between the United States and the United Kingdom.

However, I wanted take this opportunity to underscore m>' own strong support for the on-going

negotiations and Secretary Pena's efiforts to secure a more open aviation regnne and more rights

for U.S. airlines and cities in the discussions.

In my view, the so-called "mini-deal" now under negotiation represents a significant step

toward achieving the goal u^iich I beHeve we all share of an "open-skies" agreement with the

U.K. The two-pronged, incremental approach currently being pursued by the U.S. negotiators ~
a successfiiDy concluded "mini-deal coupled with an agenda and timetable for a second phase of

negotiations — strikes me as a prudent strategy to achieve this goal. It is only by actively

engaging the U.K. m discussions w4iich produce meaning&l resuhs such as the interim

arrangements that we can estabhsh a dialogue wUch leads to an even greater expansion of

commercial opportunities for our carriers and additional, much needed, air service opportunities

for U.S. communities.

It has been suggested that one ofthe proposals on the table — allowing British Airways to

participate in the "Fly America" traffic through its code-sharing arrangements with USAir ~ is

somehow at odds with the mtent ofthe Act and ciurent U.S. aviation pohcy. Frankly, I regard it

to be a perverse interpretation ofthe Fly America Act when foreign carriers including South

African Airways, QUANTAS, KLM, Asiana, Vang, Swissair and Lufthansa are eligible to carry

"Fly America" traffic while British Airways ~ w*ich uses USAir planes and crews ~ is prechided

from doing so. The carriage of U.S. Government traffic on code-share flights is a widely-

accepted practice in the aviation community and consistent with ciurent U.S. poUcy. Allowing

British Airways similar eligibility is not only the fair thing to do, but the right thing.

PRINTfD ON nCYCLCD rWEII
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Honorable John McCain

Page 2

June 1, 1995

I appreciate your attention to this important issue and ask that my letter be made part of

the hearing record.

With best regards,

Sincerely.

^Ui ^JL^
Paul S. Sarbanes

United States Senator

PSS/cas
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Testimony of Paul B. Gaines

I appreciate this opportunity to submit to the Committee these views on behalf
of Houston, Texas anci the Greater Houston Partnership. The Partnership is an as-
sociation of the Chamber of Commerce, World Trade ana Economic Development Or-
ganizations, all of which have a keen interest in our air service. Good international
air service is, of course, essential to economic development, especially for a city such
as Houston with so many worldwide international business interests. Because of its

size—the 4th largest U.S. city—and unique multicultural character, Houston also
has a need for good air transportation to all comers of the globe to satisfy the per-
sonal travel needs of our citizens.

I understand that this hearing has been convened to consider U.S. international
aviation policies and negotiations, with particular attention to the so called "mini-
deal" now being negotiated with the United Kingdom. Houston has taken a position
in opposition to such a deal in letters we have addressed to the Departments of
State and Transpwrtation.

This is an unusual position for us. Typically, we favor any agreement which will
increase opportunities for international air transportation by Americans. While our
primary goal is to obtain the best possible service for Houston residents and those
in the large catchment area it serves in the West and Midwest, we think that by
and large any move toward liberalization tends to be beneficial in that it adds to
the momentum for opening up international air service generally. The sooner the
world as a whole moves toward free and open skies, the better served we in Hous-
ton, and Americans everywhere, will be.

Obviously not all countries or airlines share our hope for full deregulation of
international air transportation. Some, including some airlines, give lip service to

liberalization but seek it only where it seems to offer a competitive advantage. How-
ever, I believe our government is genuinely interested in obtaining as liberal air

transport arrangements as possible with other countries.

Nevertheless, I part company with our government to the extent it seems to re-

gard the proposed mini-deal as a step toward liberalization. The problem is that,
while the agreement would allow increased service at some new markets, it avoids
addressing fundamental imbalances in our aviation agreement with the United
Kingdom. Worse yet, it makes it more likely that those imbalances will not soon be
addressed satisfactorily.

The central problem with our agreement is the British "crown jewel"—Heathrow
Airport. Not only is Heathrow a very convenient London airport in terms of access
to the city, it is especially valuable for connecting services beyond. For these rea-

sons, Heathrow is highly favored by passengers, especially higher fare business
travellers. Airlines witnout Heathrow access have an extremely difficult time com-
peting with those that serve Heathrow, in terms of both the number of passengers
thev can attract and their profitability.

Exhibit A shows the very significant edge eiyoyed by U.K. airlines in Heathrow-
U.S. services. The British carriers serve more United States-Heathrow gateways
than U.S. carriers; they operate more weekly frequencies by a significant margin
(180 vs. 147) and they offer 133 f>ercent more seat capacity. The disparity is aggra-
vated by the fact that, as a carryover from an earlier agreement with the British,

the United States is limited to only two airlines eligible for Heathrow service. Those
two airlines. United and American, have every incentive to seek liberalization" for

themselves. But they also have every incentive not to encourage an agreement
which allows other U.S. carriers access to Heathrow. In that sense they share the

same incentive to limit liberalization as the major British carrier.

The proposed mini-deal is a serious mistake because it is built on the foundation,

which it helps to perpetuate, of Heathrow being closed to all but two U.S. airlines.

U.S. airline service to Heathrow will continue to be confined to what those two air-

lines choose to provide to the American public in terms of the cities to be served,

and the capacity and service quality to be offered. These are decisions that should
rightfiilly be made by a truly competitive marketplace. Lacking that marketplace,

these choices should be made after comparative consideration by DOT of competing
public interest proposals by different carriers and cities. The last and worst alter-

native is that the moices are made solely by a government sanctioned airline duop-
oly.

Much of the controversy about the proposed mini-deal is between the two U.S.

carriers that hold the Heathrow rights. Their controversy is about who gets what
share of the U.S. Heathrow duopoly created by the U.K. agreement. The issue that

deserves Congressional attention however is: what does this mini-deal do to end the

duopoly? In our judgment, by offering the United States a limited amount of addi-

tional capacity in one market, Chicago-Heathrow, the United Kingdom is laying the
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basis for perpetuating its current Heathrow advantage. Promises to talk about fur-

ther "limited^ access to Heathrow for U.S. carriers commit the United Kingdom to

nothing except endless discussions during which they continue to retain the advan-
tageous status quo.
The status quo is of course a major problem for Houston. Houston is the third

largest U.S. metropolitan area that lacks service to Heathrow. (Exhibit B) Houston's
Heathrow "problem" is that its hub carrier happens not to be one of the designated
two. Other large U.S. cities face the same proolem: they are not served as a hub
or major point by one of the two U.S. airlines that have Heathrow rights. We fail

to see why, in tnis monopolistic environment, the choice of which UTS. cities get
Heathrow service should be made on the basis of the competitive motives of the two
designated airlines, without any assurance that larger national interests about how
Heathrow services should be apportioned among U.S. cities and airlines are being
considered.
The problem the United States has created for itself by accepting a limit of two

named airlines at Heathrow goes well beyond its exclusionary elTect on competition
among U.S carriers. It creates a whole set of twisted incentives, and these are all

visible in the proposed mini-deal. First, because Heathrow rights can go only to

American or United Airlines, we are quick to grasp at offers which satisfy one of
those carriers, regardless of whether it adds to the overall balance of Heathrow
services among U.S. cities. United badly wants rights from Chicago, its maior hub,
to Heathrow. In that market it would be the third nonstop carrier. But it has just
abandoned the Seattle-Heathrow nonstop market, leaving it unserved by any U.S.
airline; and there are other U.S. cities that are now entitled to Heathrow service

but are not receiving it because they are hubs for a U.S. carrier which has not been
designated for Heathrow service .

Second, the mini-deal would pay additional value to the British for rights—a sec-

ond United States airline between Chicago and Heathrow—which would automati-
cally fall to the United States under the current agreement once the market reaches
a size of 600,000 passengers per year. That size might well have been achieved al-

ready but for the limited capacity offered by the two incumbent airlines. Under the
current agreement it is plainly not in the interests of either American Airlines or
British Airways to have the Chicago—Heathrow traffic exceed the 600,000 pas-
senger trigger point which would allow the U.S. to designate a second carrier under
the current agreement. Exhibits C and D show that Chicago—Heathrow capacity
has actually declined significantly in the last year. Exhibit E shows that this is not
typical for major U.S.-Heathrow markets. These capacity reductions may be an ex-

elanation of wny the U.S. has not already obtained Chicago-Heathrow rights for two
LS. airlines, instead of having to pay a second time throu^ the mini-deal.

My purpose in submitting this testimony is not to critique each and every aspect
of the proposed mini-deal in terms of the balance of benefits to both sides. I readily

acknowledge that it would provide a limited amount of liberalization over the
present agreement for both sides. But in Houston's view, whatever these other fea-

tures, they are not worth it if there is not also a commitment by the United King-
dom that the United States may designate any airlines it wishes to provide service

to Heathrow, and that additional slots will be made available for service by U.S.
carriers.

I am not suggesting that the agreement must provide immediate and unlimited
access for every U.S. carrier or city. I realize that Heathrow is to some extent capac-
ity restricted, although by no means to a point that, given a British willingness to

cooperate, would prevent most U.S. cities which now have service at another London
airport from obtaining service at Heathrow. I am suggesting that the United States,

before making any more mini-deals, must establish and negotiate a plan which
assures that all U.S. airlines and cities will have an opportunity to obtain Heathrow
service over a reasonable period of time. I am also suggesting that, if we accept this

Chicago Heathrow "bird in the hand", it will, in the long run, be far more expensive
to U.S. interests in breaking the two airline monopoly than a negotiation which ad-
dresses that.fundamental problem right now.
There are those who will say that, in these circumstances, it is always better to

take what you can get when you can get it while continuing to press for further
liberalization. Let's Face the facts, however. The United States made a major mis-
take when, in its eagerness to allow American and United to buy out the U.K. au-
thority of Pan American and TWA, it agreed to continued restriction on its freedom
to designate Heathrow carriers and services in a way that would maximize competi-
tion and consumer benefits for Americans. It was another case, of which there have
been too many, when our international air transport negotiators were more focused
on the concerns of carriers than consumers. The result has been a steady erosion
of the U.S. carrier share of the U.S.-U.K. market.
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There is no reason the think the United Kingdom wiU ever give up the Heathrow

advantage which has made this possible. The proposed mini-deal is nothmg more

than a fone aimed at keeping the United States at bav. Umted Kingdom promises

to talk about further liberaHzation in some unspecified way at some indehnite pe-

riod in the future are another bone, to buy still more time. Now, today is the time

to set to the meat of our differences with the United Kingdom—Heathrow access.

The process may be long and diflicult, but it must go forward promotly. One way

or the other, it must end with nothing less than fairly apportioned, fully competitive

access to Heathrow for the consumers, cities and airlines of the United btates.
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EXHIBITA

Weekly Nonstop Oeparturesand Seats to London Heathrow Airport

By U.S. Gateway and Airline

May 1 995

City

Airport

Code
Nonstop

Departures

Nonstop
Seats

U.S. Flag Airlines

Boston

Chicago

Los Angeles

Los Angeles

Miami

New York

New York

Newark
San Francisco

Washington

Subtotal U.S.

BOS
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Houston is the 3rd Largest U.S. Gateway
Without Service to London's Heathrow Airport

Based on Population and London Traffic

EXHIBIT B

INS Traffic to London
12 Months Ended October 31, 1994

Orlando

AUanta

Houston

Dallas/Ft. Worth

Minneapolis

Cincinnati

Detroit

Charlotte

St Louis

Pittsburgh

Baltmore

Denver

Raleigh/Durham

Nashville
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Chicago O'Hare - London Heathrow

Scheduled Monthly Seats

January 1993 - December 1994

EXHIBIT C
Page 2
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Chicago O'Hare - London Heathrow
Scheduled Monthly Departures

January 1993 - December 1994

EXHIBIT D
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EXHIBIT E
Page 1
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Statement of David R. Mosena

As owner and operator of the world's busiest airport—OUare International Air-
port—and the centerpiece of any U.S.-U.K. interim agreement, which is the primary
locus of today's hearing, the city of Chicago is pleased to present this written state-
ment to the Committee. I would ask that my written testimony be considered and
accepted for the record.

While we commend the Committee for holding hearings on the important issues
affecting international aviation, we are concerned about both the balance and timing
of todays hearing.

First, despite the requests of Chicago and many other communities, the Commit-
tee has not allowed any major airport to testify, even while it allows five major air
carrier CEO's to do so. This imbalance underscores one of our fundamental points

—

in assessing the impact of bilateral air transport negotiations, the Administration
and Congress must weigh equally the views of air carriers and communities. For
so long as international aviation is viewed merely as a political contest among air-

lines with "winners" and losers," no real progress can be made. We respectfully sub-
mit that the Committee and others would benefit from a more balanced discussion,
which would include providing the opportunity for a few airports with direct inter-

ests in the outcome of^the U.S.-U.K. talks to express their divergent views.
Second, today's hearing comes in the midst of an ongoing, ambitious schedule of

international aviation talks with the United Kingdom, Japan, China, and South Af-
rica—to name a few. Without question, the Congress can and should play a major
role in international aviation. At the same time, we are concerned about disrupting
the ongoing negotiations and forcing the same people at the Departments of Trans-
portation and State who are in the middle of negotiations to spend their scarce time
greparing themselves and others to respond comprehensively and accurately to the
enate's first international aviation oversight hearing in over 4 years. Timing can

also unduly "politicize" particular negotiating positions. Rather than becoming em-
broiled in airline disputes over negotiating strategy on the eve of later rounds of
protracted negotiations, we respectfully suggest that Congress could play a more
useful role by expressing its broad policy views well in advance of major negotia-
tions.

THE administration's OUTSTANDING RECORD JUSTIFIES DEFERENCE

Secretary Pena, as well as the political and professional staffs at DOT and State,
have done an outstanding job in the international aviation arena under very dif-

ficult circumstances. We do not envy their jobs. They must make tough deasions
in every negotiation that are bound not to please everyone. Given their successful

track record^ they are deserving of greater leeway to reach an agreement.
Around the globe, we are facing bilateral retrenchment. Our aviation partners are

striving to ward off competition from U.S. airlines that bear no resemblance to their

international predecessors. With pared costs, sophisticated yield management sys-

tems, extensive frequent flyer programs, and formidable feeder networks, carriers

like United and American out of CHare represent powerful competitors. Despite
protectionism in the form of state aid, threatened renunciation, and "doing business"
problems, the Clinton Administration has managed to make enormous progress in

international aviation.

First, the Administration reached an agreement with our fifth largest aviation

eartner, Germany, which avoided renunciation, preserved rights, authorized three

LS. transnational alliances, and paved the way for open skies in the near future.

Already, consumers are benefiting from the seamless network being provided out of

Chicago by the United/Lufthansa alliance; consumers also are enjoying new non-
stop service to/from Munich by Lufthansa.
Second, the Administration put an end to over 15 years of stalled negotiations by

reaching a landmark agreement with our largest aviation partner, Canada. This
agreement, which will go down in history as one of the most significant advances
in air service since the Chicago Convention in 1944, will unleash over $15.0 billion

in new economic activity, with growth expected from 13.0 million annual passengers
today to 20.0 million in the next few years. Chicago already has seen a huge jump
in Canadian service, with new American service to Winnipeg, Ottawa, and Calgary,

new Canadian Airlines International service from Toronto and Vancouver, newly
proposed Air Canada sei^ce from Ottawa, and more on the way.

Tnird, the Administration issued the first formal statement of international air

transportation policy in 17 years. The policy statement directly responds to criticism

from the Congress and industry that DOT has resorted to ad hoc approaches and
crisis management in international aviation, instead of an articulated vision. For
the first time, the Federal policy expressly recognizes the need to "enhance the ac-
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cess of U.S. cities to the international transportation system"—a goal too often over-
looked.

Fourth, the Administration recently concluded initialing "open skies" agreements
with nine European countries in the face of formidable opposition from the Euro-
pean Commission. This diplomatic coup, achieved in just 6 months, holds the prom-
ise of bringing extraordinary consumer benefits in terms of increased service, lower
fares, and more jobs. Perhaps more impwrtantly, it increases pressure on two of our
lai^gest aviation partners, France and the United Kingdom, to liberalize their re-

strictive bilateral agreements with the United States while encouraging liberaliza-

tion in Southern Europe.
Thus, while it is often easy to criticize our government, we submit that the cur-

rent team has done more to advance U.S. international aviation than has been done
in the previous decade. They should be given substantial deference to reach agree-
ments that they believe are in the public interest.

THE U.S.-U.K. INTERIM DEAL BENEFITS THE U.S.

The current form of the U.S.-U.K interim agreement—a second U.S. carrier (Unit-
ed) for Chicago-London (Heathrow); double-daily service (British Airways) for Phila-
delphia-London (Heathrow); liberal regional U.K. service; renewal of the USAir/Brit-
ish Airways code share; limited "Fly America" benefits; "starburst" code-sharing;
and limited and balanced additional opportunities in the near term—is unquestion-
ably balanced in favor of the United otates. The only remaining question is: could
the United States hold out for more? The resounding answer from both sides of the
Atlantic is no.

Chicago shares the desires of other airlines and airports for an "open skies" re-

g"me with our second largest aviation partner, the United Kingdom. We abhor the
ermuda 11 restrictions on routes and capacity that were agreed to after the United

Kingdom threatened renunciation in 1976. As in our discussions with Crermany and
Canada, however, there comes a time when the ideal of immediate open skies must
give way to pragmatism and moving forward, not backward.
Now is such a time. As Mayor Richard M. Daley stated in a letter to President

Clinton: "It is becoming increasingly difficult, if not impossible, to understand why
the world's largest airline. United, cannot fly from the world's largest airport,

CHare, to the world's largest international connecting hub, Heathrow.' The United
States has within its grasp the ability to (i) correct an historical anomaly, (ii) add
service to a route that has the largest unmet demand, (iii) bring added competition
to the world's largest international air corridor, and (iv) exploit the competitive ad-
vantages of another U.S. hub carrier at Heathrow.

In addition, adding a second U.S. carrier on the Chicago-Heathrow route would
remove any incentive that may exist to divert trafiic or undersell the current Chi-
cago-Heathrow service to avoid triggering the 600,000 passenger threshold for add-
ing a second carrier. To grasp this point, one must enter the Byzantine world of the
Bermuda II air transport agreement between the United States and United King-
dom. The agreement allows only one airline from each nation to serve any city-pair,

except two U.S. carriers are allowed to serve London from five named U.S. points,

whicn does not include Chicago. The agreement allows, however, double-tracking"
on any market whose total traffic exceeds 600,000 passengers for two consecutive
years.

After 7 years of strong growth, where trafiic levels jumped from 250,000 in 1986
to over 578,000 in 1993, traffic levels on the Chicago-London route have strangely
fallen off in the past 2 years, with only a 1.52 percent increase in 1994. Unfortu-
nately, the incumbent carriers have decided not to add frequencies or increase the
size of the aircraft on the route, despite demonstrable unmet demand. As a result,

the threshold is not triggered. United is shut out of the market. Chicago suffers
from an artificial constraint on growth on the world's largest traffic corridor. And
consumers from Chicago and the beyond-gateway points in the Midwest and West
do not enjoy the benefits of increased service and competition.
Even beyond this artificial constraint, Chicago suifers from archaic and inequi-

table designations under the Agreement that fail to recognize the importance of
CHare in the post-deregulation world. O'Hare is the largest airport in the world in

terms of passenger volume, aircraft operations, and number of non-stop destinations
served, with over 66.4 million passengers and 883,0G2 operations in 1994. Chicago
is the second most important gateway to Europe, but is only the seventh most im-
f>ortant gateway to London. In terms of non-stop seats, Boston and Miami, with
ocal populations that are less than half those of Chicago, have substantially more
non-stop London seats available to their passengers. Two U.S. carriers are allowed
to operate to London from JFK, Newaric, Miami, Boston, and LAX, but somehow not
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from the world's busiest airport. United's Chicago operation is by far the largest hub
without services to London. Just as it no longer makes sense after deregulation to
place our weakest carriers on international routes, it makes no sense whatsoever
to not exploit fully the vast connecting opportunities at the world's largest airport.
Because of Ollare's unsurpassed domestic feeder system (with non-stop service to

135 cities in the U.S.), the benefits from a second U.S. carrier to Heathrow are not
limited to the Chicago, Illinois, or even Midwest areas. Our studies indicate that
substantial beneficiaries of the interim deal include over 700,000 passengers from
throuehout the Middle and Western States, like Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colo-
rado, Kansas, Kentucky, Nevada, Oregon, Utah and Washington, many of whom are
forced today to pay higher prices, face limited carrier choice, and navigate circuitous
routes to connect through other, less convenient hubs. No other hub or airline com-
bination could serve more beyond-gateway passengers than United through O'Hare.
With regard to other aspects of the deal, suffice it to note that (1) the added Phila-

delphia service by British Airways would be beneficial for that city, althou^ the
benefit to BA does not approach that for United in the Chicago-Heathrow market;
(2) the regional U.K. service is helpful to the United States; (3) renewal of the Brit-
ish Airways/USAir code share would probably be necessary without an interim deal;

(4) the United States has allowed "Fly America traffic to go on numerous foreign
air carriers, including Lufthansa, KLM, Varig, Swissair, Sabena, and Saudia; the
United Kingdom allows U.S. carriers to bid on its governmental traffic; and the Bal-
timoreAVasnington areas would benefit by limited Fly America opportunities; (5)

"starburst" code-sharing is of equal benefit to all carriers; and (6) setting an aggres-
sive agenda and timetable for further liberalization talks can only be viewed as posi-

tive.

At bottom, the benefits of the draft interim agreement between the United States
and United Kingdom are substantial, broad, and weighed heavily in favor of the
United States. The United States should seize this historic opportunity and climb
the first rung of a stepladder that will lead to complete liberalization.

THE U.S. NEEDS TO SCHEDULE FORMAL NEGOTIATIONS WITH JAPAN

A decade ago, almost half of U.S. carriers' international revenues were earned
over the Atlantic. Now, the Asia Pacific region generates over 45 percent of U.S.
international revenues; the Atlantic, just over 37 percent. Unfortunately, while the
United States has a liberal bilateral with our third largest aviation partner, Japan,
this agreement has not been adhered to and is the subject of much discontent.
Under existing agreements, differences exist in the rights held by three U.S. car-

riers with long-term service to Japan (United, which purchased Pan Am's routes.

Northwest, and FedEx), and the carriers designated under various memoranda of
understanding (American, Delta, Continental, and UPS). Japan has taken the posi-

tion that only long-term carriers have Fifth freedom rights to operate beyond Japan,
and even those carriers are subject prior approval for capacity increases. This inter-

pretation has caused numerous disputes with U.S. carriers.

Regarding Japan, Chicago finds itself in a roughly comparable situation as in the

U.K. talks, only this time the hubbing carrier at O'Hare shut out of the lucrative

route—here Chicago-Tokyo—is American. Meanwhile, even though United's Chi-

cago-Tokyo route is the single highest demand segment in its system. United re-

mains limited to six flights a week, and encounters disputes over their fifth freedom
operations. Northwest has daily service from Chicago to Tokyo, but very limited do-

mestic connections. No carriers serve the new Kansai airport near Osaka from Chi-

cago, nor is there any service to Nagoya. Under any new agreement, this disservice

to the traveling public must end. American should be given comparable Chicago-

Tokyo authority; United should be allowed greater frequencies and fifth freedom
flexibility; and all carriers should have liberal access to Kansai.
Having said this, Chicago recognizes that numerous other factors must be taken

into account in our sensitive aviation relations with Japan. First, unlike auto parts,

aviation is one of the few trade sectors where the United States does very well. We
would appear to have 66 percent of the United States-Japan aviation market, and
U.S. carriers have fully 35 percent of all operations at Tokyo's Narita airport. Sec-

ond, Japan has a very limited capability to enter into an open skies agreement, as

its infrastructure is severely constrained. Unlike O'Hare, wnich has six commercial

runways, Narita only has one runway. Finally, because of current economic condi-

tions in Japan and at its major airlines, little demand would appear to exist to in-

crease service to the United States. As a result, Japan has neither the incentive nor

the capability to permit liberal access for all U.S. airlines.

These competing tensions must be discussed and resolved. We are encouraged by
reports that the parties are engaging in informal discussions. Given the enormous
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size of the markets, the interpretive restrictions that impede growth for both the
long-term and MOU carriers, and the continuing and increasing nature of disputes
over beyond rights, we believe that talks should begin formally and seriously to re-

pair the poor state of aviation relations between the United States and Japan.

CODE-SHARING AGREEMENTS MUST BE REVIEWED CAREFULLY AND CONSISTENTLY

Chicago recognizes that code-sharing is widespread, and it does not wish to stand
in the way of cooperative operating, marketing, or service agreements between air-

lines of different countries, especially where the agreement stands to benefit con-

sumers by providing "seamless" travel. Chicago will, however, insist on its rights as
landlord. Moreover, we are increasingly concerned that the DOT is engaging in a
haphazard approach to code-sharing, where a flight operated by one airline is listed

twice in computer reservation systems; once as a flight of the operating airline and
separately as a flight of the code-sharing airline.

Other than a loosely structured process to request a "statement of authorization"

(set up originally for wet lease arrangements), no formal process or factors appear
to exist to evaluate code-sharing applications. More troubling is the increasing tend-
ency of U.S. carriers to object at the DOT to the initiation or renewal of foreign air-

line service to various cities or other alliances whenever the host country of the for-

eign carrier objects to third-country code-sharing.
Two examples of this disturbing trend are the applications of Air India to initiate

service to Chicago and the American/LOT Polish agreement. Air India, the inter-

national nag carrier of the second largest country in the world, would like to serve

Chicago with local traffic ri^ts from Frankfurt or London. United and Northwest,
however, have objected to the service, because their code-sharing partners, Luft-

hansa and KLM, are having problems in India gaining approval of this third-coun-

try code-sharing. While local rights from the restrictive London market might be dif-

ficult to grant in light of the pendency of the U.K. talks, no justifiable reason exists

to withhold this new service, and the attendant trade and tourism benefits, from
Chicago and India.

Similarly, the DOT has delayed action on the code-sharing application of Amer-
ican and LOT Polish for over 7 months while it has tried to force the Polish govern-
ment to accede to the demands of United and Northwest for third-country

codesharing. While Chicago generally supports on economic grounds and competitive
necessity DOT authorization of international code-sharing agreements, we do object

when disputes over code-sharing are given greater precedence over more direct

international route opportunities for U.S. cities, or consummation of an alliance like

American/LOT Polish that can provide consumer benefits and competitive parity for

certain carriers. Reasonable minds can and do differ on the relative merits of code-

sharing; we would only encourage the DOT to be careful and consistent and not

prioritize third-country code-sharing over direct service between the two countries.

THE FUTURE OF LIBERALIZATION LIES IN MEASURED STEPS

Given the current competitive position of U.S. carriers in international markets,
Chicago believes that the Federal Government needs to be firm on insisting upon
its hard-fought rights, but sensitive to the unique situation of each bilateral negotia-

tion. Many foreign air carriers are undergoing drastic restructuring or privatization.

Airport and airways infrastructure has failed to keep pace with the burgeoning de-

mand for air travel. Following the successful models of Germany and Canada, we
should recognize that open competition sometimes is only possible after a transi-

tional period of incremental benefit.

While pursuing multilateral accords, we support efforts to be pragmatic and reach
bilateral agreements that stimulate more air travel, increase competition, create

jobs, and pave the way for broader liberalization, like the interim agreement be-

tween the U.S. and the U.K. We support the formation of a global coalition of like-

minded, free market-oriented nations to significantly advance liberalization. As his-

tory has shown, bombastic rhetoric and renunciation is counter-productive and un-
necessarily harms cities, consumers, and all air carriers. Quiet diplomacy, focused

on the achievable, balanced by all views, will often produce more demonstrable,
long-term benefits.

We appreciate this opportunity to present our views on international aviation to

the Committee.
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Testimony of Patricia A. Friend

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee, it is a privilege to have this
opportunity to share our views with you on international aviation policy. TTie Asso-
ciation of Flight Attendants, AFL-CIO, represents 36,000 flight attendants at 24
U.S. carriers.

AFA has long believed that U.S aviation policy must be based on the recognition
that aviation services form an integral part of the U.S. infrastructure, essential to
the efficient transport of people and goods. In addition, in times of international con-
flict, our militfiry effectiveness has been significantly enhanced by the participation
of U.S. carriers in the Civil Reserve Air Fleet (CRAF) program.
Other countries are similarly dependent on their domestic aviation services. For

this reason, their airlines were often state-owned relatively recently. While state
ownership is not essential to ensure domestic control, it is important that we pre-
serve the essence of policies now in place to ensure that U.S. carriers are owned
and effectively controlled by U.S. citizens Cabotage, which would permit foreign car-

riers to fly point to point in the U.S. domestic market, must remain outlawed. The
impact of cabotage on the security of our aviation infrastructure would be exceeded
only by its impact on the job security of hundreds of thousands of U.S. workers in

the commercial aviation industry.

In addition, we have long believed that the bilateral process serves the best inter-

ests of U.S. carriers. The process facilitates negotiations which exchange rights for

rights and values for values. Transportation issues have their own forum and can-
not be traded against communications or banking interests as they might be if avia-

tion were part of a larger General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS).
While in the past, we have been encouraged by the International Civil Aviation

Organization's (ICAO) actions in reviewing existing regulations, we were profoundly
concerned to discover, just before a ICAO-sponsored conference late last year, that
what was being proposed, with the encouragement of our own government, was a
radical restructuring of international aviation regulation. This proposal would vir-

tually eliminate the concept of flag carriers. Proponents of greater liberalization fa-

vored four model agreement proposals to eliminate the existing regulatory "barriers"

to international aviation.

The first, concerning the right of establishment, addresses legal limits on foreign
investment. At the present time, some states prohibit foreign investment in domes-
tic carriers while others set limits to ensure domestic control. The new proposal is

two-fold: states would agree to limit barriers to foreign investment and to permit
foreign carriers the right to operate in their territory. Under this proposal, British

Airways, Japan Airlines or Swissair could then acquire majority control of U.S. car-

rier or set up a domestic operation in the United States. The latter concept, cabo-

tage, currently is illegal in counties throughout the world.

The second recommendation would permit employment of non-national personnel
on foreign -controlled carriers. Foreign nationals could be used to perform manage-
rial, sales technical and operations duties for the airlines. Standard immigration
limits would be erased for virtually every category of aviation employee. The avail-

ability of U.S. employees skilled to provide such services would not be relevant. This
is tantamount to an open invitation for U.S. carriers to export our jobs.

Another provision lavored in the four point model would permit a carrier to be
owned and controlled by a foreign aviation treaty partner so long as the head-
quarters of the carrier remained in the state. The final proposal of the group was
for unrestricted market access.

Even without this radical restructuring, work that very well could be done by U.S.

citizens or green card holders is being shipped abroad today In the late 1980's, in

a strikingly familiar vein, the government proposal to facilitate additional mainte-

nance work on U.S. planes by repair shops overseas. That effort was stopped just

as this new attack on our jobs must be.

Such exportation of well—paid U.S. jobs threatens all airline workers. Flight at-

tendants are facing a more immediate challenge. U.S. carriers have stepped up hir-

ing flight attendants abroad, arguing that such moves provide two important: cost

savings and foreign language capabilities in a single stoke. American Airlines has
hired over 700 flight attendants in Latin America while Northwest employs over 550
hired in various Asian countries. Charter carriers like American Trans Air and
Tower also has foreign bases in Tel Aviv, Bombay and New Delhi while United Air-

lines has flight attendant base operations in Bangkok, Singapore, Taipei, Paris and
London. All are non-union with the exception of American's flight attendants in

Buenos Aires, United's flight attendants in Singapore and three UAL bases (Taipei,

Paris and London) where the carrier has agreed to apply AFA's collective bargaining
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agreement. The Taipei, Paris and London bases have both U.S. and local flight at-

tendants represented by AFA.
In July of this year, United plans to open an additional foreign domicile in Hong

Kong. United has used foreign domiciles and local hiring as a way around certain
contact provisions it finds restrictive. Meanwhile, more and more of our most lucra-

tive, senior positions are being exported to low-paid new hires in foreign countries.

The issue is not just who does the woric, but how safe are our skies. In an emer-
gency, how well can flight attendants hired abroad communicate in English? Will
passengers understand their commands? Will foreign-bom flight attendants under-
stand their fellow U.S.-bom fli^t attendants? Will they understand communica-
tions from the cockpit and will they be able to make themselves understood to the
cockpit and to the passengers?
This is a relatively new concern and it is important to put it into context. Until

recently, international flying was done by TWA and Pan Am. At TWA, in the mid-
70's, the carrier closed the foreign flight attendant domiciles and hired language-

Sualifled flight attendants in the U.S. Pan Am always hired language qualified
irfit attendants in the United States. But all that happened before deregulation.
Now, our carriers tell us that they hire abroad for economic reasons. The carriers

may believe that safety is not being compromised since these individuals go through
flight attendant training in English. They believe successful completion of training
should be proof enough of their English language skills. But flight attendant train-

ing is rarely designed to specifically test communication skills in an emergency.
Crew Resource Management training will not become mandatory for a few more
years. Training is still based on individual exercises rather than emergency simula-
tions involving group interaction.

From our experience on the line, we provide a diflerent perspective. Below are two
examples of how important English language proficiency is to safety. In one case,

the pilot announced "flight attendants, prepare for landing". This announcement is

given during fli^t to signal the flight attendants to check that seat belts are fas-

tened, tray tables stored, seat backs in the uprights position and carry-on baggage
is stowed in preparation for landing. A non-U.S. bom flight attendant did not under-
stand the command. Rather than make a cabin check, the flight attendant re-

sponded by disarming her door, an action appropriate only when the plane has
landed.

In another case, during an evacuation, a foreign-bom flight attendant disarmed
the door before opening it. The U.S.-bom flight attendant near him shouted "close

the door" repeatedly, but he did not understand. As a result, the door was not usa-
ble for the evacuation. What these two examples illustrate is that the most basic
fli^t attendant responsibilities have not been absorbed, and that language barriers

,can override current training in the pressure of real world performance of duties.

We should not wait for an accident to prove the point.

As the aviation industry globalizes, so does the work. But national protections for

workplace safety and health, for fair pay, job security, reasonable benefits and de-
cent working conditions often stay at home. Because globalization is in its early
stages, how it will affect worker rights and passenger safety is an unfolding story.

Clearly, the bilateral process has produced benefits to U.S. carriers. As our union
celebrates 50th anniversary, Americans continue to enjoy the world's largest and
safest aviation industry. U.S. major carriers represent 57% of current world traflic.

The Federal Aviation Administration has projected that domestic and international
traflic wiU increase into the next century.
The Federal Government should take steps to build upon our safety record and

to enhance our industry's competitive situation while protecting American jobs. The
government should also continue to reject efi'orts to introduce cabotage into the
American market. In reviewing U.S. international aviation policy, we urge the Avia-
tion Subcommittee to take into consideration the impact globalization will have on
American aviation workers and the safety of passengers.
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Independent Federation of Flight Attendants

720 Olive Street, Suite 1700, St. Louis, MO 63101

Tel. (314)621-1177 • Fax (314) 621-3722

May 23, 1995

The Honorable John McCain
Chairman

Subcommittee on Aviation

427 Hart Office Building

Washington, D.C. 20510

Dear Mr. Chairman:

Re: IntematicHial Aviation Policy

Hearings - May 24, 1995

Please include the following comments as part of the record for the hearings

being held on May 24, 1995 with its focus on the U.S.- U.K. bilateral agreement:

On behalf of the 5,000 flight attendants at Trans World Airlines (TWA)
represented by the Independent Federation of Flight Attendants (IFFA), I write to

strongly urge congress to promote and encourage a much more liberal bilateral

agreement between the United States and the United Kingdom. As employee-owners,

the flight attendants share TWA management's concern over the loss of revenue

resulting from TWA not operating a New York - London route. It is estimated that the

addition of this route could generate an additional $100 million annually. TWA is the

only major carrier without New York - Lx)ndon service, and this heavily impacts its

ability to compete in Europe.

TWA's precarious financial condition makes the renegotiating of the U.S.-U.K.

bilateral a crucial issue for its employees. Congress is not responsible for management

decisions that have placed the carrier in its current situation, nor is it responsible for

the previous majority stockholder who negotiated the sale of these lucrative routes. TTie

23,000 hard-working TWA employees were not responsible for the route sale, but are

left, as employee-owners of the airline, to rebuild this airline and secure its, and their.
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future. But congress can play a role in assuring that U.S. air carriers compete on a

level playing field. The Briti^ used the transfer of Heathrow access from Pan Am and

TWA to update and expand U.K. carrier rights imder the bilateral. Consequently, the

current bilateral has six authorized but unused authorities to Heathrow from U.S.

gateways. Unlike the recent Delta-Virgin Atlantic code share, TWA would be truly

adding new service and giving the consumer another choice from New York.

All 23,000 TWA employee-owners and management have made tremendous

sacrifices to rebuild our carrier. Labor-management relations are greatly improved, and

new labcff^ agreements have lowered costs. In fact, TWA costs are now among the

lowest in the industry while its work force remains one of the most experienced.

It is in the public's and the nation's best interest for U.S.- U.K negotiations to

make an open skies bilateral agreement. Just as the U.S. is now taking a stand

criticizing Japan for uaSaii competition, it is also time to confront the British for similar

actions. Short of open sides, efforts should be made to assure that existing authorities

are available to U.S. carriers; TWA should be awarded a New York - London route.

Please feel free to contact me or our Washington representative Joan Wages at

703-548-3676 with questions.

Sincerely,

Vicki Rankovich
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I Senator McCain. And the record will be left open so that other
interested parties or individuals may submit statements.

Statement of Philip M. Crane

Chairman McCain, Senator Ford, Members of the Subcommittee:
I appreciate the opportunity to submit, for the hearing record, my views on the

negotiations for a new bilateral air agreement between the United States and the
United Kingdom. As Chairman of the Trade Subcommittee of the House Ways and
Means Committee, I am particularly cognizant of the relationship between inter-

national trade in aviation services and international trade in U.S. manufacturing
goods.

As I understand it, U.S. negotiators now have within their grasp an agreement
with the United Kingdom that would, at long last, permit a second U.S. carrier to

operate between our busiest airport, Chicago's CHare International, and Europe's
most important destination, London's Heathrow Airport. This service, without a
doubt, is one of the most important international transportation needs facing the
United States today. Not only would it be of great economic benefit to one of Ameri-
ca's largest and most significant trading centers, but it represents a major oppor-
tunity for all those for whom Chicago is the most direct and convenient gateway be-
tween the United States and London.
United Airlines, which operates its primary hub at CHare, has long been inter-

ested in obtaining Chicago-London authority in order to allow it to compete with the
two carriers now providing service on the route, British Airways and American Air-
lines. Unfortunately, United has been shut out of that market because of the restric-

tive nature of the existing bilateral aviation agreement between the United States
and the United Kingdom, sometimes known as "Bermuda 2. This situation has left

the Chicago-London market with hi^er prices, fewer seats and fewer passengers
than would be expected if the Chicago-London route enjoyed true competition.
Therefore, the United States should not forego the opportunity to eliminate one of
the most significant of the Bermuda 2 restrictions, and in the process, promote such
competition on one of its most important transatlantic routes.

I hear that some carriers are urging our government to defer negotiating this new
route opportunity until a broader aviation agreement with the United Kingdom can
be developed. Certainly, the United States should pursue liberal trade agreements
whenever and wherever it can. But that does not mean that U.S. consumers, U.S.
exporters, J.S. passengers and U.S. shippers should forego valuable, immediate op-

portunities while our government negotiators pursue the "perfect" agreement, espe-
cially as the peak summer traffic season approaches. A United Airlines route from
O'Hare to Heathrow would bring much-needed competition to U.S. consumers in a
market currently dominated by a single carrier from each country. In return, British
Airways would be allowed two rather limited benefits: (1) a modest expansion of its

Philadelphia-London services (thus helping residents of that city cope with the re-

cent termination of American Airlines' Philadelphia-London services) and (2) the op-
portunity to participate in transporting government traffic in a limited number of
markets, under the "Fly America" Act, through its code share partner, USAir (as

other foreign code-share partners of U.S. carriers already are allowed to do).

The economic value of these concessions simply does not compare with the benefit
to be gained by allowing a second U.S. carrier in the Chicago-London maricet. Nei-
ther could it be argued that, by making these compromises with the other side, the
United States has eliminated the incentive for the United Kingdom to negotiate in

the next phase of the talks. To the contrary, given the limited scope of the British

gains so far, it would appear that the United Kingdom would have every incentive
to continue to negotiate in good faith.

In short, successful trade negotiations are exercises in pragmatism. Here, prag-
matism plus the clear interests of the United States, argue for concluding a deal
with Great Britain that will allow United Airlines to initiate direct service this year
between its hub at O'Hare and London's Heathrow Airport. Opportunities this valu-
able, at a cost this low, have been in short supply where the United Kingdom is

concerned. The United States should not pass up this opportunity to bring competi-
tive service to the Chicago-London market on the chance that a better offer will

present itself in the next round of talks.
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Statement of Jeffrey P. Fegan

My name is Jeffrey P. Fegan. I am the Executive Director of the Dallas/Fort

Worth International Airport, this nation's and the world's second busiest in terms
of operations. I appreciate the opportunity to submit this written testimony to you
on tne current U.S./U.K. negotiations. The stakes for DFW Airport and the entire

Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex conmiunity in this negotiation are enormous.
During its deliberations, I would respectfully suggest that the Committee focus on

three issues as it examines today the current U.S./tj.K. aviation relationship.

First, how did the U.S. GJovemment come to the decision to seek a "mini-deal"

that benefits just one airline and one U.S. city?

Second, why is the U.S. Government now shifting its negotiating goals to make
a third Heathrow route for Chicago its highest priority with the British, while DFW
and many other U.S. cities are still looking for tneir first Heathrow service?

Third, should the United States' goal with the United Kingdom continue to be a
significant opening up of the U.S.-London market, with multiple new opportunities

for Heathrow service available for new U.S. cities and airlines? If so, then will the

current U.S. mini-deal strategy get us to the finish line?

My airport's and my communities' position is simple. A deal that benefits just one
U.S. city and one airline is not going to open-up the U.S.-U.K. market. We do favor

an agreement with the United Kingdom, even a small one, so long that it provides

real Heathrow opportunities for a number of U.S. cities and airlines. It must be an
agreement that ^breaks" the current Heathrow "wall" under the Bermuda 2 agree-

ment that allows only two U.S. airlines to serve Heathrow from a small list of
grandfathered U.S. cities (and none from the South or Southwest). The fact is that
these limitations have not changed since 1977.

Clearly, Dallas/Fort Worth would prefer to have Open Skies with the U.K. How-
ever, it is obvious that the British are not willing to negotiate Open Skies until Brit-

ish Airways decides whether it wants to expand its investment in USAir—a decision

that is probably many months off. We see no advantage to an "Open Skies-or-noth-
ing" approach that may take years to resolve. If an interim deal can be negotiated
with tne United Kingdom that provides meaningful opportunities for a number of

U.S. cities and airlines, then the U.S. Government should seize the opportunity. In
contrast, we see no benefit in a "mini-deal" that is narrowly focussed on one city

and one airline.

We do not fathom why U.S. aviation policy should make a third Heathrow route
for Chicago the top priority when DFW still lacks its first route to Heathrow. Other
U.S. cities also want Heathrow access, and other U.S. airlines seek their first routes
to Heathrow. (United of—2—course already serves Heathrow today from four U.S.
cities other than Chicago.) We are at a loss to understand why the U.S. negotiating
team has chosen such a narrow focus in its approach with the British.

Mr. Chairman, let me be clear with the Committee what the stakes are for DFW
in this negotiation.

Dallas/Fort Worth has nonstop London service provided by American Airlines and
British Airways. This is one of our premiere international routes. The airlines to-

gether offer three daily nonstop flights, and even more during the summer months.
But because of the Bermuda 2 agreement both services are flown into London
Gatwick Airport. We have no Heathrow service today. We are convinced that sub-
stantial economic benefits would flow to the community if our hub carrier, Amer-
ican, could fly this route into Heathrow.
American and Dallas/Fort Worth have long sought the right for American to be

able to switch some or all of its DFW flights into London Heathrow. This issue was
tabled and pursued by the U.S. Government during the 1990 Heathrow
Successorship Negotiations but rejected by the U.K. at that time. Moreover, DFW/
Heathrow switch rights were also a U.S. Government objective throughout the
1992-93 so-called liberalization talks with the United Kingdom.
There are sound economic reasons why Dallas/Fort Worth Airport and its owner

cities continue to seek a change to Bermuda 2 that would allow us to receive DFW-
Heathrow service. It is well known that existing Gatwick service is not a substitute
for Heathrow service for connections to the Continent, Africa and Asia, and to serve
the north London market. In—3—particular, there are substantial trade and busi-
ness relationships between the Dallas/Fort Worth area and the Middle East and
South Africa that could be better served with a Heathrow connection.

Dallas/Fort Worth is also competitively disadvantaged compared with other U.S.
gateways that now enjoy Heathrow service under the Bermuda 2 agreement. DFW,
the second busiest airport in the world, is restricted to Gatwick service, while New
Yoric, Chicago, Miami, Boston, Washington, Los Angeles, San Francisco and Seattle
enjoy nonstop London/Heathrow service.
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Our business and corporate travelers have nonstop access to over one hundred
cities in North America from DFW, and they can fly nonstop to London, Paris,

Frtmkfurt, Tokyo and Sao Paulo. Yet if they want to go to the Middle East or South
Africa, we must route them via Chicago or New York because we lack a Heathrow
connection. What is just as frustrating is that smaller U.S. cities such as Boston
and Seattle can promote their Heathrow service, while DFW cannot.
The United States has already added new Heathrow rights to its negotiating

agenda by proposing a second U.S. carrier Chicago-Heathrow route for United Air
Lines. Public policy would seem to dictate that DFW should receive its first

Heathrow access if Chicago is going to receive a third Heathrow route (beside flights

today by American and British Airways). Adding DFW/Heathrow switch rights

would satisfy long-frustrated and long-sought needs of the Dallas/Fort Worth
Metroplex. Such a modiflcation to the Agreement should not pose a major hurdle
for the United Kingdom.
The fact of the matter is that the new opportunities currently being sou^t by the

U.S. Government mainly serve British interests. Except for a new Chicago-London
route for United, the proposed mini-deal does not satisfy any aspirations of Dallas/

Fort Worth, its major nub carrier or any other major airline or U.S. community. Be-
sides the United/Chicago route, the mini-deal includes backdoor Fly America rights

for British Airways, further approval of the British Airways/USAir code shares, ad-

ditional Philadelphia frequencies for British Airways, beyond London change of
gauge/code-share rights for U.S. carriers, and rather meaningless U.K. airline rights

to serve some U.S. cities from U.K. regional airports like Birmingham, Manchester
and Glasgow. While new rights for each side are somewhat balanced, the U.S. bene-
fits go principally to one airline and one city.

If the British are to receive something of value in this negotiation—and we think
there is a lot in the present package for them—then more U.S. needs than just those
of one city and one U.S. airline must be satisfied. At minimum, the U.S. negotiating

position must continue to seek new Heathrow switch opportunities including the
right for American Airlines to be able to switch its DFW-London services to

Heathrow Airport.

We believe strongly that the Administration should stick to its initial U.K. nego-
tiating strategy forged in late March which linked Fly America rights for the U.K.
side to increased Heathrow opportunities for U.S. carriers and communities. That
strategy still holds the most promise of converting a parochial one airline/one city

negotiation into an agreement that can benefit a number of U.S. interests and truly

open-up the U.S.-U.K. market. Unfortunately, the U.S. negotiators abandoned this
approach in their most recent discussions with the United Kingdom.
The U.S. Government's decision made earlier this month to change its position

and not seek Heathrow switch rights as part of the so-called Phase 1 "mini-deal"
was unwise and should be reconsidered. The limited Phase 1 agreement, as we un-
derstand it, would be signed in early June; new Heathrow opportunities would be
deferred until Phase 2 which is open-ended and could take months—or years—to

complete. The backdoor Fly America rights that the Administration now proposes
to include for the United Kingdom in Phase 1—without any Heathrow switcn oppor-
tunities—gives the United Kingdom most of what it wants, and leaves the United
States with little leverage to secure the Heathrow opportunities it seeks in the pro-

posed Phase 2 negotiations.
Surely the "very limited and balanced deal on access to London Heathrow" envi-

sioned by the U.S. Government for Phase 2 can and should be included in the agree-
ment to be negotiated June 1-2. Insisting on this element will not be the straw that
breaks the camel's back. Dallas/Fort Worth is not satisfied with the Administra-
tion's announced goal of only an agreement on an agenda and a timetable for Phase
2. We truly question whether the deal will ever be consummated.
The U.K. proposals for the mini-deal agreement provided during the recent May

round in London raises some fundamental issues that call into question the "mini-
deal" strategy that the United States is currently pursuing, and provides support
for our position that Heathrow switch rights should be a part of any Phase 1 agree-
ment. It is this broader interim deal the U.S. should be seeking, not the current
one city/one airline mini-deal. This is highlighted by two facts.

First, the U.K. is proposing that exercise of the new United/Chicago rights is con-
tingent on, among other things, receipt of a Justice Department letter apparently
stating that carriage of code-snare Fly America trafllc by British Airways will not
violate U.S. antitrust laws. Such a letter normally would require three to four

months processing time by Justice from date of submission. The only point to rush-
ing to conclude the "mini-deal" on June 1-2 and forgoing new Heathrow opportuni-
ties until Phase 2 is arguably so that United can operate its new Chicago route
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through the peak summer season. The U.K. position would make this an impossibil-

ity, and undercuts the alignment for a mini-deal limited to Chicago/United only.

Second, the United Kingdom is raising the Fl^ America "ante" by insisting on
rights on the New York/Newaric-and San Franasco-London sectors on top of the

\^^8hington/Baltimore-London sectors offered by the United States. If major Fly

America routes like New York-London are includ.ed in the Phase 1 deal, there is lit-

tle incentive for the United Kingdom to return for Phase 2. Moreover, the U.K.
strategy of trying to "frontload" Fly America rights in Phase 1 calls into question

their sincerity about trying to reach promptly in July a Phase 2 agreement.

In light of the problems hi^lighted by the U.K.'s May proposal, DaUas/Fort

Worth has urged the Administration to seek inclusion of the balanced Heathrow ex-

change in the Phase 1 negotiations. While this may mean that an agreement cannot

be reached June 1-2, it is not clear that an early agreement will result in any im-

mediately useable new rights for the United States (i.e., Chicago/United). We would
rather see an agreement reached later this summer that is balanced for both sides,

including some Heathrow switch rights, rather than the proposed Phase 1 and
Phase 2 linkage that would carry with it, in our opinion, a high probability of failure

and mutual recrimination.

In sunmiary, DFW Airport supports the negotiation of an interim deal with the

United Kingdom at this time provided that the Agreement includes some new
Heathrow opportunities for both sides. One such opportunity should be the right for

American Ajrlines to switch its DFW-London flights to Heathrow. We are opposed

to the current U.S. Government effort to conclude a parochial one airline/one city

mini-deal. The key for us is an agreement that provides some Heathrow opportuni-

ties for multiple U.S. cities and airlines and "breaks" the current Bermuda 2 restric-

tions that limit which U.S. cities and airlines can have Heathrow service. We be-

lieve that such an agreement can be achieved this summer, and we urge the Com-
mittee to encourage the Administration to pursue that path.

Thank you.

Statement of Jeffrey Hamiel

The Minneapolis-St. Paul Metropolitan Airports Commission ("MAC") owns and
operates a system of seven airports in the Minneapolis-St. Paul metropolitan area.

Tne largest of those airports is Minneapolis-St. Paul International ("MSP'), which
is a major hub for Northwest Airlines. MSP receives international air service from
Tokyo, Amsterdam, Frankfurt, and from a number of Canadian cities. MAC requests

that this testimony be considered and entered into the record of the hearing on
international air service held by the Subcommittee on May 24, 1995.

At that hearing, Kenneth Mead, Director of Transportation and Telecommuni-
cations Issues with the U.S. General Accounting Office, testified that DOT should
wei^ the value of international air service agreements based on an economic analy-

sis that demonstrates the comparison of costs and benefits of the proposed agree-

ment's terms. While MAC agrees, MAC feels strongly that GAO's recitation of the

factors to be weighed in the cost-benefit balance is too limited. In particular, the

value of international air service to U.S. communities must be included in any valid

calculation of the benefits of international air service agreements. MAC supports
and would emphasize the testimony offered to this effect by Mr. George Doughty
of the Lehigh-Northampton Airport Authority on behalf of a number of airports.

MAC has had a recent demonstration of the benefits that a new liberal air service

agreement can have on the air service to a single destination, and of the economic
benefits of such new service. In April, the United States signed a liberal air service

agreement with Canada. That agreement created an "open skies" regime between
the United States and all but three Canadian cities. In April, before the new Cana-
dian agreement, MSP was receiving 61 international flights a week. By July, MSP
will be receiving almost three times that number of international flights, with the
majority coming from Canada. MAC projects that the economic benefits to the com-
munity of the new air service will be approximately $500 million in the first year,

in expenditures by tourist and business travelers, in new economic activity created
by enhanced trade opportunities, and in other direct and indirect benefits. Similarly,

Northwest's recently instituted weekly MSP Tokyo service is projected to have eco-

nomic benefits of approximately $80 million per year. MAC notes as well that while
MAC is pleased to receive international service from Northwest, our hubbing car-

rier, many of the economic benefits of new international service to communities are
independent of whether the service is provided by a United States or foreign carrier.

These economic impacts are concrete, practical benefits to U.S. communities and
U.S. citizens. These real benefits should be weighed in the cost-benefit balance when
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the Value" of a new air service agreement is calculated. A calculation that stops
with assessing the impact on air carrier revenues is invalid; not only does it omit
economic benefits to U.S. communities of increased service from U.S. carriers, but
it counts as a cost the increased access to the U.S. market for foreign carriers, even
though such service will create new opportunities for economic growth in the U.S.
communities served. In summary, a carrier-centered economic analysis is too limited
and will result in more restrictive agreements, fewer international flights, and
missed opportunities for U.S. communities.
MAC appreciates this opportunity to present its views on this subject to the Com-

mittee.

Statement of Mary Rose Loney

My name is Mary Rose Loney, and I am the Director of Aviation for the city of
Philadelphia. Among other things, my ofiice oversees the operation of Philadelphia
International Airport. I am providing this Statement to the Senate Aviation Sub-
committee to express Philadelphia's views regarding the important issues which the
Subcommittee is exploring at its May 24 hearing concerning proposed changes to

the United States-United Kingdom bilateral aviation relationship. I ask that this

statement be considered and received for the record.

For the reasons below, the city of Philadelphia strongly siipports the package of
proposed changes which have been discussed at the recent U.S.-U.K. aviation talks.

As matters now stand, it appears that after several rounds of painstakingly slow
negotiations the two sides are close to an agreement on substantially liberalizing

the U.S.-U.K. aviation regime, in a two-phase process. The first phase will, among
other things, authorize a second U.S. carrier to fly between Chicago and London,
allow British Airways to operate a second daily Philadelphia-London service, provide
open-skies for U.S. carriers at U.K. regional airports, and significantly increase the
flexibility of U.S. airlines to operate codeshare service beyond London to Europe.
As for Philadelphia-London service, the proposal to authorize double-daily service

by British Airways will simply allow Philadelphia to maintain its historic level of
twice-daily London service. Philadelphia's historic level of London service was tem-
porarily lost when American Airlines terminated its Philadelphia-London flights

early this year, and no U.S. carrier has sou^t to replace that service. In fact, Phila-
delphia is one of the most underserved international U.S. gateways relative to its

population and traffic levels. Thus, authorizing a second daily London service will

create economic benefits where thev are most needed and deserved.
Moreover, while the increased Philadelphia-London service might aid British Air-

ways, it benefits Philadelphia and the Tri-State region much more. Frequent, de-

pendable London air service is vital to the citizens, businesses and economy of this

region. A number of economic studies have shown that the value of international
air service (provided by either a United States or foreign carrier) to a gateway com-
munity ranges in the hundreds of millions of dollars annually. This economic impact
on the community far outstrips the financial impact of the air service on the air car-

rier itself. International air service not only increases travel options for local and
connecting passengers, it spurs economic growth by creating jobs, spurring exports,
expanding tourism and attracting new business. Consequently, by any reasonable
measure, the proposal to authorize increased Philadelphia-London service by British
Airways is a net benefit to the United States.

For similar reasons, it is abundantly clear that the phase I agreement as a whole
would product net economic benefits for the United States. The economic impact on
the Philadelphia and Chicago regions from expanded London services, coupled with
the financial benefit to United Airlines from new Chicago-Heathrow service and the
positive impact on U.S. carriers from expanded code-sharing opportunities and serv-

ice to U.K. regional points, far outweigh the relatively limited benefits available to

the United Kingdom from the phase I agreement.
White this initial phase of liberalization provides enormous benefits to the United

States, it is not surprising that, as merely the first step in a continuing process,
it does not accommoaate the "wish list" of every U.S. airline and every U.S. commu-
nity. If the United States were to insist on an agreement which accommodated all

those interests at once before taking any initial steps, the United States would
never reach an agreement to liberalize aviation with the United Kingdom, or with
any other trading partner for that matter. The important point is that the package
now on the negotiating table not only provides significant, tangible benefits to the
United States, out it is a vital first step to even broader liberalization of U.S.-U.K.
aviation relations. If we do not take the first step, there will be no second step, i.e..
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no liberalization with the United Kingdom for the foreseeable future. That would
be a tragic lost opportunity.
The second phase of liberalization, which the two sides have begun to explore, will

grovide additional opportunities for U.S. airlines to serve London Heathrow and
^atwick airports, as well as relaxation of U.S.-U.K. charter rules, pricing, and cargo

services. However, this broader liberalization will not occur unless the initial phase
is first agreed upon. If the two sides fail to agree on the first phase, the United
States wul lose not only the enormous benefits available initially but also wUl lose

the opportunity for the substantial additional benefits that are expected from the
second phase.

In a perfect world, Philadelphia would prefer to have an agreement that creates
full ana immediate liberalization of the U.K. aviation regime. Yet, all realistic ob-
servers understand that ideal is not achievable. On the other hand, the U.S. has
a rare and valuable opportunity to begin the process of meaningful liberalization

with the U.K. now. Philadelphia submits that the U.S. should seize this opportunity,
to make real, demonstrable progress where it is achievable as a first step, and then
to pursue vigorously a broader liberalization in the second step. By doing so, the
U.iS. will take a pragmatic, efTective approach with an enormous payoff that will

benefit the traveling public, the airlines, and the communities of this country.
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Mr. Chairman, Members of the Committee. I am Edward J. Driscoll,

President and Chief Executive Officer of the National Air Carrier

Association (NACA) . We are pleased to have this opportunity to

present our views with respect to the U.S. /U.K. bilateral

negotiations and specifically to address the Fly America Act as

well as the recjuirement to negotiate a broad-based agreement which

would include a so-called Belgian Charter Article, as well as

pricing and cargo operations including beyond rights on a fifth

freedom basis to points beyond the United Kingdom.

NACA represents United States certificated airlines who operate

under the provisions of Part 121 of the FAR's, and who perform

scheduled and charter services on a worldwide basis for the

movement of passengers, cargo, and combination services. Services

are provided domestically as well as internationally. Our member

carriers are: American Trans Air, Evergreen International Airlines,

Miami Air International, Rich International Airways, Southern Air

Transport, Tower Air, and World Airways, Inc.. Attached as Exhibit

1 is a summary of what each of the carriers offer to the general

public, including their areas of operation, type of aircraft, and

performance data.

Mr. Chairman, I would like to address several subjects. These

include national security requirements, the Civil Reserve Air Fleet

program (CRAF) , and the Fly America Act. These three subjects are

all inter-related and each is an essential part of the whole. In
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addition, I will address commercial requirements for charter and

beyond rights for scheduled service.

The National Security Requirements.

The United States is totally dependent upon airlift for immediate

deployment of its combat elements to areas throughout the world

when emergencies arise.

While the U.S. has an organic fleet, composed of military aircraft,

these are insufficient to provide the level of support and the

capability needed to deploy troops and equipment to the far corners

of the world.

The deployment is supported by the Civil Reserve Air Fleet program.

As you know, this program requires civil air carriers to commit

capability in support of national defense objectives whenever

CINCTRANSCOM or the Secretary of Defense declares an airlift

emergency. The National Airlift Policy of 1987 provides the

guidance. The Civil Reserve Air Fleet program was activated during

Desert Shield/Desert Storm and the U.S. air carriers distinguished

themselves in the degree of support they provided to the military,

without which the tremendous outpouring of men, munitions and arms

by the U.S. and other nations to the Persian Gulf could not have

been achieved.

I
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The Civil Reserve Air Fleet Program.

The Civil Reserve Air Fleet program is an essential element of

national security and is dependent upon incentives to ensure that

the air carriers are able to provide the capability assigned during

emergencies. Peacetime air transportation requirements are one of

the incentives that stimulate the air carriers to make that

capability available to meet Department of Defense objectives when

required.

It is interesting to note that during Desert Shield/Desert Storm,

even though foreign governments and carriers, especially the NATO

nations, were requested by the highest level of the United States

Government to provide aircraft to support the deployment of forces

in support of the U.N. action, no European country nor foreign

carrier responded by volunteering aircraft

.

All of our member carriers participate in the Civil Reserve Air

Fleet program and offer capability in support of military

operations during peacetime as well as during emergencies.

The NACA carriers are really the first line of support to the

military in event of emergency by offering capability either on a

voluntary basis or pursuant a call-up of the Civil Reserve Air

Fleet.
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While our carriers are the smaller U.S. carriers, their

contributions to a Stage 1 are relatively large. The NACA carriers

provide sixty-six percent of the passenger capability and twenty-

five percent of the cargo capability to the military under a Stage

1 call-up in support of emergency or war- type operations.

The NACA carriers have a distinguished record in support of

emergencies on a worldwide basis over an extended period of time

involving many different emergencies, the most notable being in

support of Desert Shield/Desert Storm.

Ply America Act.

The Fly America Act was specifically designed to ensure that

government -financed traffic is moved on U.S. aircraft, if

available, and only moved on foreign aircraft when U.S. capability

is not available or in areas where U.S. aircraft do not operate.

The Department of Defense has two programs inter-related for the

movement of Department of Defense traffic. One program is

administered by the Air Mobility Command (AMC) , who has annual

contracts in excess of $500 million for the movement of traffic,

cargo, passengers, in full plane-load lots. In addition, the

Department utilizes the services of the GSA City Pairs program in

moving substantial (individually ticketed ) traffic, possibly in

excess of $1 billion, by U.S. scheduled carriers, within the U.S.

91-114 0-95-6
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and between the U.S. and foreign points.

It order to participate in either program, the carriers must be

members of the Civil Reserve Air Fleet and have aircraft committed

to that fleet by specific tail number which they would make

available to the DOD upon the call of CINCTRANSCOM or the Secretary

of Defense, depending on the state of emergency whenever an

emergency situation exists.

Foreign carriers are permitted to move U.S. Government financed

traffic under code-share arrangements pursuant to a Comptroller

General's decision of 1991. (See exhibit 2).

NACA and its carriers do not support a policy that permits the use

of foreign carriers. Several scheduled carriers as well as NACA

have petitioned the Comptroller General to reconsider the 1991

decision. It is our understanding that this matter is under

consideration.

Mr. Chairman, we do not support the exchange of government traffic

with the U.K.

We do not believe that there is sufficient justification for

permitting code-share arrangements between BA and USAir for

government traffic.
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Surely, before the U.S. exchanges this right, the Department of

Transportation (DOT) must make an economic case that this is in the

best interest of the U.S.

To date we have seen no statistical evidence that would justify any

grant .

Chmxtmrm, Cargo and Bayond Rights.

It is essential that the U.S. obtain expanded rights for charters

and cargo as well as fifth freedom beyond rights for scheduled

services

.

The charter arrangement should be a Belgian- type charter provision

and the cargo regime should be open- skies. Fifth freedcxn beyonds

should be unlimited and should eventually be based on an open-skies

regime

.

This concludes my prepared statement.
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HATIOMAL AIR CARRIER AS80CIATIOM

POIMT PAPER

OM

CODE SHARE AND THE FLY AMERICA ACT

1. The U.S. law is clear that government financed or sponsored

traffic must move on U.S. air carrier aircraft if available unless

exempted pursuant to a bilateral agreement or multilateral

agreement between the United States and a foreign government or

governments provided such agreement is consistent with the Goals

for International Aviation Policy and provides for exchange of

rights or benefits of similar magnitude. (49 U.S.C 40118)

2. Except in one limited case; i.e., U.S. /Brazil bilateral, the

U.S. has never entered into an exchange of government-funded

traffic pursuant to a bilateral/multilateral in furtherance of the

provisions of the "Fly America Act" 49 U.S.C. 40118.

3. No code-share agreements cover the exchange of government

traffic. The U.K. understands this. Notwithstanding its

USAir/British Airways code share arrangements, the U.K. has stated

in a document filed with the National Commission to Ensure a Strong

Competitive Airline Industry, that the "Fly America Act" must be

emended or provision made to exchange government traffic under any

revised liberal agreement between the U.S. and the U.K.

4. It is our understanding that a majority of code-share

agreements entered into between foreign carriers and U.S. carriers

do not cover blocked space but permit the movement of traffic

between the carriers on an actual ticketed basis without the

guarantee of use of any number of seats; therefore, no blocked-

space arrangement exists as assumed in the Comptroller General's

decision.



161

5. The National Airlift Policy of the United States signed by the

President in 1987 was sponsored by the Department of Defense. The

Department of Defense coordinated the policy within the Executive

branch of government and submitted it to NSC for approval of the

President. While the Department of State, DOT and other agencies

are mentioned therein, that was for the purpose to emphasize that

the Policy to be negotiated by the U.S. in bilateral arrangements

with foreign governments and approved and directed by the

Department of Transportation by in furtherance of and in support of

the National Airlift Policy of the United States.

6. To that end the Department of Defense, by letter from the

Deputy Secretary of Defense dated June 16, 1994, restricts the

movement of DOD traffic to U.S. flag carriers who are members of

the CRAF program. That includes, not only traffic awarded by the

Air Mobility Command under contracts with that service, but also

the individually-ticketed traffic being moved under GSA-sponsored

contractual arrangements. (Copy attached)

7. All arrangements for the use of CRAF carriers require the

execution of a contract by the U.S. carrier by which it agrees to

provide specified niunbers of aircraft at the call of CINCTRANSCON,

Secretary of Defense, etc., under given circumstances and to

provide those aircraft within 24 to 48 hours with at least four

U.S. crews per aircraft.

8. Foreign carriers are ineligible to participate in the U.S.

CRAF prograa although they may be part of the NATO prograa.

Foreign carriers cannot participate in the AMC contracts nor under

Department of Defense directive, move DOD-sponsored traffic unless

U.S. air carriers are not available.

9. Major European carriers and European governments did not

provide any voluntary lift in support of Desert Shield/Desert Storm

deployments even though requested at the highest level of the U.S.

government. Therefore, to permit foreign carriers to transport
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U.S. financed or sponsored traffic works to the detriment of the

U.S. carriers, the Department of Defense and national security

objective.

EJD:hn
5/22/95
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THE DEPUTY SECRCTAHV OF DEFENSE
Attachment 2

WASHINCTON. D.C. tOlOl

I i JUI 1994

MEMORANDUM FOR SECRETARIES OF THE MILITARY DEFARTMENTS
CBAIRMAM OF THE JOIMT CHIEFS OF STAFF
UHOER SECRETARIES OF DBFCNSB
DIRECTOR, DEFENSE RESEARCH AND EMGIIIEERING
ASSISTANT SECRETARIES OF DEFENSE
COMPTROLUSR
GENERAL COUNSEL
INSPECTOR GENERAL
DIRECTOR, OPERATIONAL T^ST AND EVALUATION
ASSISTANTS TO THE SECRETARY OF DEFENSE
DIRECTOR, ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT
DIRECTORS OF THE DEFENSE AGENCIES
COMMANDERS OF THE UNIFIED COMMANDS

SUBJECTS Policy Memorandum on Transportation and Traffic
Managsaent

The partnership between tha Department of Defense (DoD) and
U.S. civil air carriers is critical to oor ability to mobilize,
deploy, and sustain our forces. This alliance Is embodied in tho
Civil Reserve Air Fleet (CRAF) program which provides for civil air
carriers to contractually pledge their airlift resources to support
DoD mobility requirements in times of emergency or contingency in
return for a portion of DoD's peacetime airlift business.

Because maintaining an effective relationship with the
commercial air carrier industry is essential to oar national
defense, I have directed the United States Transportation Command
(USTRANSCOM) to revitalize the CRAF program. To support this
revitallzation of CRAF, the following policy is established

t

(1) DoD shall utilize CRAF carriers to the maximum extent possible
unless Ihere is a documented negative, critical mission impact; and
(2) in accordance with applicable law, all future acquisitions of
DoD airlift services will require CRAF membership, if the carrier is
CRAF eligible, as a prerequisite for award. This policy shall be
disseminated to all levels in the Departswnt, including the
individual traveler and shipper of DoO cargo.

In furtherance of this policy, unless there is a documented
negative, critical adssion impact, the following priorities in order
of precedence, will be used for passenger and cargo airlifti

a. Air Mobility Command (AMC) arranged/operated airlift
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b. G«Mr«I S»rvic«« Jukdniatntion (CSA) arruigad/contrMtcd
Airlift on CRAT-carriar*

c. Othar 0.8. CMF e«rxi«rs

d. DoD-approvad U.S. flag carrier*

•. Hon DoD-approv*d 0.8. flag carriers (for individual travel)

f

.

DoO-approved foreign flag carrier*

g. Hon DoD>Bpproved carriera (for individual travel)

An integral part of this revitalixation prograa is to provide
airlift aervice that is reaponaive to cuatoner need*. Toward that
end, DSVKANSCCM, in coordination vltb the DoD Cenponents, is
directed to perfoxa a recurring assesaaent of airlift policy
coapliance with empbaaia on identification of factors which cause
deviation fron the policy. Thla will be accoapliahed using
commercial off-the-shelf aystems to the maximum extent poasible to
identify systemic non-use of specific contracted routes, an
evaluation of the customer's reasons for non-use, and recommended
corrective action. A report will be provided to the Deputy Under
Secretary of Defense (Logistics) by December 15 of each year,
reflecting a summary of airlift policy compliance, service
ahortfalls, and reccnmendations for improvement.

USTRANSCON Will develop a single requirements identification
process which will address the DoD Components' requirements for all
passenger airlift services, so that AHC and GSA contracted airlift
requirements are identified simultaneously to allow an optiaum mix
to be achieved. When airlift is procured to satisfy these
requirements, the requester may be responsible for reimbursement of
any unused airlift services acquired on their behalf.

This policy will be effective on October 1, 1994. All DoD,
Component, and Agency directives and regulations shall be modified
to refleot this guidance. USTRAH8C0M ahall fozvard language to the
Defense Acquisition Xegnlatory Council consistent with this aeao,
recosvtending inclusion in the Federal Acquisition Regulation (VAA).

TOTAL P.en
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Senator McCain. Thanks again for your patience today. Thank

you for participating in what I think is a very important hearing.

This hearing is acyoumed.
[Whereupon, at 1:45 p.m., the hearing was a4joumed.J



APPENDIX

Questions Asked by Senator Pressler and Answers Thereto by Robert L.

Crandall

Question. Can you tell us if and when you expect the 600,000 threshold for

CHare/Heathrow to trigger?

Answer. This is no longer an issue, because on May 5, 1995, the United States
and the United Kingdom agreed on an amendment to Bermuda 2 to give the U.S.
the right to a secona designation on the Chicago-London route.
Without such agreement, the designation provisions of Bermuda 2 would have ap-

plied. In brief, these provisions state that only one airline of each country may be
designated at each U.S. gateway, except New York, Los Angeles, Boston, and
Miami. A second airline may be designated at other gateways, such as Chicago,
when the total one-way traffic carried on the segment by the airlines of both parties
exceeds 600,000 per year (or the traffic carried by either the U.S. or the U.K. carrier
exceeds 450,000 per year) in two consecutive 12-month periods. We believe the
600,000 threshold would likely have been reached within the next 2 years.
Two additional points are important. First, the capacity provision of Bermuda 2,

contained in Armex 2 of the agreement, limits U.S. carriers to 150 percent of the
authorized frequencies of U.K. airlines. This effectively means that U.K. airlines,

mainly British Airways, decide how much capacity U.S. airlines, such as American,
can oner (the control can woik in reverse, but the United States never exercises
these capacity controls). For example, the U.K. was able to use Annex 2 to prevent
American from adding a second Dallas/Fort Worth-London flight for many years.

Second, a restriction in the March 1991 amendment to Bermuda 2 prevented
American from adding more Chicago-London capacity than that of British Airways
until summer 1994. We simply could not add a third flight during the first 3 years
of operating this route.

Question. Do you know British Airway's [sic] boarding data for this market? Does
BA board more passengers than American?
Answer. According to the Department of Aviation, City of Chicago, in 1994, Brit-

ish Airways enplaned approximately 310,000 revenue passengers in both directions,

and American enplaned approximately 245,000 revenue passengers in both direc-

tions.

Question. American Airlines currently is the exclusive U.S. carrier with service
from Chicago CHare to London Heathrow. To what extent would a new, competing
route for United Airlines take business away from your airUne?
Answer. We estimate that United wiU divert substantial amounts of traffic and

revenue from American, and very little from British Airways. United has a larger
share of the Chicago market than American, because it holds a larger number of
CHare slots under the FAA High Density Rule. United can therefore operate a sig-

nificantly larger hub, enabling it to command the loyalty of a premium snare of local

passengers, and to connect traffic from more cities west of Chicago as well.

Question. As I understand it, your company opposed this deal because you want
a bigger deal further opening access to the U.K.Doesn't American already have more
access to the U.K. than any other U.S. carrier?

Answer. The premise of the question is incorrect. As my testimony pointed out,

to be effective in transatlantic markets, American needs the opportunity to compete

(167)



168

effectively with British Airways for all four types of traffic flows from the United
States to London and beyond:

• Gateway to gateway (e.g., Chicago-London)
• Behind U.S. gateway to U.K. gateway (e.g., Denver to London)
• U.S. Gateway to beyond U.K. gateway (e.g., Chicago to Rome)
• Behind U.S. gateway to beyond U.K. gateway (e.g., Denver to Istanbul)

What American seeks is equivalent economic opportunity, meaning the right to

compete for all combinations of traffic. Through its recently enlarged alliance with

USAir, British Airways can now sell more than nine times as many city-oair mar-

kets (often called "O&D" or "Origin and Destination" markets) as can be sold by any

U.S. carrier—including American—which operates its own aircraft between the

United States and the United Kingdom.
Question. As I understand it, American Airlines is concerned about the element

of Phase 1 that would permit British Airways to competitively bid for Fly America
traffic through USAir, its U.S. code-sharing partner. Doesn't American Airlines cur-

rently bid on Fly America traffic carried on South African Airways and Quantas
[sic]?

Answer. Yes, but there is far less U.S. government traffic to South Africa and
Australia than to the U.K.!

Questions Asked by Senator McCain and Answers Thereto by Robert L.

Crandall

Question. In your view, have the Departments of Transportation and State been
effective in negotiating agreements witn other nations? Are we getting appropriate

access to Asia, which is probably the largest growth market in the world?
Answer. No, in general, we do not believe tnat DOT and State have been effective,

nor do we believe that the United States has secured sufficient access to Asia, par-

ticularly to Japan, which is by far the largest and most attractive individual mar-
ket, and which is the only commercially viaole gateway to other Asian cities.

Question. What are your biggest frustrations with the bilateral negotiation process

itself?

Is it a problem that both DOT and DOS have a role in the process?

Does DOT perform sufficient economic analysis before considering certain propos-

als?

Are you afforded appropriate access to information?
Is it frustrating that U.S. carriers are usually not present in negotiations, while

foreign carrier representatives are?

Answer. We have three major frustrations with the negotiating process. First,

U.S. negotiators do not make effective use of the leverage inherent in representing

a country with the largest air travel market in the world, accounting for more than
40 percent of the total world maricet. Second, the United States pursues a narrow
proconsumer philosophy that subsumes the interests of other stakeholders in the

airline industry, such as employees, communities, shareholders, and lenders. Nego-
tiators for other countries do a far better job of balancing these interests, while still

representing consumer needs. Third, the United States is the only countiy with a

fully deregulated—and therefore highly competitive—airline industry. Thus, the

views of ITS. carriers always differ, while those of foreign airlines and their govern-

ments are always congruent.
In our view, the combined DOT and State role does create problems. There ap-

pears to be resentment in both directions. DOT believes it has the most expertise,

yet is forced to take a secondary role in negotiations. Unlike the relationships be-

tween USTR and the industries it champions, neither State nor DOT seem to hold
the interests of U.S. airlines in high regard. Both departments keep us at arms
length and resent the need to consult us.

We have seen no indication at DOT of robust, intellectually defensible economic
analyses of prospective bilateral transactions. Certainly the Department does not

share such information with us, either before consultations begin or while they are

in process.
With respect to information access, first, we certainly would benefit from DOT

sharing whatever data they have prepared but do not now distribute. We provide

DOT and State with substantial amounts in information, but the flow is mostly one
way. Second, most carrier representatives would appreciate greater substantive dis-

cussion in advance of consultations, which would eliminate the last-minute, crisis

atmosphere that surrounds many negotiations, and would foster better transactions.

Third, although airlines supply DOT and State with detailed information and rec-

ommended positions, we never learn U.S. positions in advance. We hear these posi-
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tions for the first time when they are tabled in the negotiating sessions. By contrast,

foreign negotiators brief their national carriers on specific positions in advance of
the plenary sessions.

With regard to the participation of U.S. carriers in negotiations, the former U.S.
approach of relying on one airline industry representative was woefully inadequate.
Since early 1994, U.S. carrier representatives nave been able to join the delegations
during their plenary sessions. However, State has made it clear to us that this is

an experiment. We have ui^ed that this inclusiveness be made permanent, so that
U.S. carriers will be on equal footing with foreign airlines, who have always partici-

pated.
One unfortunate aspect of permitting U.S. carrier participation is that private

"chairmans' meetings" have proliferated. Shifting most substantive discussion be-

hind closed doors moves the process in the wrong direction.

Question. Have you noticed a significant loss of business since British Airways
began code-sharing with USAir? What do you estimate your losses (or lost revenue)
to be?
Answer. Yes. We estimate that British Airways has diverted $20 to $30 million

in transatlantic revenues from American, and has shifted substantial domestic reve-

nue from American to USAir.
Question. Are you aware that the government did little to no economic analysis

before it approved the British Airways/USAir code-share? Does it concern vou that
they gave so little thought to how it would affect you? Is it also a concern that DOT
still is not doing much analysis of how code-sharing alliances will affect the U.S.
airline industry?
Answer. Yes, yes, and yes! As noted above, we think it is unconscionable for DOT

and State to conduct bilateral negotiations—the outcome of which would have enor-
mous economic implications for individual U.S. carriers—without performing and
sharing careful economic analyses.

Question. What access do you currently have to Heathrow or Gatwick? Ideally,

what access do you need to compete effectively?

Answer. This summer, American will operate four daily flights to Gatwick: two
from Dallas/Fort Worth and one each from Raleigh/Durham and Nashville (on June
15, American announced that it was canceling its Nashville-London service effective

on October 1, because it cannot compete with British Airways on a route which Brit-

ish Airways supports with a codeshare hub in Philadelphia and a real hub at
Heathrow). This summer, American will operate 13 daily flights to Heathrow: six

from New York/Kennedy, three from Chicago, two from Boston, and one each from
Miami and Los Angeles.
But access to London airports is only part of this issue. To be effective in trans-

atlantic markets, American needs the opportunity to compete with British Airways
for all four types of traffic flows from the United States to London and beyond:

• Gateway to gateway (e.g., Chicago-London)
• Behind U.S. gateway to U.K. gateway (e.g., Denver to London)
• U.S. Gateway to beyond U.K. gateway (e.g., Chicago to Rome)
• Behind U.S. gateway to beyond U.K. gateway (e.g., Denver to Istanbul)
What American seeks is equivalent economic opportunity, meaning the right to

compete for all combinations of origin and destination traffic flows, llirough its re-

cently enlarged alliance with USAir, British Airways can now sell more than nine
times as many city-pair markets (often called "O&D" or "Origin and Destination"
markets) as can be sold by any U.S. carrier—including American—which operates
its own aircraft between the United States and the United Kingdom.

Question. In your view, is a two-phase deal a mistake? Could you elaborate?
Answer. Yes, American believes that a two-phase mini-deal is a mistake. As I

stated in my testimony, no incremental deal can rectify the substantial imbalance
in Bermuda 2 that favors the United Kingdom. Indeed, in his testimony, Secretary
Pena admitted that Bermuda 2 favored U.K. airlines, and that admission was prior

to conclusion of the mini-deal. No mini-deal that provides each side with equal new
opportunities could thus re-balance the relationship. Incrementalism cannot be a so-

lution. Comprehensive liberalization is the only viable course.
Moreover, we do not place much stock in the vague U.K. commitment to negotiate

phase two at a later date. On several occasions in the past, U.K. promises for subse-

quent negotiation evaporated once it secured what it sought. For example, in 1993,
after DOT approved the initial round of the British Airways/USAir combination, the
U.K. promised to begin negotiation on a wholesale liberalization of Bermuda 2—

a

promise which subsequently proved empty.
Question. Are you aware tnat DOT's Acting Assistant Secretary for Aviation and

International Affairs, Pat Murphy, recently said that access to Gatwick and

91-114 0-95-7
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Heathrow will be on the table only in so-called Phase 2? Do you believe that the
subject of more access to Heathrow and Gatwick should be considered in Phase 1?

Answer. Unfortunately, the agreement reached on June 5 has rendered this ques-
tion moot. We opposed bifurcation of the mini-deal negotiation, without success. We
will press DOT and State to achieve greater Heathrow access in phase two.

Question. Do you believe that the U.S. can do a more expansive deal with the
United Kingdom than that envisioned by the current negotiating framework? K so,

what are the components that should be included?
Answer. Yes. Our recommendations for wholesale liberalization of the U.S.-U.K.

relationship include the following:
• Much greater access for U.S. cities to Heathrow Airport.
• Opportunities for U.S. carriers to sell the same city-pairs that U.K. airlines now

ofler to transatlantic passengers, by allowing unlimited fifth freedom traffic rights
beyond U.K. gateways, exoerciseable by either codesharing or actually flying one's

own aircraft (the codesharing provision agreed to on June 5 did not permit carriage
of local traffic beyond London). To be truly reciprocal, this provision should require
the United Kingdom to secure in advance, from its EU partners and from other
countries, access for U.S. airlines to a substantial number of points beyond the Unit-
ed Kingdom.

• Elimination of Annex 2 of Bermuda 2 on all routes; this provision has allowed
the United Kingdom to exercise unilateral, a priori capacity controls, rather than
allowing the marketplace to determine appropriate levels of capacity.

• Elimination of the pricing restrictions in Bermuda 2 that prevent American
from offering U.K. travelers competitive prices to and from U.S. cities.

Question. What do you think it will take in order to create an "open skies" agree-
ment with the British, including adequate slots at Heathrow?
Answer. We do not believe that the United Kingdom will agree to broad liberaliza-

tion unless it faces renunciation of Bermuda 2, and understands that, without an
agreement, U.K. airlines will face substantial reduction of U.S. access. Although
such a scenario would be painful for both sides, American believes that we could
withstand the opposite restrictions more easily than could British Airways or Virgin
Atlantic.

Heathrow slots and other U.K. infrastructural constraints add complexity to this

issue. The United States always provides foreign carriers with the slots they need
at controlled airports. We believe that we are entitled to reciprocal treatment, with-
out excuses. Each country must manage the required growth of airport facilities and
infrastructure.

Question. Is the bilateral process working, as a generalization? What would you
do to improve the process, both in terms of substance and in terms of transparency?
Answer. No. Please see the answer to the above question on our frustrations with

the bilateral negotiating process.

Question. If you were United, wouldn't you want to have this mini-deal? If this
answer is yes, then why shouldn't we endorse it?

Answer. Yes. Although the first phase of the mini-deal was good for United, and
to a lesser extent for USAir, the net effect on U.S. carriers as a whole will be ad-
verse. British Airways will benefit far more than United will. Until the United
States starts to make bilaterals on the basis of collective benefit to U.S. airlines,

the United States will continue to lose overall position.

Question. What is your view of the British Airways/USAir code-sharing component
of the mini-deal? Doesn't it give British Airways everything it could need over the
near term? Conversely, if no agreement is reached, don't we have British Airways
in a difficult position?

Answer. The first phase of the mini-deal did in fact give British Airways every-
thing that it wanted in the short term. That is why we suspect that the United
Kingdom will not negotiate phase two in good faith.

Question. Does your airline feel that the proposed "starburst" element of Phase
1 is of significant value?
Answer. The starburst codesharing provision is of modest benefit. The value of

rights beyond the United Kingdom has diminished significantly in recent years, be-
cause of (1) bilateral and other restrictions on codesharing into these countries, (2)
French renunciation of its civil aviation agreement with the United States, and (3)

the fact that most European carriers have already entered into combinations that
(>reclude an alliance witn American or any other U.S. carrier. The map on the fol-

owing page underscores this assessment.
Question. Does your airline have any suggestions, or alternative approaches, as

to how the United States might obtain a more liberalized agreement with the
United Kingdom?
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Answer. Please see the answer to the above question on what it will take to create
a liberalized agreement with the United Kingdom.

Question. In general, does your airline believe that code-sharing is pro-competitive
or that it wiU lead to greater "open skies" opportunities? Please explam.
Answer. For over a decade, American's emphasis has been on vigorous expansion

with our own aircraft, which creates U.S. jobs and economic opportunity.
Codesharing creates artificial, virtual networks tnat require no capital investment.
Since capital-free combinations will always do better financially than capital-inten-

sive individual competitors, codesharing is profoundly anticompetitive in the long
term. We are greatly disappointed that our government has been indifferent to this

reality, and has made decisions that disadvantage firms, like American, that are
willing to invest in the growth of America.

Despite our opposition, the DOT has approved most of the codesharing proposals
presented to it. Thus, our efforts to overcome the huge advantages that Bermuda
2 confers on British Airways have been compounded by the competitive disadvan-
tages imposed by the Britisn Airways/USAir codesharing combination, and, more re-

cently, by the Virgin/Delta arrangement. Despite assurances from Administration
officials that we would be given offsetting opportunities to be fully competitive in

the U.K. market, no new, comparably rewarding service rights have been obtained.
In effect, our government has told us to stop buying airplanes and make deals to

partner with foreign airlines.

Question. Does your airline believe that changing the limits on foreign control and
ownership of U.S. airlines would increase the possibility of true liberalization with
Britain?
Answer. No. We do not believe that changing laws governing foreign ownership

of U.S. airlines would improve prospects for a greatly liberalized air transport agree-
ment with the United Kingdom.

ANSWERS OF DELTA AIR LINES TO SENATOR LARRY PRESSLER'S
QUESTIONS ON THE U.S.-U.K. AVIATION NEGOTIATIONS

QUESTION 1. An opponent of an incremental negotiating strategy would likely

argue that approval oi the DeltaA^irgin Atlantic code-sharing agreement gave your
airline indirect access to Heathrow from four U.S. gateway cities thus undermining
our leverage in the current negotiations to press for greater direct access to

Heathrow lor all our carriers. How do you respond to these critics?

Answer. The DeltaA'irgin Atlantic arrangement did not create any leverage for

the U.S. in negotiating a more liberalized bilateral agreement with the U.K. The
British offered to approve the DeltaA'irgin Atlantic arrangement on an
extrabilateral basis almost immediately after the April 12, 1994 announcement of

the alliance. It was the U.S. Department of Transportation that mistakenly believed
that it could withhold approval of the transaction and somehow force the British to

negotiate on liberalization. The DOT approach proved to be in error in October 1994
when the British proposed resumption of negotiations with a negotiating proposal
that did not include any new access to Heathrow or Gatwick. At this time, the Brit-

ish Government proved that additional access to Heathrow was linked to British
Airways intentions of further investment in USAir, not on the approval of the Delta/
Vir^n Atlantic code-share relationship.
QUESTION 2. I find it extremely interesting that the DeltaA'irgin Atlantic code-

sharing arrangement was approved shortly before the current round of talks com-
menced. Don't you think it would have been more prudent for the United States to

use the leverage from the DeltaA^irgin Atlantic arrangement to get a more liberal-

ized agreement in the negotiations?
Answer. There was no leverage to be had from such an arrangement as the Brit-

ish had already announced from the outset of the DeltaA^irgin Atlantic relationship
that it would approve the code-share arrangement on an extrabilateral basis. The
real leverage the U.S. might have had would have been British Airways' intention
of further investment in USAir.
QUESTION 3. As I understand it, Delta Air Lines is greatly concerned about ex-

tending British Airways the limited right to bid competitively for Fly America traf-

fic. Doesn't Delta, through its foreign code-sharing partners Varig, Sabena and
Swissair, currently carry Fly America traffic?

Answer. Delta remains concerned about extending any Fly America rights to Brit-

ish carriers or to the carriers of any nation that does not have a market open to

U.S. carriers. The Fly America Act was passed by Congress to channel U.S. tax-
payer-financed traffic to U.S. carriers. In return for the opportunity to bid on this

traffic, U.S. carriers were obligated to participate in the Civil Reserve Air Fleet pro-
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gram (CRAF) and dedicate a percentage of their long-haul fleets to the Department
of Defense to be used in time of national emergency. British Airways, were it al-

lowed to carry Fly America traflic, would have no such obligation in time of emer-
gency. Given the highly restrictive nature of the U.S.-U.K. relationship, we believe

negotiating away such rights is contrary to the letter and spirit of the Fly America
Act.

Delta has told the U.S. Government that it disagrees with the GAO interpretation

of the Fly America Act that allows foreign airlines to carry U.S. Fly America traffic

as long as a U.S. code is used on the flight. We think this too is contrary to the
letter and spirit of the Fly America Act and that U.S. carriers operating U.S. reg-

istered aircraft should be given priority in carrying such traffic.

ANSWERS OF DELTA AIR LINES TO SENATOR JOHN MCCAIN'S QUESTIONS
ON THE U.S.-U.K. AVIATION NEGOTL\TIONS

QUESTION 1. Have your noticed a significant loss of business since BA began
code-sharing with USAir? What do you estimate your losses (or lost revenue) to be?
Answer. We have not noticed significant losses per se due to the USAir/BA alli-

ance. What Delta has noticed is a significant loss of interline revenues from British

Airways since the inception of the USAir/BA relationship. Prior to the alliance,

Delta would carry a si^ificant amount of domestic connecting traffic from British
Airways. That traffic now flows to USAir. While Delta cannot adequately project

any losses it has realized from the USAir/BA alliance, we can point to the fact that
BA has stated that its alliance has added over $100 million in revenues on an an-
nual basis. We do not believe that that revenue is coming from market stimulation

but is instead being diverted from U.S. carriers. Additionally, the British market
share of the total U.S.-U.K. traffic has grown since the inception of the USAir/BA
relationship.

QUESTION 2. Are you aware that the government did little to no economic analy-
sis before it approved that BA/USAir code-share? Does it concern you that they gave
so little thought to how it would affect you? Is it also a concern that DOT still is

not doing much analysis of how code-sharing alliances will affect the U.S. airline

industry?
Answer. Delta understands that little, if any, economic analysis was done prior

to approving the code-share agreement. Any analysis that was done was not shared
with U.S. carriers. Delta is greatly troubled that such an arrangement was approved
by the U.S. Government without a thorough economic review being done.
QUESTION 3. What access do you currently have to Heathrow or Gatwick? Ideal-

ly, what access do you need to compete effectively?

Answer. Delta currently operates to Gatwick from Atlanta and Cincinnati. Delta
has tried to increase its service to Gatwick from Atlanta in the last two years but
the additional frequencies were denied by the British Government in order to pro-

tect British Airways.
Delta does not have access to Heathrow in its own right due to the fact that the

Bermuda II agreement only allows two U.S. carriers to serve Heathrow. Those two
U.S. designations are currently used by United and American airlines.

Delta has an alliance with Virgin Atlantic Airways that allows it to display its

code on Vii;gin's flights from Heathrow to New York (JFK), Newark, San Francisco
and Los Angeles. Delta also displays its code on Virgin's Gatwick services to Or-
lando, Miami and Boston. This authority was granted on an extrabilateral basis.

QUESTION 4. In your view, is a two-phase deal a mistake? Could you elaborate?
Answer. Delta has repeatedly argued against phased liberalization with the U.K.

In our view, such an approach only allows British carriers to enjoy their preferred
position under the Bermuda II restrictions. The British will seek to delay or restrict

any liberalizing measures for as long as possible. We have seen this to be the case
in the phase 2 negotiations. To its credit, the U.S. Government has recently rejected
oflers for additional Heathrow service due to cumbersome restrictions placed on
these offers.

The incremental approach advanced by Secretary Pena earlier this year was a
grave mistake. The first phase did not produce any meaningful basis for true liber-

alization because the British do not have the same goals as the U.S. It is not pos-
sible to "transition" to liberalization when the two parties do not agree on the ulti-

mate objectives necessary to accomplish a maricet-based bilateral.
QUESTION 5. Are you aware that DOTs Acting Assistant Secretary for Aviation

and International Affairs, Pat Murphy, recently said that access to Gatwick and
Heathrow will be on the table only in so-called Phase 2? Do you believe that the
subject of more access to Heathrow and Gatwick should be considered in Phase 1?
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Answer. Delta believes that additional Heathrow access should be taken up as
soon as possible. We were concerned that once the British received the additional
authority they desired in Phase 1 (double daily flights between Philadelphia and
Heathrow), they would not be forthcoming with meaningful access to Heathrow in

Phase 2.

We have seen this to be the case in Phase 2 as the British have repeatedly offered
the U.S. very limited access to Heathrow. Initially, the British insisted on offering
only one Heathrow switch for U.S. carriers that was burdened with a number of re-

strictions. In the most recent round of Phase 2 discussions, the British offered the
U.S. two new Heathrow opportunities, the first of which was offered with only a lim-
ited number of gateways and the second opportunity, which was admittedly less en-
cumbered, was only to be available in 1997. Both of these services would have been
restricted to a single daily frequency for a period of two years. Delta opposed accept-
ance of this proposal as it was viewed as perpetuating the existing bilateral restric-

tions rather than an example of truly liberalizing the market. Again, Delta believes
the British continue to delay any meaningful move toward liberalization, seeking in-

stead to perpetuate their dominant position for as long as possible.

QUESTION 6. Do you believe that the U.S. can oo a more expansive deal with
the U.K. than that envisioned by the current negotiating framework? If so, what are
the components that should be included?
Answer. Delta continues to believe that the U.S. must insist on moving this im-

portant aviation relationship toward a more liberalized regime as soon as possible.

The initial scope of Phase 2 should consider issues beyond the five chosen topics of
Heathrow/Gatwick access, pricing, cargo and charter liberalization and Fly America
ridits.

The U.K. agreement remains as a testimony to micro-managing a large market-
place in order to protect the interests of an entrenched carrier. The regulatory tools
granted to the British through the Bermuda II agreement enable them to restrict

capacityjpricing and designations. These artificial limits on competition must be re-

moved. The U.S. should insist that every major aspect of the agreement be dis-

cussed during so-called liberalization talks, including the elimination of all Annex
2 capacity restrictions.

QUESTION 7. What do you think it will take in order to create an "open skies"
agreement with the British, including adequate slots at Heathrow?
Answer. An open skies agreement with the British will not be achieved until the

British are forced to accept liberalization or risk forfeiture of their dominant posi-

tion. Given their superior position in the marketplace (dominant position at
Heathrow, hubs on both sides of the Atlantic, access throughout the U.S. while re-

stricting U.S. carrier access into and beyond the U.K.) the British have no incentive
to liberalize the marketplace. At this point in time, the British have all the operat-
ing authority they need. There is no incentive on their part to liberalize as they
dominate the transatlantic marketplace between our two countries.
The only way the U.S. can change this situation is to renounce the U.S.-U.K. Air

Services agreement and force service reductions by British carriers. However, this

would likely force counter-retaliatory measures by the U.K. that could seriously dis-

rupt service between the two countries. Unless the U.S. is prepared to take such
draconian measures and deal with the immediate consequences that develop, the
chances of true liberalization in the next few years are very slim.

Delta has advocated that renunciation should be considered by the U.S. in the ab-
sence of sweeping changes in the U.S.-U.K. aviation marketplace. The Bermuda II

agreement is a monument to protectionism and it greatly benefits British interests

to the detriment of U.S. carriers. In the name of pursuing a more balanced market-
place, the U.S. should insist that both countries move at a rapid pace toward liberal-

ization. Absent an agreement in principle on this issue, the U.S. should consider
drastic measures sucn as renunciation and interruption of service to illustrate the
depth of our frustration and the strength of our resolve.

8. Is the bilateral process working, as a generalization? What would you do to im-
prove the process, both in terms of substance and in terms of transparency?
Answer. It appears the bilateral process has outlived its usefulness. Too often we

have seen countries turn to the bilateral process to seek restrictions rather than en-
hancements of the marketplace. In an effort to thwart this trend, the U.S. took the
bold step of negotiating open skies agreements with a block of nine European na-
tions. Delta supports these efforts aimed at breaking out of the bilateral mold to

embrace a more market-oriented multilateral approach. We encourage more initia-

tives of this type and hope such examples will force more restrictive nations to nego-
tiate on a multilateral level to attain the operating authority they seek.
However, the death of bilateralism is not at hand. Unfortunately, many nations

continue to embrace the protections that are available through restrictive bilateral
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agreements. Delta feels the U,S. must continue to press forward in its efforts to seek
liberalized agreements, either bilaterally or multilaterally, in order to persuade re-

strictive nations of the opportunities that lie in facilitating rather than restricting

growth in global aviation markets.
QUESTION 9. If vou were United, wouldn't you want to have this mini-deal? If

this answer is yes, then why shouldn't we endorse it?

Answer. United, as the single U.S. beneficiary of the June mini-deal, understand-
ably favored the conclusion of such a deal. It was able to offer service from its pri-

mary hub to Heathrow. However, the U.S. once again allowed the U.K. to dictate

the terms of a bilateral exchange. The U.K. decided to use a "divide and conquer"
strategy by offering to bestow a valuable benefit on one U.S. carrier. That carrier

in turn applies pressure on the U.S. to accept the deal to the exclusion of any other
benefits for U.S. carriers. In return, the British choose the operating authority they
will demand for such an exchange and the restrictive bilateral situation is perpet-

uated with only a minor improvement that benefits the narrowest of interests.

The U.S. has been involved in such exchanges with the U.K. for decades now and
the result has been a bilateral regime with limited benefits for a few chosen car-

riers. The U.S. should not endorse such deal making as it is unfair, divisive and
ultimately forces a number of carriers to compete in this very important market
with only limited resources. U.S. carriers are the most efficient and competitive car-

riers in the world. The U.S. should be seeking to capitalize on these strengths rath-
er than allowing our foreign competitors to restrict the marketplace and perpetuate
protectionism.
QUESTION 10. What is your view of the BA/USAir code-sharing component of the

mini-deal? Doesn't it give BA everything it could need over the near term?
Answer. The conclusion of the June mini-deal merely allowed British Airways to

display its code on a number of smaller U.S. cities served by USAir. Prior to the
June mini-deal, British Airways had already blanketed the U.S. with its code by uti-

lizing virtually the entire USAir domestic system. Approval of the most recent
tranche of coae-share cities modestly improved BA's access to the domestic U.S.
market.
This final tranche of code-share approval does give BA almost everything it needs

in terms of access to the domestic U.S. market. We have seen in Phase 2 that the
British are now seeking access to Fly America traffic that is dedicated for carriage
by U.S. airlines only. However, it is understandable, as there is no additional source
of traffic for the British to seek—they have some twenty U.S. gateways with rights

to a number of countries beyond the U.S. and access to the entire U.S. domestic
market. All of these rights have been granted and blessed by the U.S. Government
through the bilateral negotiating process. In the meantime, U.S. carriers remain
helpless in their efforts to increase their presence into and beyond the U.K.
QUESTION 11. Conversely, if no agreement is reached, don't we have BA in a

difficult position:

Answer. No. As mentioned above, BA possesses all the operating authority it de-

sires into the U.S. Additionally, BA will continue to enjoy its dominant position at

Heathrow and its overall dominant position in the U.S.-U.K. market. At this point,

the British do not desire anything of significant value from the U.S. Until BA de-

cides how much further it would like to proceed in the U.S. market (i.e. ownership
and control of a U.S. airline) the British nave no incentive to negotiate valuable op-
erating ri^ts for U.S. carriers into and beyond the U.K.
QUESTION 12. Does your airline feel that the proposed "starburst" element of

Phase 1 is of significant value? If so, why?
Answer. The starburst element of the mini deal is of very limited commercial

value. No U.S. carrier has plans to either operate on its own or to code-share in

a significant manner beyond London, making starburst rights virtually meaningless
to U.S. interests. Since concluding the mini-deal. Northwest Airlines nas taken ad-
vantage of the starburst authority by placing its code on KLM services via the Neth-
erlands to a number of U.K. points. However, most of these flights are to regional
U.K. airports that provide a very limited number of passengers. Also, because these
services transit Amsterdam, they are not competitive with existing nonstop and con-
necting services through London to U.K. regional points.
QUESTION 13. In general, does your airline believe that code-sharing is pro-com-

petitive or that it will lead to greater "open skies" opportunities? Please explain.
Answer. Delta is a strong proponent of code-sharing. We have a number of code-

share partners throughout tne world including Swissair, Sabena, Austrian, TAP,
Malev, Finnair, Virgin Atlantic, Vang, Aeromexico and Singapore Airlines. Code-
sharing allows Delta to introduce, maintain or improve its presence in a number of
markets where it might be economically impossible to do so.
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Code-sharing is a pro-competitive development that has allowed a number of air-

lines to increase their market presence without dedicating aircraft, staff and other
expensive resources to provide these services. As cost-efficiencies become increas-

ingly important for U.S. operators, code-sharing is likely to continue its prominent
position.

Whether code-sharing will ultimately lead to greater "open skies" remains to be
seen. Code-sharing has been a catalyst for some countries to open up markets in

order to get similar access in the U.S. The U.S. has effectively made code-sharing
a standard for exchange with a number of European nations. We hope similar ef-

forts can be made with Asian nations in the future as we believe code-sharing is

a practice that will evolve into an even more valuable marketing tool in the future.

QUESTION 14. Does your airline believe that changing the limits on foreign con-

trol and ownership of U.S. airlines would increase the possibility of true liberaliza-

tion with Britain or other nations?
Answer. Delta supports the recommendations made by the National Commission

to Ensure a Strong, Competitive Airline Industry. The Commission endorsed the
idea of Congress changing existing U.S. laws to allow foreign nationals to own up
to 49 percent of U.S. carrier voting stock. Allowing that level of ownership would
be conditioned on the country in question having a liberal bilateral agreement with
the U.S., that the carrier seeking investment in the U.S. is not substantially con-

trolled by a foreign government and that reciprocal investment opportunities for

U.S. interests are available.

Questions Asked by Senator Pressler and Answers Thereto by Mr. Jeffrey
H. Erickson, President and Chief Executive Officer of TWA

Trans World Airlines, Inc.

Government Affairs
October 31, 1995

The Honorable Larry Pressler
Chairman, Committee on Commerce, Science, and Transportation,

United States Senate, Washington, D.C. 20510
Dear Senator Pressler: Attached please find TWA's response to questions pro-

vided after your May 24, 1995 hearing on international aviation policy. We have
also provided a floppy disk that includes the data under the file name
TWAMAY24.ANS. The word processor software used for the document was Word for

Windows 6.0.

TWA apologizes for the delay in providing its response to you. In our August 29,

1995 communication relating to your July 11, 1995 hearing, we provided a consoli-

dated answer to the May 24 post-hearing questions. Foflowing your subsequent
enquiry, we have expanded on our earlier statement to include all of the questions
on the May 24, 1995 hearing. We hope that these answers are to your satisfaction

and provide a more complete understanding of TWA's views.

Sincerely,

Jeffrey H. Erickson -

Chief Executive Officer
QUESTION 1. I have heard some suggestion that US international aviation policy

tends to focus on our largest carriers and occasionally overlooks other carriers. Has
this been TWA's experience?
Answer. TWA does not believe that US aviation policy deliberately focuses on the

largest carriers. Because they are larger and serve several continents, the Govern-
ment naturally deals with them across a broader range of issues than it does with
some smaller carriers. We do believe, however, that the government focuses much
too intensely on code-sharing which particularly benefits large carriers such as Unit-
ed and Delta. For example, this summer, the US failed to reach an agreement with
South Africa because US negotiators insisted on third-country code-sharing over Eu-
rope—authority that would primarily benefit United's code-share partner Lufthansa.
TWA and other carriers stand ready to off direct service to South Africa, but the
US valued code-sharing so highly that it refused to reach an agreement on direct

service.

QUESTION 2. Mr. Erickson, could you tell us how much revenue you anticipate

a New York/Gatwick or New York/Heathrow route would generate for your com-
pany?
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Answer. TWA believes that the New York-Heathrow route would generate reve-
nues of approximately $100 million per year. In addition, by fllling the largest gap
in its transatlantic route structure, TWA will improve its revenues by $20-40 milnon
per year on other transatlantic routes.

Questions Asked by Senator McCain and Answers Thereto by Mr. Erickson

QUESTION 1. Have you noticed a signiflcant loss of business since BA began
code-sharing with USAir? What do you estimate your losses (or lost revenue) to oe?
Answer. Since TWA has only limited service to London from its St. Louis gateway,

it is not a significant participant in US-UK travel. Therefore, the USAir/BA code-
share has not had a significant impact directly on TWA's business. However, we
note that BA representative estimated that, between April 1994 and March 1995,
its alliance with USAir produced $100 million in revenue for BA. (GAO Report
RCED-95-99, International Airline Code Sharing, pp. 34-35) The GAO concluded
that the gains of BA were largely at the expense of other US airlines, (p.35)
QUESTION 2. Are you aware that the government did little to no economic analy-

sis before it approved the BA/USAir code-share? Does it concern you that they gave
so little thought to how it would affect you? Is it also a concern that DOT stfll is

not doing much analysis of how code-sharing alliances will affect the US airline in-

dustry?
Answer. TWA is unaware of the extent of economic analysis research the govern-

ment used
in deciding the BA/USAir code-share agreement. Our perception is that the gov-

ernment has little concern about the impact of code-sharing on other US carriers.
We have tried several times to convince tne government that code-sharing primarily
diverts traffic from US flag carriers to foreign flag carriers, but our impression is

that the US government has an exaggerated idea of the benefits that the US flag
code-sharing partner receives from these alliances. In TWA's opinion, for the most
part, the US carrier receives nothing more than ticketing fees, with the foreign flag
carrier carrying most of the passengers and receiving most of the revenue. This does
not seem to concern the US government.
QUESTION 3. What access do you currently have to Heathrow or Gatwick? Ideal-

ly what access do you need to compete effectively?

Answer. TWA currently serves the St. Louis-Gatwick route. However, service be-
tween New York's JFK airport and London Heathrow is a key element in its strat-

egy to restore the profitability of its international network. London accounts for 32%
01 all transatlantic travel, and without access to that traffic flow, TWA is severely
handicapped. TWA is also hampered in attracting high-yield business travel, which
prefers Heathrow to Gatwick by substantial numbers.
QUESTION 4. In your view, is a two-phase deal a mistake? Could you elaborate?
Answer. TWA believes that the US two-phase approach has been demonstrated

to be a mistake. The US reached a very limited Phase I deal, on the basis of promise
by the British that they would negotiate additional Heathrow rights in Phase II.

The Phase II negotiations have now been suspended because the British proposals
were so extremelv limited, were designed to limit US flag choice to airlines that
would provide only limited new competition with BA, and would have made it im-
Fiossible for TWA to institute its New York-Heathrow service. The results of Phase
I demonstrate that breaking the deal into two parts was a mistake.
QUESTION 5. Are you aware that DOTs Acting Assistant Secretary for Aviation

and International Affairs, Pat Murphy, recently said that access to Gatwick and
Heathrow will be on the table only in so-called Phase 2? Do you believe that the
subject of more access to Heathrow and Gatwick should be considered in Phase 1?

Answer. TWA believes that the subject of access to Heathrow and Gatwick should
have been the first issue raised by the US and should have been considered in
Phase I. The basic problem in negotiating with the British is that they have such
a comprehensive route system to the United States that there is very little left with
which to entice them into negotiations. To give the British most of their remaining
goals in the US in Phase I made it extremely difficult to negotiate added access to
Heathrow in Phase II.

QUESTION 6. Do you believe that the US can do a more expansive deal with the
UK than that envisioned by the current negotiating framework? If so, what are the
components that should be included?
Answer. TWA believes that the US can reach a more expansive deal with the UK

only by fundamentally redefining the grounds for negotiation. This requires a chal-
lenge to BA operating rights in the US. TWA believes that BA relies unduly on sixth
freedom traffic and that almost 50% of its total traffic comes from points beyond
the United Kingdom. As the fundamental purpose of bilateral agreements is to meet
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the needs of third and fourth freedom traffic, BA is violating the principle of the
bilateral. Unfortunately, the arbitration and the capacity provisions of the bilateral

do not provide an opportunity to challenge this illegitimate reliance on beyond traf-

fic. If BA's service were geared to the needs of third and fourth freedom traffic, it

would offer far less capacity between the US and the UK. In order to achieve a
broader negoatiation of US carrier rights, it may be necessary to renounce the
agreement and limit BA's capacity to that iustified by the needs of the local market.
QUESTION 7. What do you think it will take in order to create an "open skies"

agreement with the British, including adequate slots at Heathrow?
Answer. It may be necessary to renounce the current bilateral in order to achieve

"open skies."

QUESTION 8. Is the bilateral process working, as a generalization? What would
you do to improve the process, both in terms of substance and in terms of trans-

parency?
TWA believes that the bilateral process does not work well, but there is no better

alternative at this time. The bilateral process fails when the other country has no
additional needs in the United States, as in the case of the UK, or when it fears

for the economic health of its own carriers, as in the case of France. Too often, in

order to maintain a competitive balace, it degenerates into careful calculation of

traffic that can be gained by the carriers of each country. The greater public inter-

est, and particularly the importance of air transportation as the infrastructure for

economic development, is all too often ignored. We are not sure that a multilateral

process would be any better. It may degenerate into multiple countries carefully cal-

culating their economic balance in air transportation terms. It would also take far

longer to accomplish anything.
QUESTION 9. If you were United, wouldn't you want to have this mini-deal? If

this answer is yes, then why shouldn't we endorse it?

Answer. United may have wanted the mini-deal as originally proposed, but we are
not entirely sure that it is happy with the final agreement. Under its original pro-

gosal, it would have the right to operate multiple Trequencies with large B-747 and
-777 equipment. The final deal limited it to one B-767 per day. In exchange for

that, BA got the right to add one B-747 from USAir's Philadelphia hub. Thus, even
the P^nt of the Chicago route to United was imbalanced in favor of the British.

QUESTION 10. What is your view of the BA/USAir code-sharing component of the
mini-deal? Doesn't it give BA everything it could need over the near term? Con-
versely, if no agreement is reached, don't we have BA in a difficult position?

Answer. The BA/USAir code-share component was a relatively minor aspect of the
mini-deal because BA had already received code-share access to all of USAir's major
goints. The third group of code share points had relatively little traffic potential,

ubsequent events have shown that BA apparently wants much more—the right to

carry US government traffic on its own tickets without being limited by code share
requirements.
QUESTION 11. Does your airline feel that the proposed "starburst" element of

Phase 1 is of significant value?
Answer. The proposed "starburst" code share element is of little value to the US,

and of no value to TWA, which lacks adequate access to London. The problem with
the starburst code share is that most of the service beyond London is operated by
British Airways and other major European carriers who either have their own code
share agreements, or provide service directly between the US and the beyond point.

Wliile there may be other carriers available, major US carriers may not want to

place their codes on them. These carriers are unknown to American consumers and
may not provide service of the quality required by US passengers. A US carrier

must be very careful before entering into a code share agreement under the pro-
posed starburst provisions with such carriers.

QUESTION 12. Does your airline have any suggestions, or alternative ap-
proaches, as to how the US might obtain a more liberalized agreement with the UK?
Answer. As discussed above, TWA believes that the only way to achieve a liberal

"open skies" agreement with the United Kingdom is to threaten BA's undue reliance

on sixth freedom traffic. Under the long-standing principles of international avia-

tion, the fundamental purpose of bilateral agreements is to meet the needs of third
and fourth freedom trafiic as defined in the Chicago Convention. IF BA abided by
these principles, it would not be operating double daily B-747 on many of the routes
on which it now provides such service. Ii the US government cannot find a way to

bring this issue to the attention of the United Kingdom within the context of the
current bilateral, the US may have to consider renunciation.
QUESTION 13. In general, does your airline believe that code-sharing is procom-

petitive or that it will lead to greater "open skies" opportunities? please explain.
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TWA believes that code sharing may be moderately procompetitive if it provides
new service in markets that would not otherwise receive it. However, it is usually
standard interline service dressed up in the garb of on-line operations. TWA has
never been able to understand the claim that code sharing wiD lead to open skies

and therefore cannot comment on it. Code-sharing can be an effective tool to serve
maritets that cannot be economically served directly, and to develop new markets.
However, as code-sharing is currently constructed, it often provides more benefits

to foreign airlines than to US carriers. The foreign airlines carrying the US carrier

code have access to Fly America traffic, and often attract passengers who believe

they are on a US flag airline. The traffic diverted to foreign carriers can undermine
direct flights operated by US airlines with their own aircraft and crews. This results

in the loss ofjobs for US labor.

Moreover, TWA is also concerned that US policy in the last few months has shift-

ed to supporting code share rights for third-country carriers at the expense of the
direct service of US flag carriers. For example in the recent South Africa negotia-

tions, an agreement could have been reached except for the fact that the Uo de-

manded that South Africa accept code share operations by US flag carriers. When
pressed on this issue, the US Government argues that even when operated totally

oy foreign flags, US carriers benefit because they share in the profits. TWA does
not understand that most code shares, such as the United /Lufthansa deal, fall in

this category. In such code shares, the US carrier receives a ticketing fee, most of

which flows through to travel agents and credit card companies. The ticketing fee

to the US carrier is simply a payment for normal interline services rendered by the
carrier. It should not be the basis for an important US Government policy.

QUESTION 14. Does your airline believe that changing the limits on foreign con-

trol and ownership of US airlines would increase the possibility of true liberalization

with the British?
Answer. TWA believes that the US government should have possible expansion

of foreign ownership of US carriers available as a tool for trading in bilateral rela-

tionships. TWA understands that the government believes the only way to achieve
true liberalization with the British is to give it the opportunity to own as much as

it wants of USAir. While this may have been true previously, recent developments,
particularly the potential merger between United and USAir, have cast doubt on
this approach.

Questions Asked by Senator Pressler and Answers
Thereto by Mr. Greenwald

Question 1. According to the May 24, 1995 issue of Aviation Daily, United Airlines

recently released a study regarding the 600,000 revenue passenger issue on the

O'Hare /Heathrow route. Please share the findings of that study with us.

A copy of the study, prepared for United by The Campbell Aviation Group, Inc.

and entitled "Analysis of Price and Service Competition in the Chicago-London Air
Transportation Market," is attached hereto.

Question 2. In your opinion, when, if ever, do you expect the 600,000 revenue pas-
senger threshold on the O'Hare /Heathrow route currently controlled by American
Airlines and British Airways to trigger?

The findings of the study of competition in the Chicago CHare/London Heathrow
maricet sponsored by United indicate that, absent an agreement between the United
States and the United Kingdom to designate a second U.S. carrier in the market,
the incumbents could have manipulated the 600,000 revenue passenger threshold as
long as necessary to forestall entry by another U.S. carrier. The data indicate clear-

ly that the market has been stunted by the lack of capacity offered by American
and British Airways. By constraining capacity through the use of smaller aircraft

and reduced frequencies, the incumbents were able to increase fares, which more
than compensated for the reduction in trafTic volume required to keep total revenue
passengers below 600,000. So long as the incumbents are able to continue to make
a profit in the market while keeping capacity below the threshold, they would have
no incentive to increase capacity to the threshold level and allow a second U.S. car-

rier into the market.
Question 3. Mr. Greenwald, I understand that the City of Chicago was unable to

testify at the May 24th hearing. Although I know that United does not speak for Chi-
cago, could you describe the benefits you see for the City of Chicago, the State of Illi-

nois and the Midwest region from the mini-deal.
Without presuming to speak for Mayor Daley or Governor Edgar, I believe they

would agree that the presence of U.S. carrier competition in the Chicago O'Hare/
London Heathrow market will bring a number of important benefits to the City,
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State and region. Perhaps most important, passengers from Chicago and the sur-
rounding communities, currently pay higher fares than in comparable markets for-

tunate enou^ to have competitive service. Competition will bring prices down.
Competitive service also will afford local passengers a variety of service offerings
and frequencies from which to choose. In addition, passengers for whom Chicago is

the logical gateway to London will no longer be shunted to other points to enable
the incumbents to avoid the 600,000 revenue passenger threshold. With this addi-

tional traffic, the City of Chicago, State of Illinois and the entire Midwest region
will reap economic benefits from traffic which should rightfully be flowing through
OTIare.
Question 4. I understand that, along with your code-sharing partner Lufthansa,

you recently successfully bid for Fly America traffic between Atlanta and Frankfurt.
Could you tell us how much this opportunity to competitively bid for Fly America
traffic saved U.S. taxpayers?

United's bid for Atlanta-Frankfurt traffic under the "Fly America" program pro-

Eosed to permit government passengers to Hy either non-stop on flights canying
Wted's code and operated by Lufthansa or on a direct fli^t over Washington/Dul-

les on United-operated aircraft. Using GSA's traffic projection for the Atlanta-
Frankfurt segment multiplied by the difference between United's fare and the fare

offered by Delta, which operated the route under the program last year, the total

savings could amount to as much as $189,000.

QuE^ioNs Asked by Senator McCain and Answers Thereto by Mr. Greenwald

Question 1. It has been reported in the press that your airline developed the frame-
work for this mini-deal with the British Government. Is that the case? If so, do you
believe that carriers should be off negotiating bilateral agreements with other govern-
ments?
The United States Government negotiated the mini-deal with the British govern-

ment. United has not engaged in negotiations with the British government regard-
ing this or any other agreement.

Question 2. How do you justify the mini-deal being in the public interest? Isn't it

uniquely beneficial to UAL and Chicago?
The exchange of rights is in the public interest because it will enhance competi-

tion in a number of markets. United's entry into the Chicago-London market will

provide competitive U.S. carrier service and competitive prices for both local and
connecting passengers at Chicago. Passengers in the Philadelphia-London market
will also benefit because British Airways will replace capacity that was lo3t when
American abandoned the route. The agreement will also establish the right for U.S.
carriers to expand their code-share services to points in the United Kingdom and
Europe, making them more competitive with European carriers such as British Air-
ways. The enhancement of competition and the expansion of U.S. carrier competitive
opportunities have been cited by DOT in its International Air Transportation Policy
Statement as two goals of U.S. international aviation policy that would serve the
public interest. The mini-deal and the competitive benefits it will produce meet that
standard.

Question 3. How should the remainder of communities outside of Chicago feel

about the mini-deal since they don't get anything from it?

Communities throughout the midwest region served by O'Hare will benefit from
U.S. carrier competition to London. These passengers will be able to travel over the
most convenient gateway to London at fares that reflect the effects of competition.
Until now, if these passengers wanted to travel on a U.S. carrier to London, they
could have been shunted to far less convenient locations by the incumbents as part
of their efforts to keep service at O'Hare below the 600,000 threshold. East coast
communities such as Washington, D.C. and Philadelphia are also major bene-
ficiaries of this deal.

These communities will also benefit by the expansion of U.S. carrier code-share
services beyond London. The opportunity for international travel on code-sharing
carriers can ofTer passengers competitive fares and a "seamless" experience that
takes them from their home towns to a wide variety of European destinations and
beyond.

Question 4. What is your view of the British Airways I USAir code-sharing compo-
nent of the mini-deal? Doesn't it give British Airways everything it could need over
the near term?
The British AirwaysAJSAir code-share component of the mini-deal primarily bene-

fits the passengers and communities served by the USAir/British Airways code
share alliance. By renewing the code-share as part of the mini-deal, the United
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States is merely agreeing to take action to renew services that are already being
provided and which it had already agreed to approve.
Question 5. In a letter to President Clinton dated May 11, the Transportation

Trades Department of the AFL-CIO said that a waiver of the Fly America Act re-

quirements "would deal a severe blow to the interest of U.S. air carriers and their

employees who have seen 120,000 jobs disappear in just the past five years. . . . For
aviation employees, the Act serves to preserve their competitiveness at a time when
lower-wage foreign workers are encroaching on the jobs of America workers in vir-

tually every sector of the U.S. economy."
Similarly, in a May 10 letter to the President, the Transport Workers Union of

America cited the widespread, across-the-board impact such a waiver would have on
U.S. aviation jobs: "U.S. government tax dollars will be going to pay for services by
British carriers when there are many U.S. carriers serving these markets that could
handle the business—carriers that emplcry U.S. workers, and fly U.S. manufactured
planes, maintained and serviced in the United States."

As an employee-owned company, please tell us what is United's view of the
proposed Fly America waiver, and how your views of this particular provi-
sion affect your position on the mini-deal as a whole. In other words, how
much importance do you accord this provision within the context of the over-

all mini-deal?
Does your interest then in obtaining the Chicago-Heathrow authority super-
sede your objections to the Fly America waiver proposal?
You nave some very efTective ads touting that your company is employee
owned and operated. Tell me, how do your unionized employees feel about
giving away the Fly America provision? Doesn't it make sense to you and
to them that government workers traveling at taxpayer exp)ense should sup-
port U.S. carriers?

The Fly America Act reauires that transportation by air of Government persons
or property be "provided oy" U.S. flag carriers. The Departments of State and
Transportation and the GAO have all issued policy statements interpreting this pro-

vision which permit foreign carriers operatingunder code-share arrangements with
U.S. carriers to fly Government-paid traffic. The rationale behind these policies is

that the U.S. earner sells the ticKet, receives a portion of the revenue, ana assumes
responsibility for the completion of the flight, regardless of the fact that it is being
operated on the partner's aircraft.

Currently, every U.S. carrier authorized to place its code on flights operated by
foreign carriers is eligible to bid for U.S. government traffic which woula be trans-

f)orted on flights operated by the foreign carrier. This includes Delta on Virgin At-
antic; American on South Africa Airways and QANTAS; Continental on SAS and
Alitalia; and United on Lufthansa, etc. British Airways does not now have access
to Fly America traffic because USAir is not currently authorized to place its code
on BA flights. Under the mini-deal, USAir's code would be placed on BA flints sole-

ly for the purpose of permitting BA to transport Fly America traffic.

It is important to remember that the amount of Government-sponsored traffic at

issue is minimal. At most four gateways (BWI, IAD, NYC, SFO) would be involved
as part of the negotiating package. United's calculations indicate that the maximum
amount of annual revenue available to BA would be under $2 million—assuming it

won all the awards. American did not even bid on the carriage of New York-London
Grovemment-paid traffic for this year. With respect to traffic out of the four poten-
tial gateways, the principal U.S. competitor affected would be United.
The small amount of U.S. government traffic carried by foreign carriers under

code-share arrangements is not likely to affect U.S. jobs. Indeed, tnis has never be-
fore been raised as an issue with respect to the involvement of other code-share alli-

ances in Fly America service and BA is likely to have even less impact because of
the agreed limits on its participation.

United's employee-owners have not objected to this portion of the mini-deal. They
see the value of U.S. carrier competition in the Chicago-London market as far great-

er than the minimal impact the addition of British Airways might have among other
foreign carriers whose U.S. code-share partners already bid for Fly America traffic.

Question 6. Mr. Greenwald, not so long ago. United was one of the most vociferous
advocates of a comprehensive, liberalized air services agreement with the United
Kingdom. You repeatedly argued for "reciprocal economic opportunities and "equiva-

lent benefits."

How then do you rationalize your support for the mini-deal in li^t of your pre-
vious statements?

Shortly after Secretary Pefia took over at the Department of Transportation, the
DOT gave an ultimatum to the British when it approved the British AirwaysAJSAir
alliance. DOT would approve the arrangement tor one year and the British were
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told that they must enter into a deal that would "eliminate restrictions that under-
mine competition and which limit U.S. carrier access to the British markets."
As it turned out, the British were not then prepared to engage in a wholesale lib-

eralization of our aviation relationship. Now, however, the British are ready to enter
into a deal that represents real progress toward improving U.S. carriers' position

in the U.K. market. They are wUling to accept an agenda and schedule toward
Phase II which will include still more benefits.

The United States cannot allow the perfect to become the enemy of the good. We
should accept the deal that has been negotiated and go back to the table to discuss

Phase II. If we continue to take an all-or-nothing approach in seeking expemded op-

portunities with our trading partners like the British, we will never break the im-

Basse that has kept U.S. carriers hamstrung from competing effectively in the U.S.-

^K. market. If we do not take the steps available to us to move forward. United
wiU continue to be shut out of the Chicago-London maricet by manipulation of the

600,000 threshold and passengers served through Chicago will continue to be denied
the benefits of U.S. carrier competition.

Question 7. It is surprising to me how little it took for you to change your position.

From this mini-deal, you are getting one flight a day on a route already served by
two other carriers. Do you find that additional authority sufficient to ameliorate your
concerns about equal treatment? Doesn't United have unused frequencies to

Heathrow, such as those from Denver and Seattle? Isn't it true that access from those

cities is also very important to United? How does this mini-deal help on that score?

United continues to be concerned about achieving a balance of benefits in the

U.S.-U.K. market. The path to achieve this goal, however, appears clearly to be in

accepting the terms of the mini-deal, with its promise of future expansion of U.S.
carrier opportunities in the U.S.-U.K. market. Among the immediate benefits for

United is the realization of one of our company's long-term goals—linking its domes-
tic hub at Chicago with its European hub at London Heathrow. With this linkage,

we will be able to optimize the efticiencies of two major hubs and pass the benefits,

in terms of both service and price, on to our customers.

United does not have authority to serve Heathrow from Denver. We do have au-
thority from Seattle and service over that route will be restored in 1996. To the ex-

tent that the mini-deal represents a step forward in the liberalization process, it

contributes to the momentum toward a more open regime.
Question 8. How profitable do you envision this Chicago-Heathrow route to be? If

it could be that profitable for United, don't you agree that such a route would be
equally or more valuable for a city that doesn't have any Heathrow access?

Last year. United commissioned a study to analyze the price and quality of non-
stop air service between Chicago and London. A copy of the study, conducted by The
Campbell Aviation Group, Inc., has been provided for the hearing record. The con-

clusions reached by the study demonstrate that Chicago has the poorest level of
service of any U.S. city with two or more non-stop air carriers in the market, and
significantly higher prices. This is true even in comparison with cities that have
smaller populations than Chicago, but more competitive service to London. Provid-

ing competitive U.S. carrier service in the Chicago-London market is, therefore, an
important priority for U.S. negotiators.

United's designation as the second U.S. carrier in the market also will bring sig-

nificant benefits to passengers in Chicago and in the midwest region for whom
O'Hare is the most convenient major hub airport. Chicago is the busiest airport in

the world, and United is the largest hub operator at that airport. Being able to link

its domestic hub at Chicago with its principal European hub at London Heathrow
will enable United to maximize the price and service benefits possible only through
that linkage.

Moreover, Phase II of the mini-deal offers the opportunity for expanded access to

Heathrow for many new communities. These opportunities would not be available

but for the "mini-deal."

Question 9. Mr. Greenwald, if United needed access to the United Kingdom, why
didn't you bid for any of the regional flights out of Chicago? Why didn't United bid

for Stansted?
The opportunity presented by the mini-deal is not merely access for United to the

United Kingdom. The key for United is the opportunity to link our primary domestic
hub at Chicago O'Hare with our primary European hub at London. Serving regional

airports, while perhaps important over the long term, is not as significant as being
able to realize the benefits of the efficiencies represented by service between two
major hubs. Moreover, splitting our London services between two U.K. airports

would increase the costs of our European services significantly.
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Question 10. If Bermuda II is restrictive and balanced in favor of British carriers,

what incentive does the United Kingdom have, now or in the future, to negotiate

away their substantial advantage?
The Britishgovemraent has recognized the need to make changes in our bilateral

relationship. The mini-deal is evidence of this recognition. It offers incremental ad-
justments to the agreement which U.S. carriers can use to begin to comf)ete more
effectively against the British carriers.

Question 11. In 1993, after the DOT approved the British Airways-USAir code-
share agreem£nt for the first time, the British promised to engage in negotiations to

liberalize the bilateral agreement. However, nothing ever came of that British prom-
ise. Mr. Greenwald, it is clear that you are a strong supporter of the incremental ap-
proach.

Given the previous experience with British promises to continue toward liberaliza-

tion, what support do you have for your position that the incremental approach has
worked in the past or will work in the future?

U.S. carriers and communities have benefitted from past mini-deals to varying de-
grees, but by far the biggest beneficiaries have been Delta and American, the two
carriers now objecting most vociferously to a new mini-deal with the United King-
dom Delta and American are each operating a number of routes in the United
States-United Kingdom and United States-Japan markets which are among the ben-
efits they received from mini-deals with those countries.

History indicates that the United Kingdom is prepared to make the incremental
adjustments to the bilateral reflected in the proposed terms of the mini-deal. We are
optimistic that the United Kingdom will move forward with this package.

Question 12. Mr. Greenwald, in your statements regarding the current negotia-
tions, you criticize opponents of the proposed deal as simply being those parochial
interests that have the most to lose if an agreement is reached.

Doesn't United, however, have the most to gain from a Phase I deal and, therefore,

isn't it merely seeking to enhance its own "parochial" interests?

How do you explain the opposition of the deal by those who don't even serve the

Chicago-London market? What exactly do they have to lose?

The "mini-deal" represents a breakthrough in the impasse that has stymied
progress in our aviation relations with the United Kingdom. A number of carriers

and communities will benefit from its terms in both Phase I and Phase II, United
among them. The largest U.S. carriers in the transatlantic market, stand to lose the
most if they are faced with increased competition from U.S. carriers to London and
beyond as a result of the "mini-deal". To the extent that midwestem U.S. citizens

now will have attractive service and price options to London throujgh Chicago, our
flints will compete with those of other carriers at other gateways. Their opposition
is understandable from that perspective.

Question 13. Does your airline feel that the proposed "starburst" element of Phase
1 is of significant value? If so, why?

In 1991 the United States agreed to allow British carriers to code-share with U.S.
carriers in a starburst pattern at U.S. gateways. This enables BA to code-share at

USAir's hubs on virtually all flights in USAir's flight banks—a so-called "starburst"
pattern.

U.S. carriers did not obtain the same right in the 1991 MOU, but are limited to

the same number of code-share flights at London as they have transatlantic flights

serving London—the so-called "one-in-one-out" pattern. The right to starburst at

London would give U.S. carriers the ability to use that gateway like a hub.
United, for example, could offer more code shares with its partners British Mid-

land and Lufthansa. American also has a code-share relationship with British Mid-
land that could benefit. Delta has code-share relationships with Virgin Atlantic,

Swissair, Sabena and Austrian Airways and could benefit from a starburst operation
with one or a combination of these carriers.

Question 14. In general, does your airline believe that code-sharing is procom-
petitive or that it will lead to greater "open skies" opportunities? Please explain.

United continues to support efforts to achieve liberalized bilateral agreements
with a broad range of our trading partners. No single airline, however, can realisti-

cally expect to serve every country or city in the world. To achieve our goal of pro-
viding a "seamless" product in the international air transportation market, we must
encourage polices that create an environment conducive to efficient alliances among
carriers. Support for such alliances encourages governments to liberalize their avia-
tion agreements with the U.S. in order to permit their carriers to participate in

these arrangements.
Question 15. Does your airline believe that changing the limits on foreign control

and ownership of U.S. airlines would increase the possibility of true liberalization
with Britain or other nations?



183

United has supported proposals to increase the limits on foreign ownership. In the
right circumstances, the consumers can benefit from breaking down and, ultimately,

eliminating nationality barriers to free trade. Multi-national alliances are an impor-
tant step forward in this process. These alliances help to encourage foreign govern-
ments to break down barriers to fuller participation for their carriers in these ar-

rangements. This, in turn, moves nations toward greater liberalization of aviation

mancets.

Questions Asked by Senator Pressler and Answers Thereto by Thomas
Weidemeyer

Question 1. Please describe for us the particular problems your company experi-

ences under the current U.S. I U.K. agreement.
The current bilateral agreement is flexible to a certain extent with regards to air

cargo services. At the present time, UPS is one of three designated carriers that are
able to utilize beyond rights out of the United Kingdom. It is fortunate that one of

those available beyond points is Germany, where UPS has its European air hub.
However, other than Germany, the remaining beyond points (Netherlands, Belgium
and Turkey) do not provide flexibility for UI% to plan future operations. We would
not, for example, be able to operate to France or Spain and carry traffic between
those points. UPS now has extensive operations within Europe, supported by over
30,000 European employees. UPS needs to have the flexibility to operate its air sys-

tem in the most efficient manner in order to provide the best service for our cus-

tomers.

Question 2. I understand a Select Committee of the British House of Commons re-

cently recommended cargo liberalization, a concept in Phase 2 of the negotiations.

What would the immediate and long-term effect of cargo liberalization be for your
company?
As I stated in my formal comments, UPS was perplexed by the fact that the Select

Committee's recommendations, as they related to cargo liberalization, were ignored
by the U.S. negotiators in the Phase 1 proposal. Other portions of the report, related

to passenger issues, were adopted as part of Phase 1. We should have used this re-

port to put pressure on the U.K. Government to include cargo liberalization .

Cargo liberalization would allow UPS to plan its operations in the most efficient

manner. Intra-European beyond rights are critical to UPS. As important as this is

to UPS, if is of greater importance to our customers. As barriers to trade are broken
down through the WTO and NAFTA, we cannot continue to allow transportation to

be shackled by regulations imposed by regulators. We need innovative trade solu-

tions that allow airlines to move goods and people in as free a manner as possible.

Questions Asked by Senator McCain and Answers Thereto by Thomas
Weidemeyer

Question 3. Does your company feel that the proposed "starburst" element of Phase
1 is of significant value?
The starburst element deals with passenger code-share operations, which is not

a concern to UPS. However, the ability to code-share in this manner appears to be
of significant value by allowing those airlines the flexibility to mesh schedules and
provide customers with the most options.

Question 4. Would your company support or oppose renunciation of Bermuda 2 by
the United States as a means of obtaining a fundamental change, and possibly "open
skies," in the aviation service between the United States and Britain?
UPS would not support renunciation unless we were convinced that it was nec-

essary as part of a broader strategy to deal with the aviation operations between
our two countries. We are not convinced that renunciation, in and of itself, is the
answer to the problem.
For example, both France and Thailand have renounced their respective agree-

ments with the United States and, from a practical matter, nothing has substan-
tially changed because the two governments still operate under a comity and reci-

procity arrangement. The operations that existed prior to the renunciation basically

still exist. In that case, renunciation does nothing more than make a political state-

ment of unhappiness with the current document.
If the United States is to use renunciation as a tool, it will only be effective if all

services are stopped. Such an action would put tremendous pressure on both sides

to reach an agreement. Unless all services are stopped, the incumbent concerns that
are the root of the problems with Bermuda 2 will not be addressed. However, it is
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questionable whether the DOT or DOS would follow this course of action in any
event.

Question 5. Does your company have any suggestions, or alternative approaches,
as to how the U.S. might obtain a more liberalized agreement with the United King-
dom?
The historical rate of change in the U.S.-U.K. bilateral relationship is one of the

slowest. This is mainly due to the powerful incumbents on both sides that want to
expand their holds on the U.S.-U.K. market to the detriment of expanding opportu-
nities for other carriers. If we continue to pursue a liberalized agreement under the
conditions and assumptions of the past, we are doomed to failure.

Transportation regulators currently control the aviation trade agenda between our
two countries. Althou^ the DOT has pushed for "open skies" agreements and has
been successful in many other instances, the United Kingdom DOT is clearly not
of the same mind. As a result, at the end of the day we will still have regulations
that limit, not expand, what U.S. carriers are able to do in this market.

In order to make a significant change in this aviation relationship, the United
States must begin looking at the aviation relationship as a trade relationship, not
a transportation relationship. Perhaps the guidelines we should operate under
should be Uruguay (GATT), not Bermuda 2. This will take a fundamental change
in our way of thinking about aviation relationships and it is doubtful that there will

be a lot of support for this concept in the beginning.

Question 6. Does your company believe that changing the limits on foreign control
and ownership of U.S. airlines would increase the possibility of true liberalization
with Britain?
The statutory limit on foreign ownership should be the same as that for auto-

makers, real estate investors, or electronics firms. In other words, the idea of limit-

ing foreign ownership in carriers—or the right to establish a carrier in a foreign
country—is out of date and does not serve a useful purpose. If UPS were able to
establish its own airline within the European Union, for example, we would not be
faced with the operating problems that we now have. The end result of eliminating
foreign ownership restrictions would be better service for both our customers and
the traveling public.

In an ideal world, there should be few limitations on lifting this restriction. How-
ever, as the only Fortune 100 company whose primary competitor is the govern-
ment, in the form of the U.S. Postal Service, we understand the impact of govern-
ment-owned carriers and the issue of state subsidies. This must be taken into ac-
count.

Questions Asked by Senator Rollings and Answers Thereto by Secretary
Pena

Question 1. Prior to the decision to seek a mini-deal, what was done to seek indus-
try views on the merits of a mini-deal?
Answer. In the negotiations process with the United Kingdom, we followed our

standard practice of seeking industry views on the merits of the issues being nego-
tiated. This was done in several wavs. First, we held a public meeting for all inter-
ested U.S. interests. This included, scheduled and charter airlines, airports and
other civic interests, and labor representatives. These same representatives were
subsequently invited to submit letters commenting on the negotiations. Finally, and
perhaps most importantly, these industry representatives were invited to attend the
talks as members of the U.S. delegation. That way, they were available to comment
on any aspect of the mini-deal as tne negotiations developed.

Question 2: The Department of Transportation has embarked on a strategy of
opening up the European market through negotiations with nine countries under an
"open-skies" agreement. Is it your view that this could facilitate the ability of U.S.
carriers to serve Europe? Would this have a positive effect on the U.S.-U.K. relation-
ship?
Answer. Yes, the open-skies aviation agreements that we have initialled with the

nine Euronean countries will create improved opportunities for U.S. airlines to serve
Europe. Most important, U.S. airlines will have new options for participating in the
globalization of air services, U.S. communities will have new opportunities to attract
international air services, and travellers and shippers will benefit from expanded air
service options.

The United States decided to pursue the nine country initiative because inter-
national air transportation has entered a "watershed" era that requires airlines to
think and act from a global perspective. Thus, a liberalized aviation environment
is essential.
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A key goal of the open-skies agreements is to create an environment that will give

airline managements the flexibility to respond to demands from travellers and ship-

pers for truly "global" air services.

As for the second part of your question, I believe there will be a positive impact
on the open-skies negotiations with the United Kingdom and other countries. As
U.S. airlines and the national airlines of the nine countries begin to use the oppor-
tunities provided to them in the open-skies agreements, this will create a competi-
tive dynamic that British and other European carriers cannot ignore.

Question 3. Cargo operators play an important role in our economy. Under the
proposed mini-deal scenario, cargo rights would be addressed under phase 2. Yet,
the British House of Commons Transport Committee, in a 1994 report, rec-

ommended seeking liberal cargo rights first. What impact do you believe the House
of Commons report has had on the ability of cargo operators to gain a more liberal

agreement?
Answer. The House of Commons recommendation for extensive cargo liberaliza-

tion should provide a very positive impetus for moving forward on cargo issues with
the British. Moreover, I believe that tne House of Commons report correctly identi-

fies cargo issues as unlikely to be as contentious as passenger issues. In addition,

1 understand that there is a commonality of interest between U.S. and U.K. carriers

in their desires to see additional liberalizations introduced into the cargo regime.
Now that the phase 1 deal has been completed, we will move quickly to the phase
2 negotiation that includes cargo issues. I am pleased to inform you that the first

round of those talks began on June 20 with a working group meeting.
Question 4. The General Accounting Office has suggestea that the U.S. needs bet-

ter data to assess the benefits of code sharing, before it negotiates away such rights.

In granting the British the right to code-snare in 1991, then-Secretary Skinner
praised the agreement. Did we then have the type of data GAO now seeks to deter-

mine if we should grant the right to code-sharer
Answer. The GAO has recommended that (1) U.S. airlines, as part of their regular

reporting of traffic data to DOT, identify which passengers traveled on code-share
flints and (2) foreign airlines involved in such alliances with U.S. carriers be re-

quired to report data on their code-share traffic to DOT. Neither type of information
was available in 1991. At that time, no large-scale code-share alliances were in place
from which such data could have been collected.

Since the beginning of 1994 we have been requiring U.S. carriers that participate

in the larger strategic code-share alliances to file special Origin and Destination re-

ports with the Department. Currently these include Northwest, United, and USAir
in conjunction with their alliances with KLM, Lufthansa, and British Airways, re-

spectively.

Certainly we would like to have the additional data recommended by the GAO

—

fare basis Origin and Destination data for passengers that are carried entirely on
foreign carriers. However, we cannot simply require foreign carriers to report this

information. Normally, getting this kind of data would involve a time consuming
rulemaking process that in the end may or may not be successful. The difficulty we
have experienced in getting even more basic information from foreign carriers in the
past does not encourage us, particularly in any reasonable timeframe.
GAO suggests the alternative of making the submission of such information a con-

dition for approving a code-sharing alliance. This is not as promising as it may
seem. Apart from a foreign carrier simply not wanting to do this, developing the in-

formation required and the systems to process the information would be an expen-
sive undertaking for foreign carriers and might discourage alliances. It is quite like-

ly that this would come at the expense of the U.S. carrier partner that stands to

gain from the alliance.

While the foreign carrier data would improve our ability to do certain kinds of

analyses, I do not believe that it is critical for assessing the effects of the broad-
based, strategic alliances. In addition, we already require carriers, including foreign

carriers, to file a substantial amount of information of various kinds. For analyses
where the missing foreign carrier data are needed, we have developed methods of

estimating it from the data already reported to us. We are also considering the pos-

sibility of devising a method of routinely estimating foreign carrier data, perhaps
using a modeling approach. While this is not ideal, we have not yet concluded that
time-consuming eflorts to require additional data from foreign carriers would be
preferable.

I can assure you, however, that as developments occur, we will not hesitate to

take the necessary steps to obtain information that we decide we must have to per-

form our regulatory analysis properly, despite resistance from foreign carriers.

Question 5. Currently, the Departments of Transportation and State share the re-

sponsibility for negotiating bilateral agreements. Each Department devotes substan-
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tial resources to the negotiations. Do you believe that the current dual authority
role is appropriate or would it be more eflicient if only DOT had such authority?
Answer. I believe that the Departments of Transportation and State have tradi-

tionally worked well together to advance U.S. international aviation objectives. The
Departments perform complementary roles in assuring that aviation negotiations
are guided by the Administration's primary international aviation goal of open com-
petition while also taking into account the perspectives of our bilateral aviation
partners. The Department of Transportation brings aviation policy guidance, eco-

nomic analysis, and technical expertise to the negotiating table. TTie Department of

State brings insights into the broader, foreign policy factors affecting the negotiating
{>ositions and objectives of our negotiating partners. Melding these perspectives aU
ows the U.S. Government to pursue agreements that benefit both sides and provide
a stable basis for the development ana expansion of U.S. carrier international avia-

tion networics.

Questions Asked by Senator Rockefeller's and Answers Thereto by
Secretary Pena

Question 1. Mr. Secretary, there has been some significant debate about whether
or not the United States should accept a "mini deal" with the United Kingdom that
makes prop-ess, but does not get everything we may want. I support the mini deal
as a step m the right direction. Do you think a mini deal is good for the United
States?
Answer. We have long recognized the need to liberalize our aviation relationship

with the United Kingdom, and the current deal represents an important first step
in that process. Although it does not provide all the market opening opportunities
that we ultimately hope to achieve, the first-step package provides immediate and
meaningful additional service opportunities that will enhance competition and pro-
vide additional access to the international air transportation system for travellers
and shippers. Our economic analysis confirms that the deal provides significant eco-
nomic benefits to U.S. carriers and U.S. communities.

Question 2. Did you look at opportunities for expanding this mini deal?
Answer. I would have much preferred to see a broader package of rights in the

first-step package. However, we were much closer to agreement on some elements
than on others, and some elements in the first-step package concern operations for

this summer season. I did discuss the possibility of an enlarged package with my
U.K. counterpart, but he was not prepared to proceed on that basis. My assessment
was that it was important to secure the immediately achievable rights as quickly
as possible and to link agT^eement on those rights to a commitment to begin the sec-

ona-step negotiations on the basis of an agreed agenda and timetable.
Question 3. As I understand it, the earlier mini deal proposal didn't outline the

scope of Phase 2 of the negotiations. Isn't part of the Administration's mini deal pro-

posal now to include an agreement on what will be covered in Phase 2, along with
a timeframe for these negotiations? Doesn't that help make the case that we should
get the benefits of Phase 1 now?
Answer. Agreement on a second-step agenda and an expedited timetable for ad-

dressing the second-step issues were essential prerequisites for moving forward to

conclude the first-step package. Once we were able to secure a U.K. commitment
to adhere to an announced saiedule of additional meetings on the second-stage is-

sues, I believe that it was appropriate to take advantage of the immediately avail-
able opportunities, which are oi significant economic benefit to U.S. airlines and
communities.

Questions Asked by Senator Pressler and Answers Thereto by DOT
Question: I understand from a recent GAO study there is some question about

DC/T's present -ability to analyze the economic benefits of code-sharing agreements
with foreign carriers. What are your views and what actions does the Department
plan to take to remedy this problem?

Answer: The Department has a great deal of data available with which to analyze
the impact of code sharing alliances. For example, all passengers that fly at least

one segment of their journey on a U.S. carrier are sampled in the United States Ori-
gin and Destination (O&D) Survey. This gives us access to fare and routing informa-
tion for all markets involving a U.S. point behind a U.S. gateway, and gateway-to-
gateway and gateway-to-beyond gateway markets where a U.S. carrier does the
international flying. We also receive a special code-share report from three U.S. car-
riers involved in major strategic alliances. In addition, botn United States and for-
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eign carriers report all traffic between United States and foreign gateways. Finally,

all service of United States and foreign carriers can be obtained from the Ofiicial

Airline Guide. Used in combination, these data sources allow us to make reasonable
estimates of code-sharing alliance impacts.

On the other hand, there are significant gaps in our data, which, if filled, would
allow much more complete analysis. In particular, we have no fare and market data
for international passengers who begin or end their trip at a U.S. gateway on a for-

eign carrier. We plan to take steps in the near future to fill this data gap.

Question: In assessing the cost and benefits of increased access for British Airways
to serve Philadelphia, ruive you factored in the considerable economic benefits such
service could have on Philadelphia and the large surrounding communities who rely

on that airport? Also, have you considered the economic benefits of an additional
Chicago route for the city of'^Chicago, the State of Illinois, and the Midwestern re-

gion?
Answer: The economic analysis of the additional frequencies for British Airways

at Philadelphia focused on the traffic and revenues accruing to or diverted from the

U.K. and U.S. airlines to assess the balance of benefits of this change. Clearly there
are enormous benefits for consumers and these cities and their surrounding commu-
nities flowing from the added service and competition that were not included in the
analysis.

Question: With regard to the threshold mechanism or "trigger" provided in the Ber-

muda II agreement: Who is responsible for monitoring this threshold? How close is

the 600,000 threshold in the Chicago-London market? Are the boarding statistics

available to the public?
Answer: The Department of Transportation receives traffic data from U.S. and

foreign airlines for all U.S.-foreign city-pairs, which gives us the capability to mon-
itor traffic developments on individual routes.

Under the U.S.-U.K. Air Services Agreement, new entry is allowed in a city-pair

market served by only one airline from each side if revenue passenger traffic ex-

ceeds 600,000 passenger for two consecutive 12-month periods. Revenue passenger
traffic on the Chicago-London route has closely approached 600,000 threshold but
has not reached it. Traffic data submitted to the Department are commercially sen-

sitive, and the Department treats them on a confidential basis for 3 years. There-
fore, current boarding statistics are not available to the public.

Question: Why, in your judgment, hasn't Chicago's traffic reached the 600,000
threshold when just recently, Washington-Dulles, which is smaller than CfHare,
reached the trigger? Has DOT considered that American and British Airways could
be engaging in anti-competitive practices—6^ periodically reducing capacity so that
the 600,000 mark is never crossed? If so, has DOT or the Justice Department inves-

tigated this?

Answer: The amount of traffic that moves in individual city-pair markets is a
function of many inter-related factors. A large percentage of the traffic that uses
both the Chicago and Washington gateways originates in, or is destined to, other
cities in the United States, since these gateways function as hubs for American and
United, respectively. These connecting passengers have multiple routing choices.

The number and location of the gateways that individual airlines are seeking to

support influences traffic patterns. In American's case, the combination of local

gateway traffic and connecting traffic was supporting three established and three
recently awarded routes east of Chicago. In addition to its three west coast gate-

ways. United has only two east coast gateways—Washington (a major connecting
hub) and New York. Therefore, United's connecting traffic flows would be much
more concentrated than American's and contribute to Washington reaching the
600,000 passenger level.

The number of flights that can be operated under the capacity annex in the U.S.-

U.K. agreement and the equipment mix of the airlines operating the services are
also relevant. For example, if the British refuse to allow United to increase the

number of flights in the Washington-London market. United can gain capacity by
operating Boeing 747 aircraft; American does not have that option at Chicago since

it does not operate that aircraft type. American was given an extra-bilateral capac-

ity increase at Chicago to operate to London's underdeveloped Stansted Airport.

When that experimental service proved uneconomical, American was not allowed to

move the capacity to Heathrow.
Consequently, given the numerous factors that affect traffic flows in this market,

many of which are outside an airline's control, the Department has not found a

basis for requesting a Department of Justice investigation of the Chicago-London
route.

Question: I understand the Phase I negotiations imposed a restriction on the type

of aircraft that United can use in the Chicago-London market. Is it typical for DuT
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to negotiate over the size of the aircraft? Is British Airways limited to the size of air-

craft it can use between Philadelphia and Heathrow?
Answer: It is not typical for the Department to negotiate over the size/type of air-

craft to be used to provide international air services, particularly in large, developed
aviation markets such as that between the United States and the United Kingdom.
We would have much preferred to follow that policy in this case. The British, how-
ever, were not prepared to accept United's entry without a restriction (Boeing 767
aircraft or similar with no more than 211 seats). The aircraft restriction is tem-

f)orary. After January 15, 1997, United will be able to use whatever aircraft it be-
ieves best suits market demand. As is the case with all other U.S.-London routes
for both U.S. and U.K. airlines, no aircraft size limitation applies to British Airways'
Philadelphia-London services. However, we understand that the newly authorized
flints are being operated with a Boeing 767 aircraft.

^Question: Why did DOT approve the Delta /Virgin alliance? Why would you ap-
prove the code-share request after waiting 10 months, arguably lose important lever-

age, and then enter negotiations with the British in March?
Answer: The Department approved this alliance because the operations would

offer important public benefits in the form of new service opportunities. In particu-

lar. Delta gained the opportunity to market services to Heathrow in competition
with United and American. At the time of approval, our assessment was that with-
holding this authority had only marginal leverage value, which was outweighed by
foregone competitive benefits, and that we should move forward so that the substan-
tial public interest benefits would be available for the summer trafiic season. More-
over, we believe that the approval actually cleared the way for moving forward on
our two-step liberalization initiative.

Question: Was an economic cost-benefit analysis conducted on the Delta /Virgin al-

liance? What did the United States gain by approving that deal?
Answer: Yes, a detailed balance of benefits analysis was done. The alliance en-

hanced competition on the seven routes involved and some interior U.S. markets by
adding in efiect a third U.S. carrier at Heathrow. Although the revenues were small
relative to the revenues of the enormous U.SAJ.K. market. Delta's share was sub-
stantial. The alliance augmented the competitive position of two small players in the
U.SAJ.K. market. The greatest diversionary impact on any carrier was on British
Airways.

Question: Why hasn't the Administration considered putting the liberalization of
the international aviation regime on the agenda at the G7 meetings to encourage a
multilateral approach among the world's economic powers?
Answer: As set out in the Administration's International Aviation Policy State-

ment, the United States is prepared to work either bilaterally or multilaterally to

achieve an open aviation environment on a global basis. A representative of the De-
partment, along with representatives of many of the G7 countries, is currently in-

volved in an ongoing study under the auspices of the OECD to identify the barriers
that prevent aviation from having the type of global market access that character-
izes most other economic'sectors. With respect to moving aviation liberalization for-

ward in the G7 forum specifically, a majority of the G7 participants continue to pur-
sue protectionist approaches in the aviation sector in contrast to their general trade
philosophies in other sectors. Unfortunately, therefore, its use as a forum for posi-

tive change in aviation liberalization does not appear promising at this stage.

Question: You emphasized in your statement how important Heathrow is for the

airlines in terms of attracting the business traveler. Is Heathrow similarly important
to cargo carriers? What restrictions are there on U.S. cargo carriers operating to and
from Heathrow? Are they similar to those faced by U.S. passenger airlines?

Answer: Cargo airlines have different requirements than passenger airlines, and
Heathrow does not occupy the same central focus. In fact, Federal Express has con-
centrated its London operations on Stansted Airport (with its additional space for

sorting and recombining shipments) even though its predecessor, Flying Tigers, op-
erated from Hgathrow. For some airlines, London itself has not been a central ele-

ment of their United Kingdom operations. For example, UPS has chosen to serve
East Midlands airport, although the airline is also interested in Heathrow access
in the longer term.
Cargo services between the United States and the United Kingdom are virtually

deregulated; and the entry, capacity, and city pair restrictions that apply to pas-
senger services do not apply to all-cargo services. However, U.S. cargo airlines are
interested in expanding their service networks beyond the United Kingdom, and
fifth freedom rights are still restricted. The remaining traffic distribution rules for

London airports allow U.K. authorities to restrict all-cargo operations at Heathrow
and Gatwick during peak hours. However, the Department is not aware that this
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potential restriction has prevented U.S. airlines from operating commercially viable

caivo services to the United Kingdom.
Further cargo liberalization is an important element of the second-phase liberal-

ization talks.

Question: What effect do you expect DOT'S open skies initiative with the nine small-

er European countries to have on the British as those markets open up?
Answer: The effect of these new agreements can only be positive. Travellers to Eu-

rope and points beyond—historically the United Kingdom's backyard and
Heathrow's great strength—will now have new service options, including services by
code-sharing. This effect should encourage the British to loosen the operating con-

straints at London or risk losing substantial traffic to other transfer points in Eu-
rope.

Question: In 1994, DOT hired a consultant, Gellman Research Associates, to study
the competitive impacts of code-sharing. Gellman concluded, 'if DOT wants to con-

tinue to monitor the effects of international code-sharing on airlines and consumers,
it should consider expanding the reporting requirements for code-sharing operations,

particularly those of foreign carriers.' Gellman repeatedly emphasized this point not-

ing, 'it is strongly suggested that DOT consider the possibility of obtaining ticketing

information from foreign carriers.' In its recent report on code-sharing, the GAO also

made a number of recommendations along this line. What actions will DOT take in

response to these two independent studies to improve its data?
Answer: DOT is actively considering approaches to fill the gap in foreign carrier

data as suggested by the two studies, including the possibility of extending to for-

eign airlines the current data collection requirements that apply to U.S. carriers,

and we hope to implement changes in the near future.

Questions Asked by Senator McCain and Answers Thereto by DOT

Mr. Chairman, Department analysis of your post-hearing questions for the record
indicates that your concerns are focused in about a dozen broad areas. In an effort

to answer your questions as clearly as possible, we have taken an issue-sj)ecific ap-
proach in responding to those concerns.

Issue 1: Analysis of Current U.S.-U.K. Regime
Issue 2: Elements of the First-Step Package
Issue 3: Analysis of the First-Step Package
Issue 4: Incremental Approach to U.K. Negotiations
Issue 5: Chicago Issues
Issue 6: Fly America Issues
Issue 7: Heathrow Access Issues
Issue 8: U.S. Negotiating Strategy: Policy

Issue 9: U.S. Negotiating Strategy: Analysis
Issue 10: Antitrust Immunity and Code Sharing
Issue 11: European Union Implications

In addition, several questions did not fit these categories, and we have therefore
addressed those Issues mdividually.

Issue 1: Analysis of Current U.S.-U.K. Regime Answer The U.S. carrier share of
the U.S.-U.K. market has been declining. For example, our carriers' share of the
United States-London market declined from 46.6 percent for CY 1993 to 43.6 per-

cent for CY 1994. There are a variety of reasons why this shift in market share is

occurring.
• Domestic restructuring, such as Continental's decision to dehub at Denver, is

reducing U.S. traffic. Continental's Denver-London passengers are down by several

thousand per month. Continental has now suspended this service.

• International restructuring, such as Nortnwest's alliance with KLM is also giv-

ing the appearance of reduced U.S. share. Comparing CY 94 with CY 93, Northwest
reports the largest decline of any U.S. carrier in the United States-London market,
or 75,000 passengers. But its passengers traveling to and beyond Amsterdam was
increased by 174,000. Thus, its United States-London decline is more indicative of

the strength of its alliance with KLM at Amsterdam rather than a weakness in its

United States-London traffic flows. Northwest has chosen to route its European traf-

fic over Amsterdam rather than London. Similarly, we would expect that United
will redirect some of its U.S.-Europe traffic over Frankfurt rather than London. Suc-
cess or failure cannot be measured by measuring traffic fiows in a single maricet.

• Individual carrier performance is also a factor. As in any market, some carriers

do better than other carriers. For example, although both British carriers are doing
very well, by far the fastest growing carrier in the United States-London maritet,

measured in terms of year over year percentage increase in passengers, is American
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Airlines, which demonstrates that a U.S. carrier can effectively compete. And while

United's growth has been relatively flat, it has not served its premier U.S. hub
(OUare) to Lx)ndon. Delta's overall traffic is down, because it has been replaced at

the Detroit gateway by Northwest, but Delta's Atlanta/Cincinnati-Gatwick service is

performing well.

The U.S. carrier share is declining primarily because the British carriers' traffic

is growing rather than because U.S. carrier traffic is declining. Like American, the

British carriers' traffic growth is strong. And BA's growth does not appear to be pri-

marily due to its code-share relationship with USAir, as it is experiencing solid

growth at every U.S. gateway and not just USAir hubs. The likely source of this

growth is British Airways successful development of its beyond-London markets.
This is why our policy is to gain access to these beyond markets for our carriers

in order to compete for this developing market. Northwest is successfully achieving

this result over Amsterdam, United is working toward this result over Frankfurt,

and other U.S. carriers will develop their competitive alternatives. This is consistent

with our international aviation policy statement, which establishes as its fundamen-
tal objective the establishment of a market-oriented international aviation system
so that our efficient, competitively seasoned carriers can compete.
While we have extensively examined the specific elements in the first phase of

the U.S.-U.K. mini deal, and such Issues as competitive advantages or serving

Heathrow versus Gatwick, the value of lost market share, and revenue loss by car-

rier due to the British Airways/USAir code share agreement, our primary focus

must be to pursue opening up international markets so that our carriers will oe able

to compete in the rapidly growing market involving cities behind the large foreign

gateway cities. This forms the economic underpinnings of the international aviation

f»olicy statement and provides the framework lor the challenge we and our industry

ace.

Issue 2: Elements of the First-Step Package Answer: On June 5, the first-step

agreement on liberalization of the U.S.-U.K. aviation relationship was signed. The
elements of this first-step were: a new U.S. airline on the Chicago-London Heathrow
route; star-burst code-share authorization; open access to U.K. regional points and
London's Stansted and Luton Airports from all cities in the United States; increased

service by British Airways in the Philadelphia-London market; and the ability for

U.S. airline alliance partners to put their codes on U.K. transatlantic flights in five

city-pair markets to compete for IJ.S. Government-financed traffic. The grant of ad-

ditional flights in the Riiladelphia-London market for British Airways was strongly

supported by Philadelphia interests in the wake of American's decision to withdraw
from the market. U.S. airlines are already using regional rights. The new Chicago
service, which was awarded to United Airlines, and expanded code-sharing based on
the star-burst entitlement by several U.S. airlines will oegin this fall.

In addition to the immediately available new opportunities, the first-step agree-

ment contained a commitment for the two sides to negotiate a second phase of liber-

alizations. I insisted that the two sides agree to an intensive schedule of negotia-

tions over the summer before the first-step deal was signed. The schedule includes

a preparatory meeting at the technical level, which was held in Washington on June
20-22, and plenary meetings the weeks of July 17, August 7, and September 11.

The second-step agenda includes liberalization of the charter, cargo, ana pricing re-

gimes; "very limited, balanced" access to Heathrow and/or Gatwick, and further ac-

cess to U.S. Government-financed traffic.

Issue 3: Analysis of the First-Step Package Answer: With regard to Philadelphia-

Heathrow service, British Airways will receive the right to operate a second round
trip for the winter season and an additional 70 days during tne summer season. In

exchange the United States gets a more valuable second designation on the Chicago-

Heathrow route and potentially valuable 'starburst' authority.

With regard to the 'starburst' authority, which is the right to unlimited code share

authority oeyond London airports and into U.K. cities from third-country points,

such as Amsterdam, for the U.S. carriers and beyond U.S. gateways for the British

carriers, the- revenue potential for U.S. carriers is clearly very lar^e. Based on the

conservative assumptions that no new service is added (making the Issue of conges-

tion at Heathrow irrelevant), but loads on U.S. carrier service to London could be
increased to a higher, but achievable level due to added flow from new code share

traffic, the U.S. carriers could add as much as $150 million in revenue, which would
mostly go to the bottom line. The British, on the other hand, would be able to use
this right primarily with the British Airways' service at Miami for beyond traffic

to South America. The potential there, using parallel assumptions, is much less, in

the area of $20 million. In constructing our analysis, we did not consider the possi-

bility that British Airways would select a new U.S. code share oartner. USAir has
an ideal network in the eastern United States to feed the United Kingdom and any
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new alliance would have to receive approval of DOT and the Department of Justice,

and would be scrutinized for antitrust implications.

The Fly America benefits in the first phase for the British Airways/USAir alliance

are very limited, relating only to gateway traffic to London at five U.S. gateway
cities (no behind U.S. gateway tramc is involved). The value to British Airways,
should USAir win all these GSA contracts, is estimated to be at most $5 million.

Issue 4: Incremental Approach to United Kingdom Negotiations Answer. As I

noted in my opening statement, from the beginning of this Administration, it has
been my goal to liberalize our aviation relationship with the United Kingdom. I in-

herited an unsatisfactory relationship, and we have considered all options to find

the most effective way forward. I have seriously explored the possibility of simply
renouncing the Agreement; however, there was no broad-based support for pursuing
that option from either U.S. airlines or communities. In the meantime, while looking
into ways to remove restrictions, I have determined to honor the commitments that
the United States has made previously, just as we expect our bilateral partners to

honor their commitments to us even if they are seeking changes in the aviation rela-

tionship.
Consistent with the negotiating strategy laid out in the International Aviation

Policy Statement, I determined to pursue an incremental policy of liberalization

with the British. It does not reflect my preferred approach; however, the only viable

alternative course would, in my assessment, have oeen to allow the regime to stall

and remain static for U.S. interests while U.K. airlines continued to enjoy the bene-
fits secured by the British side in 1991. Such a result would not have been in the
overall best interests of the United States, and we have secured rights from which
U.S. airlines and cities are already benefiting.

I would have preferred a larger first-step deal, and 1 personally pushed hard with
my U.K. counterpart to expand its parameters. In addition, in light of the con-
troversy surrouncling the proposed package, I also explored whether we could move
forward separately on cargo liberalization. Neither of these approaches were accept-

able to the British. Consequently, I determined to move forward on the first-step

package, since our analysis showed that there were important benefits for U.S. in-

terests in that package and conclusion of the first-step package would allow us to

move forward to liberalize other areas of the aviation relationship.

Before agreeing to finalize the first-step package, I insisted that an intensive

schedule ol^negotiations on the second-step elements be set out. I am confident that
we will be able to move forward on the second-stage elements since, in at least some
areas, the British have real-world operational needs that can only be addressed
through further agreement. However, I am under no illusions that the British will

not want to move as fast or as far as we will want to. Hard bargaining and negotia-

tions lie ahead, but I am convinced that we can make progress that will allow U.S.

interests to participate more successfully in the market. Successful conclusion of the

second-stage talks will bring important liberalizations to this market that should
benefit airlines and consumers through enhanced competition.

I believe that the British will have to look increasingly at the access that their

European competitors are securing in the U.S. market. In that respect, the success
of our "open skies" initiative and the real possibility of an open skies agreement
with Germany should begin to be reflected in the British negotiating approach.
However, a major factor determining the pace and timing of liberalization after the
second-stage elements is probably highly dependent on British Airways' interest in

pursuing its relationship with USAir. If that interest is rekindled, it should provide

an important incentive to the British to move forward more quickly to a fundamen-
tal restructuring of the whole aviation environment. A higher level of voting stock
ownership in UiS. carriers may be an important factor for the British in moving to-

ward the liberalization that we are seeking.
In the interim, I intend to continue to pursue incremental progress in this rela-

tionship if our assessment confirms that the step-by-step approach is moving us to-

ward our liberalization objective and our analysis confirms that the deal is favorable

to U.S. interests. At the same time, we will continue to explore any options that

hold promise for moving for\yard more quickly.

Issue 5: Chicago Issues Answer: You are correct that, under the U.S. -U.K. Air
Services Agreement, new entry is allowed in a city-pair market served by only one
airline from each side if revenue passenger traffic exceeds 600,000 passengers for

two consecutive 12-month periods. Revenue passenger traffic on the Chicago-London
route has closely approached 600,000 threshold but has not reached it. The amount
of traffic that moves in individual city-pair markets is a function of many inter-re-

lated factors. For example, a large percentage of the traffic that uses the Chicago
gateway originates in, or is destined to, other cities in the United States, since this

gateway functions as a hub for American. These connecting passengers have mul-
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tiple routing choices. The number and location of the gateways that individual air-

lines are seeking to support influences traflic patterns. In American's case, the com-
bination of local gateway traffic and connecting traffic was supporting three estab-
lished and three recently awarded routes east of Chicago. Therefore, American's
traffic flows would be much more diverse than, for example, United's since United
only has two east coast gateways to London. United woulci also be carrying Chicago-
London passengers, who have chosen to use United's connecting services, and that
traflic is not counted in the Chicago-London numbers for the purposes of the
600,000 trigger.

The number of flights that can be operated under the capacity annex in the U.S.-

U.K. agreement and the equipment mix of the airlines operating the services are
also relevant. For example, if the British refuse to allow United to increase the
number of flights in the Washington-London market. United can gain capacity by
operating Boeing 747 aircraft; American does not have that option at Chicago since
it does not operate that aircraft type. American was given an extra-bilateral capac-
ity increase at Chicago to operate to London's underdeveloped Stansted Airport.
^V^^en that experimental service proved uneconomical, American was not allowed to

move the capacity to Heathrow.
Consequently, given the numerous factors that affect traffic flows in this market,

many of which are outside an airline's control, the Department has not found a
basis for investigating carrier behavior on the Chicago-London route.
However, the British, in recognition that the Chicago-London market was ap-

proaching the trigger level, were prepared to advance the startup date for competi-
tive service. They were not prepared to authorize a sei^ce to Heathrow from an-
other gateway. 'Therefore, U.S. authorities faced the choice of accepting a benefit for

a U.S. airline and a U.S. city, which was on offer, or forgoing an opportunity to add
competition at the largest U.S. gateway without competitive service. Consistent with
the International Aviation Policy Statement negotiating guidelines for reluctant bi-

lateral partners, I determined that seeking new entry on the Chicago Heathrow
route was in the public interest.

Issue 6: Fly America Issues Answer As part of the first-step package, U.K. car-

riers in cooperation with U.S. partners received very limited rights to carry Fly
America traflic. The transportation must be implemented by code-sharing with a
U.S. airline on whose code the government-financed traflic would travel. These
rights were limited to only five named U.S. gateways, and the inclusion of this ele-

ment in the mini-deal package was, like any other, a function of the total balance
of benefits perceived as being created. We have no specific plans regarding Fly
America Issues for the next rounds, regarding this rather as an Issue for the United
Kingdom to raise. If we ultimately achieved total commercial liberalization* with
the United Kingdom, this would presumably include open code-sharing rights, pur-
suant to which U.K. carriers could carry any Fly America traffic in cooperation with
their U.S.-carrier partners, given that the GAO has ruled in favor of allowing Fly
America traflic to travel on code-shared flights.

Issue 7: Heathrow Access Answer The ability to serve Heathrow Airport has been
subject to constraints since Bermuda 2 was negotiated in 1977. In 1980, a signifi-

cant number of new U.S. gateways were added to the Agreement for both sides.

However, as part of their policy to encourage the development of Gatwick as a major
London airport, the British insisted that both U.S. and U.K. airline services from
these new U.S. gateways not operate to Heathrow. In addition, access to Heathrow
was grandfathered for Pan American, TWA, and British Airways. That remained
the situation until the 1991 negotiations allowed the United States to replace Pan
American and TWA with United and American. The combination of these two re-

strictions has served to limit those U.S. cities that can receive Heathrow service.

For example, Detroit and Minneapolis are both eligible for Heathrow service; how-
ever, they both receive London (Gatwick) service from Northwest. Assuming that
one of the Heathrow carriers (United and American) were interested in providing
such service, we would have to remove Northwest from the routes, since only one
U.S. carrier can operate between Detroit and London and between Minneapolis and
London.

I want to emphasize that I am fully aware of the inequities that these restrictions

create for U.S. airlines and U.S. cities. That recognition has caused me to focus on
Heathrow access as a core element of liberalization, and I sought to include an ele-

ment in the first-step package that would begin to break down these restrictions.

Although that element was not accepted by the British, the conclusion of the first-

step package provides the basis for moving forward to the next step. That agenda
inciuaes "very limited, balanced" access to Heathrow and/or Gatwick. Realistically
we will not be able, at this point, to accommodate all the Heathrow aspirations of
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U.S. carriers and cities; and we anticipate awarding the opportunities that we do
secure in a comparative selection case.

Although ther« is no question that Heathrow is already a heavily utilized airport,

the number of air transport operations at Heathrow continues to grow year over
year. The growth is attriDutabie to improved air traffic control, high-speed tumoffs
from the runways, additional taxiways, and selective overbooking of slots. The
Heathrow Airport authority expects modest growth to continue. However, the
growth is spread throughout the day and is least likely to occur in the highly con-
gested, narrow band in which transatlantic services are usually scheduled.
Under the European Union Code of Conduct on slot allocation, 50 percent of

newly available slots are reserved for new entrant carriers. This rule would benefit
new entrant U.S. airlines, but not American or United. However, American and
United have been able to increase their slot holdings at Heathrow. The latest infor-

mation that we have on activity at Heathrow is summarized below.

Am Transport Operations at Heathrow Airport

12 months ended
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contrast to the trade context, we have significant rights that our carriers are exer-

cising in serving the United Kingdom; tne British government has generally not

withheld our bilateral rights. However, our reluctance in granting certain operating

rights to the British Airways/USAir alliance—rights that were available under our
bilateral understandings—represented our ongoing dissatisfaction with our aviation

relationship; further delay could have compromised the rights available to U.S. car-

riers.

Issue 9: U.S. Negotiating Strategy: Analysis
Answer: Tlie Department is committed to increasing the level of economic analysis

of international aviation Issues and developments. Last November I announced the

creation of a new office composed of exp>erienced senior aviation analysts and econo-

mists that would focus on macro and micro-analysis of international aviation Issues

to give the Department the analytical underpinnings which are clearly necessary to

develop a sound medium-to long-term strategy in the international aviation policy

arena. The international policy statement Issued by the Department is grounded in

just such a macro analysis of the trend toward globalization and the use of multi-

national networks which are currently being achieved through code-sharing alli-

ances but may also be achieved by the development of networks by U.S. carriers.

The new office also performs micro-analysis of particular bilateral Issues, such as

the first phase of the agreement with the United Kingdom. As the negotiations pro-

gressed, variations in the analysis were analyzed, sucn as the value of Fly America
rights from various U.S. cities, and used by our negotiating team.
While the GAO report on code-sharing alliances was critical of the Department's

level of analysis of such alliances in the past, it noted with approval the Depart-

ment's current conmiitment to more thorough analysis as demonstrated by the cre-

ation of the new Office of Aviation and International Economics. A great deal of

analysis of aviation alliances has been done over the past 2 years by the staff of

this new office and even more emphasis will be placed on such analysis in the future

as the staff is augmented. With regard to data, the Department is working on get-

ting all the information necessary to conduct a fulsome analysis of all code sharing

alliances in the future.

Issue 10: Antitrust Immunity and Code Sharing Answer: Code-sharing generally

promotes competition in the industry, by enhancing operating efficiencies and facili-

tating entry into markets that would be uneconomical for a carrier to serve with

its own aircraft. In any event, U.S. industry is confronted with code-sharing alli-

ances as a growing fact of life. These general conclusions are consistent with the

findings of A Study of International Airline Code-Sharing", conducted for the De-
partment by Gellman Research Associates.

It is likely that international airline consolidation will take place whether or not

U.S. carriers participate. . . . U.S. carriers will have to compete in an environment
where there will be large airline alliances, and with the existing broad-based alli-

ances involving some U.S. carriers, the question facing DOT is not whether U.S. car-

riers should participate, but rather whether any limitations should be placed on
their participation. Gellman Study, at 118 Obviously, this generalization requires

careful application in any specific context, as when antitrust immunity is sought for

a particular alliance or operation. In negotiating the liberal agreements with the

'small countries,' we emphasized our policy of examining such requests on a case-

by-case basis.

The Department continues to consider actively the question of antitrust immu-
nity. Where the overall net effect of a particular transaction for which immunity is

sought is procompetitive and proconsumer, there may be important benefits to be

gained from granting immunity in appropriate cases. The existence of an "open

skies" environment, and the elimination oi other competitive restrictions, would be

key factors in any consideration of a request for immunity. These parameters apply

equally to review of the Northwest/KLM alliance. The Department of Justice con-

ducted its usual assessment of the competitive implications of that alliance when
antitrust immunity was first sought, and we have continued to monitor that oper-

ation's progress; we are noting competitive benefits, such as increased market and
traffic development and corresponding competition. It is too early, however, to deter-

mine whether other alliances are achieving comparable results.

Issue 11: European Union Implications
Answer: It is difficult to predict precisely what the role of the European Union

will be in our future bilateral negotiations. Certainly member states already con-

sider the European Union in negotiating with us on a bilateral basis. Meanwhile,
we are prepared to negotiate liberalizations to our aviation relations in either a bi-

lateral or multilateral context, as the circumstances warrant.
Question: The United States has set forth star-burst code-sharing as a primary

U.S. objective in these negotiations as a potential to U.S. airlines operating in the
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U.S.-U.K. market. The grant of such rights would also result in benefits to airlines

of third countries. Yet me United States has refused to table a request from a small
U.S. scheduled niche carrier, Tower Air, to operate beyond services between London's
Stansted airport and India. While the term star-burst" implies unlimited opportuni-

ties is it not, in fact, a right limited to a smcdl number of code-share partners? Why
does the United States want to obtain rights for third country airlines? Why won't
the United States secure Tower's request which would result in direct benefits to a
U.S. carrier?
Answer: There is no inconsistency between promoting starburst code-sharing and

our handling of Tower's desire for Stansted-London authority. Starburst code-shar-
ing confers some benefits on third-country carriers as a side effect, but its primary
value is obviously the benefits to U.S. carriers who, by code-sharing over foreign

code-sharing partners' hubs, may serve points in the United Kingdom that would
otherwise be impractical. (The right also includes code-sharing over U.K. points with
a British partner.) In constructing the first-step package, we regarded this as a sub-
stantial benefit that is potentially available to all U.S. carriers. By contrast. Tower's
request has encountered a cool reception with our British counterparts, and did not
incorporate well into the first-step package; we will, however, pursue the matter
again in our ongoing contacts with the British.

Question: I would ask that the Administration explain in full with respect to nego-

tiations with Hong Kong: (1) the reason for the Administration's delay in concluding
a stand-alone agreement; (2) the current status of affairs; and (3) the course of action

to be pursued.
Answer: I share your interest in seeing the United States and Hong Kong con-

clude a stand-alone Air Services Agreement. The two sides have been engaged in

negotiations over several years to achieve that result. The most recent round of ne-

gotiations was held in December 1994 and deadlocked over two Issues: retention of
uie opportunity to operate a Round-the-World service, which is contained in the cur-

rent U.S.-U.K. Agreement; and the availability of fifth freedom opportunities for all-

cargo operators. Since the December round, negotiators have continued to explore
informally ways to bridge the outstanding gaps. In a June meeting with my Hong
Kong counterpart, we confirmed our mutual interest in seeing a successful conclu-

sion to these long-standing negotiations. We have developed and coordinated with
interested U.S. parties a new proposal that I hope will allow the two sides to

achieve a stand-alone agreement quickly.

Question: Multiple-listing of coae-share flights crowds competitive listings off the

computerized reservations system, screens and seems to be an unnecessary and anti-

competitive outgrowth of code-sharing. In a recent report, GAO recommended regu-
latory reform on this Issue and cited pending petitions filed with DOT by American
Airlines and TWA. Can you tell us whether DOT plans to take any action to curtail

this abuse, and if so, what action is contemplate and when?
Answer: In the Department's review of its computer reservations systems rules,

we considered requests from several commenters to regulate display of code-share
flints. At that time we found that the record did not support action in this area
on competitive grounds. Moreover, listing a service more than once allows each par-

ticipant in a code-share operation to establish its own market presence, increasing
service options for passengers and encouraging code-sharing partners to offer better

service by coordinating their flight connections. Subsequently, as you are aware,
American and TWA have asked the Department to reconsider regulating the display

of services. However, there is no consensus within the U.S. industry that such regu-

lation is needed or appropriate. The Department will be considering all the com-
ments received on this Issue in determining the appropriate regulatory approach.

Question: Mr. Secretary, in your prepared statement you stated that the DOT has
already acted on more than 80 percent of the recommendations of the Commission
to Ensure a Strong Competitive Airline Industry. As a supporter of many of the Com-
mission's proposals, I would be very interested in hearing a detailed account of what
the DOT has done in this regard particularly on international Issues.

Answer: The Administration adopted 49 of the 61 recommendations of the Com-
mission and has taken action to promote the adopted recommendations. The follow-

ing is a partial list of actions in support of the Commission recommendations:
Montreal Protocols—The Administration urged the Senate to ratify Montreal Pro-

tocols 3 and 4. It also formed a high-level working group to try to fashion a legisla-

tive package that would be acceptable to the disparate interests of the affected par-

ties. It has since authorized carriers to explore a substantially improved intercarrier

agreement as an interim measure.
Bankruptcy Law Amendments—The Administration supported amendments

which limit the time period for bankrupt airlines to assume or reject their leases

for scarce airport gates; allow government bodies on creditors' committees; and cod-
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ify court decisions with respect to aircraft leases. With the exception of a 60-day
limit on assumption of airport gate leases, the changes were adopted into law on
October 22, 1994 as Public Law 103-394.

Acceleration of GPS—The FAA has followed a very aggressive program to move
GPS toward being an operational system.

International Aviation Policy—The Department developed and Issued an inter-

national aviation policy statement that incorporates many of the recommendations
of the Commission.
European Union Air Cargo Negotiations—The Administration initiated explor-

atory talks with the European Union on the creation of a ftilW unrestricted air cargo
market. We are prepared to renew those talks when the European Union is in a
position to do so.

Questions Asked by Senator Hutchison and Answers Thereto by DOT

Question: Did your Department comparatively analyze the economic benefits that

would result from an additional Chicago-Heathrow route as opposed to the benefits

that would result from new Heathrow authority for any other major cities seeking

such authority? If so, could you provide us with a copy of it following this hearing?
Without such analysis, how do you determine what the U.S. economic interest m
these negotiations is?

Answer: We have shared with the Committee our findings on the first-step pack-
age, which included the value of the Chicago-Heathrow service. In addition, the De-
partment has analyzed the value to some of the other cities seeking new London
service. Service to additional cities will be the subject of negotiations in the second
phase of our ongoing negotiations with the United Kingdom. Our analysis shows
that the additional Chicago service produced greater benefits than new London serv-

ice to other cities analyzed.
Question: If, the Chicago-Heathrow route is worth $10-$12 million, shouldn't we

assume that access to Heathrow from other U.S. cities that do not currently have any
Heathrow access would be of equal or even greater value?
Answer: Such valuations reflect several variable in addition to current service lev-

els, including the size of the market, degree of hub activity, and geographic advan-
tages. In this case, our analysis concluded that the net benefit to the U.S. industry
on the Chicago-Heathrow route was much larger than the $10-$ 12 million that you
cite and is substantially more than for other ILS. cities analyzed.

Questions Asked by Senator McCain and Answers Thereto by Kenneth Mead

Question 1. Has a sufficient amount of economic analysis been conducted to guar-
antee that the proposed mini-deal will accrue substantial new benefits for U.S. pas-
sengers, airlines, and shippers?
As GAO has previously reported, there have been numerous occasions when DOT

has not undertaken sufficient economic analysis to gauge the benefits and costs of
its agreements on affected parties. In the case of the recent mini-deal, DOT did at-

tempt to value the benefits and costs of the various elements, and it concluded that
U.S. airlines would benefit more than British carriers from the agreement. However,
dot's analysis is based on limited hard data and rests on a number of assumptions
over which reasonable people could differ. DOT's initial assessment was that the
mini-deal generated as much as three times as many benefits for U.S. carriers as
for British carriers. The differential was later scaled back and DOT's more conserv-

ative projection is that U.S. carriers benefit more that British carriers, but the U.S.
advantage is much less than previously estimated. Our review of DOT's approach
suggests that it is possible that the benefits might be roughly the same for both par-

ties.

Two elements of DOT's analysis of the mini-deal are particularly open to question.

First, the value of the increase in British Airways' operations out of Philadelphia.

DOT assumed that British Airways would be successful in utilizing this added ca-

pacity and operate with an 80 percent load factor in the summer and 67 percent
during off-peak periods. The equipment was assumed to be a B-767. Based on avail-

able data, DOT projected a $450 mear. One-way fare. This results in about $10 mil-

lion revenues during the peak and $21 million annually during the off-peak periods.

Our analysis of data supplied to us by USAir and British Airways suggests that the

Philadelphia-London route has a high proportion of first class and business traffic

and the yields maybe as much as one-tnira higher than those used by DOT to esti-

mate BA revenues.
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The second element open to question is the value of so-called "starburst" rights.

DOT postulates that the size of the beyond London market is very large—30 million

passengers/year. Given current load factors, DOT assumes that the carriers can
handle substantial amounts of additional traffic. With 85 percent load factors, the
annual value of the new beyond rights could be $100 million for American Airlines

and $50 million for United Airlines. British Air would gain $22.5 million from in-

creased rights to Latin America. While there are some restrictions on the opportuni-

ties for third party code-sharing to most major European destinations, DOT expects

that the nine new "open skies" countries in Europe and the Middle East countries

are expected to present sufficient opportunities to realize the gains. In any event,

DOT projected an annual benefit to U.S. carriers of $60 million as realistic. Its origi-

nal analysis had projected U.S. carrier revenue benefits as great as $150 million

from these starburst rights. It is very difficult to know with any precision as to

whether DOT's estimates are reasonable. All of the starburst traffic is "stimulated"

traffic and since DOT does not assume lower fares, it must assume that the added
schedules will induce more traffic. This assumption is not well-supported, but is not

readily disproved either. It is also true that the benefits from starburst rights will

not be realized immediately but will develop over time. In any case, the value of
future benefits should be discounted to reflect both inflation and the uncertainty of

their ever being fully realized.

Taking these factors into consideration, we believe the evidence suggests that the

mini-deal probably benefited both parties roughly equally. While this normally
would be an acceptable outcome, the dissatisfaction with prior agreements that fa-

vored the British and the absence of further rights that the United States could
grant and the continuing limits on U.S. access do offer reasons for concern.

Question 2. This year U.S. carriers received 70 awards for travel between U.S.

cities and London, and GSA estimates that the government passengers on these

routes number up to 18,250 per month. At an average fare of $615, total Fly America
revenues for U.S. carriers-carriers that employ U.S. workers and fly U.S. -manufac-
tured aircraft—could be as high as $134 million per year in the United States-Lon-

don market alone. Given the amount at stake here, to your knowledge, has DOT con-

ducted any economic analysis of the Fly America Act proposals in the mini-deal?
We were unable to verify that GSA estimates the value of the U.S.-London gov-

ernment traffic to be $134 million annually. We discussed these numbers with GSA
officials responsible for the Fly America program and they could not verify them ei-

ther. According to GSA officials, there were 70 awards for U.S. city-London service

for 1995. However, they told us that the number of travellers was much less than
18,250 per month. While accurate data are unavailable, GSA officials told us that
data from the Department of Defense combined with GSA's "rule of thumb" that

military traffic is about two-thirds of total Fly America traffic indicate that total

monthly Fly America traffic to London would be about 3,500 and would be worth
about $1.6 million. DOT used similar data to develop to its estimate of the value
of Fly America to British Airways.

Letter to Federico F. Pena from George W. Bush

State of Texas,
Office of the Governor, May 24, 1995.

Hon. Federico F. Pena,
Secretary, of Transportation, 400 Seventh Street, SW., Washington, DC.

Dear Secretary Pena: Thank you for keeping me informed of your progress in

the current United States/United Kingdom negotiations to revise the bilateral agree-

ment on air rights between the two nations.

I understand that another round of talks is scheduled for early June. I want to

encourage you to hold fast to your commitment to obtaining "switch rights" for un-
used routes serving London's Heathrow Airport, so that carriers in other cities can
have the opportunity to compete for this critically important access to the European
air travel market. If we fail to demand switch rights now, it may be years before

the British seriously address the issue again.

Heathrow access is essential for our state's Dallas/Fort Worth International Air-

port. As the second busiest airport in the world in terms of operations, DFW Airport

should have a chance to compete for its first Heathrow route before another airport

is granted its third.
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I strongly urge you to remain firm in insisting that any agreement must include
switch rights for airports such as DFW International Airport.

Sincerely,
George W. Bush.

Letter to Senator Pressler from George F. Doughty

Lehigh, Northhampton Airport Authority,
July 13, 1995.

Hon. Larry Pressler,
Chairman, Committee on Commerce, Science and Transportation, U.S. Senate Wash-

ington, DC.
Dear Mr. Chairman: The following is in response to your letter dated June 13,

1995 requesting my response to several additional questions relating to the U.S.-
U.K. mini-deal.
At the present time I am employed by the Lehigh-Northampton Airport Authority

which is responsible for the operation of Lehigh Valley International Airport located
in Eastern Pennsylvania; serving the cities of Allentown, Bethlehem, and Easton
and other adjacent communities constituting a market area of 2.5 million people.
This airport, at various times in the past few years, has received international

service to Toronto, Canada on a preclearance basis since full international designa-
tion was not received by the airport until 1994. We have been and continue to be
actively seeking replacement service into Canada including, not only Toronto, but
potentially Montreal as well. We are also involved in developing charter business
to Mexican resort areas.

During the time when I was Deputy Director of the BaltimoreAVashington Inter-

national Airport, I was heavily involved in the operational issues relating to accom-
modating international air service. As Director oi Aviation in Denver, I led a signifi-

cant marketing effort to attract additional air service between Denver and overseas
destinations primarily in Europe. Also, I was very actively involved in supporting
changes to the bilateral with Canada.
Denver had scheduled international service to London, several points in Mexico,

and charter service from a number of other overseas destinations including; Ger-
many and the Netherlands. During this time I helped found the organization Known
as United States Airports for Better International Air Service (USA-BIAS) and have
been a long time advocate of liberalization of U.S. international air service agree-
ments.

I am very pleased to respond to your question concerning the impact of Denver
International Airport on service to nonhub regional communities in the western U.S.
It is quite true that the cost of landing fees and space rental at Denver Inter-

national Airport has essentially doubled over the costs that were available to air-

lines at Stapleton. This is to be expected when a completely new facility is provided.
Denver International represents a "quantum leap" in additional capability and ca-

pacity. It is unfortunate, however, that mismanagement of the project in the last

few years added to the future debt service cost of the airport. Airport fees are be-
tween 3 and 4 percent of total airline expenses. This is surprisingly small given the
benefits the airline receives from the facilities.

Although Denver represents a doubling of these costs, the new airport virtually

eliminates delay in the Denver area. Delay costs impact major expense areas such
as crew costs and fuel. As you know, Denver was one of the most delay plagued air-

ports in the U.S. and these delays not only created an inconvenience and a time
cost for passengers, but were a source of significant operating costs to the carriers.

Current computer modeling techniques are not able to accurately quantify delay,

but there is no question that the savings are significant. It is, therefore, unlikely
that the increased rental fees at Denver International are the real reasons for loss

of service.

As you know. Continental Airlines no longer operates a hub in Denver and that
was not because of the cost of the new airport, but simply because United Airlines

increased their service substantially and reduced Continental's market share to a
point where the hub was no longer profitable. They, therefore, made a business deci-

sion to utilize those aircraft elsewhere. Obviously, it is ver>' easy for an airline to

say to a community when service is reduced or eliminated that the Denver Airport's

costs were the reason. You may be aware that many communities with American
Airlines service into Dallas/Fort Worth are experiencing the same problem. They
have either lost service or jet service has been changed to turboprop. This consolida-
tion on the part of many of the major carriers is not localized at Denver, but much
more widespread.
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I believe that smaller communities need to take a much more active role in con-

trolling their own air service issues. In a deregulated environment communities are

subject to the corporate decisions of the airline companies serving them. Those deci-

sions may or may not be in the interest of the community. Many cities are becoming
proactive in attracting and retaining air service by using financial incentives or

even directly contracting for the service they need. I am hopeful that this trend will

continue.
With regard to the current discussions with the British, I would suggest that this

Committee continue to carefully monitor this process. There have been certain com-
mitments made by the Administration with regard to the second phase of these dis-

cussions, and it is important for the Committee to monitor the process to see if, in

fact, it produces the additional liberalization that the Administration has suggested

it will. At this time I do not believe there is any other action that the Conmaittee
needs to take.
USA-BIAS and ACI-NA have, of course, been very active in encouraging the U.S.

Government to liberalize relationships with other nations with regard to air service.

In the recent past that level of participation has been adequate. I am concerned
with the new policy which essentially allows anyone and everyone to attend the ne-

gotiations. I think the prior process where a representative of the airports and a
representative of the airlines were permitted to attend the negotiations was, in fact,

more productive and less disruptive to the process. Prior to airport/community rep-

resentatives the importance of the new air service to the economy of the United
States has been unaerestimated and the advantages of service being provided by a

U.S. rather than non U.S. carrier has been overestimated.

I recognize that there are a number of dormant authorities available. To some ex-

tent this is a result of the desire of the major U.S. carriers to op)erate service only

from their principal U.S. hubs or the more traditional gateway cities. I do not be-

lieve that it means that no additional cities could be viable. It is my opinion that

there has not been a great deal of creative thought by the U.S. airline industry on
how to provide overseas service; particularly European service from major U.S.

cities that do not happen to be airline hubs. I think low fare service between some
of these communities and the U.K. could be successful. Over time these currently

dormant authorities will eventually be utilized.

At this point it is difficult to predict who will be losers in this mini-deal process.

If the second phase is not successful, then it is possible that some communities that

might otherwise have received service could lose out. This is only speculation at this

point.

I would not advocate, and at the present time ACI-NA and USA-BIAS does not

advocate renunciation of Bermuda II as an effective means of obtaining the bilateral

agreement between the U.S. and Britain. I think the better approach is to continue

to negotiate with the British while surrounding them with liberalized agreements
with other European countries. I think that will probably be the greater pressure

on the British government to liberalize their own relationship because they will

begin to lose flow traffic over Heathrow and to some extent Gatwick into European
points, because of the access becoming available directly to those countries.

As a matter of general business ethics I think code sharing is on its face, fraudu-

lent, and therefore code sharing in any form, in my view, is inappropriate. Joint fare

arrangements or other initiatives between U.S. and European carriers can be ad-

vantageous and a value to consumers; but code sharing simply leads the passenger
to assume that they have a single carrier connection or even a through flight on
the same aircraft when in fact, they have a connection from one carrier to another
that is subject to the potential problems of any other carrier to carrier connection.

I have no opinion on the issue of changing the limits on foreign ownership of U.S.

airlines.

I hope the above is responsive to your questions. Please contact me should you
require anything further.

Very truly yours,
George F. Doughty,

Executive Director.

o
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